
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Planning Applications 
Committee 

 
Agenda 

 
Wednesday 8 May 2013 

7.00 pm 
COMMITTEE ROOM 1 - HAMMERSMITH TOWN HALL 

 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Administration: Opposition 
Councillor Alex Chalk (Chairman) 
Councillor Matt Thorley (Vice-
Chairman) 
Councillor Georgie Cooney 
Councillor Oliver Craig 
Councillor Rachel Ford 
Councillor Peter Graham 
Councillor Alex Karmel 
 

Councillor Colin Aherne 
Councillor Michael Cartwright 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Laura Campbell 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 �: 020 8753 2062 
 E-mail: laura.campbell@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing 
impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the building. Please note 
that audio recording, filming or taking pictures of Council meetings are not 
allowed. 
 
For queries concerning a specific application, please contact the relevant case 
officer. 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

29 April 2013 
 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Planning Applications Committee 
Agenda 

 
8 May 2013 

 
 
Item  Pages 
1. MINUTES  

 
1 - 6 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chairman to sign, the 
minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 10 April 2013. 
 

 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public  are not allowed to speak, 
then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.    
 

 

4. PLANNING APPLICATIONS  7 - 307 
   
 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

. London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Planning 
Applications 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Wednesday 10 April 2013 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Alex Chalk (Chairman), Matt Thorley (Vice-
Chairman), Colin Aherne, Michael Cartwright, Oliver Craig, Rachel Ford, Peter Graham, 
Wesley Harcourt and Alex Karmel 
 

 
55. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meetings of the Planning Applications Committee held on 12 
and 13 March 2013 be confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the 
proceedings. 
 
(Councillors Colin Aherne, Rachel Ford and Wesley Harcourt were not present for 
the above item). 
 
 

56. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Georgie Cooney. Apologies 
for lateness were received from Councillors Colin Aherne, Rachel Ford and Wesley 
Harcourt. 
 
 

57. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
Councillor Karmel declared a significant interest in respect of Land at 39 - 45 Lillie 
Road, Fulham Broadway 2012/03034/FUL as his mother lived and owned a 
property in Lillie Road close to the application site, but was not unduly affected. 
Councillor Karmel considered that this did not give rise to a perception of a conflict 
of interests and, in the circumstances it would be reasonable to participate in the 
discussion. However, he would not vote on the item. 
 
(Councillors Colin Aherne, Rachel Ford and Wesley Harcourt were not present for 
the above item). 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
 
 

58. PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 

58.1 Latymer House, 2 Ravenscourt Road,  W6 0UX, Ravenscourt Park 
2012/02860/FUL and 2012/02861/CAC  
 
The above two applications were considered together. 

 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes for further details. 

 
The Committee voted on applications 2012/02860/FUL and 2012/02861/CAC and 
the results were as follows: 
For:              8 
Against:        0  
Not Voting: 1 

 
 RESOLVED THAT: 

 
(1) The Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to 

determine application 2012/02860/FUL and grant permission up on the 
completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the conditions set 
out in the report and Addendum. 

 
(2) Application 2012/02861/CAC be approved subject to the conditions set out in 

the report and Addendum. 
 
 

58.2 Linacre Court, Great Church Lane, W6 8DE, Avonmore and Brook Green 
2012/04144/ADV  
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes for further details. 
 
Councillor Aherne requested to see a picture of the existing advertisement 
hoarding referred to on page 50, paragraph 3.6, line 6 or the report, which had its 
size corrected in the addendum to 6m x 75m. Officers agreed that the information 
would be presented to the next Planning Applications Committee meeting. 
 
The Committee voted on planning application 2012/04144/ADV and the results 
were as follows: 
For:              6 
Against:        3  
Not Voting: 0 

 
 RESOLVED THAT: 

 
Application 2012/04144/ADV be approved subject to the conditions set out in the 
report and Addendum. 
 
 
 

Page 2



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

58.3 Land at 39 - 45 Lillie Road, Fulham Broadway 2012/03034/FUL  
 
Councillor Karmel declared a significant interest in this item as his mother lived and 
owned a property in Lillie Road close to the application site, but was not unduly 
affected. Councillor Karmel considered that this did not give rise to a perception of 
a conflict of interests and, in the circumstances it would be reasonable to 
participate in the discussion. However, he did not vote on the item. 
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes for further details. 
 
The Committee voted on planning application 2012/03034/FUL and the results 
were as follows: 
For:              5 
Against:        3  
Not Voting: 1 

 
 RESOLVED THAT: 

 
The Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to 
determine application 2012/03034/FUL and grant permission up on the completion 
of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the report 
and Addendum. 
 
 

58.4 London House, 100 New King's Road, SW6 4LX, Town 2012/03855/FUL  
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes for further details. 
 
An additional condition was proposed by Councillor Karmel, seconded by 
Councillor Harcourt, to require that all matters relating to the planting of the new 
trees, which would replace the existing mature trees subject to Tree Preservation 
Order (TPO), were subject to approval by the Planning Applications Committee. 
The Committee did not agree to this condition. 
 
The Committee voted on planning application 2012/03855/FUL and the results 
were as follows: 
For:              4 
Against:        3  
Not Voting: 2 

 
 RESOLVED THAT: 

 
The Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to 
determine application 2012/03855/FUL and grant permission up on the completion 
of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the report 
and Addendum. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Meeting started: 7.01 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.03 pm 

 
 

Chairman   
 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Katia Richardson 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 �: 020 8753 2368 
 E-mail: katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 4



 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

Addendum 10.04.2013 
 
 
Reg. No: Site Address:      Ward   Page 
 
2012/02860/FUL  Latymer House, 2 Ravenscourt  Road, W6 0UX   Ravenscourt Park 14 
 
Page 16 Condition 7 – line 2: Delete ‘(Amendment) (No.2) (England)’ 

 
Page 17 Condition 10 – Add the following to the end of the condition: ‘as detailed in the Planning 

Supporting Statement Design and Access Statement submitted’. 
 
Condition 11; line 1: Replace ‘not commence’ with ‘not be occupied’  

 
Page 21   Condition 21; line 1: Replace ‘not commence’ with ‘not be occupied’  
 

Condition 22 – line 1: Replace ‘22’ with ‘21’. 
 

Page 25   Para 1.1, line 2: Replace ‘Gardens’ with ‘Place’ 
 

Page 25 Neighbour Comments. Letter received from Hammersmith and Fulham Community Transport 
Project (property tenants) in support of the proposal. 

 
Page 26 Para 1.5, line 3; Replace ‘units 2, 3 & 4’ with ‘units 1, 2, 3 & 4’.  
 
2012/02861/CAC  Latymer House, 2 Ravenscourt  Road, W6 0UX   Ravenscourt Park 41 
 
Page 42 Drg Nos. Add the following: ‘ D0111, D0112, D0113, D0150, D0161’ 
 
Page 42 Condition 3; line 1: After ‘shall’ inset ‘not’ 
 
2012/04144/ADV  Linacre Court, Great Church Lane, W6 8DE  Avonmore  44 
          &Brook Green  
 
Page 45 Condition 3, line 1: Delete ‘shall be illuminated to’ and replace with ‘shall not exceed’ 
 
Page 50 Para 3.6, line 6: Replace ‘(6m x 7.5m)’ with ‘(6m x 75m)’ 
 
2012/03034/FUL  Land at 39-45 Lillie Road, London    Fulham Broadway 53 
 
Page 54   Replace drawing numbers in Condition 2 with those listed under The description of development. 
 
Page 56 Condition 10, replace ‘ the balconies at first and second floor level, and the terrace at roof level’ 

with ‘the terraces at first, second and third floors’ 
 
Page 57 Condition 16, third sentence, replace ground floor with first floor and Seventh sentence, replace 

ground and basement with IST and ground. 
 
Page 71   Paragraph 3.22 replace Pypologies with Typologies. 
 
Page 71   Paragraph 3.23 first sentence, replace 9 with 2. 
 

Page 5



Page 75   Paragraph 3.44, replace ground floor level with first floor level. 
 

Page 76   Paragraph 3.58, second sentence, replace forward in with reverse in. 
 

Page 78   Replace Mayoril with Mayoral 
 

2012/ 03855/FUL  London House, 100 New King’s Road SW6   Town    80 
 

Page 81 In description replace ‘8 x 1 bed and 14 x 2 bed with “9 x 1 bedroom flats, 13 x 2 bedroom flats…” 
 

Delete Drawing Nos in Description and replace with 2923: 549E; 551B; 552B; 553B; 554B; 555B; 
556B; 560B; 561B; 562B; 570B; 571A; 572A; 573B; 574A; Design and Access Statement 
(Revision C); Sustainability Energy Report (amended); Noise Report; Air Quality Report; Daylight 
and Sunlight Report (Version 3); Transport Assessment (amended). 
 

Condition 2 Delete Drawing Nos and replace with 2923: 549E; 551B; 552B; 553B; 554B; 555B; 
556B; 560B; 561B; 562B; 570B; 571A; 572A; 573B; 574A. 
 

Page 83 Delete Condition 9 and replace with “No plumbing extract, flues or pipes other than rainwater 
pipes shall be fixed on the elevations of the building hereby approved. To ensure a satisfactory 
external appearance and to prevent harm to the streetscene, in accordance with Policies EN8 of 
the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011, and Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 
2011.” 

 

Page 86 Amend hours of Condition 22 to “…between the hours of 0700 and 2300…” 
 

Page 95  Paragraph 1.1, delete “with an estate agents part of the ground floor" and replace with “with a 
photocopy shop and vacant retail unit on the ground floor" 

 

Page 96 Paragraph 1.13, delete “8 x 1 bedroom flats, 14 x 2 bedroom flats..” and replace with “9 x 1 
bedroom flats, 13 x 2 bedroom flats..”  

 
Page 97 Paragraph 2.5, delete “thirty-eight objection letters” replace with “forty-three objection letters” 
 

Page 100 Paragraph 3.1, delete “66 habitable rooms which would result in a residential density of 1,034 
hr/ha.." and replace with “65 habitable rooms which would result in a residential density of 1,023 
hr/ha..” 

 

Page 107 Paragraph 3.44, insert additional sentence at the end of paragraph: The Council’s Supplementary 
Planning Document (June 2012) states that “all new dwellings should have access to an area of 
amenity space, appropriate to the type of housing being provided”.  
 

Paragraph 3.45, delete “8 one-bed flats (50sqm- 55sqm), 14 two-bed flats (69sqm- 84sqm)” and 
replace with “9 one-bed flats (50 sqm- 60 sqm), 13 two-bed flats (63sqm- 84sqm)” 

 

Paragraph 3.47, delete second sentence and replace with “Overall the proposals result in the 
provision of some 155 sqm of amenity space.” Also delete last sentence and replace with “In 
recognition that some units have no amenity space the applicants have agreed to make a 
financial contribution to the enhancement of nearby local open space including Parsons Green 
and Hurlingham Park.”   

Page 109 Paragraph 3.56, in last sentence delete “may serve a non-habitable area; the first floor contains 1 
habitable which” and replace with “may serve a habitable area; the first floor contains 1 habitable 
window which”” 

 
Page 118 Paragraph 4.2, delete ‘and conservation area consent’ 
 
 

Page 6



 
London Borough Of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Planning Applications Committee 
 

Agenda for 8th May 2013 
 

Index of Applications, Enforcement Actions, Advertisements etc. 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
WARD:     SITE ADDRESS:       PAGE: 
REG NO: 
 
 
Parsons Green And 
Walham 
2012/04202/FUL 

Lady Margaret Secondary School For Girls  9 - 15 
Parsons Green  London  SW6 4UN   

     9 

 
Parsons Green And 
Walham 
2012/04203/LBC 

Lady Margaret Secondary School For Girls  9 - 15 
Parsons Green  London  SW6 4UN   

    34 

 
Wormholt And White 
City 
2013/00600/FR3 

129 And 131 Bloemfontein Road  London  W12 7DJ        38 

 
Addison 
 

Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order T379/12/12 
Land at 17 Applegarth Road  London  W14 0HY     

    50 

 
Addison 
2013/00407/TPO 

17 Applegarth Road  London  W14 0HY         57 

 
Addison 
2013/00822/FUL 

Nomis Studios  45 - 53 Sinclair Road  London  W14 
0NS   

    63 

 
Addison 
2013/00823/CAC 

Nomis Studios  45 - 53 Sinclair Road  London  W14 
0NS   

    91 

 
Addison 
2013/00824/FUL 

Nomis Studios  45 - 53 Sinclair Road  London  W14 
0NS   

    94 

 
Addison 
2013/00825/CAC 

Nomis Studios  45 - 53 Sinclair Road  London  W14 
0NS   

   122 

 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
2012/04171/LBC 

The Old Fire Station  244 Shepherd's Bush Road  
London  W6 7NN   

   125 

 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
2012/04289/FUL 

The Old Fire Station  244 Shepherd's Bush Road  
London  W6 7NN   

   128 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 7



Hammersmith 
Broadway 
2013/00369/ADV 

The Old Fire Station  244 Shepherd's Bush Road  
London  W6 7NN   

   142 

 
Ravenscourt Park 
2013/00856/FUL 

282 - 292 Goldhawk Road  London  W12 9PF        149 

 
Shepherd's Bush Green 
2013/01074/FUL 

Westfield London Shopping Centre  Ariel Way  
London     

   191 

 
Avonmore And Brook 
Green 
2013/00454/FUL 

Access Self Storage  184 Shepherd's Bush Road  
London  W6 7NL   

   234 

 
Avonmore And Brook 
Green 
2013/00455/LBC 

184 Shepherd's Bush Road  London  W6 7NL        276 

 
Sands End 
2012/02048/FUL 

Carnwath Road Industrial Estate  Carnwath Road  
London     

   281 

 
North End 
2011/02001/OUT 

Earls Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail 
Depot, West Kensington And Gibbs Green Housing 
Estates And Adjoining Land         

   288 

 
Palace Riverside 
2012/00038/FUL 

Fulham Football Club  Stevenage Road  London  
SW6 6HH   

   302 

 

Page 8



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Parsons Green And Walham 
 
Site Address: 
Lady Margaret Secondary School For Girls  9 - 15 Parsons Green  
London  SW6 4UN   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2012/04202/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
17.01.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Aisling Carley 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Parson's Green Conservation Area - Number 10 

 

Page 9



 
Applicant: 
Mr Philip Bladen 
Parsons Green SW6 4UN   
 
Description: 
Erection of a single storey glazed entrance building with setback first floor and 
associated terrace with door to replace existing window at second floor level to 
Henniker House following demolition of existing two storey building to the elevation 
fronting Parsons Green; alterations to front boundary including disability access, 
provision of parking and cycle bays, and associated landscaping; internal alterations 
and refurbishment of Henniker House, Belfield House and Elm House; erection of a part 
two, part three storey extension to existing assembly hall and Block B; erection of link 
building between Block B and Block C at first floor level; erection of fire escape to Block 
B. 
Drg Nos: 1208-D01-03 Rev C; 1208-D01-08 Rev B;  1208-D01-09 Rev B;1208-D01-10 
Rev D; 1208-D01-11 Rev B; 1208-D02-01 Rev C;1208-D02-02 Rev B; 1208-D02-03 
Rev C; 1208-D02-04 Rev A;1208-D02-05 Rev A; 1208-D02-06 Rev B; 1208-D04-
01;1208-D04-02; 1208-D04-03; 1208-D04-04;1208-D04-04 Rev A; 1208-D04-05;1208-
D08-01 Rev A; 1208-D08-02 Rev A; 1208-D08-03 Rev A; 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be approved subject to the condition(s) set out below: 
 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
  
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 
 2) The building development shall not be erected otherwise than in accordance with 

the detailed drawings which have been approved Ref: 1208-D01-03 Rev C; 1208-
D01-08 Rev B;  1208-D01-09 Rev B; 1208-D01-10 Rev D; 1208-D01-11 Rev B; 
1208-D02-01 Rev C; 1208-D02-02 Rev B; 1208-D02-03 Rev C; 1208-D02-04 Rev 
A; 1208-D02-05 Rev A; 1208-D02-06 Rev B; 1208-D04-01; 1208-D04-02; 1208-
D04-03; 1208-D04-04; 1208-D04-04 Rev A; 1208-D04-05; 1208-D08-01 Rev A; 
1208-D08-02 Rev A; 1208-D08-03 Rev A. 

  
      
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved 

and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with policy EN2 and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended in 2007 and 2011, and policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

 

Page 10



 
 3) The number of pupils enrolled and/or accommodated on the site shall not exceed 

800 at any one time.    
      
 In order to safeguard the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area 

generally and to ensure that the use does not generate an excessive number of 
vehicle trips, in accordance with Policies EN21 and TN13 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

   
 
 
 4) The premises shall be used only as a secondary school, and for no other purpose 

(including any other purpose in Class D1 of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, (or in any provision equivalent to that Class in 
any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification). 

  
 In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the special 

circumstances of the case.  Certain other uses within the same use class may be 
unacceptable due to effect on residential amenity or traffic generation, in 
accordance with policies EN21 and TN15 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended in 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 5) Any alterations to the elevations of the existing building shall be carried out in the 

same materials as the existing elevation to which the alterations relate.  
  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policy EN2B 

and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011, and 
Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

 
 
 6) The development hereby permitted shall not commence prior to the submission 

and approval in writing by the Council of details and samples of all materials to be 
used on the external faces of the new extensions hereby approved and no part of 
the development shall be used or occupied prior to the completion of the 
development in accordance with the approved details. 

   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 

streetscene, in accordance with Policy EN2 and EN8B of the Unitary Development 
Plan as amended 2007 and 2011, and Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

 
 
 7) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until detailed section and 

elevation drawings of a typical bay of all new building works at a scale of no less 
than 1:20 are submitted to and approved in writing. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with such details as have been approved and thereafter 
permanently retained in this form. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies EN2 

and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011, and 
policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

Page 11



 
 
 8) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until detailed drawings of 

the new facade with Elm House and Henniker House at a scale of no less than 
1:20 are submitted to and approved in writing. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with such details as have been approved and thereafter 
permanently retained in this form. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies EN2, 

EN3, EN6 and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 
2011, and policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

  
 
 
 9) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until detailed drawings of 

the steps and ramp to the new school entrance at a scale of no less than 1:20 are 
submitted to and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with such details as have been approved and thereafter permanently 
retained in this form. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies EN2 

and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011, and 
policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

  
  
 
10) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of proposed 

replacement planting to internal courtyard have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council, and the development shall not be occupied or used until 
such landscaping as is approved has been carried out. Any landscaping removed 
or severely damaged, dying or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years of 
planting shall be replaced with a tree or shrub of similar size and species to that 
originally required to be planted. 

      
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and satisfactory provision for 

permeable surfaces in accordance with policy EN2 and EN8B of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011, and policy BE1 of the Core 
Strategy 2011. 

  
  
11) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of proposed 

landscaping works to front forecourt including boundary walls and gates have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, and the development 
shall not be occupied or used until such landscaping as is approved has been 
carried out. Any landscaping removed or severely damaged, dying or becoming 
seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced with a tree or shrub 
of similar size and species to that originally required to be planted. 

      
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and satisfactory provision for 

permeable surfaces in accordance with policy EN2 and EN8B of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011, and policy BE1 of the Core 
Strategy 2011. 

Page 12



12) No tree, other than the Common Ash shall be lopped, topped, felled or wilfully 
destroyed without the prior approval in writing of the Council. Details of a 
replacement trees to be planted, including the position, species and height, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council before any trees are 
removed. The approved replacement trees shall be planted in the next planting 
season following the removal of the tree located on the plans submitted with the 
application. If the replacement trees are removed or severely damaged, dying or 
becoming seriously diseased within 5 years of planting they shall be replaced with 
a tree or shrub of similar size and species to that originally required to be planted. 

   
 To ensure a satisfactory provision for tree planting, in accordance with policies 

EN2, EN25 and EN26 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 
2011. 

 
 
13) All trees to be retained on site in proximity of the development shall be protected 

from damage in accordance with BS5837:2012. No construction shall take place 
until any such trees are adequately protected as per BS5837:2012. 

  
 To ensure that trees on site are retained and to prevent harm during the course of 

construction, in accordance with policies EN2 and EN25 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011, and policy BE1 of the Core 
Strategy (2011). 

 
 
14) Any material changes to the external appearance of the building, including the 

installation of air-handling units, ventilation fans or extraction equipment, must first 
be submitted and approved in writing by the Council prior to their installation. Any 
alterations shall be implemented in accordance with the details that are approved. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and prevent harm to the street 

scene, and to safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residential occupiers, in 
accordance with policies EN2, EN8B, EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
15) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of the external noise level emitted from plant/ 
machinery/ equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate.  The measures 
shall ensure that the external noise level emitted from plant, machinery/ equipment 
will be lower than the lowest existing background noise level by at least 10dBA, as 
assessed according to BS4142:1997 at the nearest and/or most affected noise 
sensitive premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A 
post installation noise assessment shall be carried out where required to confirm 
compliance with the noise criteria and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be 
taken, as necessary.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of 
the development and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/ equipment, in accordance 
with Policy EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended 2007 and 2011. 

Page 13



16) Prior to commencement of the development, details of anti-vibration measures 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  The measures shall 
ensure that machinery, plant/ equipment are mounted with proprietary anti-
vibration isolators and fan motors are vibration isolated from the casing and 
adequately silenced.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of 
the development and thereafter be permanently retained.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by vibration, in accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011.  

 
 
17) Prior to commencement of the development, details of external artificial lighting 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Lighting contours 
shall be submitted to demonstrate that the vertical illumination of neighbouring 
premises is in accordance with the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting 
Professionals in the `Guidance Notes For The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2011'.  
Details should also be submitted for approval of measures to minimise use of 
lighting and prevent glare and sky glow by correctly using, locating, aiming and 
shielding luminaires. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of 
the development and thereafter be permanently retained.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by lighting, in accordance with Policy EN20C and EN21 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011.  

 
 
18) No tannoys or public address systems shall be used at the property unless details 

have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Approved 
details shall be implemented as agreed and thereafter be permanently retained. 

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with Policies EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
19) Neither music nor amplified voices emitted from the development shall be audible 

at any residential / noise sensitive premises.  
   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with Policies EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
20) No alterations shall be carried out to the flat roofs of the building/extensions 

hereby approved to create a terrace or other amenity space. No railings or other 
means of enclosure shall be erected around the roofs and no alterations shall be 
made to form access onto the roofs. 

    
 The formation/use of a terrace would be harmful to the existing amenities of the 

occupiers of neighbouring residential properties as a result of overlooking and loss 
of privacy and the generation of noise and disturbance, contrary to Policy EN21 

Page 14



and Standards S13.2 and S13.2A of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 
2007 and 2011. 

 
 
21) The extent of the roof terraces hereby approved shall not exceed that indicated on 

the approved drawing .. and the roof terrace shall not be subsequently enlarged 
prior to the submission and approval in writing of a further planning application. No 
railings or other means of enclosure shall be erected on or around the roof(s), and 
no alterations shall be carried out to the buildings to form access onto the roof.  

         
 The increase in size of the roof terrace would increase the likelihood of harm to the 

existing residential amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties as a 
result of noise and disturbance, contrary to Policy EN21 and Standard S13.2.A of 
the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
22) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order amending, revoking and re-
enacting that Order no aerials, antennas, satellite dishes or related 
telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of the development 
hereby permitted. 

  
 To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunications equipment, including its 

impact on the conservation area, can be considered in accordance with Policies 
EN2, EN8 and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 
2011. 

 
 
23) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 

provision of the cycle storage facilities at ground floor level, as indicated on 
approved drawing .... The cycle storage arrangements shall thereafter be retained. 

       
 In order to promote alternative, sustainable forms of transport, in accordance with 

Policy TN6 and Standard S20.1 of the proposed alterations to the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
24) No part of the extensions hereby approved shall be used prior to the completion of 

works for the removal of the existing vehicle crossover on the Parson's Green 
Road frontage and reinstatement and making good of the highway. 

   
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved 

and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with policy EN8B and TN5 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended 2007 and 2011 and Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

 
 
25) The permitted development shall not be occupied until full details of an updated 

School Travel Plan for Lady Maragaret Secondary School for Girls has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the council. Upon the commencement of 
the use, the School Travel Plan shall be implemented in full compliance with the 
approved details, and shall thereafter continue to be fully implemented whilst the 

Page 15



use remains in operation. Such details shall include information on how alternative 
methods of transport to and from the school, other than by car, will be 
encouraged/promoted by the applicants, and together with details of annual 
reviews of the School Travel Plan.  

    
 To ensure that the use does not generate an excessive number of car trips which 

would be contrary to development plan policies of car restraint set down in Policies 
G4 and TN15 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended in 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
26) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a demolition 

method statement and construction management plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include control measures for dust, 
noise, vibration, lighting, delivery locations, restriction of hours of work and all 
associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays 
to Fridays and 0800-1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours 
and other interested parties of proposed works and public display of contact 
details including accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the site 
works for the duration of the works.  Approved details shall be implemented 
throughout the project period.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site, 
in accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B, EN20C and EN21 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011.  

 
 
27) Further details on the planned energy efficiency measures, sustainable design and 

construction measures should be submitted and approved to the Council once the 
detailed design stage has been completed.  

  
 To ensure an energy efficient development that integrates on-site renewable 

energy generation to help reduce its carbon dioxide emissions, in accordance with 
policies 5.2 and 5.7 of the London Plan 2011 and policy CC1 of the Core Strategy 
2011. 

 
 
28) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until it has been erected 

in accordance with the 'Flood Risk Assessment'  by David Osborne Associates 
Consulting Structural Engineers. 

  
 To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface 

water from the site, and to reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants, in accordance with Policy CC1 and CC2 of the 
Core Strategy 2011. 

 
 
29) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until further details of the 

sustainable drainage measures to be implemented and details of their attenuation 
performance have been submitted to and approved in writing by the council. The 
scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details 

Page 16



prior to first occupation and thereafter permanently maintained in accordance with 
the agreed details.  

  
 To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the satisfactory storage 

of/disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with Policy CC2 of the 
Core Strategy 2011 and Policy 5.13 of The London Plan 2011 and PPS25. 

 
 
30) Prior to commencement of the works above ground hereby permitted, full details of 

how the development accords with the Council's 'Access for All' Supplementary 
Planning Document shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter permanently retained as such. 

      
 To ensure that the proposal provides an inclusive and accessible environment in 

accordance with the Council's 'Access for All' Supplementary Planning Document 
and London Plan Policy 7.2 (2011). 

 
 
31) Details of the method proposed for the demolition of the existing building and the 

steps to be taken to minimise the impact of the demolition process on the existing 
amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council, and the demolition process shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 To ensure to ensure that the occupiers of neighbouring residential units are not 

unduly affected, in accordance with Policy EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan, 
as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
32) The demolition of the existing building shall not be undertaken before: 
   (i) a building contract for the redevelopment of the site in accordance 

with this planning permission (reference 2012/04202/FUL) has been entered into; 
   (ii) notice of demolition in writing has been submitted to the Council, 

and; 
   (iii) details of all matters which require prior approval pursuant to 

planning permission reference 2012/04202/FUL before the  commencement of the 
development have been submitted to and approved by the Council. 

     
 To ensure that the demolition does not take place prematurely and to safeguard 

the appearance of the street scene and conservation area in accordance with 
Policy EN2 and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 
2011 and Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

 
 
33) No demolition works hereby granted consent shall be undertaken before a scheme 

for the temporary fencing and/or enclosure of the site has been submitted and 
approved in writing by the Council, and such enclosure has been erected in 
accordance with the approved details. 

     
 To ensure that the site remains in a tidy condition during and after demolition 

works and to prevent harm to the street scene, in accordance with policy EN2 and 

Page 17



EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011 and Policy 
BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

 
 
34) No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report is 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall comprise: a 
desktop study which identifies all current and previous uses at the site and 
surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants associated with those 
uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating potential pollutant 
linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those in the 
surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk assessment 
of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant linkages 
to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including ecological 
receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The conditions are required to ensure that no unacceptable 
risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during 
and following the development works, in accordance with policies EN20A and 
EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011, Policy CC4 of 
the Core Strategy 2011, and policy 5.21 of The London Plan 2011. 

  
 
 
35) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme is submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and 
target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall 
provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground 
gas, surface and groundwater . All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The conditions are required to ensure that no unacceptable 
risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during 
and following the development works, in accordance with policies EN20A and 
EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011, Policy CC4 of 
the Core Strategy 2011 and policy 5.21 of The London Plan 2011. 

 
 
36) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following a site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment report is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the 
degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through the site 
investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to 

Page 18



confirm the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks 
posed by any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The conditions are required to ensure that no unacceptable 
risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during 
and following the development works, in accordance with policies EN20A and 
EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011, policy CC4 of 
the Core Strategy 2011 and policy 5.21 of The London Plan 2011. 

 
 
37) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, a remediation method statement is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works 
and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved 
quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The conditions are required to ensure that no unacceptable 
risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during 
and following the development works, in accordance with policies EN20A and 
EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011, policy CC4 of 
the Core Strategy 2011, and policy 5.21 of The London Plan 2011. 

  
 
 
38) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full and a verification report confirming these works has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Council. This report shall include: details of the 
remediation works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or 
monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste management 
documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment, movement and 
disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, the 
Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report 
indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. Any required remediation shall 
be detailed in an amendment to the remediation statement and verification of 
these works included in the verification report. All works must be carried out in 
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model 

Page 19



Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the 
current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The conditions are required to ensure that no unacceptable 
risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during 
and following the development works, in accordance with policies EN20A and 
EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011, policy CC4 of 
the Core Strategy 2011, and policy 5.21 of The London Plan 2011. 

  
 
39) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council where further monitoring is required past 
the completion of development works to verify the success of the remediation 
undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no 
residual adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The conditions are required to ensure that no unacceptable 
risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during 
and following the development works, in accordance with policies EN20A and 
EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011, policy CC4 of 
the Core Strategy 2011 and policy 5.21 of The London Plan 2011. 

 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 1.    Land Use:  The proposed development would involve the extension and 

alterations to an existing school (Class D1). It is considered that the site is an 
appropriate location for such use. The proposal would contribute a valuable 
community facility which meets an identified educational need. The increase in the 
capacity of the existing Lady Margaret School would enhance the provision of 
secondary school places within the borough. It is thus considered that the proposal 
complies with policy CS8 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 
and 2011, policy CF1 of the Core Strategy 2011, and policy 3.18 of The London 
Plan 2011. 

   
 2.   Design and Conservation: It is considered that the proposed extensions and 

alterations to exising buildings including Listed and Locally Listed Buildings would 
be appropriate in scale, height, mass, proposed materials and design. The 
extensions would be designed to meet educational needs, whilst also presenting a 
suitable response to the context of the surrounding street scenes. Policies EN2, 
EN3, EN6 and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 

Page 20



2011, Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011 and Policy G3 and G7 of the 
Development Management Local Plan 2013 would therefore be satisfied. 

  
 3.   Highways matters: There would be no adverse impact on traffic generation and 

the scheme would not result in congestion of the primary road network. 
Satisfactory provision would be made for cycle parking. Adequate provision for 
servicing and the storage and collection of refuse and recyclables would be 
provided. The proposal is thereby in accordance with policy T1 of the Core 
Strategy 2011 and policies EN17, TN4, TN6, TN13, TN15 and TN28 and 
standards S18.1, S19, S20.1, S22, S23 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended in 2007 and 2011 and Policy DM J1 and J2 of the Development 
Management Local Plan 2013. 

  
 4.    Residential Amenity: The impact of the proposed development upon 

neighbouring occupiers is considered acceptable. Due to the relationship of the 
proposed building to residential neighbours and its position, height and bulk, it is 
considered that the proposal would not materially affect the outlook from, and light 
to, neighbouring properties. Residents' privacy would not be affected to an 
unacceptable degree. Measures would also be secured by condition to minimise 
noise and disturbance to nearby occupiers. In this regard, the development would 
respect the principles of good neighbourliness, and thereby satisfy policies EN8B, 
EN21 and standard S13 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 
and 2011. 

  
 5.   Sustainability: The proposal would seek to minimise its environmental impact, 

including measures that would conserve energy, materials and water, reduce air, 
noise and water pollution, and promote sustainable waste behaviour. It is 
considered that the development would not have an adverse impact on a 
watercourse, flood plain or flood defences, and the implementation of a 
sustainable urban drainage strategy would be required by condition to ensure 
there is no adverse impact on localised flooding. Policies CC1, CC2, CC3, and 
CC4 of the Core Strategy 2011 and policies 5.2, 5.7 and 5.13 of The London Plan 
are thereby satisfied. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 21st December 2012 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
 

Page 21



Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
            

Dated: 
            

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
8 Delvino Road Fulham London SW6 4AD  25.01.13 
 
 
OFFICER'S REPORT: 
 
1.0    SITE DESCRIPTION AND RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
1.1    The application relates to a school site in the Parsons Green Conservation Area 
comprising of a range of building ages and styles including Grade II listed Georgian 
buildings and a Victorian Building of Merit. 
 
1.2    The existing buildings on the site essentially frame an open courtyard/grassed 
area to the rear of the main frontage buildings on Parson Green. Beyond the rear most 
building line of the existing school buildings is an extensive open area comprising the 
school's playground/games courts area. The frontage buildings forming the southern 
part of the school are included on the statutory list of buildings of architectural or 
historical interest (Grade II): No. 11, Elm House; and, No.13 - No.15, Belfield House. 
The remaining frontage building, Henniker House (No. 9) is included on the list of 
Buildings of Merit in the Council's Unitary Development Plan (UDP). To the rear and 
sides of the courtyard are newer two storey blocks constructed in the 1990's and a new 
science building which was granted permission and erected in 2012.   
 
1.3    Lady Margaret School is a Church of England, secondary school with sixth form, 
based on the eastern side of Parson's Green, within the Parson's Green Conservation 
Area since its establishment in 1917. The school occupies a roughly rectangular site of 
approximately 0.77 hectares. The site is within the Environment Agency's Flood Risk 
Zone 2 and 3. There is one tree, subject to a tree preservation order, located in the 
playground of the school.   
 
1.4    The site abuts the NHS Parsons Green Health Centre, a mix of 3 and 4 storey 
buildings to the north. To the south of the site, are the rear gardens of primarily 2 and 3 
storey buildings of Delvino Road. To the east, beyond the school's sportsground lies the 
rear of a further terrace of 2 and 3 story properties of Irene Road. Also to the east is the 
school's sixth form building. The western edge of the site overlooks Parson's Green 
itself and is bounded by Parson's Green Road. The site has a PTAL of 6a. 
 
1.5    The site is generally accessed from the western boundary where vehicular access 
is provided through 2 x 3.5m wide crossovers, one as an entry point and other as an 
exit. These also act in an unsegregated way, as the only pedestrian routes into the site. 
At the opposite end of the site there is a vehicular service and fire access drive from 
Irene Road leading into the sports area, which provides the one turning area available 
on site. The north and south boundaries have no access points.  

Page 22



 
1.6    The purpose of the planning application is to provide additional accommodation 
that will cater to a further three forms' of students and wider generated facilities that will 
serve its operations as a full 4 Form Entry secondary school with sixth form. It also 
seeks significant improvements in access and accessibility throughout its buildings and 
the site, along with better overall environmental performance that maintains a 
considerate stewardship of its statutory listed and locally listed buildings and a number 
of particular landscape and arboricultural features.  
 
1.7    There is an extensive planning history on site, including most recently 
2011/04044/FUL: Demolition of existing outbuilding (used for music practice and 
storage) and erection of a single storey science room with associated store. 
 
1.8    Lady Margaret School is a highly successful, heavily oversubscribed three-form 
entry secondary school with sixth form. It has become a priority for the Council to 
increase the number of school places available in high achieving schools, where this is 
feasible and there is an identified need for additional places. An additional Year 7 class 
of 30 pupils was accepted in September 2011 and another `bulge' class of 30 pupils in 
September 2012 to cope with additional demand. It is therefore proposed to 
permanently increase the capacity of the school from 710 pupils to 800 by extending the 
school in order to become a four form entry.   
 
1.9    Nine additional classrooms and ancillary space are required to achieve this 
increase in capacity. Further, the existing facilities in the main building are currently unfit 
for purpose, at maximum capacity, in need of refurbishment and inaccessible to people 
with disabilities. The proposal will allow circulation and first and second floor level and 
lifts will provide access for people with restricted mobility. A new entrance will also 
improve accessibility for all.  
 
1.10   Various options were explored in pre - application discussions for the creation of 
this additional space, including the potential to create the additional accommodation 
over the existing Block B and C. This option was considered not to be feasible as it 
could negatively impact the resident's in Delvino Road and Irene Road and would not 
address the existing issues of circulation throughout the existing school. Therefore, the 
current application is for the erection of a single storey glazed entrance building with 
setback first floor and associated terrace with door to replace existing window at second 
floor level to Henniker House following demolition of existing two storey building to the 
elevation fronting Parsons Green; alterations to front boundary including disability 
access, provision of parking and cycle bays, and associated landscaping; internal 
alterations and refurbishment of Henniker House, Belfield House and Elm House; 
erection of a part two, part three storey extension to existing assembly hall and Block B; 
erection of link building between Block B and Block C at first floor level; erection of 
terrace and fire escape to Block B. 
 
1.11   A Listed Building Consent application, 2012/04203/LBC has also been submitted 
to the Council for consideration. This report deals with issues for both applications.  
 
1.12   The School undertook its own consultation prior to the submission of this planning 
application. Local residents were invited to attend the school on Wednesday 12th 
December 2012. The applicant advice that a number of residents attended and were 
generally supportive of the proposal. 
 

Page 23



2.0    PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION: 
 
2.1    The current application has been publicised by means of statutory site and press 
notices. Individual notification letters (102 letters) were also sent to occupiers adjoining 
the site including Ackmar Road, Irene Road, Delvino Road and businesses and 
resident's on Parsons Green. 
 
2.2    One letter of objection was received on privacy grounds.  
 
2.3    English Heritage raise no objection to the proposed scheme.  
 
2.4    The Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings raise no objection the proposed 
scheme. 
 
3.0    PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
3.1    The main planning considerations to be considered in light of the London Plan and 
the Council's adopted Core Strategy and Unitary Development Plan, include the impact 
on the Listed and Locally Listed Buildings; quantum and intensity of development in 
terms of the height, scale and massing; impact on surrounding uses particularly on the 
existing amenities of occupiers of neighbouring residential properties in terms of noise, 
outlook, light and privacy, potential for traffic generation and provision of car and cycle 
parking.    
 
3.2    The draft Development Management Local Plan was submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for Examination and the Inspector's Report has been received.  The draft 
Development Management Local Plan, when adopted in June 2013, will form part of the 
H&F Local Plan.  When adopted, it will replace the remaining saved policies of the UDP 
and will be used, together with the Core Strategy and London Plan.  Although not yet 
adopted, the draft Development Management Local Plan as an emerging policy 
document is a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 
 
LAND USE: 
                                                                                                                                                           
3.3    The premises have been used as a school for almost 94 years. This is therefore, a 
well established land use.  
 
3.4    London Plan Policy 3.18 (Education facilities) should be considered in relation to 
this application. The policy states that developments which enhance education and 
skills provision will be supported, including expansion of existing facilities. Core Strategy 
Policy CF1 is relevant with regard to the development of new educational and 
community facilities. Under the terms of Policy CF1 the expansion of an educational 
facility to meet the needs of the community/school would be encouraged by the council, 
subject to site specific considerations.  
 
3.5    There is a community benefit for the 9 additional classrooms where it will cater for 
a further three forms' of students and wider generated facilities that will serve its 
operations as a full 4 Form Entry secondary school with sixth form increasing the 
current capacity from 710 to 800 pupils. 
 
 
 

Page 24



Open Space: 
 
3.6    The erection of the extensions on a brownfield site within the boundary of the 
school will need to be considered against the criteria set within EN22X and  DM DPD 
Policy DM E1. Under the terms of these policies, the loss of public or private open 
space will not be permitted where such land either individually or cumulatively has local 
importance for its open character or as a sport, leisure or recreational facility or for its 
contribution to local biodiversity or visual amenity, unless it realises a qualitative gain for 
the local community and provides for the relocation of the open space.  
 
3.7    The proposal site is not considered to be of local importance for its open 
character. In addition, the site has no meaningful importance in terms of local 
biodiversity or visual amenity.  
 
3.8 There would not be any loss of existing open space used as sport, leisure or 
recreational facilities. There is one tree on site subject to a Tree Preservation Order, 
however this will not be affected by the proposal. There are a number of trees on site; 
though they are not subject to preservation orders, they are protected by virtue of their 
siting within a conservation area. Most of these trees are assessed by the applicant to 
fall within category B and C ( British Standard Categories: Category B - retention is 
desirable and are of moderate quality and value, Category C - could be retained, are of 
low quality and value), and the vast majority of theses trees would be retained and 
protected. There are a number of trees, one in Category B (Common Ash) and 7 trees 
in Category C which may need to be removed. Replacement trees would be sought as 
part of landscaping details. There is no special flora/fauna within the site that would be 
harmed as a result of the proposed development. Officers are satisfied that there would 
be no significant harmful loss of biodiversity associated with the loss of the open area.  
It is considered, in this instance, that the applicants have taken due care to extend the 
existing school without jeopardising existing open space and as a result, the 
development would not be detrimental to leisure or recreation facilities, visual amenity 
or biodiversity, in accordance with the requirements of Policy EN22X 
  
DESIGN AND CONSERVATION: 
 
3.9    Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011 states that 'Development should create a 
high quality urban environment that respects and enhances its townscape context and 
heritage assets.  There should be an approach to accessible and inclusive urban design 
that considers how good design, quality public realm, landscaping and land use can be 
integrated to help regenerate places. In particular, development throughout the borough 
should be of the highest standard of design that respects local context and character 
and should protect and enhance the character, appearance and setting of the borough's 
conservation areas and its historic environment'.  
  
3.10   UDP Policy EN2 states that 'Development within conservation areas will only be 
permitted if the character or appearance of the conservation area is preserved or 
enhanced.  New development in conservation areas must, where possible, respect the 
historic context, volume, scale, form and quality'. UDP Policy EN3 states that `the 
council will protect buildings of special architectural or historic interest which are 
contained in the Department of Culture, Media and Sport's statutory list. The 
presumption in favour of preserving listed buildings will be reflected by not normally 
permitting their demolition, nor will alterations or extensions to them be permitted where 
their special architectural or historic interest would be adversely affected. Permission 

Page 25



will not normally be granted for any development which would not preserve the setting 
of any listed building.' While UDP Policy EN6 states `development will not be permitted 
if it would result in the demolition, loss or harmful alteration to buildings, structures and 
artifacts that are of local townscape, architectural or historic interest, including all 
buildings identified on the council's Register of Buildings of Merit.' 
 
3.11   Policy EN8B of the UDP states that 'extensions to existing buildings should be 
compatible with the scale and character of existing development, its neighbours and its 
setting. In most cases, these will be subservient to the original building.  In considering 
applications the Council will take into account the following: (i) scale, form, height and 
mass (ii) proportion (iii) vertical and horizontal emphasis (iv) relationship of solid to void 
(v) materials (vi) relationship to existing building, spaces between buildings, and 
gardens, and (vii) good neighbourliness'. 
 
3.12   Lady Margaret School has been present on the current site since 1917. The 
School has two street frontages. It has its main façade onto Parsons Green, and a 
secondary façade of the new three storey sixth form block onto Irene Road. It occupies 
a rectangular site and is 'wrapped' on three sides by the rear gardens of the residential 
terraces of the surrounding street blocks. The site abuts the NHS Parsons Green Health 
Centre to the north. The Health centre is a 3 to 4 storey building stretching back into the 
site. The school lies within the Parsons Green Conservation Area. A strong group of 
individual buildings form the school frontage to Parsons Green. These give a good 
sense of scale and combine to give a high quality edge to the Green. Elm House and 
Bellfield House are listed Grade II, and Henniker House is a locally listed Building of 
Merit. As such, any proposals for the site would need to respect sustain and enhance 
the heritage assets and their settings. 
 
3.13   The rear elevations of the frontage buildings form one edge to the internal 
quadrangle. The school playground occupies the space behind this grouping. The front 
boundary to Parsons Green is generally open behind the boundary wall and its layout 
no longer relates the individual facades. It has become a shared forecourt area. Two 
vehicular crossovers provide access to car parking spaces but are also shared by 
pedestrians coming to the school. The entrance route to Henniker House front door is 
no longer used. There is an opportunity to improve the visual and operational aspect of 
the frontage. 
 
3.14   At present, the buildings are linked internally and there is an existing link from the 
rear of Henniker House to the Assembly Hall. However, the existing buildings have floor 
levels at varying heights and circulation routes between the buildings for the pupils 
involve short flights of stairs.  
 
3.15   The school is looking to increase student intake from a 3 form to 4 form entry and 
to expand the curriculum. In order to achieve the expansion new classrooms are 
required. In addressing the need for additional space the proposed scheme has 
addressed other issues relating to the Parsons Green frontage and in particular the 
main entrance sequence to the school and the circulation routes between the buildings. 
Alternative solutions were investigated by the architects but the current proposal has 
proved to be the most efficient and most sympathetic to the heritage assets. 
 
3.16   The main areas of change are proposed on the Parsons Green frontage where a 
new entrance block is proposed which would shift the entry axis internally to connect in 
a much improved way to internal circulation routes, and the Assembly Hall and adjoining 

Page 26



teaching block which would receive an additional floor at roof level. On the Parsons 
Green frontage, it is proposed to replace the weakest component in the group with the 
new entrance façade. At present there is a poorer quality two-storey infill building which 
sets forward of the neighbouring listed Elm House and the locally listed Henniker 
House. Due to its alignment it dominates the adjoining heritage assets in views along 
the street. It is proposed that this would form the new entrance to the school through a 
frameless glazed structure set on new alignment withdrawn from the current building 
line. 
 
3.17   The proposals would give the school greater presence onto Parsons Green with 
the new 'front door' clearly expressed architecturally. It would animate the frontage and 
enhance the contribution of the School to this edge of the Green. It would also allow the 
buildings either side to become more dominant in the composition and give a clearer 
distinction between Elm House and Henniker House to the benefit of both and to the 
benefit of the street scene generally. The proposed entrance would include a ramp 
designed as part of boundary wall and incorporated into the side of the steps.  
 
3.18   The forecourt to Parsons Green would be redesigned in order that the landscape 
relates more closely to the individual building facades. Gates in the front boundary wall 
would be positioned to respect the symmetrical arrangement of the building facades and 
front entrance doors. 
 
3.19   The architectural concept of using transparency as a route into the school is 
followed through and used to signal the links between buildings. The proposal is to 
connect, via a new foyer from the new entrance facade on Parsons Green to the 
existing and extended Assembly Hall block with a new lightweight glazed extension. 
Connections would be made through the rear elevation of Henniker House utilising one 
bay over three floors. This would involve removing the window at each floor. However, 
the proposal would leave the existing window surrounds in situ such that the process 
could be reversible should circulation be altered at some future date. In a similar 
manner, one tall window being would be reinstated in the current proposals on the 
upper ground floor level. The glazed circulation link would enable access and 
accessibility to be significantly improved in this part of the school. 
 
3.20   The assembly hall would be extended at ground floor level with a new glazed 
facade to the quadrangle space. The rear elevations of the heritage assets would not be 
unduly affected and the junctions have been carefully positioned, however a tree would 
be lost, and a replacement would be planted in the revised alignment of the planting 
strip.  
 
3.21   The Assembly Hall would accommodate a new floor which is setback from the 
main façade and kept lower than parapet height of the adjoining Henniker House. It 
would wrap onto the two-storey modern block in the north corner facing onto the 
playground. The new roof storey would be clad in zinc, a material used on recent 
additions at the School, and would be designed to appear as a recessive roof storey. 
  
3.22   The only internal works proposed in the listed buildings is the insertion of platform 
lift at rear of the listed Bellfield House. This part of the building can satisfactorily 
accommodate the lift and no significant historic fabric would be impacted upon.   
 
3.23   The proposed scheme achieves the expansion requirements of the school and 
has addressed some key areas of concern with regard to the existing appearance, 

Page 27



townscape and design issues of the school. The proposed frontage to Parsons Green 
would be a significant improvement to the group of heritage buildings and the 
conservation area frontage. The proposals both sustain and enhance the heritage 
assets. The proposed extensions have been carefully inserted into the existing massing 
and have been detailed to reduce any impact they may have.  
 
3.24   In this respect, the design of the proposed development is acceptable. It would be 
suited to its function and preserve the character and appearance of the Listed Buildings, 
Building of Merit and the conservation area. It is therefore considered that the proposals 
comply with the Council's UDP policies, the Core Strategy and the relevant London Plan 
and national policies on design. 
 
IMPACT ON NEIGHBOURS' AMENITIES: 
 
Residential: 
 
3.25   Residential properties are evident at Irene Road to the rear of the playground and 
to the eastern side of the site on Delvino Road. UDP Standard S13 Protection of 
Existing Residential Amenities in terms of overlooking/loss of privacy and loss of outlook 
is relevant. Standard S13.2A states `planning permission will not be granted for roof 
terraces or balconies if the use of the terraces or balcony is likely to cause harm to the 
existing amenities of neighbouring occupiers by reason of noise and disturbance'.  UDP 
Policy EN21 states that `all developments shall ensure that there is no undue detriment 
(e.g. due to additional noise or fumes) to the general amenities at present enjoyed by 
the existing surrounding occupiers of their properties'. The abovementioned policies are 
supported by Policy DM G3 and H11 respectively.  
 
3.26   The proposed development, by virtue of its location would not be harmful to the 
residential amenity of neighbouring properties. In particular the proposed extension 
would not infringe an angle of 45 degrees taken from the ground level of the adjoining 
boundary at Irene or Delvino Road. Further, the proposed terrace on the roof of Block B 
would be set in from the eaves of the existing building by 4.8metres on the eastern 
elevation closest to Delvino Road. As such, the terrace would be a total distance of 
25.54m from the rear elevations of Delvino Road. Planting will be incorporated at roof. It 
is not considered that its use would, in the normal course of events, be likely to harm 
the existing amenities of adjoining occupiers as a result of additional noise and 
disturbance to a degree that would justify refusing planning permission. The proposal is 
therefore considered to be consistent with Policy EN21 and Standard S13 of the UDP. 
 
Commercial: 
 
Sunlight and Daylight: 
 
3.27   A sunlight and daylight report has been submitted as part of this application by 
PHD Associates. The report is an assessment of the impact of the proposed extensions 
on the availability of daylight and sunlight to the existing Primary Care Trust (PCT) 
building located adjacent to the school. In considering this, the Council has regard to the 
guidance set out in Building Research Establishments' (BRE) Report 2011 "Site Layout 
Planning for Daylight and Sunlight - A guide to good practice". The guidelines can be 
applied to any existing non - domestic building where occupants have a reasonable 
expectation of daylight and sunlight like schools, hospitals and offices.  
 

Page 28



3.28   This guidance sets out advice on site layout planning to achieve good sunlighting 
and daylighting within buildings and in the open spaces between them. Although it 
provides numerical guidelines, these should be interpreted flexibly because natural 
lighting is only one of many factors in site layout design. If any or part of a new building 
in a vertical section breaches an angle of more than 25 degrees to the horizontal, then 
the daylight and sunlight to an existing building may be adversely affected. 
 
3.29   The proposed west extension, marginally protrudes beyond the 25 degree 
envelope. The report assesses the impact of the proposal on the windows of 
surrounding properties using calculations of Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and 
Average Daylight Factor (ADF). VSC calculates light reaching a plane of a window 
whilst ADF (a more detailed calculation) measures the amount of light received in a 
room. 
 
Daylight: 
 
3.30   From the report, it is deduced that the VSC values measured at all ground floor, 
and most first floor windows of the PCT building in the existing scenario, without the 
proposed extension, are generally found to be much lower than the recommended 
values in the BRE guide and suggest the users of the PCT building rely on artificial 
lighting. Following stringent testing it is deduced that the reduction in the levels of 
daylight from the extension is found to be small as it is limited to two facades and up to 
first floor level only. These facades are located very close to the site boundary. All other 
facades, the VSC reduction values are measured to be within the recommended limits 
suggested in the BRE guide.  
 
Sunlight: 
 
3.31   Unlike daylight, sunlight is dependent upon direction. The availability of sunlight is 
therefore dependent upon the orientation of the window or area in question relative to 
the position of due south. Sunlight assessment is only applicable where some part of 
the new development is situated within 90 of due south of the main window wall of an 
existing building and if any part of the new development subtends an angle of 25 to the 
horizontal measured from the centre of the window in a vertical section perpendicular to 
the window. The PCT building is identified as potentially having its sunlight affected by 
the proposed development.  
 
3.32   In non - domestic buildings, the guide suggests that people appreciate sunlight 
more if they can choose whether or not to be exposed to sunlight, either by changing 
their positions in the room or using adjustable shading. The exact use of the spaces 
served by the windows facing the proposed extension in the PCT are not currently 
known and as a result all windows were tested for the minimum required values, 
applicable to domestic living rooms. The report concluded that the reduction in the 
levels of sunlight solely from the extension alone is found to be small, and limited to a 
number of windows facing the proposed extension.  
 
CAR PARKING, CYCLE PARKING, ACCESS AND HIGHWAYS WORKS: 
 
Car Parking: 
  
3.33   Policy T1 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure appropriate parking is provided to 
meet the essential needs of the development without impacting on the quality of the 

Page 29



urban environment. UDP Policy TN13 requires all development proposals to be 
assessed for their contribution to traffic generation and their impact on congestion. 
Policy TN15 of the UDP requires any proposed development (new build or change of 
use) to conform to the parking standards, as listed in Standards S18 and S19 as well as 
Table 12.1 to ensure that there would be no increase in on-street parking demand. 
Policies DM J1 and DM J2 support the above policies. The application has been 
accompanied by a Transport Assessment, including the submission of a draft travel 
plan. The site has excellent Public Transport Accessibility (PTAL), achieving Level 6a.  
 
3.34   The site has 10 existing car parking spaces which includes 1 visitor and 1 
disabled space. The proposal involves reducing the parking provision to 5 parking 
spaces which is sufficient subject to a disabled space still being retained. No objection 
would be raised to the school having no parking provision, however the Council is 
satisfied that the parking provision is now being reduced by 50%. Originally, the school 
was proposing 6 spaces however through detailed discussions the parking provision 
has been reduced to 5 spaces to create additional cycle parking. The site has a PTAL of 
6a based on TfL's Planning database and therefore the reduction in parking provision is 
welcomed to encourage the use of sustainable travel. UDP policy TN15, S18, S19 and 
Table 12.1 states that parking for D1 non-residential institutions should be assessed on 
its own merits. Although, ideally schools should not provide for any on site parking, 
given the school is being expanded and the parking is being significantly reduced no 
objections are raised in this case.  
 
Cycle Parking: 
 
3.35   Cycle parking for school provision is stated as 1 space per 10 staff/pupils in UDP 
Policy TN6, S20 and Table 12.2. Policy DM J5 of the DM Local Plan 2013 also sets out 
cycle parking standards.  
 
3.36   According to the School Travel and Accreditation Plan, the existing school has 
729 pupils and 59 staff. The school currently provides 20 covered cycle parking spaces 
for pupils and staff. The proposed development aims to increase pupil numbers from a 3 
form to 4form entry school with a proposed number of 800 students on site. A further 8 
staff will be employed by the school. As a result, of the increase, and in accordance with 
aforementioned policies and standards, 88 cycle parking spaces would be required on 
site.  
 
3.37   The school originally proposed 10 additional spaces (5 sheffield cycle stands) 
which would mean there would be 17 stands in total out of the 44 stands required as per 
the policy. This figure was wholly unacceptable and contrary to Council policies and 
standards. Following an inspection of the site with highways officer's and TFL 
representatives it was noted that the school occupies a tightly confined site. Following 
the meeting an agreement has been reached whereby the school is now providing 50 
cycle spaces and 10 scooter spaces, an increase of 30 cycle and 10 scooter which is a 
significant increase over and above the existing provision. An agreement has been 
reached whereby this provision will be monitored through the School Travel Plan and 
the school has agreed to provide additional provision if deemed necessary. The annual 
travel survey for the school will monitor cycle/scooter use by staff and pupils.  
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Travel Plan: 
 
3.38   The school has an existing travel plan which is extremely strong in encouraging 
sustainable travel as only 4.2 % travel to school by car and 0.3% car share which is 
exceptionally low. However, there are targets to increase cycle use which the Council 
can support. It isn't enough just to have a low % of car use in a school travel plan, all 
the different sustainable methods of travelling to the school should be encouraged- 
including increasing cycle usage with potential hard and soft measures. The travel plan 
should be updated in line with the proposal.  
  
Highway Works: 
 
3.39   The western vehicular access on the site frontage is being relocated to the east. 
The Council only allows its own contractors to undertake works to the public highway. 
This would be secured by condition. (Condition 24). 
 
REFUSE STORAGE: 
 
3.40 London Plan Policy 5.16 outlines the Mayors approach to waste management. 
Core Strategy Policy CC3, UDP Policies EN17 and HO14, Policy DM H5 of the DM 
Local Plan 2013 and the Storage of Refuse and Recyclables SPD sets out the Councils 
Waste Management guidance, requiring development to incorporate suitable facilities 
for the storage and collection of segregated waste. The current arrangement is 
considered acceptable.  
 
ACCESSIBILITY 
 
3.41  London Plan policy 7.2 requires that new development embraces the principles of 
inclusive design. In accordance with this policy, careful consideration has been given to 
the accessibility of the new school building, and extensions. The proposed development 
would significantly improve access for mobility impaired pupils in existing classes as 
well as in the extensions, with the proposal incorporating life access to all floor in the 
existing buildings and the new extension.   
 
3.42 It is therefore considered that the proposed development would ensure ease of 
access for all users, but a condition is recommended to ensure that the development is 
constructed according to these relevant criteria (Condition 30). 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS: 
 
Energy and Sustainability: 
 
3.43   A Sustainability Statement has been submitted with the application to show the 
sustainable design and construction measures, including carbon reduction measures to 
be integrated into the new extension and also the existing school buildings. 
 
3.44   The main fabric of the building: walls, floor, roof, windows, will all be specified to 
perform to a higher standard than required by the 2010 Building Regulations to help cut 
heat loss. The airtightness of the construction will also be to a higher standard and a 
mixed natural and mechanical ventilation system will be used to efficiently ventilate the 
new spaces being created. Heating will be provided by efficient gas boilers which will 
serve under-floor heating. Zonal controls will be installed to provide local temperature 

Page 31



control. Energy efficient lighting will be installed, including LEDs where appropriate, as 
will controls such as occupancy detection, to ensure that lighting is not left on when not 
required. 
 
3.45   Taking these energy efficiency measures into account, the estimated energy use 
of the new block has been calculated to produce just over 30 tonnes of CO2 a year. 
This represents an improvement on the Building Regulations requirements of 3%. 
 
3.46   To provide increased levels of CO2 reduction, the existing school buildings have 
also been assessed for their current energy use. Some of these buildings are known to 
have issues in terms of their energy performance and the addition of the extension 
building also provides the opportunity to improve the existing infrastructure. Current 
CO2 emissions associated with energy use in the old school buildings is just over 258 
tonnes a year. This can be improved by draught proofing the existing sash windows and 
replacing the old metal framed windows. The problem of overheating in some of the 
south-facing rooms will be tackled by applying a `solar control¿ film to the windows. The 
roof space will also be insulated to help cut heat loss and the current heating system will 
be upgraded with more efficient boilers. Also, local controls will be installed to help 
regulate the heating in individual classrooms ¿ which is not currently possible. New 
energy efficient lighting, with local controls will be installed. 
 
3.47   The energy efficiency improvements in the existing building are expected to 
reduce annual CO2 emissions by 45 tonnes, equivalent to an improvement of 17%.  
 
3.48   The proposal is classified as a major development and as a result, the current 
proposals fall just short of the 25% CO2 reduction target outlined in the London Plan. 
Further details on the planned energy efficiency measures will be required once the 
detailed design stage has been completed. It is possible that the proposals currently 
outlined can achieve the 25% target when assessed in more detail. If there is still a 
shortfall, consideration should be given to achieving further CO2 reduction through 
additional measures, which could include on-site renewable energy generation, which 
does not appear to have been considered so far. Also, no information on wider 
sustainability issues is included in the Sustainability Statement. Details on sustainable 
design and construction measures should also be submitted (e.g. a BREEAM 
assessment). These issues could be secured by condition. (Condition 27) 
 
Flood Risk and Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS): 
 
3.49   The school site is in the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 3 and a Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the application as required. 
 
3.50   Flood Zone 3 indicates a high risk of flooding from the River Thames, i.e. there is 
a risk of flooding of 1 in 200 or greater probability (>0.5%) in any year. However, the 
Environment Agency (EA) flood maps do not take into account the high level of flood 
protection provided to the borough by the Thames Barrier and local river wall flood 
defences. These defend the site against the 1 in 1000 year (0.1%) annual probability 
extreme tide level. In the event of failure of the flood defences, the EA's flood modelling 
shows that the site is not at risk of rapid inundation by flood waters. The site is also not 
in an area that has been known to be affected by other forms of flooding in the past 
(e.g. groundwater or sewer flooding), although some areas to the north and south of the 
site could be more susceptible to surface water flooding in the event of a storm with 
very heavy rainfall. 

Page 32



 
3.51   In terms of surface water management, the FRA states that green roofs will be 
integrated. The plans also show areas of soft landscaping and planting. Rainwater will 
also be collected for re-use for toilet flushing and landscape irrigation. These measures 
are welcomed, however their benefits have not been quantified and further details are 
required to show that surface water run-off rates will be attenuated in line with the 
requirements of the London Plan policy 5.13 and associated guidance which requires a 
minimum reduction of 50%, where feasible. This information will be secured through 
condition. (Condition 28 -29) 
 
Contamination: 
  
3.52     London Plan Policy 5.21, Core Strategy Policy CC4 and Policy DM H7 of  DM 
Local Plan 2013 states that the Council will support the remediation of contaminated 
land and that it will take measures to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites 
and ensure that mitigation measures are put in place. This is supported by UDP Policies 
EN20A and EN21 and DM Local Plan 2013  DM H7.  
    
3.53     The Council's Environmental Quality Team has advised that potentially 
contaminative land uses, past or present, are understood to occur at, or near to, this 
site. In order to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled 
waters or the wider environment during and following the development works conditions 
would be attached to any permission requiring the assessment of contaminated land to 
be carried out. (Conditions 34 - 39) 
 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
3.54   Mayoral CIL came into effect in April 2012 and is a material consideration to 
which regard must be had when determining this planning application. In this case as 
the application proposes development for educational use the CIL levy is set at £0 per 
square metre, so is in effect exempt from paying. 
 
CONCLUSION and RECOMMENDATION 
 
Grant planning permission and associated Listed Building Consent subject to 
conditions. 
 

Page 33



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Parsons Green And Walham 
 
Site Address: 
Lady Margaret Secondary School For Girls  9 - 15 Parsons Green  
London  SW6 4UN   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2012/04203/LBC 
 
Date Valid: 
17.01.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Aisling Carley 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Parson's Green Conservation Area - Number 10 

 

Page 34



 
Applicant: 
Mr Philip Bladen 
Parsons Green SW6 4UN   
 
Description: 
Erection of a single storey glazed entrance building with setback first floor and 
associated terrace with door to replace existing window at second floor level to 
Henniker House following demolition of existing two storey building to the elevation 
fronting Parsons Green; alterations to front boundary including disability access, 
provision of parking and cycle bays, and associated landscaping; internal alterations 
and refurbishment of Henniker House, Belfield House and Elm House; erection of a part 
two, part three storey extension to existing assembly hall and Block B; erection of link 
building between Block B and Block C at first floor level; erection of fire escape to Block 
B. 
Drg Nos: 1208-D01-03 Rev C; 1208-D01-08 Rev B;  1208-D01-09 Rev B;1208-D01-10 
Rev D; 1208-D01-11 Rev B;1208-D02-01 Rev C; 1208-D02-02 Rev B;1208-D02-03 Rev 
C; 1208-D02-04 Rev A;1208-D02-05 Rev A; 1208-D02-06 Rev B;1208-D04-01; 1208-
D04-02; 1208-D04-03 1208-D04-04 Rev A;1208-D04-05; 1208-D08-01 Rev A; 1208-
D08-02 Rev A;1208-D08-03 Rev A; 
 
 
Application Type: 
Listed Building Consent 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be approved subject to the condition(s) set out below: 
 
 
 1) The works hereby granted consent shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date upon which this consent is granted. 
    
 Condition required to be imposed by Section 18(1)(a) of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended by section 91 of the 
Planning and Compensation Act 2004). 

 
 
 2) The works hereby approved are only those specifically stated in the written 

description and indicated on the approved drawing numbers outlined above. 
    
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building, in 

accordance with Policy EN3 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 
and 2011. 

 
 
 3) All work of making good shall match the existing in every respect. 
         
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and safeguarding the architectural 

and historic interest of the building, and the setting of the conservation area, in 
accordance with Policy EN2, EN3 and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended 2007 and 2011, and Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

Page 35



 
 
 4) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until detailed drawings of 

the junction of the new facade with Elm House at a scale of no less than 1:20 are 
submitted to and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with such details as have been approved and thereafter permanently 
retained in this form. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies EN2, 

EN3, EN6 and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 
2011, and policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

  
 
 
 5) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until detailed drawings of 

the lift junction with Elm House at a scale of no less than 1:20 are submitted to and 
approved in writing. The development shall be carried out in accordance with such 
details as have been approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies EN2, 

EN3, EN6 and EN8B of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 
2011, and policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

  
 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 1) The proposal would preserve the architectural and historic character and 

appearance of the Listed Building. In this respect the proposal complies with 
Policy EN3 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 21st December 2012 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
 

Page 36



Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
   
English Heritage London Region 
        
Society For The Protection Of Ancient Buildings 
     
English Heritage London Region 
  

Dated: 
   
19.02.13 
        
08.02.13 
     
18.02.13 
  

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
 
 
For report see 2012/04202/FUL elsewhere on this agenda. 
 

Page 37



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Wormholt And White City 
 
Site Address: 
129 And 131 Bloemfontein Road  London  W12 7DJ     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00600/FR3 
 
Date Valid: 
20.02.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Matthew Lawton 
 
Conservation Area: 
 

 

Page 38



 
Applicant: 
London Borough Of Hammersmith And Fulham 
Mr Eric Holroyd 3rd Floor Town Hall Extension King Street 
London 
W6 9JU 
 
Description: 
Change of use of ground floor level of Abercrombie House, 129 and 131 Bloemfontein 
Road from community use (Class D1) to 2 no. 2 bedroom flats (Class C3); Installation of 
window at ground floor level to eastern elevation to replace existing door; Installation of 
door at ground floor level to western elevation to replace existing door 
Drg Nos: BR PL02 Rev.A, BR PL05 Rev.A, BR PL06 & BRPL08; Design and Access 
Statement Rev.B. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Regulation 3 - LBHF is Developer 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be approved pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992 subject to the condition(s) set out below: 
 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
  
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 
 2) The development hereby approved shall not be erected otherwise than in 

accordance with the detailed drawings which have been approved Ref. BR PL02 
Rev.A, BR PL05 Rev.A, BR PL06 & BRPL08; Design and Access Statement 
Rev.B. 

   
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved 

and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with policy EN8B and standards S8 and S13 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 3) Any alterations to the elevations of the existing building shall be carried out in the 

same materials as the existing elevation to which the alterations relate. 
   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policy EN8B of 

the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011. 
 
 

Page 39



 4) No part of the development hereby approved shall be used or occupied prior to the 
provision of the bicycle storage area in each unit in accordance with the approved 
drawing BR PL02 Rev A. Such spaces shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

       
 To ensure the provision of bicycle spaces in accordance with policy TN6 and 

standard S20.1 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011, 
and policy T1 of the Core Strategy 2011. 

 
 
 5) Any refuse/recycling generated by the residential units hereby approved shall be 

stored in the communal refuse store of Abercrombie House identified on drawing 
BR PL08 and shall not be stored on the pavement or street. 

  
 In order to ensure a satisfactory provision for refuse storage and collection, in 

accordance with policy EN17 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 
2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 6) Any changes to the external appearance of the building, not shown on the 

approved drawing(s), must first be submitted and approved in writing by the 
Council prior to their installation.  

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and prevent harm to the street 

scene, in accordance with policy EN8 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended in 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 7) Prior to occupation the dwellings hereby permitted shall be laid out to conform to 

Lifetime Homes standards, as detailed in the Design and Access Statement 
Rev.B. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory provision for dwellings meeting the needs of people with 

disabilities, in accordance with the Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(Access for All), policy H4 of the Core Strategy 2011 and policy 3.8 of The London 
Plan 2011. 

 
 
 8) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification), no aerials, antennae, satellite dishes or related 
telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of the development 
hereby permitted, without planning permission first being granted. 

   
 To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment can be 

considered, in accordance with policy EN8 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended in 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 9) No development shall commence until a statement of how Secured by Design 

requirements are to be achieved has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council. The approved details shall be carried out before any use of that part 
of the development to which the approved details relate. 

Page 40



     
 To ensure a safe and secure environment in accordance with policy EN10 of the 

Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011 
 
 
10) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of an enhanced  sound insulation value DnT,w 
and L'nT,w , as appropriate, for the floor/ceiling /wall structures separating different 
types of rooms/ uses in adjoining dwellings.  Approved details shall be 
implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be 
permanently retained.   

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with policies EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
11) Prior to commencement of the development a noise assessment shall be 

submitted to the Council for approval of external noise levels and details of the 
sound insulation of the building envelope, orientation of habitable rooms away 
from major noise sources and of silenced mechanical ventilation, as necessary, to 
achieve 'Good' internal room noise standards in accordance with the criteria of 
BS8233:1999.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely 

affected by noise from transport, in accordance with policies EN20B and EN21 of 
the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
  1. Land Use:  It is considered that the Class D1 community uses are no longer 

required in this location, and the re-use of the properties for residential use is 
considered to be acceptable, in keeping with neighbouring land use and in 
compliance with UDP policies CS5 and CS10, Core Strategy policy CF1 and .  The 
change of use of the vacant  units is accepted. The proposed use of the property 
for residential purposes is considered to be acceptable, in keeping with 
neighbouring land use and as it would contribute to much needed additional 
housing, in accordance with London Plan policy 3.3 and policy H1 of the Core 
Strategy (2011).  The scheme would help to meet The London Plan target of 
32,210 net additional homes to be delivered per annum in London and the local 
target of 615 net additional dwellings per annum. 

  
 2. Design: The proposal alterations to the existing building would be of an 

acceptable standard of design, in keeping with the character of the existing 
building. Core Strategy policy BE1 and policy EN8B of the UDP (as amended in 
2007 and 2011), policies 7.4 and 7.6 of The London Plan 2011 and the NPPF 
would therefore be satisfied. 

Page 41



  
 2. Highways: It is considered that there would not be a high level of traffic 

generation arising from the scheme and that the proposal would not result in 
congestion of the local road network. The accessibility level of the site is good, and 
there are public transport links and shops and services available nearby. Adequate 
provision for storage and collection of refuse and recyclables would be provided. 
The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with policies EN17, TN4, 
TN6, TN15 and standards S18.1 and S20.1 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended in 2007 and 2011. 

  
 3. Amenity: The proposed units would have sufficient internal floor space, lighting 

and aspect. The proposal thereby satisfies the requirements of standards S8 and 
S13.3 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011 and would 
provide an acceptable quality of accommodation for future occupiers. 

  
 4. Residential Amenity: The proposal is considered not to have an adverse impact 

on the amenity of adjoining occupiers. In this regard, the proposal would accord 
with UDP policy EN8, which requires developments to, amongst other things, 
respect the principles of good neighbourliness, and with standard S13 which 
requires that there be no significant loss of outlook or privacy to neighbouring 
occupiers and that no roof terraces nor balconies be created, use of which might 
cause harm to the amenities of neighbours by reason of noise and disturbance. 
Lighting conditions to neighbours would not similarly be affected. 

  
 5.  Environmental Impact and Flood Risk: The proposed development does not 

raise any significant issues in terms of flood risk.  It is considered that the 
development is not at risk from tidal flooding. Policies CC1 and CC2 of the Core 
Strategy 2011 and policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of The London Plan 2011 are 
thereby satisfied. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 15th February 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
         

Dated: 
         

 

Page 42



 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
 
 
OFFICERS' REPORT 
   
1.0 BACKGROUND 
   
1.1 The application site relates to two ground floor level properties of a five storey 
block of flats known as Abercrombie House, which is located on the eastern side of 
Bloemfontein Road. The site is not located within a conservation area. The boundary of 
the Old Oak and Wormholt Conservation Area lies on the western side of Bloemfontein 
Road, opposite the site.  The property is located within the Environment Agency's Flood 
Risk Zone 1, which has the lowest risk of flooding.  The site is within a PTAL (Public 
Transport Accessibility Level) 3 area, which has good accessibility to public transport.   
 
1.2  There are no significant planning records relating to the properties, which are 
vacant. They were built as part of Abercrombie House, a building within the White City 
Estate constructed in 1936.  Originally a single unit for use as a doctor's surgery, after 
the health function ceased in 1989 the unit was converted into two which now form the 
subject properties at 129 and 131 Bloemfontein Road.  In recent years the units have 
been used for other Class D1 uses.  The most recent use at 129 Bloemfontein Road 
was by the 'Options Day Service' who used the unit in addition to their main base on 
Goldhawk Road from September 2009.  This use finished in 2011 when the services 
provided to two specific users of this particular supplementary site were no longer 
required, and the unit has remained empty since.  The most recent use at 131 
Bloemfontein Road was by the 'Somali Women's Support and Development Group' who 
occupied the unit between July 2001 and April 2012.  The group left the property due to 
their financial difficulties, their trustees agreeing to surrender their lease, and the 
property has been vacant since this time. 
 
1.3 This application proposes the change of use of the units from Class D1 community 
use, to two self-contained flats (2 x 2 bedroom units) and associated external 
alterations. This is a council's own application. 
 
1.4     There are some minor changes proposed to the elevations of the property, 
involving the installation of a replacement main entrance door in the western elevation 
and the replacement of a door and window with a window in the eastern elevation. 
 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
   
2.1 Individual notification letters were sent to the occupiers of 113 neighbouring 
properties.  A site notice and press advertisement have also been published.  No 
responses have been received. 
 
2.2     The Crime Prevention Design Officer was consulted on this proposal, but has not 
commented. 
 
 

Page 43



3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
3.1 The main issues in this case are whether the loss of the use is acceptable, 
whether residential use (C3) is an acceptable alternative land use, whether the proposal 
would provide a satisfactory standard of accommodation, its impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers, refuse storage provision, flood risk, car and cycle 
parking/highways matters, environmental matters including 
energy/sustainability/drainage systems and contaminated land issues, having regard to 
the policies and standards of The London Plan (2011), the Core Strategy (2011) and the 
Unitary Development Plan (as amended in 2007 and 2011). 
 
LAND USE 
 
3.2     The proposed loss of the former community uses are considered against UDP 
policies CS5 and CS10, Core Strategy policy CF1 and draft Development Management 
policy DM D1. The draft Development Management Local Plan was submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate for Examination and the Inspector's Report has been received.  
The draft Development Management Local Plan, which is scheduled for adoption in July 
2013, will form part of the H&F Local Plan. When adopted, it will replace the remaining 
saved policies of the UDP and will be used, together with the Core Strategy and London 
Plan.  Although not yet adopted, the draft Development Management Local Plan as an 
emerging policy document is also a material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications. It should be given significant weight in assessing proposals, given 
its advanced stage. 
 
3.3 UDP policy CS5 states that the Council will resist any loss of premises currently 
used by voluntary and community groups, and will require their replacement in any 
redevelopment. UDP policy CS10, which relates to land in use for local community 
services such as general medical practitioner services, nurseries, crèches etc, states 
that `The Council will, where a local need exists, require the retention or replacement of 
the existing facilities, if redevelopment occurs'. Policy CF1 of the Core Strategy also 
aims to protect all existing community facilities and services in the borough where there 
is an identified need. Emerging Development Management policy DM D1 states that `In 
any development proposal, existing community uses should be retained or replaced, 
unless there is clear evidence that there is no longer an identified need for a particular 
facility'. 
 
3.4 The site relates to two Class D1 community use units which have both been 
vacant for over a year, so there are currently no voluntary or community group 
occupiers at the properties which would need to be relocated.  Policy CS5 
acknowledges that the retention of premises for community uses are '...subject to 
changing needs and the provision of alternative premises' and it is considered that in 
this case, as the previous occupiers of both units chose to vacate the units and they 
have remained unused since, the retention of the premises for use by community 
groups is not required by policy CS5 in these circumstances. The properties are in a 
state of disrepair and need considerable investment to bring them back into use. The 
limited space, poor condition and layout of the units suggest that the premises are no 
longer viable as a community uses in this location. However, alternative community 
facilities are available in the locality, including the nearby White City Community Centre. 
It is also noted that the White City Collaborative Care Centre is currently under 
construction within 300m of the site, which will provide new healthcare community 
facilities in the near future. It is therefore considered that the conversion of these 

Page 44



particular properties to residential use would be acceptable given that they have been 
vacant for some time, and that other higher quality community facilities are and will soon 
be available in the vicinity of the site in accordance with policies CS10 and CF1. It is 
therefore considered that the need for the Class D1 uses in these particular units has 
diminished and their loss is therefore considered acceptable against UDP policies CS5, 
CS10 and Core Strategy policy CF1. 
 
3.5  The immediately surrounding area is primarily residential, with the nearest 
commercial properties located to the south along Bloemfontein Road, and therefore 
such a use in this location is considered acceptable and appropriate, and compatible 
with surrounding uses. 
 
3.6 Policy 3.3 of The London Plan 2011 states that 'Boroughs should identify and seek 
to enable development capacity to be brought forward to meet [borough housing 
targets]...in particular the potential to realise brownfield housing capacity including the 
redevelopment of surplus commercial capacity'. Policy 3.3 (Increasing London's Supply 
of Housing) of The London Plan states that 32,210 net additional homes should be 
delivered per annum in London.  Of this, LBHF has a target in Core Strategy policy H1 
(Housing Supply) to deliver 615 net additional dwellings per annum.  Core Strategy 
policy H1 states that the Council seeks to exceed its housing targets. There is a need to 
increase housing supply in the borough, and in London as a whole, and London Plan 
policy 3.3 requires boroughs to seek to extend their housing targets. The proposed 
redevelopment to provide for 2 new residential units would therefore contribute to these 
targets, albeit in a small way. 
 
3.7 London Plan policy 3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential) requires new development 
to optimise the intensity of use of sites, taking into account the local context and 
character, design principles and public transport accessibility, consistent with the 
development density guidance. Policy HO6 of the UDP requires new residential 
development to provide a mixture of units to meet the needs of family and non-family 
households. This development seeks to create two 2 bedroom, 3 person units. Though 
there would not be a mixture of unit sizes, the proposal is only small scale, and the 
intensity of use proposed within the subject properties is considered to be acceptable. 
 
QUALITY OF ACCOMMODATION 
 
3.8 It is proposed that the properties would become two self-contained flats. UDP 
standard S8.1B requires converted units to be a minimum size of 32.5 sqm, where there 
is a separate bedroom. The proposed units would have an internal floor area of 75.5 
sq.m and 72 sq.m and therefore would exceed the minimum size. UDP standard S8.1A 
sets out the minimum requirements for room sizes within converted units. The proposed 
room sizes would comply with this standard. Both units would also exceed the 61sq.m 
requirement of London Plan policy 3.5 for newly developed 3 person, 2 bedroom flats. 
The size of the accommodation proposed is therefore considered to be acceptable. 
                  
3.9 Both units would be dual aspect and as such their layouts would comply with UDP 
standard S13.3, as there would be no exclusively north-facing residential property, and 
there would be sufficient lighting available to occupiers of the units.  
 
3.10 The flats would each have a small 2 sq.m. residential curtilage in the form of a 
patio which would provide some external amenity space.  The UDP recognises that the 
provision of amenity space is not always possible in conversion schemes, UDP 

Page 45



standard S6 stating that `The size of the private open space cannot be altered in the 
case of the conversion of an existing property', and as such there is no requirement to 
provide external amenity space in cases where none is already available.  It is also 
acknowledged that other existing units in Abercrombie House only have allocated 
external amenity space in the form of terraces and balconies, which are of a similar size 
to the area proposed for the two new units.  It is considered that this small level of 
provision would improve the quality of accommodation.  There are communal amenity 
spaces available within the White City Estate, including directly in front of the proposed 
units, which the future residents of the proposed flats would have access to and use of, 
which would in some way could compensate for the modest amount of private amenity 
space allocated to each unit. 
 
3.11 Conditions are recommended to ensure that sound insulation between the units 
and the adjoining dwellings proposed is adequate to avoid noise transfer to noise-
sensitive rooms and also to ensure no detrimental noise levels within the units as a 
result of noise from external sources (conditions 10 & 11). 
 
3.12     Level access is proposed for the units which would also be accessible from 
Bloemfontein Road via an existing ramp. The submitted Design and Access Statement 
details measures which would be taken to ensure that the proposed units would 
conform to Lifetime Homes design criteria as advised in the adopted 'Access For All' 
SPD guidance, and this would be secured by condition (7).  
 
PARKING AND HIGHWAYS MATTERS, REFUSE 
  
3.13 UDP policy TN15 and standard S18, based on the habitable rooms that would be 
provided by the development, would require the provision of two off-street car parking 
spaces. No car parking is proposed within this scheme. It would have been likely that 
the established use of the premises would have attracted a certain amount of parking 
requirement, given visitors and staff within the property, albeit that this would have been 
during the daytime rather than overnight and was some time ago. There are car parking 
spaces within the White City Estate which are not individually allocated to residents and 
operate on a permit system which future residents of the units would be eligible to apply 
for.  Overnight on-street parking stress in the vicinity of the site indicates that there is 
some spare capacity. At the time of the most recent parking survey in 2011, overnight 
stress levels were 75% on both Bloemfontein and Australia Roads within the vicinity of 
the site. There were 9 available spaces on the northern side of Australia Road between 
Bloemfontein Road and Canada Way, and there were also 9 available spaces on the 
western side of Bloemfontein Road between Westway and Bryony Road. It is therefore 
considered that any additional parking generated by the unit could be accommodated 
on street within the CPZ surrounding the site, or within White City Estate's own car 
parking capacity. Accordingly, the proposal is judged to comply with UDP policy TN15 
and standards S18.1 and S18.2. 
 
3.14 Standard S20.1 of the UDP requires developments to provide secure cycle 
parking. Internal cycle storage areas are proposed for each unit in line with this 
requirement and would be secured by condition (condition 4). 
 
3.15 Policy EN17 of the UDP requires development to provide adequate waste storage. 
The applicant has indicated that the future occupiers of the units would utilise the 
existing communal waste storage facilities within Abercrombie House, communal bins 
being located not far from the proposed units on the eastern side of Abercrombie 

Page 46



House. This is considered to be an acceptable arrangement and a suggested condition 
requires storage of refuse in this area (condition 5). 
 
IMPACT ON NEIGHBOURS 
 
3.16 The proposal is considered not to have an adverse impact on the amenity of 
adjoining occupiers. In this regard, the proposal would accord with UDP policy EN8, 
which requires developments to, amongst other things, respect the principles of good 
neighbourliness, and with standard S13 which requires that there be no significant loss 
of outlook or privacy to neighbouring occupiers, or harm by reason of noise and 
disturbance.   
 
3.17 No significant external alterations are required to convert the property. The 
installation of a replacement main entrance door in the western elevation and the 
replacement of a door and window with a window in the eastern elevation are proposed.  
It is considered that the minor external alterations proposed (which do not include any 
extension of the existing building) would, given their location on the property and 
relationship to neighbours, have no detrimental impact upon residential amenity, 
including as a result of overlooking, effect on lighting conditions or outlook for 
neighbouring occupiers. 
 
DESIGN 
 
3.18 Policy EN8B of the UDP states that 'The council will require a high standard of 
design in all extensions and alterations to existing buildings. These should be 
compatible with the scale and character of existing development, its neighbours and its 
setting. In most cases, these will be subservient to the original building.  In considering 
applications the Council will take into account the following: (i) scale, form, height and 
mass (ii) proportion (iii) vertical and horizontal emphasis (iv) relationship of solid to void 
(v) materials (vi) relationship to existing building, spaces between buildings, and 
gardens, and (vii) good neighbourliness'.   
 
3.19 It is proposed to make minor external alterations to the building to facilitate its 
conversion into two residential units. It is proposed to replace the main entrance door in 
the western elevation and also to replace a door and window with a window in the 
eastern elevation. All the proposed external alterations would be in keeping with the 
design and materials of the existing building. These proposed alterations are considered 
to be minor and of no detriment to visual amenity or the character and appearance of 
the area, and would therefore be in line with the requirements of UDP policy EN8B. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
 
3.20 The site is within the Environment Agency's Flood Risk Zone 1, which is at the 
lowest risk of flooding. The proposed residential use is classified in the same 
vulnerability category as the existing use and therefore it is considered that the 
development does not raise any significant issues in terms of flood risk, particularly as 
no extensions or significant building work are proposed. 
 
3.21 The proposal would not involve substantial development and it is therefore 
considered that it would not pose any significant risk in terms of contamination.  An 
informative on the planning permission is recommended to request the developer to 

Page 47



contact the Council if unexpected staining or malodours are encountered during the 
development works. 
 
3.22 Improved insulation and replacement doors and windows proposed would improve 
the energy efficiency of the units. It is also noted that in front of the units (although 
outside their curtilages) it is proposed to replace existing hard landscaping with soft 
landscaping which would improve surface water drainage. 
 
EQUALITIES IMPACT 
 
3.23    In accordance with the provisions of the Equality Act 2010, the Council is 
required to have due regard to its public sector equality duty. These matters have been 
considered, and officers' view is that the proposal would not detrimentally affect local 
residents/communities to an unreasonable or disproportionate degree on the basis that 
the units are currently vacant, have been so for at least a year and there are other 
community facilities in the vicinity of the site which would be complemented by the 
White City Collaborative Care Centre (completion expected spring 2014). 
 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
3.24 Mayoral CIL came into effect in April 2012 and is a material consideration to which 
regard must be had when determining this planning application.  This development will 
be subject to a London-wide community infrastructure levy.  This will contribute towards 
the funding of Crossrail, and further details are available via the GLA website at 
www.london.gov.uk. The GLA expect the Council, as the collecting authority, to secure 
the levy in accordance with London Plan policy 8.3. 
 
3.25 As no additional floorspace is proposed by the development, which is primarily a 
change of use, it would be exempt under current CIL regulations.  The Mayoral CIL 
payable for this development has therefore been estimated to be £0. 
 
PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 
3.26 Due to the small scale of the proposal it is considered that there would be no 
unacceptable adverse impact on existing services arising from the additional two 
residential units, and therefore, in this instance, contributions towards the provision of 
services in the area (e.g. education and healthcare) are not required. 
 
4.0 CONCLUSION and RECOMMENDATION 
     
4.1  It is considered that the units can be re-used for residential purposes, as they are 
vacant and are in poor condition and are therefore considered no longer viable for Class 
D1 uses. The proposal would contribute to much needed additional housing, helping to 
meet both London Plan and local targets.  The proposal is considered not to have an 
adverse impact on the amenities of neighbours including upon their light, outlook or 
privacy. It is considered that there would not be an adverse impact on highways and 
that the scheme would not result in congestion of the local road network or an 
unacceptable increase in on-street parking. The accessibility level of the site is good, as 
there is public transport and shops and services located nearby. Adequate provision for 
the storage and collection of refuse and recyclables would be provided.  Occupiers of 
the proposed units would have sufficient internal floor space, lighting and aspect.   
 

Page 48



4.2     It is therefore recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to 
conditions. 
 

Page 49



DATE: 8th MAY 2013 
 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--- 
-- 
SUBJECT 
 
CONFIRMATION OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER T379/12/12 
 
LAND AT 17 APPLEGARTH ROAD, W14 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--- 
-- 
WARD/S 
 
ADDISON 
 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--- 
-- 
CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Transport and Technical Services Dept. 
 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--- 
-- 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Committee resolve that the Tree Preservation Order T379/12/12 be confirmed 
without modification. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



CONFIRMATION OF THE TREE PRESERVATION ORDER T379/12/12 
LAND AT 17 APPLEGARTH ROAD, W14 
 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--- 
 
1 DOCUMENTATION 
 
1.1 Location plan.  Photograph of Tree of Heaven taken from Applegarth Road. 
 
 
2 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 On 18th December 2012 delegated authority was given to make a Tree 
Preservation Order covering one Tree of Heaven within the rear garden of this mid 
terrace Victorian house.  The Order was made under Section 201 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and became effective for a period of six months from 28th 
December 2012. 
 
2.2 The Order was made following receipt of a Conservation Area tree works notice to 
fell the Tree of Heaven.  The Arboricultural Officer raised concerns about the proposal. 
 
2.3 Under the Tree Regulations the Council is obliged to consider any objections or 
representations to the Order, made within 28 days of its service before confirming it.  
Two letters of objection have been received, one from the owner of the tree at 17 
Applegarth Road and one from a neighbouring property at 31 Sterndale Road. 
 
2.4 The tree is located within the Brook Green Conservation Area and is visible from 
the public highway in Applegarth Road.  The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has stated 
that the tree is a mature specimen which appears to be in good condition.  The tree is 
considered to make a positive contribution to amenity within the local area and to the 
character and appearance of the Brook Green Conservation Area.  The tree acts as a 
green foil to the surrounding development.   
 
2.5 Policy EN25 of the Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan states that:  

• ‘The Council will continue to make Tree Preservation Orders on trees of 
amenity value.  The Council will endeavour to prevent removal or mutilation 
of protected trees.’   

 
 
3 CONSULTATION RESPONSES TO THE ORDER 
 
3.1 Objection 1.  
Letter dated 7th January 2013 from 31 Sterndale Road 
“The reasons for my objection are as follows: 
1).  The tree is far too large for the small gardens between the rows of houses on 
Applegarth Road and Sterndale Road.  A mature tree can grow as high as 90 feet.  The 
owners have had to have it pruned every two or three years in order to reduce its 
height, width (it almost reached to the houses on Sterndale Road!) and density.  We 
contribute to the cost of this pruning; and it grows back vigorously every year! 
2).  The Tree of Heaven is often views as a weed!..... 

Page 51



3).   It blocks all the morning sun into our garden.  We thus have a significant loss of 
amenity.  It also results in other plants and grass not growing well in our garden 
4).  The owners would, I understand be happy to replace it with a tree of more 
appropriate proportions 
5).  It is situated about 50 metres from the nearest street (a small part of Applegarth 
Road on which there are no dwellings) and thus hardly contributes to the ’streetscene’ 
at all. 
In summary, I disagree that ‘the tree makes a significant contribution to the character 
and appearance of the street scene and Conservation Area’.  I also disagree that it has 
a ‘high amenity value’, indeed I suggest the opposite.  Removing the tree and replacing 
it with a more appropriate variety would be the best option.’ 
 
Objection 2. 
Letter dated 8th January from 17 Applegarth Road 
“We are the owners of the house in whose garden the relevant tree stands, and made 
the original application to fell it.  As it happens we are entirely in sympathy with the 
policy of preserving trees and a few years ago even served on a committee to get more 
planted in the streets of the this area.  We are also rather attached to this particular tree.  
So we didn’t make the aplication lightly.  The fact is though that have a tree of heaven in 
a small garden is increasingly problematic.  In response to complaints from neighbours 
whose gardens it puts in deep shade we frequently have it lopped by Tree Care (with 
your OK).  But lopping actually increases the shade and has also rather spoiled the tree, 
by turning its elegant foiliage into a bunch of pom-poms.  And despite the lopping, Tree 
Care tell us it will still in a few years be bulkier than it is now by 50 per cent or more. 
More worrying than the shade is the tree’s position relative to the wall we share with 19 
Applegarth Road.  It’s self seeded in a bad position and its foot is now about 4 inches 
from the base of the wall, which as a result is leaning and cracked from top to bottom.  
In due course the wall will certainly collapse.  When that happens, who will be liable for 
the damage or possible injury?  We who own the tree, or you who will not let us 
anticipate the inevitable fall? 
 
Officer's comment 
Under s.198 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 local planning authorities have 
the power to make provision for the preservation of trees in their area if it is considered 
expedient in the interests of amenity.  It is considered that the Tree Preservation Order 
is necessary to ensure that the amenity value of the tree is retained and as such will 
prevent any unnecessary reduction in the quality of the environment in the Conservation 
Area.  The Council will use its powers to safeguard the amenity value of the tree and to 
ensure that any works to the tree are not detrimental to its health or appearance.   
 
The tree is located approximately two thirds of the way down the rear garden and is not 
considered to cause a significant nuisance to the occupants of the surrounding 
dwellings.  The tree is highly visible from the public highway in views across rear 
gardens and is one of the largest in the immediate vicinity.  No evidence has been 
submitted to prove that the cracking to the boundary wall of 17 Applegarth Road is 
directly related to the tree. 
 
If confirmed the Tree Preservation Order would not prevent works such as pruning from 
being carried out to the tree in the future; it only requires that consent be obtained from 
the Council before such works are carried out.  The Tree Preservation Order would 
enable the Council to control such works so that they are not detrimental to the health or 
appearance of the tree.  Furthermore should the tree become unmanageably large in 

Page 52



the future then the objector could submit an application to fell the tree and if considered 
justified the Council could grant consent to fell the tree, if necessary subject to a 
condition on the provision of a suitable replacement tree.  In this case the owner of the 
tree has already made an application (2013/00407/TPO) to fell the tree and replace it 
with another tree, which is subject to a separate report on the agenda and can be 
considered on its own merits.  If the Tree Preservation Order is not confirmed then the 
Council would have no control over whether the tree is felled and whether a 
replacement tree of a suitable size and location is provided once the Provisional Tree 
Preservation Order expires. 
 
 
4 OPTIONS 
 
4.1 The Council could allow the Tree Preservation Order to lapse. 
 
4.2 Alternatively, the Council is empowered to confirm the Tree Preservation Order 
without confirmation, in order to protect the tree and control future works to it.  Officers 
recommend this option. 
 
 
5 ARGUMENTS FOR THE RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
5.1 The Tree Preservation Order was stimulated by a Conservation Area tree works 
notice to fell the tree. 
 
5.2 The tree has significant amenity value, which would be preserved by the 
confirmation of the Order.  The presence of the tree is one of a number of factors, which 
make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
 
6 IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no major financial, legal or staffing implications relating to the 
confirmation of a Tree Preservation Order.  The Order will ensure that the amenity value 
of the tree is retained and as such will prevent an unnecessary reduction in the quality 
of the environment in this part of the Borough. 
 
 
7 CONCLUSION 
 
7.1 The Tree Preservation Order is justified, as it will contribute to the protection of the 
quality of the environment within the local area. 
 
 
8 RECOMMENDATION 
 
8.1 Confirm the Tree Preservation Order without modification. 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No. Brief Description of Background Paper Name/Ext. of holder  Department/  

Page 53



      of file/copy    Location 1 Tree 
Preservation Order   A.O’Neill   Env. D / HTHX 

T379/12/12     Ext. 3318   5th Floor 

Page 54



 
 

Figure 1: Location plan.

Page 55



 
 

 
Figure 2: Photograph of Tree of Heaven viewed from Applegarth Road. 

 

Page 56



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Addison 
 
Site Address: 
17 Applegarth Road  London  W14 0HY     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00407/TPO 
 
Date Valid: 
28.01.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Denuka Gunaratne 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Brook Green Conservation Area - Number 3: 
Lakeside/Sinclair/Blythe Road Conservation Area - 
Number 36 

 

Page 57



 
Applicant: 
Mr Grant McIntyre 
17 Applegarth Road London W14 0HY  
 
Description: 
Felling of Tree Of Heaven Tree, Subject to Tree Preservation Order TPO/379/12/12 
(T1). 
Drg Nos:  
 
 
Application Type: 
Tree Preservation Order Works 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be refused for the following reason(s): 
 
 
 
 
 1) The proposed felling of the Tree of Heaven is considered to be unacceptable on 

visual amenity and biodiversity grounds. The loss of the tree, which provides 
significant amenity value to the surrounding area and contributes positively to the 
streetscene, would adversely affect the character and appearance of this part of 
Brook Green Conservation Area and the setting of the adjoining Lakeside, Sinclair, 
Blythe Road Conservation Area which it is considered desirable to preserve or 
enhance in compliance with Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The loss of the tree would also result in a 
degradation to the biodiversity of the local area. It is thereby considered that the 
proposal would conflict with UDP policy EN25 which seeks to prevent the removal 
or mutilation of protected trees; UDP policies EN2 and EN2b and Core Strategy 
Policy BE1 which seek to protect and enhance the character, appearance and 
setting of the borough's conservation areas; and London Plan policy 7.21 and the 
NPPF which recognise the importance of trees within the green infrastructure, 
including their contribution in maintaining biodiversity. 

 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 25th January 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 

Page 58



Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 
Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
    

Dated: 
    

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
31 Sterndale Road London W14 0HT   20.02.13 
 
 
OFFICERS' REPORT 
   
1.0 BACKGROUND 
   
1.1 The subject property is located on both the northern and western sides of 
Applegarth Road, where the street `dog-legs'. The property is sited within the Brook 
Green Conservation Area. The terrace of residential properties to the north at Sterndale 
Road is within the Lakeside/Sinclair/Blythe Road Conservation Area. 
 
1.2    The application proposes to fell a `Tree of Heaven' which is located in the rear 
garden area of the property, close to the boundary wall shared with 19 Applegarth Road 
to the east and 29 and 31 Sterndale Road to the north.  It is proposed to replace it with 
a `feature' tree, though the species has not been identified. 
 
1.3  There are a number of planning records pertaining to the tree. Consent was 
granted in 2001, 2004 and 2008 to carry out works to prune the tree and reduce its 
crown. An application made in 2012 (ref: 2012/00717/TREE) to reduce back the tree to 
previous points of reduction, remove two low limbs and to clean out the crown was 
lapsed. 
  
1.4 Delegated authority to make a Tree Preservation Order on the tree was signed on 
18th December 2012, following receipt of a conservation area tree works notice to fell it. 
The order was made under Section 201 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
and became effective for a period of six months from 28th December 2012. A report 
appears elsewhere on this agenda, recommending that the TPO be confirmed. 
 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
  
2.1 The application has been advertised by means of a site notice and a press advert, 
and individual notification letters which have been sent  to neighbouring residents. 
       
2.2 One response has been received from a neighbouring resident in Sterndale Road. 
The response is summarised as follows. The tree is far too large for the small gardens 
between the rows of houses in this location. The tree blocks all the morning sun into 

Page 59



neighbouring gardens. It is situated c.50m from the nearest street (a small part of 
Applegarth Road on which there are no dwellings) and does not contribute to the 
streetscene. A Tree of Heaven is classified as a  `weed', it competes with native 
vegetation and can cause damage to sewers and building foundations. 
  
2.3      A tree of heaven is not classified as a weed in UK. It could be an invasive 
species in certain circumstances, but taken out of context so can other trees such as a 
Sycamore or an Ash tree. The other planning matters raised in the correspondence 
received will be discussed in the body of the report below. 
   
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS  
 
3.1     The main issue relates to whether the removal of the tree would be acceptable 
having regard to the impact its loss would have on the visual amenity, including the 
conservation area within which the property is sited and the adjoining conservation area 
and having regard to biodiversity; or whether there is sufficient justification, in any event, 
to allow its felling and replacement. 
 
3.2     The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 (NPPF) recognises that trees play 
a very important role within the green infrastructure and great emphasis is placed on the 
retention of aged and veteran trees. The NPPF recognises that biodiversity is present 
within the existing tree stock, and that the retention of existing trees will enable the 
biodiversity to be retained and provide an underpinning to the net gain of biodiversity. It 
is stated that trees often play a significant role in ecological networks in providing 
corridors for wildlife; and the NPPF says that isolated trees need not be considered any 
less important as these are `stepping stones'.  
 
3.3 London Plan Policy 7.21 states that `Trees and woodlands should be protected, 
maintained, and enhanced.....and that existing trees should be retained wherever 
possible and any loss as the result of development should be replaced following the 
principle of `right place, right tree' `. 
 
3.4 The Unitary Development Plan policy EN2 'Development in Conservation Areas' 
states that development within conservation areas will only be permitted if the character 
and appearance of the area is preserved or enhanced. Policy EN2B of the UDP states 
that 'development, including development outside of conservation areas, will only be 
permitted if the character or appearance of the conservation areas in terms of their 
setting and views into or out of them is preserved or enhanced'. UDP policy EN25 
'Protection of Trees', states that the Council will endeavour to prevent removal or 
mutilation of protected trees. 
 
3.5 Core Strategy Policy BE1 states that all development within the borough should 
create a high quality urban environment that protects and enhance the character, 
appearance and setting of the borough'sconservation areas. 
 
3.6 The UDP says that the loss of trees nearly always results in a deterioration of 
environmental character and the council does not approve applications for tree felling 
without good cause, particularly if subject to a Tree Preservation Order, as in this case.  
Where trees are protected by a Tree Preservation Order and have to be removed for 
reasons of disease, danger etc policy EN25 states that suitable replacements would be 
required.  
 

Page 60



3.7 The UDP does not usually allow the removal of trees subject to Tree Preservation 
Orders. Felling can normally only be justified where it can be demonstrated that the tree 
is in poor health or presents a hazard.   
 
3.8     In support of the application, the applicant has stated that the tree needs regular 
lopping in response to complaints from neighbours over loss of light to their gardens. 
The applicant also says that felling is also required because of the potential danger from 
the garden wall, if it were to fall. It is stated that it is proposed to replace the tree with a 
`feature' tree, not as large, to be planted a safe distance from the wall. The tree has 
been assessed and is considered to be healthy. There is no technical evidence 
submitted to suggest that the tree is a danger to the public. There are insufficient 
grounds to justify the felling of this large, healthy, visually important tree and no 
evidence has been submitted to prove that cracking to the boundary wall of 17 
Applegarth Road is directly related to the tree. Even if this were the case, this would not 
be sufficient reason to allow its felling, unless it was proven that there was a danger to 
the public. 
 
3.9    The neighbour has stated that the tree blocks all the morning sun into 
neighbouring gardens. Officers acknowledge that the tree is to the south of the gardens 
in Sterndale Road and that they do not have long gardens (around 6.5 metres long). No 
evidence of overshadowing of gardens or unacceptable impact on the amenities of 
neighbours has been submitted, to support the application, however. 
  
3.10   The tree is around 40 metres tall and is visible from the public highway at 
Applegarth Road, as the property is sited only three houses in from the end of the 
terrace; about 13 metres away from the footpath. The tree is located within the Brook 
Green Conservation Area, and is very close to properties in the Lakeside, Sinclair, 
Blythe Road Conservation Area. The tree is a mature specimen which appears to be in 
good condition. The tree is considered to make a positive contribution to visual amenity 
within the local area and to the character and appearance of the Brook Green 
Conservation Area and the setting of the Lakeside, Sinclair, Blythe Road Conservation 
Area. The tree acts as a green foil to the surrounding development. If approved, the 
felling of this tree would harm the character and appearance of Brook Green 
Conservation Area and the setting of the Lakeside, Sinclair, Blythe Road Conservation 
Area, contrary to policies EN25, EN2 and EN2B of the UDP and Core Strategy policy 
BE1. The loss of the tree would also be contrary to London Plan policy 7.21 and the 
NPPF which recognise the importance of trees within the green infrastructure, including 
their contribution in maintaining biodiversity. 
 
3.11    A refusal for felling of this tree would not prevent works such as pruning from 
being carried out in the future; for which consent must be obtained from the Council in 
advance. 
    
4.0      CONCLUSION and RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1     The proposed felling of the Tree of Heaven is considered to be unacceptable on 
visual amenity and biodiversity grounds. The loss of the tree, which provides significant 
amenity value to the surrounding area and contributes positively to the streetscene, 
would adversely affect the character and appearance of this part of Brook Green 
Conservation Area and the setting of the adjoining Lakeside, Sinclair, Blythe Road 
Conservation Area which it is considered desirable to preserve or enhance in 
compliance with Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 

Page 61



Act 1990.  The loss of the tree would also result in a degradation to the biodiversity of 
the local area.  
 
4.2     It is thereby considered that the proposal would conflict with UDP policy EN25 
which seeks to prevent the removal or mutilation of protected trees; UDP policies EN2 
and EN2b and Core Strategy Policy BE1 which seek to protect and enhance the 
character, appearance and setting of the borough's conservation areas; and London 
Plan policy 7.21 and the NPPF which recognise the importance of trees within the green 
infrastructure, including their contribution in maintaining biodiversity. 
 
4.3 It is recommended that consent be refused. 
 

Page 62



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Addison 
 
Site Address: 
Nomis Studios  45 - 53 Sinclair Road  London  W14 0NS   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00822/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
04.03.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Neil Egerton 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Lakeside/Sinclair/Blythe Road Conservation Area 
- Number 36 

 

Page 63



 
Applicant: 
Regal (Sinclair Road) LLP C/o Mr Paul Eden 
4-5 Coleridge Gardens London NW6 3QH  
 
Description: 
Redevelopment of the site comprising the erection of a part three storey, part five storey 
building over two basement levels, together with the erection of a part one storey, part 
two storey (over two basement levels) building to the rear of the site; refurbishment and 
conversion of 53 Sinclair Road, in connection with provision of 52 residential units; 
retention of the 'arch' feature on Hofland Road; related landscaping and the provision of 
41 car parking spaces at sub-basement level, following demolition of the existing 
buildings at 45 - 51 Sinclair Road. 
Drg Nos: 10044B_PL_98_Rev D, 99 Rev D, 100 Rev D101 Rev D,102 Rev D, 103 Rev 
D, 104 Rev D, 105 Rev D, 201 Rev E,202 Rev E, 203 Rev E, 204 Rev E, 301 Rev C, 
302 Rev E, 303 Rev B. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be refused for the following reason(s): 
 
 
 
 
 1) The proposed development is considered to be an overdevelopment of the site. 

More particularly, the density of the proposed residential development is 
considered to be excessive, and out of keeping with neighbouring residential 
development in the area, and as a result would have a detrimental impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring properties. Furthermore, given the high density in close 
proximity to neighbouring residential properties, it is considered that the 
development would have an adverse impact on existing residents, in terms of 
noise nuisance and disturbance. This impact is exacerbated by the number of rear 
window openings to living/kitchen/dining areas through which, and rear balconies 
from which, noise would emanate; together with the potential use by significant 
numbers of people of the area of communal open space adjacent to the 
boundaries of neighbouring residential properties. Accordingly, it is considered that 
the proposed development would be an unneighbourly form of development and 
contrary to policies EN8, EN21 and standard S13.2A of the UDP (as amended 
2007 and 2011), policy DM A9 of the draft Development Managment DPD, 2012 
and policy 3.4 of The London Plan 2011. 

 
 2) The proposed development is unacceptable with regard to amenity space and 

quality of life of future residential occupiers. Insufficient amount of amenity space 
would be provided for future occupiers and no playspace would be provided for 
children. These shortfalls are symptomatic of the overdevelopment of this site, and 
the development therefore fails to comply with standard S5 of the Unitary 
Development Plan 2007 and 2011, policies DM A2 and DM E2 of the Development 
Management DPD, Housing Policy 1 and paragraphs 4.5 to 4.8 of Planning 

Page 64



Guidance SPD, June 2012, London Plan policy 3.6 of 2011 (and SPG 2012 ) and 
Core Planning Principle 17. 

 
 3) No affordable housing is proposed on site, and the scheme would not meet the 

affordable housing target expressed within the Council's Core Strategy. A 
commuted sum towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere within the 
borough has been proposed, but it is considered that insufficient justification has 
been provided to fully demonstrate that the amount of the proposed commuted 
sum is the maximum feasible for the provision of affordable housing that could be 
achieved from the scheme. Therefore this would result in a lower level of 
affordable housing than the development could actually support. The proposal 
thereby fails to support a mixed and balanced community, contrary to policy H2 of 
the Core Strategy 2011 and policies 3.11 and 3.12 of The London Plan, 2011. 

 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 1st March 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
                 
English Heritage London Region 
       
Thames Water - Development Control 
          
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 
 

Dated: 
                 
21.03.13 
       
20.03.13 
          
18.03.13 
 

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
Nag     14.04.13 
14 Burnand House Redan Street London W14 0LW  16.04.13 

Page 65



14 Burnand House Redan Street London W14 0LW  16.04.13 
flat 5 50 Sinclair Road London W14 0NH  16.04.13 
Flat 3 55, Sinclair Road London W14 0NR  16.04.13 
Flat 3 55 Sinclair Road London W14 0NR  16.04.13 
6 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   16.04.13 
Nag     18.04.13 
96 Sinclair Road Londoon W14 0NJ   19.04.13 
Flat E 78 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   03.04.13 
100 Masbro' Road London W14 0LP   19.04.13 
70 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   08.04.13 
33A Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   27.03.13 
24 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   04.04.13 
23 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   03.04.13 
21 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   04.04.13 
15 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   02.04.13 
11 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   14.04.13 
11 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   15.04.13 
35 Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   03.04.13 
31 Craven Cottages Hofland Road London W14 0LN  19.04.13 
18 Girdlers Road London W14 0PU   11.04.13 
69 Milson Road London W14 0LH   03.04.13 
96 Masbro' Road London W14 0LR   12.04.13 
33D Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   18.04.13 
65 Milson Road London W14 0LH   23.04.13 
14 Burnand House Redan Street London W14 0LW  16.04.13 
4 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   17.04.13 
Flat 5 Hofland House Hofland Road London W14 0LN  27.03.13 
Flat 5 Hofland House Hofland Road London W14 0LN  27.03.13 
Flat 5 68 Sinclair Rd London W14 0NJ  07.04.13 
Nag     03.04.13 
92 Masbro Rd London W14 0LR   15.04.13 
20 Spring Vale Terrace London W14 0AE   03.04.13 
38 Redan Street London W14 0AB   03.04.13 
10A Bolingbroke Road London W14 0AL   08.04.13 
Flat 4 32 - 34 Gratton Road London W14 0JX  09.04.13 
10 Mercers Place London W6 7BZ   03.04.13 
Flat 2 43 Sinclair Road London W14 0NS  14.04.13 
Flat 1 77 Sinclair Road London W14 0NR  28.03.13 
60, Sinclair road London W14 0NH   26.03.13 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
       
1.1 The application site is a corner property, approximately 1,730m2 in area, located 
on the south western side of Sinclair Road, at its junction with Hofland Road and within 
the Lakeside, Sinclair, Blythe Road Conservation Area. 
     
1.2 The site is currently occupied by two buildings comprising a four storey building 
(with basement) at 45-51 Sinclair Road, and a part three storey, part four storey (with 
basement) end of terrace building at 53 Sinclair Road. The existing buildings are 
currently vacant, but were formerly in use as music studios with ancillary offices known 
as Nomis Studios. 

Page 66



       
1.3 There are residential properties to the north, northeast and south on Sinclair Road, 
and to the northwest on Hofland Road. These properties comprise mostly of traditional 
terraced houses 3-4 storeys in height, many of which have been converted to flats. 
Hofland Road, is occupied by 2 storey residential houses with small front gardens, in 
the immediate vicinity of the site; and to the rear of the site on Milson Road, there are 
several low rise housing developments.  A large plane tree protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order is located within the site on the Sinclair Road frontage. The scheme 
proposes to retain this tree. 
     
1.4 There are 2 crossovers to the site, one on Hofland Road and a smaller one on 
Sinclair Road.  
  
Relevant Planning History  
    
1.5 There are a number of planning records relating to the property.  
   
1.6 Planning permission was refused in 2009 for the erection of a part four storey, part 
three storey building, comprising 164 student accommodation units, including bicycle 
storage and a communal courtyard with landscaping to the rear, following the demolition 
of an existing mixed use building at 43 - 51 Sinclair Road, and refurbishment of 53 
Sinclair Road, The applicant, Hive Student Residences, had indicated that the units 
would be leased by post-graduate students. 
  
1.7 This application was refused on the grounds of:  
1)  Impact on residential amenity due to overconcentration of student accommodation 
and noise and disturbance; 
2) Location of new windows and their relationship to existing windows serving habitable 
rooms at 32 and 33 Hofland Road, 41, 43 and 55 Sinclair Road resulting in a negative 
impact upon the privacy of occupants at these properties through overlooking;   
3) Fails to provide adequate or convenient cycle parking facilities for cyclists, and the 
proposed cycle parking area would result in unacceptable impacts to the amenities of 
residential occupiers at 43 Sinclair Road;   
4) The outdoor courtyard area by virtue of its size and close proximity to neighbouring 
residential properties at 32 and 33 Hofland Road and 1-12 Rayburne Court would result 
in the potential for unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance prejudicial to the 
amenities of surrounding occupiers;   
5) The submitted transport assessment fails to address the management of additional 
traffic activity;   
6) A significant proportion of units within the development would have windows facing 
exclusively in a northerly direction;  
7) scheme fails to satisfactorily demonstrate how the proposed development would 
ensure a safe and secure environment for users; 
8) The scheme fails to satisfactorily demonstrate how the proposed development would 
ensure an inclusive environment for users.  
   
1.8 Regal Sinclair Road LLP have put forward more recent proposals for the site. A 
planning application (2011/02489/FUL) and conservation area consent application 
(2011/02507/CAC) were submitted for the demolition of  buildings at 45 - 51 Sinclair 
Road and the redevelopment of the site comprising the erection of a part four storey, 
part five storey building over two basement levels, together with the erection of a part 
one storey, part two storey (over two basement levels) building to the rear of the site; 

Page 67



refurbishment and conversion of 53 Sinclair Road, in connection with provision of 59 
residential units (this number was reduced to 54 over the course of the application); 
retention of the 'arch' feature on Hofland Road; related landscaping and the provision of 
41 car parking spaces at sub-basement level. These applications were the subject of an 
appeal against non-determination. The council determined that, had they been 
empowered to determine the case, the grounds for refusal would have been: 
 
1) Overdevelopment, excessive density, and as a result, a detrimental impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring properties in terms of noise nuisance and disturbance, from 
large numbers of balconies/terraces and communal amenity space.  
 2) Unacceptable quality of accommodation in terms of unit/room sizes and 
insufficient private amenity space, which would adversely affect future residential 
occupiers.  
 3) Potential noise nuisance, vibration and disturbance from the use and operation of 
the proposed car lift.  
 4) The proposed communal garden area and private terraces provided at lower 
ground floor level would be unacceptable given that there were two vents from the sub-
basement car parking area, that would discharge into this lower ground floor level.  
 
1.9     The appeal took the form of a local hearing (September 2012), and the Planning 
Inspector dismissed the appeals in October 2012. The Planning Inspector concluded 
that: 
 
'Notwithstanding the conclusions on the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area, standard of accommodation, amenity space, density, 
daylight/sunlight, outlook/privacy and other considerations, it is the detrimental effect 
that the proposal would have in terms of unacceptable noise 
and disturbance, and the lack of acceptable measures for refuse collection that are the 
determining issues in these appeals. The provision of amenity space and off-street 
parking address policy requirements and although reference has been made to 
lease/purchase agreements precluding the use of the car lift and the private amenity 
spaces at certain times this would conflict with the reasons for providing them. In any 
event there is no mechanism for ensuring their implementation. As there is not an 
acceptable scheme for redevelopment conservation area consent for the proposed 
demolition should not be granted to prevent harm to the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area.' 
 
1.10 Following the submission of the appeal, but prior to the local hearing, the 
applicants submitted a further planning application (2012/01038/FUL) and conservation 
area consent (2012/01039/CAC), for the demolition of the existing buildings at 45-51 
Sinclair Road and the redevelopment of the site comprising the erection of a part four-
storey, part five-storey building over two basement levels, together with the erection of a 
part one-storey, part two-storey (over two basement levels) building to the rear of the 
site; refurbishment and conversion of 53 Sinclair Road in connection with provision of 
54 residential units, retention of the arch feature on Hofland Road, related landscaping 
and the provision of 41 car parking spaces at sub-basement level. 
 
1.11 This was essentially the same scheme that was the subject of the appeal, with the 
exception of alterations to the lower ground floor flat layouts to ensure compliance with 
the Mayor of London's Design Guidelines. These cases appeared on the agenda to be 
reported to Planning Applications Committee meeting on 10th July 2012, with a 
recommendation for refusal, for similar reasons to those stated in para 1.8 above. 

Page 68



However, the applications were withdrawn by the applicant on the day of the meeting, 
and no decision could therefore be made on these cases. 
 
1.12 Two applications are currently under consideration, a conservation area consent 
application to demolish and a planning application to redevelop. The scheme comprises 
the demolition of the existing buildings at 45 - 51 Sinclair Road and the redevelopment 
of the site comprising the erection of a part three storey, part five storey building over 
two basement levels, together with the erection of a part one storey, part two storey 
(over two basement levels) building to the rear of the site; refurbishment and conversion 
of 53 Sinclair Road, in connection with provision of 52 residential units; retention of the 
'arch' feature on Hofland Road; related landscaping and the provision of 41 car parking 
spaces at sub-basement level. This is a joint report covering matters raised by both the 
planning application and the conservation area consent application, 2013/00823/CAC.  
 
1.13    The current scheme is, essentially, a very similar scheme to that which was 
considered at the appeal. The numbers of units proposed has been reduced by two (52 
units rather than 54). However, the design, height, bulk and massing is essentially the 
same, though the removal of two flats reduces a part third floor from the Hofland Road 
elevation. Car parking arrangements proposed are the same, the communal amenity 
space proposed is the same. The differences between this scheme and the one 
dismissed on appeal, is that: 
- the majority of the roof terraces and balconies have been removed 
- additional refuse storage is proposed at ground floor level, and a new waste 
management strategy is proposed 
- a different external door is proposed to the car lift  
- there would be two flats less on the Hofland Road elevation 
 
1.14 The applicants advised officers that an external door to a ramped car park, by the 
same manufacturer as proposed in this instance, had been installed on a site in LB 
Westminster. Officers have visited the site and inspected this installation.  
 
1.15      The 52 residential units proposed would be in the form of 5 x studio units, 17 x 
1 bedroom flats, 20 x 2 bedroom flats and 10 x 3 bedroom flats. 
  
1.16    Prior to the submission of the current applications the applicants held an 
exhibition of their proposals, in February 2013. The applicants state that around 40 
residents attended the exhibition. Display boards detailing the potential two planning 
applications (both the 52 and 54 unit schemes) were exhibited to advise residents and 
to form a basis for discussions.  
  
1.17 Prior to the formal submission of the applications dismissed at appeal, the 
applicants presented their scheme to the Design Review Panel (June 2011). The DRP's 
view was that there were concerns over the high number of flats proposed and that the 
site seemed too compressed, the architecture and the amount of amenity space 
provided. The applicants revised the scheme following this advice. A Planning Forum 
was held in January 2012 for this scheme, where residents expressed their concerns 
about the proposed development. They also requested additional information such as a 
rear elevation of the garden block building, and additional views of the site from varying 
angles, as well as additional information on the sites used in the transport assessment. 
This additional information was provided at the time of the hearing.   
 

Page 69



1.18      A different redevelopment scheme for the same applicant, which seeks consent 
for 54 flatted units (refs:2013/00824/FUL and 2013/00825/CAC), is also on this agenda 
for members' consideration. 
 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
       
2.1 The application has been publicised by means of site notices and a press 
advertisement. In addition individual notification letters have also been sent to the 
occupiers of adjoining and surrounding properties, the Crime Prevention Design 
adviser, the Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group, the Hammersmith 
Society, English Heritage and local residents' and amenity groups. In addition, the 
Environment Agency and Thames Water have been consulted on the proposal.   
 
2.2 English Heritage has written in to say that they do not wish to comment.  
 
2.3     The Environment Agency has reported that they do not object to the proposal. 
   
2.4 Thames Water have reported that the have no objection to the scheme, subject to 
a condition in respect of managing surface water drainage. 
 
2.5     The Crime Prevention Design Officer, the Hammersmith Society and other groups 
have not responded.  
 
2.6      An objection has been received from Councillor Belinda Donovan, supporting the 
residents' objections to the proposed scheme. 
         
2.7 The Member of Parliament for Hammersmith, Andrew Slaughter, has expressed 
concerns over the proposed development, that the developers have not responded to 
the concerns raised by the Planning Inspector and supports the objections raised by 
local residents. 
 
2.8 41 letters/e-mails have been received in response from local residents/occupiers. 
These letters/emails objecting to the development have been received from Sinclair 
Road, Hofland Road, Milson Road, Girdlers Road, Redan Street and Masbro Road. In 
addition, an objection has been received from the Sinclair, Milson and Hofland Roads 
Residents' Association (SMHRRA), and the grounds for objection can be summarised 
as follows: 
 
- Insufficient response to the Planning Inspector's report 
- Excessive density of the development and the huge number of flats with associated 
impacts in terms of noise and disturbance, loss of privacy, and increase in traffic 
- Overdevelopment of the site will not benefit community and will harm quality of life for 
residents 
- A detailed response from SMHRRA raises concerns on demolition, excavation, 
flooding, density, impact of terraces and balconies, amenity space, communal area, 
refuse, lift accessed subterranean car park, vehicle lift doors, transport and disturbance 
history 
- Design unacceptable and will harm the conservation area 
- Developers have not interacted with the local residents to a satisfactory degree, they 
told the residents what was happening and did not take any account of residents' views 
- Transport report is not accurate or realistic 
- Will lose a large area of soakaway ground due to excavation 

Page 70



- RBKC and probably Westminster are banning such large excavations, why is LBHF 
considering them? 
- There is no Conservation Area Character Profile for this conservation area, as such 
how can decisions be made affecting the conservation area 
- Area is already at saturation point 
- Development will increase demand for on-street car parking spaces, and will result in 
traffic along Hofland Road being significantly increased 
- Sinclair Road is one of the most densely populated streets in London  
- Inadequate lift, car spaces and noise and disturbance from refuse collections 
- No set down point for deliveries, development will generate significant deliveries that 
will result in congestion on streets (Officer Comment: It is accepted that 
servicing/deliveries will have to be undertaken from the street) 
- Modern design and appearance out of keeping with the area 
- Loss of commercial floorspace, doubt whether the marketing of this site was 
undertaken in any serious manner, and historic use was low density 
- Gardens will be overlooked from new windows 
- Mews cottage should be retained; it's the last one left 
- Refuse arrangement mean that excessive noise and disruption will occur when this is 
put out on street for collection 
- Public transport cannot cope with demand 
- Impact on local services  
- Environmentally unacceptable, no solar panels proposed 
- No children's play area provided 
- Will devalue my property and affect rental potential of my flat (Officers' comment: This 
is not a material planning consideration) 
- Sewers will not cope with demand 
- New access adjacent to 43 Sinclair Road will result in noise nuisance and disturbance 
- One car-lift for the basement parking will not work, and the transport assessment 
under estimates the impact of the traffic generated 
- Noise issues from the excessively dense development, especially from car lift and 
remaining terraces/balconies and shared amenity space 
- Excessive excavation for the sub-basement parking will cause structural problems and 
flooding issues (Officer comment: A structural report has been submitted with the 
application; flooding matters will be discussed below) 
- Development will harm the quiet, community atmosphere of Hofland Road 
- Development should be amended to no more than 30 flats 
- Extended period of noise/dirt and disruption during construction period (Officers' 
comment: These are common concerns for local residents with any redevelopment, but 
cannot be a reason to withhold planning permission. If the development were found to 
be acceptable in all matters and an approval were to be forthcoming officers would 
recommend the future submission of a demolition and construction management plan, 
to ensure that impact on local residents would be minimised during the works). 
   
2.9     The Friends of Brook Green have commented on the proposal. Their response 
can be summarised as follows: 
- appreciate the efforts that the applicants have made 
- satisfied refuse arrangements are workable 
- agree residential redevelopment is desirable 
- overlooking has been reduced 
- no major quibble with external appearance of building 
- still have concerns about density 
- concerns about depth of basement and impact on groundwater 

Page 71



- garage arrangements with lift may work, but this is of a new design and must be quiet, 
quick and efficient 
- no permits should be issued to occupiers of new development 
- new residents will make use of Brook Green, therefore a S106 contribution towards 
improvements/maintenance and repair should be sought 
 
2.10    Five standardised letters have been received in support of the application. These 
letters are from residents living in Sinclair Road, Redan Street, Gratton Road, 
Springvale Terrace and Bolingbroke Road. The agents have also submitted a petition 
with 38 signatures with the heading 'Support for the redevelopment of Nomis Studios' 
and listing the reference numbers of the four current applications. It has not been made 
clear what information has been provided to the signatories to gain their signature on 
the petition, therefore, officers cannot give any significant weight to the petition.  
 
2.11     The planning issues raised above will be addressed in the report below. 
 
3.0       PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
      
3.1 The main considerations in determining the applications are: The loss of 
employment land, the principle of the proposed residential accommodation in land use 
terms; the design and appearance of the building and its impact on the street scene, 
and on the character and appearance of the Lakeside, Sinclair, Blythe Road 
Conservation Area; the impact of the development on the existing amenities of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties, in terms of overlooking/loss of privacy, 
daylight/sunlight, and noise & disturbance; traffic generation and car parking; the 
accessibility of the development for wheelchair and disabled users, sustainability and 
energy efficiency, cycle parking, refuse storage, contaminated land issues and flood 
risk.  
 
3.2      The draft Development Management Local Plan was submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for Examination and the Inspector's Report has been received. The draft 
Development Management Local Plan, which is scheduled for adoption in July 2013, 
will form part of the H&F Local Plan. When adopted, it will replace the remaining saved 
policies of the UDP and will be used, together with the Core Strategy and London Plan 
to determine planning applications. Although not yet adopted, the draft Development 
Management Local Plan (and Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD)) as emerging policy documents are a material consideration in the determination 
of planning applications. They should be given weight in assessing proposals, given 
their advanced stage. 
 
LAND USE  
 
3.3 The application relates to demolition of the existing commercial building and the 
redevelopment of the site to provide 52 residential flats. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) (2012) promotes the delivery of a wide choice of high quality 
homes, to widen opportunities for home ownership and to create sustainable, inclusive 
and mixed communities. Effective use of land is encouraged in this national guidance, 
with a priority for re-using brownfield sites.  Policy 3.3 of The London Plan 2011 states 
that 'Boroughs should identify and seek to enable development capacity to be brought 
forward to meet [borough housing targets]... in particular the potential to realise 
brownfield housing capacity including the redevelopment of surplus commercial 
capacity.' Policy 4.2 of The London Plan supports the conversion of surplus office space 

Page 72



to other uses. Core Strategy policy LE1 seeks to retain premises capable of providing 
continued accommodation for local services or significant employment unless certain 
criteria can be met. One of criterion would allow release if 'it can be satisfactorily 
demonstrated that the property is no longer required for employment purposes'. 
Development Management DPD policy DM B1 states that 'Where the loss of 
employment use is proposed...the council will have regard to: the suitability of the 
site/premises for continued employment use, evidence of unsuccessful marketing, the 
need to avoid impact on established clusters of employment use, the need to ensure a 
sufficient stock of premises and sites to meet local need for a range of employment 
uses in appropriate locations'.  
 
3.4 The applicants have advised that the application property has been vacant since 
January 2008 and was last used as offices, following earlier use as recording studios. 
This application is for solely residential use and is supported by a report detailing that 
there has been no demand for the office space, and that future use for office purposes 
is unlikely to be achievable. In view of the circumstances of the existing premises 
including having regard to the location of the property, it is considered that it would be 
unreasonable to object to the loss of the employment land in this instance. There is a 
stock of employment premises available elsewhere, in more appropriate locations in the 
borough.  A purely residential scheme is considered to be in accordance with the NPPF 
guidance, London Plan Policies 3.3 and 4.2 and Core Strategy Policy LE1, and may be 
acceptable in principle; provided other development plan policies are satisfied which will 
be discussed below. It is also noted that the Planning Inspector in his decision on last 
year's appeal concluded that the loss of employment land accorded with development 
plan policy objectives.  
  
3.5 This application seeks to provide 52 new residential dwellings. London Plan Policy 
3.3 B states that an annual average of 32,210 net additional homes should be delivered. 
Table 3.1 sets an annual target of 615 net additional dwellings for Hammersmith and 
Fulham. Core Strategy 2011 Policy H1 reiterates the London Plan's annual target of 615 
net additional dwellings for the borough. The provision of 52 units would contribute 
towards these targets.  
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
  
3.6 Policy 3.12 of the Mayor's London Plan states that 'the maximum reasonable 
amount of affordable housing should be sought when negotiating on individual private 
residential and mixed use schemes, having regard to the current and future 
requirements for affordable housing at local and regional levels; adopted affordable 
housing targets, the need to encourage rather than restrain residential development, the 
need to promote mixed and balanced communities, the size and type of affordable 
housing needed in particular locations and the individual circumstances of the site'. The 
London Plan goes on to say that 'the Mayor wishes to encourage, not restrain overall 
residential development. Boroughs should take a reasonable and flexible approach to 
securing affordable housing on a site by site basis. Boroughs should take into account 
economic viability and the most effective use of public and private investment, including 
the use of developer contributions. Development appraisals should be provided to 
demonstrate that the scheme maximises affordable housing output.' 
   
3.7 London Plan Policy 3.13 states that 'Boroughs should normally require affordable 
housing provision on a site which has the capacity to provide 10 or more homes'; which 
is the case here. 

Page 73



    
3.8 The proposed development would provide 52 new residential units, so affordable 
housing would normally be required. No affordable housing is proposed as part of this 
development, and the applicants have submitted a financial appraisal which concludes 
that it would not be viable to provide any on site in this case. The applicants have 
offered a S106 contribution of £260,000 for unspecified use.  
 
3.9     No affordable housing is proposed on site, and the scheme would not meet the 
affordable housing target expressed within the Council's Core Strategy. A commuted 
sum towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere within the borough has been 
proposed, but it is considered that insufficient justification has been provided to fully 
demonstrate that the amount of the proposed commuted sum is the maximum feasible 
for the provision of affordable housing that could be achieved from the scheme. 
Therefore this would result in a lower level of affordable housing than the development 
could actually support. The proposal thereby fails to support a mixed and balanced 
community, contrary to policy H2 of the Core Strategy 2011 and policies 3.11 and 3.12 
of The London Plan, 2011. 
 
DESIGN 
 
3.10     A number of residents have raised concerns that there is no conservation area 
profile available for this area. Officers acknowledge that this local conservation area 
does not yet have its own conservation area character profile. However, in relation to 
design and heritage matters there is a wealth of relevant policy for officers to consider. 
The hierarchy includes the National Planning Policy Framework, The London Plan, the 
Core Strategy and the Unitary Development Plan saved policies (EN2 and EN8 in 
relation to development in conservation areas, and design of new development 
respectively), adopted Supplementary Planning Documents and the emerging 
Development Management Local Plan. In addition there is the emerging Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document, which contains Design Guidance for all 
conservation areas and is gaining weight in the decision making process as it moves 
towards adoption in the summer.    
 
3.11 Policy EN2 of the UDP relates to development in conservation areas and seeks to 
ensure that in considering new development, the character and appearance of a 
conservation area is either preserved or enhanced.  Policy EN8 is also relevant and 
states that 'development will not be permitted unless it is of a high standard of design, 
and compatible with the scale and character of existing development and its setting'. In 
addition policy 3.5 of The London Plan states that housing development should be of 
the highest quality, internally, externally and in relation to their context and the wider 
environment. The NPPF states that `good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively towards 
making places better for people'. It goes on to state that `.....developments should 
respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local 
surroundings.......are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate 
landscaping¿. It also states that `design policies should avoid unnecessary prescription 
or detail and concentrate on guiding the overall scale, density, massing, height, 
landscape, materials and access......Planning policies and decisions should not attempt 
to impose architectural styles or particular tastes..' 
       
3.12 The site lies within a conservation area and originally comprised a terrace of five 
Victorian houses with a mews to the rear, accessed via a stuccoed arch on Hofland 

Page 74



Road.  Unlike the four mid terrace buildings (replaced by the existing 3 storey, (plus 
mansard and basement) interwar building), the arch and end of terrace building (53 
Sinclair Road) are existing and would be retained by the development.  
     
3.13    The end of terrace house at No. 53 is considered to retain most of its original 
architectural features including the parapet, portico and timber sliding sash windows on 
the front elevation.  It is typical of the townscape in Sinclair Road which consists of 
terraces of grand Victorian stucco fronted houses of three or four storeys over semi-
basements and is considered to make a positive contribution to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. The proposal would retain this building as part of 
the proposal and this is supported by officers. 
       
3.14 The arch at the entrance to the former mews (Hofland Road elevation) would also 
be retained and is considered a richly ornamented structure and an important 
architectural and historic feature of the conservation area. The retention of this structure 
is supported by officers. 
     
3.15    The red brick building is not considered characteristic of either Sinclair Road or 
the conservation area as a whole.  It is a sturdy inter-war building with some 
architectural features including pilasters and a substantial cornice, which sits discretely 
in the townscape, respects its neighbours in terms of building line and height and does 
not compete for attention with the surrounding Victorian terraces in the streetscene.  A 
site inspection has revealed the building to be unsatisfactory for modern office uses and 
it is considered that it would be very difficult to convert to an alternative use given the 
highly unusual internal layout including many changes of level and the numerous 
piecemeal extensions and internal alterations.  The rear of the building is dominated by 
various accretions and none of the original mews buildings survive.  The canopy over 
the rear yard is not considered to be of special architectural or historic interest and does 
not form part of the original design of the mews, being a much later addition. Overall the 
interwar building is considered to make a neutral contribution to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and there would be no objections to its demolition 
providing that an acceptable proposal for a replacement building is secured. 
   
3.16    With the exception of the building at 53 Sinclair Road and the archway to Hofland 
Road, the remainder of the proposed development would comprise new buildings. The 
Sinclair Road elevation would take the form of a 4 storey plus basement, plus mansard 
roof, matching the height of the existing adjoining terrace, with a mansard floor also 
being added to the retain 53 Sinclair Road. The contemporary elevation is judged to be 
a worthy replacement for the interwar building, and draws inspiration from the 
surrounding Victorian terraces. In particular, the bays and detailing on the front 
elevation, which would add articulation and visual interest. The new building would step 
up slightly from 41 Sinclair Road lifting towards the higher retained 53 Sinclair Road. 
The building would respect the front building line of the adjacent Victorian buildings and 
the set back of the additional floor at fourth floor level, is concentrated over the primary 
frontage, so that the height and massing of the main block is similar to those adjacent 
houses with additional mansard floors. There is an existing basement level floor which 
would be retained. There is a light well to the Sinclair road frontage, which would take 
the form of stepped planters.  
   
3.17    While the appeal Inspector raised no concerns in relation to the design and 
massing of the previous scheme, the reduction in massing on the rear wing fronting 
Hofland Road in the current application is welcomed and would assist in making this 

Page 75



element of the scheme appear more subservient in views down Hofland Road where 
the context is of smaller domestic scaled properties. This lower level results in the rear 
part of the development remaining subservient to the frontage building and is 
considered to respect the hierarchy of development within the street block, particularly 
on the secondary frontage to Hofland Road which is located opposite two storey 
Victorian houses on the Local Register of Buildings of Merit (1-31 Hofland Road). The 
height, bulk and massing of the development is considered to be acceptable in the 
streetscene and would be compatible with the retained Victorian buildings. 
  
3.18 Within the site and adjacent to the boundary with Rayburne Court, and the Milson 
Road properties,  a two storey plus basement replacement building would be erected. 
This building would not be visible from public vantage points and it is not considered 
that it would have any unacceptable impact on the character or appearance of the 
conservation area, given its location and size.  
       
3.19 The proposed building is therefore considered a well designed contemporary 
development which retains the arch and corner house and respects the scale and 
massing of surrounding buildings. The overall massing of the building would increase 
however, but it is judged that this reflects the scale of existing development in sensitive 
areas such as the Sinclair Road elevation, and boundaries adjacent to residential 
properties particularly the Hofland and Milson Road properties and 43 Sinclair Road. 
     
3.20 The applicants propose to use materials, such as brickwork, cast stone, PPC 
aluminium windows, lead cladding, timber windows. Notwithstanding the above, full 
details of all materials would be required, prior to the carrying out of any development. 
With regard to landscaping, the applicants propose to provide stepped landscaped 
planters to the Sinclair Road elevation within the lightwell. In addition the communal 
garden area (rear of the site) would also be landscaped. Full details of this would be 
conditioned. However this in itself is not sufficient to warrant a reason to refuse the 
application, and could be dealt with by condition if planning permission were to be 
approved. 
 
3.21 The Planning Inspector in his decision notice on the appeal scheme noted that 
'.......the proposal would preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area in accordance with the statutory duty imposed by Section 72(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 that is reflected in UDP Policy 
EN2.' 
         
3.22 Subject to clarification of the above mentioned detailed design matters officers 
consider that the proposal is of an acceptable design and would not compromise the 
street scene or character and appearance of the conservation area, in accordance with 
Policies EN2 and EN8 of the Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Density 
3.23 Policy 3.4 of The London Plan states that ` Taking into account local context and 
character, the design principles, in Chapter 7 of The London Plan, and public transport 
capacity, development should optimise housing output for different types of location 
within the relevant density range shown in Table 3.2.' The site is considered 'urban' in 
relation to the GLA density matrix in Table 3.2, giving an indicative density range of 200-
700 habitable rooms per hectare (hrph). The proposed development site comprises 0.18 
hectares and would have a density of around 790hrh, which is therefore in excess of the 
density range stipulated in The London Plan.  

Page 76



   
3.24 However, paragraph 3.28 of The London Plan states that 'It is not appropriate to 
apply Table 3.2 mechanistically. Its density ranges for particular types of location are 
broad, enabling account to be taken of other factors relevant to optimising potential - 
local context, design and transport capacity are particularly important, as well as social 
infrastructure (Policy 3.16)'. Furthermore paragraph 3.29 of The London Plan further 
states that higher density provision for smaller households should be focused on areas 
with good public transport accessibility (measured by Public Transport Accessibility 
Levels (PTALs).   
   
3.25  The proposal is situated in an area of very good public transport accessibility 
(PTAL 5). The applicants have indicated that Sinclair Road is a densely developed 
street (with densities in the high 800's), in excess of The London Plan guidelines. The 
other adjoining streets around the development do not exhibit the same high densities, 
Hofland Road, and Milson Road for example are significantly lower in density (340 to 
400 hrh in most cases). It is acknowledged that with the removal of the two flats, the 
current scheme has a marginally lower density than the scheme which was the subject 
of the recent appeal. 
 
3.26 In dismissing the appeal scheme, the Planning Inspector stated that 'The scale 
and massing would be appropriate and Sinclair Road has densities in the high 800s. 
The proposed density, whilst high, would not in itself warrant dismissing the appeals. 
Other streets nearby are significantly less dense, with Hofland Road and Milson Road 
having densities of 300-400 hrh in many cases. I note the Council's concern that the 
proposal might result in high density levels spreading to the adjoining, less dense, 
streets but each proposal should be considered on its own merits.' 
 
3.27 Density as a matter in itself cannot be a reason to refuse planning permission, as it 
is only a number, reflecting the amount of development that would be provided. 
However, it is how the magnitude of any scheme would affect the local environment, in 
particular the amenities of neighbours, that needs to be evaluated. Officers will consider 
these mattes in the report below. 
  
3.28 In terms of shopping facilities, there is a range of commercial premises relatively 
close to the site in nearby streets to meet everyday local needs whilst further away, 
within 13 minutes of the site, is Shepherd's Bush Town Centre and slightly further afield 
(17 minutes) is Hammersmith Town Centre.  Access to the underground public transport 
network and local bus services is provided reasonably close to the site. It is therefore 
considered that the site is fairly well served by existing local and town centre shopping 
facilities with easy access to central London for specialist shops and services. 
 
STANDARD OF ACCOMMODATION 
       
3.29 A total of 52 residential units are proposed within the development from basement 
to roof level. The accommodation provided would be 5 x studio units, 17 x 1 bed flats, 
20 x 2 bed flats and 10 x 3 bed flats. 
 
3.30 The NPPF states that one of the core planning principles is `always (to)  seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all future occupants of 
land and buildings'. Policy DM A9 states that 'The council will ensure that the design 
and quality of all new housing ...is of a high standard and that developments provide 

Page 77



housing that will meet the needs of future occupants and respect the principles of good 
neighbourliness'. 
 
3.31 Two of the proposed units would have a predominantly north facing aspect; these 
units are located at fourth floor level and would comprise a 1 bedroom unit and a 3 
bedroom unit. Whilst it is considered that there would be sufficient natural lighting, these 
units would have very limited direct sunlight. There are also two units at lower ground 
and ground floor level in the retained 53 Sinclair Road, where there would be 
predominantly north facing windows provided. Whilst officers have concerns about 
these units, they form part of the retained property and, on balance, it is not considered 
that reasonable objections could be raised on these grounds. All of the proposed units 
would meet the size standards for new build flats as detailed in the Unitary 
Development Plan, as well as meeting The London Plan 2011 size standards as 
detailed in policy 3.5 and table 3.5, and the main Mayor's design guidelines. It is noted 
that the Planning Inspector in determining the appeal did not raise any issues with 
regards to the quality of the accommodation within the proposed residential units.  
 
3.32 With regards to daylight and sunlight for the proposed units, the applicants have 
submitted a report under the BRE guidelines to analyse the daylight/sunlight 
implications for the development. This report states that all of the flats bar two would 
receive the recommended sunlight levels recommended within the guidance. The 
applicants advise that the two units that would fail, would still receive adequate levels of 
sunlight given the urban nature of the development. This report also assesses the 
communal amenity space provided and finds that it will receive reasonable levels of 
sunlighting. Officers have considered the report and consider that, on balance, given the 
scheme in its totality, no objection  be raised with regards to these matters.  
 
3.33     UDP standard S5 requires that family units at ground floor level should have at 
least 36 sq m of private amenity space directly accessible from the unit, and non-family 
units, at least 14 sq m. The London Plan SPG requires that a minimum of 5 sq m of 
private space be provided for 1-2 person units and an extra 1 sq m per occupant.  
 
3.34     Policy DM A2 of the Development Managment DPD states that 'All new housing 
must be of high quality design and take account of the amenity of neighbours'. It also 
says that '....ground floor level family housing should have access to private 
gardens/amenity space and family housing on upper floors should have access to a 
balcony and/or terrace, subject to acceptable amenity and design considerations, or to 
shared amenity space and to children's playspace'.  The Planning Guidance SPD, June 
2012, now has increased weight in assessing applications. SPD Housing Policy 1 
relates to amenity space in new dwellings. It states that all new dwellings should have 
access to an area of amenity space, appropriate to the type of housing being provided. 
It states that every new family dwelling should have direct access to amenity or garden 
space of not less than 36 sq.m. It goes on to say that dwellings with accommodation at 
ground floor level should have at least one area of private open space with direct 
access to it from the dwelling. For family dwellings on upper floors this space may be 
provided either as a balcony or terrace and/or communally within the building's 
curtilage. Para 4.6 of the SPD states that `In relation to the provision of private gardens 
and amenity space the council will expect to see a more generous provision of outdoor 
amenity space than the minimum standards' (in the London Plan SPG). 
 
3.35     Policy DM E2 of the Development Management DPD states that 'In new 
residential development that provides family accommodation, accessible and inclusive 

Page 78



communal playspace will normally be required......The scale of provision and associated 
play equipment will be in proportion to the scale and nature of the proposed 
development'. The Planning Guidance SPD also says that where communal open 
space is provided that development proposals should demonstrate that the space has a 
well designed children's play area, is overlooked, is accessible to wheelchair users, 
takes advantage of sunlight and has suitable management arrangements in place. 
London Plan policy 3.6 states that ` Development proposals that include housing should 
make provision for play and informal recreation'. The SPG 2012 expects 100 - 300 
sq.m. to be provided where the child yield is 10-29 children. 
 
3.36     There would be 10 flats with accommodation at the lowest floor level within the 
scheme, none of which would now be classified as family units as they have a 
maximum of 2 bedrooms. There would be four 1 bed, 2 person units; four 2 bed, 4 
person units and two studios (1 person). All of these units would have access to a patio 
area, but only half of these units would have sufficient amenity space to meet UDP 
standard S5 i.e. they would have 14 sq.m. or more of private area (directly accessible); 
albeit that one of those areas would be on Sinclair Road in a proposed lightwell. The 
private amenity space to a further unit which wouldn't have sufficient space to meet 
UDP standard is also within the proposed lightwell on Sinclair Road. If London Plan 
standards are applied the units which are proposed to have their own private amenity 
space on the lowest level of accommodation would have a sufficient amount of space. 
However, the 2012 SPG expects that the council will expect to see a more generous 
provision of outdoor amenity space than the London Plan SPG minimum requirements. 
 
3.37     There would be 10 family units within the scheme (all 3 bedroomed); all located 
on upper floors. The 2012 SPD states that every new family dwelling should have direct 
access to amenity or garden space of not less than 36 sq.m. For family dwellings on 
upper floors this space may be provided either as a balcony or terrace and/or 
communally within the building's curtilage. Of those ten units, only one would have a 
small balcony (ground floor level of c.7-8 sq.m.). It is considered that the occupiers of 
these units might require up to 360 sq.m.; which could be provided communally. Only 
283 sq.m. of communal amenity space is proposed, at lower ground floor level. There 
are also 35 units within the scheme that have no private amenity space at all, which 
officers could reasonably expect should have some communal space available to them. 
 
3.38     The communal area would be overlooked by future residents, would have 
sufficient sunlight given its orientation and relationship to buildings and would be 
accessible to wheelchair users living within the scheme. It is not clear whether there 
would be suitable management arrangements in place, though it is common place that a 
management company would be employed for example to keep the area tidy, within a 
flatted scheme. A children's play area is not proposed, however. 
 
3.39     The proposed development is considered to be unacceptable with regard to 
amenity space and quality of life of future residential occupiers. An insufficient amount 
of amenity space would be provided for future occupiers. No playspace would be 
provided for children. These shortfalls are symptomatic of the overdevelopment of this 
site, and the development is judged to fail to comply standard S5 of the Unitary 
Development Plan 2007 and 2011, Planning Guidance SPD, June 2012, London Plan 
policy 3.6 (and SPG 2012 ) and Core Planning Principle 17. 
 
3.40     The Planning Inspector did not find the amenity space arrangements proposed 
in the appeal scheme to be objectionable. Whilst he noted that the UDP standards 

Page 79



would not be met for the units at lower ground floor level, he acknowledged that London 
Plan requirements would be met for them. He also acknowledged the amount of 
communal amenity space that would be provided for the scheme as a whole (293 
sq.m.). However, the amenity provision is different in this scheme, as against from that 
which the Inspector deliberated over, as most of the previously included balconies and 
terraces have been removed. Also, it is necessary to have regard to the emerging 
Planning Guidance SPD. 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 
Noise and disturbance 
 
Amenity space and use of flats 
3.41 Policy EN21 of the UDP (amended 2011) relates to environmental nuisance and 
states that `all developments shall ensure that there is no undue detriment to the 
general amenities at present enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers of their 
properties particularly where commercial and service activities are close to residential 
properties'. The proposed development would comprise a total of 52 residential flats, 
located in close proximity to existing residential accommodation. The development site 
effectively equates to five residential properties on Sinclair Road and in terms of 
intensity given the density of the development it is considered that there would be 
significant numbers of occupiers.   
 
3.42     The communal amenity space provided would be available to be used by all of 
the occupiers of this development. Officers consider that the use of this large communal 
area situated adjacent to residential boundaries would result in noise nuisance and 
disturbance, especially given the potential numbers of persons who could use this area. 
Furthermore, whilst the current scheme has significantly reduced the number of roof 
terraces and balconies by 17, this would have the effect of increasing the usage of the 
communal amenity space.  
 
3.43 In dismissing the appeal, the Planning Inspector considered that the communal 
space was set lower than neighbouring gardens enclosed by high boundary walls, and 
that the communal space was less likely to be used than private amenity space such as 
balconies and terraces. The Inspector noted that the developers proposed to limit use of 
the amenity space (private and communal) and 'It is suggested that a 24 hour concierge 
would manage this on-site. However, there is no mechanism in place that would ensure 
these measures to prevent excessive noise would be implemented effectively, and such 
restrictive matters of management and ownership go beyond that which could 
reasonably be required by condition. The proposal would therefore have a detrimental 
impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of nearby properties in terms of 
additional noise and disturbance, contrary to the aims of S13.2A in UDP Chapter 12.'  
The Inspector rejected concerns about the discharge from the vents serving the 
underground car park on the grounds that these vents are air intakes and not extracts. 
 
3.44 Officers consider that with the removal of terraces/balconies from a significant 
number of flats within the development, the use of the communal space is likely to be 
increased to levels in excess of those considered as part of the appeal scheme. As 
such, officers consider that the use of the outdoor amenity space is likely to result in 
noise nuisance and disturbance for neighbouring properties, contrary to policy EN21 
and Standard S13.2a of the UDP. 
 

Page 80



3.45 A significant number of roof terraces and balconies have been removed from the 
current proposal. Whilst officers welcome this the flats that would no longer have 
terraces/balconies would have large window openings, in the same location as the 
previously proposed access doors. This does not negate officers' previous concerns. 
Noise created by occupiers from use of those living, kitchen, dining areas adjacent to 
those window openings would result in noise disturbance, albeit that it would be set 
back 1.5 metres further away from neighbours than before. Furthermore, it could be 
argued that detrimental impacts as a result of the window openings would likely  happen 
on a greater number of occasions than could have occurred on the external spaces, that 
would have been open to the elements.  
 
3.46 Officers consider that due to the number of large window openings in close 
proximity to neighbouring residential properties could result in noise nuisance and 
disturbance for the occupiers of these dwellings. Taking this into account, with the likely 
increased use of the proposed communal amenity space would mean that this would be 
regarded as an unneighbourly form of development, harmful to the amenities of 
neighbouring properties.  The applicants state that the use of the communal area would 
be controlled through lease agreements, but no further details have been provided. 
Nonetheless, whilst some controls could be made available and enforced for the 
communal areas, it is unlikely that any such controls could be exercised over the 
occupiers' use of their flats, such as requiring windows to be kept closed. Officers are 
not satisfied that the revised arrangement would result in a satisfactory resolution of 
conflicts for neighbouring residents, and consider that the scheme as proposed would 
fail to comply with policy EN21 and standard S13.2A of the UDP. 
 
Car and goods lifts 
3.47 There are two lifts proposed, a goods lift and a car lift. Both would be located on 
the Hofland Road part of the site, adjacent to no.32 Hofland Road.  
 
3.48    The car lift would serve the sub-basement level car parking area, and it could 
accommodate one car at a time. Officers are advised that it would take approximately 
one and a half minutes per cycle i.e. for a car to get into the lift, to travel down to sub-
basement level, for the car to exit and for the lift to go back up to ground level. The 
default position of the lift would be at ground level. 
 
3.49    The use of the lift was raised during the appeal scheme and the Planning 
Inspector considered that, subject to appropriate planning conditions, the use of the car 
lift itself should not cause harm to neighbours' amenity.  However, he raised concerns 
that the use of the external doors to the lift area could result in noise nuisance and 
disturbance, he stated that `Use of the car lift would, therefore, have a detrimental 
impact on the occupiers of nearby properties'. He also said that `Added to this would be 
the noise arising from bringing bins to ground level and leaving them outside in the 
absence of adequate holding space for what is currently a weekly refuse collection. This 
would have to take place early to ensure that they were in place before the collection 
was due and the to-ing and fro-ing would be likely to cause unacceptable disturbance 
for near neighbours¿. Refuse management matters will be discussed below. 
 
3.50     The Inspector said that `The lift shaft would effectively be a box within a box and 
be separated from the boundary (with 32 Hofland Road) by around 2 metres with a 
further wall isolated from the existing wall of the nearest property. The noise from a 
typical lift would be well below the level at which it would be detectable via this path. 
The lift motor room would be on the opposite side of the lift to 32 Hofland Road and 

Page 81



distance alone would be sufficient to prevent unacceptable noise and disturbance from 
this source. Structure borne sound would be controlled by isolation through the double 
wall configuration, isolation under the shaft and enhanced sound insulation at the top of 
the shaft. The use of the lift, as opposed to the outer shutter, would not have any 
significant effect in terms of noise and disturbance. There would be relatively few car 
movements even in the peak period and there is unlikely to routinely be a need for 
waiting in the street with an engine running. In this urban area the car movements that 
would be generated would have no significant impact on the existing noise climate.' 
 
3.51      It is proposed to provide a Hormann ST-500 automatic sliding door, external to 
the car lift. The applicants advise that the product is manufactured by an internationally 
renowned company, which specialises in garage door installations for domestic and 
commercial properties, including basement car parks. They advise that it fulfils 
European standards and that it would have a ten year warranty. It would be a single 
panel timber clad door, which would slide to the side of the opening. It would feature 
stable twin rollers at the top and bottom in a rounded floor rail. It would be motor driven 
and operated using a fob device as the driver approaches the door.  
 
3.52     Officers have assessed the information submitted for the car lift and external 
door, including the acoustics report. The noise levels given for the operation of the ST-
500 sliding door to the proposed car lift are sufficiently low and unlikely to give rise to 
complaints by neighbouring residents. The car lift would operate in a double enclosure, 
with the motor being located distant from dwellings at the bottom of the lift, as such also 
unlikely to give rise to unacceptable noise to residents. In the event that all other 
matters were found to be acceptable, conditions would be required to ensure that the 
car lift and external door would operate in a neighbourly manner; for example anti-
vibration measures would need to be installed to the motor prior to first use and retained 
in good working order, so as to prevent transmission of vibration to neighbours. 
 
3.53     Officers carried out a site visit to a property in LB Westminster - Bolsover Street, 
which is close to Great Portland Street underground station. Officers witnessed (around 
midday) the use of an external door to a basement car park, which had residential 
neighbours both above and adjoining. This was a ET-500 door, which is made by the 
same manufacturer as the one proposed within this application. It is however, an up-
and-over type door, and not one which would slide to the side; and is made of metal 
with a mesh design, not having a timber front as the one proposed herein. Officers are 
advised that the lift would use the same motor unit observed, however. The use of this 
door, from officers¿ observations, did not appear to be noisy to the extent that 
residential neighbours would be adversely affected by its use. 
 
Refuse strategy  
3.54     With the appeal scheme, the Planning Inspector said that an acceptable refuse 
strategy had not been demonstrated and, in his conclusion, he stated that `the lack of 
acceptable measures for refuse collection....(is one of the).... determining issues in 
these appeals'.  
 
3.55      The applicants have submitted a revised strategy in this proposal. The 
estimated waste arising from the scheme has been calculated by the applicant using the 
council's SPD, which says that for every 5 dwellings there should be a 1100 litre 
Eurobin for refuse and a 1280 litre Eurobin for recycling. This is agreed by officers. For 
52 flats, 10.4 or 10/11 bins would thereby be required for refuse, and the same for 

Page 82



recycling. The scheme proposes three areas for storage of waste in the sub- basement 
level; one would hold 4 bins, one would hold 8 bins and one would hold 9 bins.  
 
3.56     The refuse and waste would be collected separately, by different lorries, on a 
weekly basis. The bins would be brought to ground level via the goods lift by the 
facilities management company. This would occur on collection day or during the 
afternoon of the day before if the collection is to be early in the morning. There would 
now be two holding areas at ground floor level (there was one in the appeal scheme). 
The holding areas could accommodate ten 1100 litre bins, and the same number of 
recycling bins (they are the same dimensions in footprint, only taller). A bin could also 
be held in the goods lift. It is stated by the applicant that the facilities management 
company would be in attendance at all times during the refuse/recycling collection. The 
responsible person would then return the empty bins to the storage areas within the 
sub-basement, via the goods lift. With this strategy it is anticipated that the collections 
vehicle would be able to pick up the refuse or recycling without being held on the street 
outside the site for a lengthy period; such that noise to neighbours would be minimised. 
Noise arising from bringing the bins up and down for collection would be contained 
within the building, and it is not anticipated that this would result in significant noise 
nuisance or disturbance to neighbours. 
 
3.57     The refuse truck would stop in front of the car lift at collection times, so residents 
would not be able to use the car lift at those times. As this would not be for prolonged 
periods (c.10 minutes for each collection), officers do not consider that this would 
adversely affect the free flow of traffic to such an extent that this could be a reason for 
refusal. The applicants have advised that this arrangement would be written into any 
future residents' leases. 
 
3.58 Bicycle storage at sub-basement level would also be accessed either by use of the 
lifts, or via the stairs. It is not anticipated that this would result in significant noise 
nuisance or disturbance to neighbours.     
 
Privacy and Outlook      
3.59 Standards S13.1 and S13.2 of the UDP require that there is no significant loss of 
outlook or privacy to occupiers of surrounding residential properties and that on-site 
judgement can be used to determine the likely impact. S13.1 states that a general 
standard can be adopted for assessing outlook, by taking a line at 45 degrees from a 
point 2 metres high on the boundary with adjoining gardens.  S13.2 states that new 
windows should be no less than 18 metres as measured in an arc of 60 degrees from 
any residential windows.   
    
3.60 Unlike the previously refused student housing scheme, none of the new windows 
within the development, facing towards Milson Road and Hofland Road would breach 
this privacy standard. The proposed development would adjoin the rear gardens of 
several residential properties including 32 Hofland Road, 1-12 Rayburne Court and 43 
Sinclair Road and would in some cases intercept a 2m and 45 degree line from the 
boundaries of these properties. However, it is noted that the existing buildings on site 
fail to meet this standard and it is recognised that the proposed changes to the site, will 
open up the development to the rear, improving the outlook. The proposed building 
would be separated from the rear garden of 32 Hofland Road by the boundary wall at a 
height of some 2.3 metres. This would replace the existing boundary fencing. The 
proposed Garden block would adjoin the boundary with 43 Sinclair Road and 1-12 
Rayburne Court, and at this point would comprise two storeys (with a basement level) 

Page 83



which would maintain a similar envelope as the existing building in this location.  No 
significant loss of outlook to these properties in respect of the standard is therefore 
anticipated.  
   
3.61 To 43 Sinclair Road the proposed development (main Sinclair Road building) 
would create a new enclosed entrance lobby at ground floor level, and then the building 
would have residential accommodation on the upper floors. The Sinclair Road building 
where it adjoins no.43 would keep the same building line on the upper floors, with a 
3.5m setback before the building extends some 4.5 metres to the rear. To the rear, the 
development would be set back between 2 metres to 6 metres from the common 
boundary and in accordance with the standard. 
   
3.62 The proposed elevation to Hofland Road would be separated from the residential 
property at 55 Sinclair Road by approximately 14m (ground to second floor levels). 
There are new windows proposed to this elevation, which would be within 18m, 
however, the new windows would not be any closer than the existing separation 
between existing windows. It is accepted that existing windows would have served a 
commercial property (albeit vacant), and the new windows would serve residential 
properties. However, the windows would be set behind parapet walls, and it is 
considered that the likelihood of overlooking from the windows would be limited, such 
that it would not be unacceptable.  
     
3.63 The rear elevation, adjacent to residential properties at 32 and 33 Hofland Road 
and Rayburne Court would incorporate a significant number of new windows.  In this 
case, the new windows are not proposed to breach this privacy standard, with window 
to window separation of over 18 metres. It is recognised that the new windows would 
afford some potential for the overlooking of rear gardens, albeit that these gardens are 
already overlooked by existing neighbouring properties.  
     
Daylight and Sunlight 
3.64 New development should allow for the protection of adequate light to reach 
adjacent buildings.  In considering this, the council has regard to the guidance set out in 
`Building Research Establishments' (BRE) Report 1991 `Site Layout planning for 
Daylight and Sunlight - A guide to good practice.'  The BRE methodologies set out a 
range of non-statutory guidelines which need to be used in conjunction with on site 
judgement, in assessing the potential for any development to result in demonstrable 
harm.  
     
3.65     The BRE provides for a number of ways to assess potential reduction of light. 
The most common methods are calculation of a Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and 
Average Daylight Factor (ADF). In addition orientation to the sun is taken into account in 
regard to direct sunlight. Each of these methods were used by the applicant in their 
daylight/sunlight assessment and tested by officers. 
     
3.66       Vertical Sky Component (VSC) is the measure of light to a potentially affected 
window by calculating the angle of vertical sky at the centre of each of the windows 
serving a residential building which look towards the site. Obstructions, existing or 
proposed, in front of the window are factored into the calculation and result in a 
reduction in available daylight. The guidelines state that if as a result of any proposal 
there is reduction of less than 20% in the amount of light previously available to any 
window then day lighting is unlikely to be seriously affected. Average Daylight Factor 
(ADF) is a more detailed analysis and therefore more accurate method which calculates 

Page 84



the amount of sky visibility on the vertical face of the window and also considers the 
window size and room use. In relation to direct sunlight, the criteria in the BRE requires 
calculation of the annual probable sunlight hours, which considers the amount of sun 
available in both the summer and winter months for each window which faces within 90 
degrees due south.  The BRE states that windows which may be adversely affected are 
those that lose greater than 20% of their currently available direct sunlight.  
   
3.67 The applicant has submitted a sunlight & daylight assessment in accordance with 
the BRE guidelines, and concludes that the neighbouring properties would not 
experience a reduction of sunlight or daylight, and will in some cases see an 
improvement.  
  
3.68     In conclusion, the daylight and sunlight tests submitted by the applicant and 
assessed by officers show that the habitable rooms to neighbouring properties would 
not experience a reduction of sunlight or daylight beyond those recommended in 
guidance by the BRE. It is therefore considered that the proposal would not result in any 
harmful or significant loss of light and would accord with the relevant guidance. 
 
TRAFFIC GENERATION, CAR PARKING, CYCLE PARKING AND SERVICING 
 
Traffic generation 
3.69 Policy TN13 of the UDP requires that all development proposals will be assessed 
against their contribution to traffic generation and other impact on congestion, 
particularly on bus routes and on the primary road network, and against the present and 
potential availability of public transport, and its capacity to meet increased demand. 
Policy TN15 of the UDP requires any proposed development to conform to car parking 
standards S18 and S19 and Table 12.1 of the UDP.  
       
3.70  The site has a PTAL level of 5 with very good public transport accessibility. The 
site is within a controlled parking zone which operates between 9am to 6pm Monday to 
Friday. There are bus routes in the vicinity, and the Kensington Olympia underground is 
within walking distance. The site is within 13 minutes walk to Shepherds Bush Station 
(and town centre) and 17 minutes walk from Hammersmith Broadway.  There are two 
existing crossovers serving the site, one located on Hofland Road, and a smaller one on 
the Sinclair Road elevation.  A transport assessment has been submitted which 
provides details on expected trip generation. The submission has been analysed and 
officers are satisfied that the report is robust.   
  
The peak hour trips and the daily trips are set out in the table below:  
  
Hour Starting   Consented Office   Proposed Residential  
   Car  M/C B/C Taxi  Car  M/C B/C Taxi 
08:00  5 2 0 0  5 1 0 0 
17:00  9 1 0 2  2 0 0 0 
Daily   73 8 5 8  37 4 6 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



TRAVL and census data has also been used to forecast the likely trips across other 
modes the peak hour and daily forecasts are set out in the table below: 
 
Hour Starting:   Consented Office    Proposed Residential 
   Bus  Tube Rail Walk  Bus  Tube Rail Walk 
08:00  11 41 7 15  2 8 1 3 
17:00  17 63 10 23  2 8 1 3 
Daily   125 462 74 165  25 91 14 32 
 
3.71 These movement are significantly less than could be generated from a commercial 
use of the site. Officers have assessed the transport study and are of the opinion that 
this is a robust assessment, and that the car parking provision is acceptable. It is 
considered that the lift would provide satisfactory access to the parking spaces in the 
context of highways movements. The submitted transport assessment is judged to be 
acceptable and this element of the development is judged to comply with Policy TN13. 
   
Car parking   
3.72 The developers propose to excavate and sub-basement and provide 41 off street 
car parking spaces, accessed via a car lift on Hofland Road. The UDP would normally 
require a provision of some 60 spaces for a development of this size; however, a lesser 
provision can be acceptable in some circumstances. The London Plan would require a 
lower provision of parking. The proposal is not considered to be unacceptable in this 
context; provided that none of the future occupiers would be eligible to have a parking 
permit to park on street. The developers have confirmed that whilst the car parking 
provision would not allow all, occupiers of the development to have a parking space, 
they could agree to a legal agreement with regard to restricting the occupiers from 
obtaining on-street car parking permits.  
 
Cycle parking   
3.73   Policy TN6, Standard S20 and Table 12.2 of the UDP set out the cycle parking 
requirements for developments, and for a scheme of this size 52 spaces would be 
required. The development would provide 72 spaces at sub-basement level, accessed 
via the stairs or using the lifts on the premises. As such, the proposed cycle parking 
arrangements are considered satisfactory and comply with Policies TN6, Standard S20 
and Table 12.2 of the UDP. 
    
Refuse and servicing 
3.74 Policy EN17 of the UDP relates to refuse and recycling, storage and collection. 
The policy requires suitable on site facilities to be provided in each development for 
servicing and storage of refuse. The submitted drawings indicate enclosed refuse areas 
at sub-basement level. The refuse would be brought up tog round level using the goods 
lift, and would be held in two holding areas within the site (adjacent to the car lift). It 
would then be brought out to the refuse or recycling truck for collection. The refuse 
storage provision is judged to be acceptable, in the context of policy EN17 and the SPD. 
The applicants advise that the moving of refuse would be controlled and managed by a 
management company for the site. If all other matters were found to be acceptable, 
such details could be secured through a condition or in a legal agreement. There are no 
servicing requirements, as there is no commercial land use proposed within this 
scheme. Deliveries of goods to any future occupiers would operate in the same way as 
every other flatted property; small items would arrive by post (Royal Mail) or courier and 
bulky items (e.g. furniture) would be delivered by larger vehicles and would necessarily 
have to park on street for a limited time. 

Page 86



    
ACCESS 
 
3.75 Policy HO6 of the UDP states that 'Development for 20 or more dwellings will only 
be permitted if: (a) 10% of the units are designed to be suitable for occupation by 
wheelchair users; and (b) A mixture of units of different sizes is provided to meet the 
needs of family and non-family households'.  Policy 3.8 of The London Plan also 
requires 10% of units to be accessible to wheelchair users and requires new 
developments to provide a range of housing choices in terms of the mix of housing 
sizes and types. Core Strategy (2011) Policy H4 (Meeting Housing Needs) states that 
all new build dwellings should be built to 'Lifetime Homes' standards with 10% to be 
wheelchair accessible, or easily adaptable for residents that are wheelchair users. 
  
3.76 In accordance with these policies, 10% of the units have been shown to be fully 
adaptable to wheelchair users, to accord with Policy HO6 of the UDP, Policy H4 of the 
Core Strategy and Policy 3.8 of The London Plan. The wheelchair adaptable units 
would have level access and there would be lift access to all flats in the main building 
(with the exception of the two unit garden block). If all other matters were found to be 
acceptable, and subject to a condition requiring final details to be submitted for 
approval, all units would be expected to meet Lifetime Home standards. Disabled 
parking bays are annotated (6 would be provided), all in close proximity to the lifts. The 
mechanism for the marketing of wheelchair units, to ensure that they would be offered 
to those in need of this accommodation, could also be secured as part of the legal 
agreement, if any permission were to be forthcoming. 
   
3.77 The scheme would provide a mixture of studio, one, two and three bedroom units 
and is considered to provide a satisfactory choice of dwelling size, in accordance with 
UDP policy H06 and Core Strategy Policy H4.  
  
CRIME PREVENTION 
       
3.78 Policy EN10 of the UDP requires developments to provide a safe and secure 
environment. The submission does not contain any specific details regarding measures 
to achieve secured by design standards for the scheme. However, officers consider that 
this is not a reason to refuse consent and that satisfactory information could be 
submitted to comply with a condition, if all other matters were considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
ENERGY, SUSTAINABILITY, FLOOD RISK 
 
Energy  
3.79 As required for a major application, an Energy Assessment has been submitted 
showing the development's expected energy use and associated CO2 emissions, taking 
account of energy efficient design measures and low/zero carbon technologies. The 
baseline energy use of the development, is designed only to meet the minimum 
requirements of the Building Regulations, is calculated to produce just less than 67 
tonnes of CO2 a year. Passive design and energy efficiency measures such as use of 
improved insulation, better airtightness, low energy lighting and local heating/cooling 
controls are calculated to reduce energy use sufficiently to cut CO2 emissions by about 
3.5%. Unregulated energy use will be reduced by using efficient A-rated appliances, 
providing a home user guide and integrating energy meter displays. 
 

Page 87



3.80      The integration of Combined Heat and Power (CHP) has been assessed as 
required by London Plan Policy 5.6. There are no communal heating/CHP systems 
currently in use in the vicinity of the site that could be connected to, but an assessment 
has found that the installation of such a system on-site is feasible and would reduce 
CO2 emissions by about 20%. The use of renewables has also been assessed. As a 
CHP system is to be installed, this reduces the viability of a number of renewable 
energy technologies. However, solar PV panels are considered to be complementary to 
the use of CHP and there is space on the roof for their installation. Despite identifying 
that PV panels are technically and economically viable for the development, the 
developer's preferred approach appears to be to not proceed with any PV panels at this 
stage. Given that the energy efficiency measures and the use of CHP are calculated to 
reduce annual CO2 emissions from regulated energy use by 23%, further consideration 
could have been given to including PV panels to help boost this figure to the 25% CO2 
reduction target. Alternatively, if all other matters were found to be acceptable then 
policy allows that a payment in lieu could be made to the council to compensate for this 
small shortfall in CO2 emissions reduction. The required payment would be in the 
region of £1,800.  
 
3.81    Officers consider that these details could be conditioned for future approval if all 
other matters were found to be acceptable and planning permission were to be granted. 
Any condition should seek the implementation of energy efficiency and the use of CHP 
system. 
  
Sustainability 
3.82 A Sustainability Statement has also been submitted to show how sustainable 
design and construction principles on other issues such as water, waste, materials, 
ecology etc will also be implemented for the new development. For example, water 
efficiency measures will be implemented by using low water use appliances; building 
materials will lower environmental impacts will be used where possible, including using 
recycled materials, sustainable timber etc; a site waste management plan will be 
implemented during construction to minimise waste and provision will also be made for 
both internal and external storage of recyclable waste for the proposed dwellings to help 
encourage minimisation of waste; soft landscaping and green roofs will also be included 
which will help to boost biodiversity. 
 
3.83    The proposed measures comply with the requirements of London Plan policy 5.3 
on sustainable design and construction. Should all other matters be judged to be 
acceptable, and planning permission is forthcoming, officers would also recommend 
that a condition be attached to ensure the implementation of the sustainable design and 
construction measures as outlined in the Sustainability Strategy in order to show 
compliance with London Plan Policy 5.3 Sustainable Design and Construction. The 
London Plan now includes a policy (6.13) that requires electric vehicle recharging points 
to be installed for 1 in 5 parking spaces in new developments. No provision has been 
made within the transport assessment or the sustainability statement, so this would 
need to form the basis of as condition as well, if all other matters were found to be 
acceptable. 
  
Air quality/Noise  
3.84     The site is situated in a residential area. It was not considered that an air quality 
assessment was required for this site as it is located in an area where pollution levels 
are low compared to the national targets and exposure to high pollution levels is not a 
risk. With regard to the development's impact on local air quality, it is judged that given 

Page 88



the low level predicted of vehicle trips associated with the new residential use, it would 
not result in harm to the local air quality. Likewise, it is not considered that noise from 
local roads would impact upon the quality of the accommodation proposed. Potential 
noise nuisance from the development has been discussed above. 
  
Flooding 
3.85    The property is located within Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3. A flood risk assessment 
(FRA) has been submitted with the development. This has been submitted to the 
Environment Agency, and they raised no objection to the development proposal. The 
FRA includes consideration of reducing surface water run off for example. Insufficient 
information has been provided to demonstrate compliance with policy 5.13 of The 
London Plan and Core Strategy policy CC2. Accordingly, if all other matters were 
considered to be acceptable, conditions would be recommended requiring the 
submission of further details of a sustainable drainage strategy.  
        
Contaminated land 
3.86      In view of the previous commercial use of the site, officers advise that 
potentially contaminative land uses, past or present, are understood to occur at, or near 
to, this site. In order to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, 
controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development works 
conditions would be attached to any permission requiring the assessment of 
contaminated land to be carried out.  Policy 5.21 of The London Plan and Policy CC4 of 
the Core Strategy states that the Council will support the remediation of contaminated 
land and that it will take measures to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites 
and ensure that mitigation measures are put in place. This is supported by UDP Policies 
EN20A and EN21.  
 
MAYORAL CIL 
 
3.87 The proposed development is subject to the Mayoral CIL, which took affect on 1st 
April 2012. This is also a material consideration to which regard has to be had when 
determining the applications. The applicants calculate that the CIL payable is £24,650. 
 
PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 
3.88     In accordance with Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (As 
Amended) the applicant has offered a S106 contribution (£260,000) for unspecified use. 
There would be an increased demand arising from the development on local 
social/physical infrastructure, which would need to be offset. The viability report 
discussed earlier fails to demonstrate that the amount of the proposed commuted sum 
is the maximum feasible that could be achieved from the scheme. Therefore it is 
considered that the scheme would not provide adequate contributions to offset the 
increased demand on local social and physical infrastructure.  
 
4.0 CONCLUSION and RECOMMENDATION  
 
4.1     It is not considered that the proposed redevelopment is unacceptable in terms of 
loss of employment space, the principle of residential use, the building¿s design, bulk 
and massing; nor on grounds of traffic generation and vehicle movements; and the 
general approach on environmental matters.  
 

Page 89



4.2     However, the  density of the proposed development is considered to be excessive 
and symptomatic of this is the likely harmful impact of the development on neighbouring 
properties as a result of noise nuisance and disturbance from this overdense 
development. This is exacerbated by the significant number of large window openings in 
close proximity to neighbouring properties, and the likely increased use of the 
communal garden space given the loss of the terraces/balconies. Furthermore, officers 
consider that there are shortfalls in that an insufficient amount of amenity space would 
be provided for future occupiers and no playspace would be provided for children  
 
4.3     No affordable housing is proposed on site, and the scheme would not meet the 
affordable housing target expressed within the Council's Core Strategy. A commuted 
sum towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere within the borough has been 
proposed, but it is considered that insufficient justification has been provided to fully 
demonstrate that the amount of the proposed commuted sum is the maximum feasible 
for the provision of affordable housing that could be achieved from the scheme. 
Therefore this would result in a lower level of affordable housing than the development 
could actually support.   
 
4.4     Given the concerns raised, it is considered that the proposed demolition of the 
building would be premature in the absence of a satisfactory replacement building, and 
that the proposed demolition would result in a void in the streetscene that would harm 
the character and appearance of the conservation area.  
      
4.5 In light of the above, officers consider that planning permission and conservation 
area consent should be refused.       
 

Page 90



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Addison 
 
Site Address: 
Nomis Studios  45 - 53 Sinclair Road  London  W14 0NS   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00823/CAC 
 
Date Valid: 
04.03.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Neil Egerton 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Lakeside/Sinclair/Blythe Road Conservation Area 
- Number 36 

 

Page 91



 
Applicant: 
Regal (Sinclair Road) LLP C/o Mr Paul Eden 
4-5 Coleridge Gardens London NW6 3QH  
 
Description: 
Demolition of the existing buildings at 45 - 51 Sinclair Road 
Drg Nos: 10044B_PL_01, 009, 010, 011, 012, 013, 02, 20, 21 
 
 
Application Type: 
Conservation Area Consent 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be refused for the following reason(s): 
 
 
 
 
 1) The proposed demolition works are considered unacceptable in the absence of a 

satisfactory redevelopment scheme for the site. In the circumstances it is 
considered that it would be premature to grant conservation area consent and that 
the proposed demolition would result in the creation of a void in the streetscene 
that harm the character and appearance of the conservation area which the 
Council considers it desirable to preserve or enhance in compliance with Section 
72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. In this 
respect the proposal is contrary to the aims of Policies EN2 and EN8 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 1st March 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
 
 

Page 92



Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
    
English Heritage London Region 
 

Dated: 
    
21.03.13 
 

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
Flat 3 55 Sinclair Road London W14 0NR  16.04.13 
Flat 5 50 Sinclair Road London W14 0NH  16.04.13 
31 Craven Cottages Hofland Road London W14 0LN  19.04.13 
Nag     18.04.13 
100 Masbro' Road London W14 0LP   19.04.13 
96 Masbro' Road London W14 0LR   12.04.13 
35 Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   03.04.13 
flat 5 Hofland House Hofland Road London W1 0LN  27.03.13 
Flat 5 Hofland House Hofland Road London W14 0LN  27.03.13 
Flat 5 68 Sinclair Rd London W14 0NJ  07.04.13 
24 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   04.04.13 
38 Redan Street London W14 0AB   03.04.13 
Flat E 78 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   03.04.13 
70 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   08.04.13 
10A Bolingbroke Road London W14 0AL   08.04.13 
Flat 4 32 - 34 Gratton Road London W14 0JX  11.04.13 
33A Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   27.03.13 
 
 
 
For report see 2013/00822/FUL. 
 

Page 93



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Addison 
 
Site Address: 
Nomis Studios  45 - 53 Sinclair Road  London  W14 0NS   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00824/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
04.03.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Neil Egerton 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Lakeside/Sinclair/Blythe Road Conservation Area 
- Number 36 

 

Page 94



 
Applicant: 
Regal (Sinclair Road) LLP C/o Mr Paul Eden 
4-5 Coleridge Gardens London NW6 3QH  
 
Description: 
Redevelopment of the site comprising the erection of a part four storey, part five storey 
building over two basement levels, together with the erection of a part one storey, part 
two storey (over two basement levels) building to the rear of the site; refurbishment and 
conversion of 53 Sinclair Road, in connection with provision of 54 residential units; 
retention of the 'arch' feature on Hofland Road; related landscaping and the provision of 
41 car parking spaces at sub-basement level, following demolition of the existing 
buildings at 45 - 51 Sinclair Road. 
Drg Nos: 10044A_PL_98_Rev D, 99 Rev D, 100 Rev D101 Rev D,102 Rev D, 103 Rev 
D, 104 Rev D, 105 Rev D, 201 Rev E,202 Rev E, 203 Rev E, 204 Rev E, 301 Rev C, 
302 Rev E, 303 Rev B. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be refused for the following reason(s): 
 
 
 
 
 1) The proposed development is considered to be an overdevelopment of the site. 

More particularly, the density of the proposed residential development is 
considered to be excessive, and out of keeping with neighbouring residential 
development in the area, and as a result would have a detrimental impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring properties. Furthermore, given the high density in close 
proximity to neighbouring residential properties, it is considered that the 
development would have an adverse impact on existing residents, in terms of 
noise nuisance and disturbance. This impact is exacerbated by the number of rear 
window openings to living/kitchen/dining areas through which, and rear balconies 
from which, noise would emanate; together with the potential use by significant 
numbers of people of the area of communal open space adjacent to the 
boundaries of neighbouring residential properties. Accordingly, it is considered that 
the proposed development would be an unneighbourly form of development and 
contrary to policies EN8, EN21 and standard S13.2A of the UDP (as amended 
2007 and 2011), policy DM A9 of the draft Development Managment DPD, 2012 
and policy 3.4 of The London Plan 2011. 

 
 2) The proposed development is unacceptable with regard to amenity space and 

quality of life of future residential occupiers. Insufficient amount of amenity space 
would be provided for future occupiers and no playspace would be provided for 
children. These shortfalls are symptomatic of the overdevelopment of this site, and 
the development therefore fails to comply with standard S5 of the Unitary 
Development Plan 2007 and 2011, policies DM A2 and DM E2 of the Development 
Management DPD, Housing Policy 1 and paragraphs 4.5 to 4.8 of Planning 

Page 95



Guidance SPD, June 2012, London Plan policy 3.6 of 2011 (and SPG 2012 ) and 
Core Planning Principle 17. 

 
 3) No affordable housing is proposed on site, and the scheme would not meet the 

affordable housing target expressed within the Council's Core Strategy. A 
commuted sum towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere within the 
borough has been proposed, but it is considered that insufficient justification has 
been provided to fully demonstrate that the amount of the proposed commuted 
sum is the maximum feasible for the provision of affordable housing that could be 
achieved from the scheme. Therefore this would result in a lower level of 
affordable housing than the development could actually support. The proposal 
thereby fails to support a mixed and balanced community, contrary to policy H2 of 
the Core Strategy 2011 and policies 3.11 and 3.12 of The London Plan, 2011. 

 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 1st March 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
                 
English Heritage London Region 
             

Dated: 
                 
21.03.13 
             

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
Flat 5 50 Sinclair Road London W14 0NH  16.04.13 
Flat 3 55 Sinclair Road London W14 0NR  16.04.13 
96 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   19.04.13 
Nag     14.04.13 
14 Burnand House Redan Street London W14 0LW  16.04.13 
14 Burnand House Redan Street London W14 0LW  16.04.13 

Page 96



Flat 4 20 Bolingbroke Road London W14 0AL  15.04.13 
Flat 3 69 Sinclair Road London W14 0NR  08.04.13 
Nag     18.04.13 
14 Burnand House Redan Street London W14 0LW  16.04.13 
Flat 4  20 Bolingbroke Road W14 0AL   15.04.13 
24 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   04.04.13 
23 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   03.04.13 
21 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   04.04.13 
15 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   02.04.13 
11 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   14.04.13 
11 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   15.04.13 
35 Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   03.04.13 
4 Hofland House Hofland Road London W14 0LN  17.04.13 
31 Craven Cottages Hofland Road London W14 0LN  19.04.13 
18 Girdlers Road London W14 0PU   11.04.13 
69 Milson Road London W14 0LH   03.04.13 
96 Masbro' Road London W14 0LR   12.04.13 
65 Milson Road London W14 0LH   18.04.13 
14 Burnand House Redan Street London W14 0LW  16.04.13 
Flat E 78 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   03.04.13 
100 Masbro' Road London W14 0LP   19.04.13 
70 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   08.04.13 
33A Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   27.03.13 
Flat 5 68 Sinclair Rd London W14 0NJ  07.04.13 
Nag     03.04.13 
38 Redan Street London W14 0AB   03.04.13 
20 Spring Vale Terrace London W14 0AE   03.04.13 
10A Bolingbroke Road London W14 0AL   03.04.13 
Flat 4 32 - 34 Gratton Road London W14 0JX  11.04.13 
Flat 2 43 Sinclair Road London W14 0NS  14.04.13 
Flat 2 43 Sinclair Road London W14 0NS  14.04.13 
 
 
1.0     BACKGROUND 
       
1.1 The application site is a corner property, approximately 1,730m2 in area, located 
on the south western side of Sinclair Road, at its junction with Hofland Road and within 
the Lakeside, Sinclair, Blythe Road Conservation Area. 
     
1.2 The site is currently occupied by two buildings comprising a four storey building 
(with basement) at 45-51 Sinclair Road, and a part three storey, part four storey (with 
basement) end of terrace building at 53 Sinclair Road. The existing buildings are 
currently vacant, but were formerly in use as music studios with ancillary offices known 
as Nomis Studios. 
       
1.3 There are residential properties to the north, northeast and south on Sinclair Road, 
and to the northwest on Hofland Road. These properties comprise mostly of traditional 
terraced houses 3-4 storeys in height, many of which have been converted to flats. 
Hofland Road, is occupied by 2 storey residential houses with small front gardens, in 
the immediate vicinity of the site; and to the rear of the site on Milson Road, there are 
several low rise housing developments.  A large plane tree protected by a Tree 

Page 97



Preservation Order is located within the site on the Sinclair Road frontage. The scheme 
proposes to retain this tree. 
     
1.4 There are 2 crossovers to the site, one on Hofland Road and a smaller one on 
Sinclair Road.  
  
Relevant Planning History  
    
1.5 There are a number of planning records relating to the property.  
   
1.6 Planning permission was refused in 2009 for the erection of a part four storey, part 
three storey building, comprising 164 student accommodation units, including bicycle 
storage and a communal courtyard with landscaping to the rear, following the demolition 
of an existing mixed use building at 43 - 51 Sinclair Road, and refurbishment of 53 
Sinclair Road, The applicant, Hive Student Residences, had indicated that the units 
would be leased by post-graduate students. 
  
1.7 This application was refused on the grounds of:  
1)  Impact on residential amenity due to overconcentration of student accommodation 
and noise and disturbance; 
2) Location of new windows and their relationship to existing windows serving habitable 
rooms at 32 and 33 Hofland Road, 41, 43 and 55 Sinclair Road resulting in a negative 
impact upon the privacy of occupants at these properties through overlooking;   
3) Fails to provide adequate or convenient cycle parking facilities for cyclists, and the 
proposed cycle parking area would result in unacceptable impacts to the amenities of 
residential occupiers at 43 Sinclair Road;   
4) The outdoor courtyard area by virtue of its size and close proximity to neighbouring 
residential properties at 32 and 33 Hofland Road and 1-12 Rayburne Court would result 
in the potential for unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance prejudicial to the 
amenities of surrounding occupiers;   
5) The submitted transport assessment fails to address the management of additional 
traffic activity;   
6) A significant proportion of units within the development would have windows facing 
exclusively in a northerly direction;  
7) scheme fails to satisfactorily demonstrate how the proposed development would 
ensure a safe and secure environment for users; 
8) The scheme fails to satisfactorily demonstrate how the proposed development would 
ensure an inclusive environment for users.  
   
1.8 Regal Sinclair Road LLP have put forward more recent proposals for the site. A 
planning application (2011/02489/FUL) and conservation area consent application 
(2011/02507/CAC) were submitted for the demolition of  buildings at 45 - 51 Sinclair 
Road and the redevelopment of the site comprising the erection of a part four storey, 
part five storey building over two basement levels, together with the erection of a part 
one storey, part two storey (over two basement levels) building to the rear of the site; 
refurbishment and conversion of 53 Sinclair Road, in connection with provision of 59 
residential units (this number was reduced to 54 over the course of the application); 
retention of the 'arch' feature on Hofland Road; related landscaping and the provision of 
41 car parking spaces at sub-basement level. These applications were the subject of an 
appeal against non-determination. The council determined that, had they been 
empowered to determine the case, the grounds for refusal would have been: 
 

Page 98



1) Overdevelopment, excessive density, and as a result, a detrimental impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring properties in terms of noise nuisance and disturbance, from 
large numbers of balconies/terraces and communal amenity space.  
 2) Unacceptable quality of accommodation in terms of unit/room sizes and 
insufficient private amenity space, which would adversely affect future residential 
occupiers.  
 3) Potential noise nuisance, vibration and disturbance from the use and operation of 
the proposed car lift.  
 4) The proposed communal garden area and private terraces provided at lower 
ground floor level would be unacceptable given that there were two vents from the sub-
basement car parking area, that would discharge into this lower ground floor level.  
 
1.9     The appeal took the form of a local hearing (September 2012), and the Planning 
Inspector dismissed the appeals in October 2012. The Planning Inspector concluded 
that: 
 
'Notwithstanding the conclusions on the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area, standard of accommodation, amenity space, density, 
daylight/sunlight, outlook/privacy and other considerations, it is the detrimental effect 
that the proposal would have in terms of unacceptable noise 
and disturbance, and the lack of acceptable measures for refuse collection that are the 
determining issues in these appeals. The provision of amenity space and off-street 
parking address policy requirements and although reference has been made to 
lease/purchase agreements precluding the use of the car lift and the private amenity 
spaces at certain times this would conflict with the reasons for providing them. In any 
event there is no mechanism for ensuring their implementation. As there is not an 
acceptable scheme for redevelopment conservation area consent for the proposed 
demolition should not be granted to prevent harm to the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area.' 
 
1.10 Following the submission of the appeal, but prior to the local hearing, the 
applicants submitted a further planning application (2012/01038/FUL) and conservation 
area consent (2012/01039/CAC), for the demolition of the existing buildings at 45-51 
Sinclair Road and the redevelopment of the site comprising the erection of a part four-
storey, part five-storey building over two basement levels, together with the erection of a 
part one-storey, part two-storey (over two basement levels) building to the rear of the 
site; refurbishment and conversion of 53 Sinclair Road in connection with provision of 
54 residential units, retention of the arch feature on Hofland Road, related landscaping 
and the provision of 41 car parking spaces at sub-basement level. 
 
1.11 This was essentially the same scheme that was the subject of the appeal, with the 
exception of alterations to the lower ground floor flat layouts to ensure compliance with 
the Mayor of London's Design Guidelines. These cases appeared on the agenda to be 
reported to Planning Applications Committee meeting on 10th July 2012, with a 
recommendation for refusal, for similar reasons to those stated in para 1.8 above. 
However, the applications were withdrawn by the applicant on the day of the meeting, 
and no decision could therefore be made on these cases. 
 
1.12 Two applications are currently under consideration, a conservation area consent 
application to demolish and a planning application to redevelop. The scheme comprises 
the demolition of the existing buildings at 45 - 51 Sinclair Road and the redevelopment 
of the site comprising the erection of a part three storey, part five storey building over 

Page 99



two basement levels, together with the erection of a part one storey, part two storey 
(over two basement levels) building to the rear of the site; refurbishment and conversion 
of 53 Sinclair Road, in connection with provision of 54 residential units; retention of the 
'arch' feature on Hofland Road; related landscaping and the provision of 41 car parking 
spaces at sub-basement level. This is a joint report covering matters raised by the 
planning application and the conservation area consent application, 2013/00823/CAC.  
 
1.13    The current scheme is, essentially, a very similar scheme to that which was 
considered at the appeal. The numbers of units proposed is the same, the design, 
height, bulk and massing is the same, car parking arrangements proposed are the 
same, the communal amenity space proposed is the same.  
 The differences between this scheme and the one dismissed on appeal, is that: 
- the majority of the roof terraces and balconies have been removed 
- additional refuse storage is proposed at ground floor level, and a new waste 
management strategy is proposed 
- a different external door is proposed to the car lift  
 
1.14 The applicants advised officers that an external door to a ramped car park, by the 
same manufacturer as proposed in this instance, had been installed on a site in LB 
Westminster. Officers have visited the site and inspected this installation.   
 
1.15      The 54 residential units proposed would be in the form of 5 x studio units, 17 x 
1 bedroom flats, 21 x 2 bedroom flats and 11 x 3 bedroom flats. 
  
1.16    Prior to the submission of the current applications the applicants held an 
exhibition of their proposals, in February 2013. The applicants state that around 40 
residents attended the exhibition. Display boards detailing the potential two planning 
applications (both the 52 and 54 units schemes) were exhibited to advise residents and 
to form a basis for discussions.  
  
1.17 Prior to the formal submission of the applications dismissed at appeal, the 
applicants presented their scheme to the Design Review Panel (June 2011). The DRP's 
view was that there were concerns over the high number of flats proposed and that the 
site seemed too compressed, the architecture and the amount of amenity space 
provided. The applicants revised the scheme following this advice. A Planning Forum 
was held in January 2012 for this scheme, where residents expressed their concerns 
about the proposed development. They also requested additional information such as a 
rear elevation of the garden block building, and additional views of the site from varying 
angles, as well as additional information on the sites used in the transport assessment. 
This additional information was provided at the time of the hearing.   
  
1.18      A different redevelopment scheme for the same applicant, which seeks consent 
for 52 flatted units (refs:2013/00822/FUL and 2013/00823/CAC), is also on this agenda 
for members' consideration. 
 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
       
2.1 The application has been publicised by means of site notices and a press 
advertisement. In addition individual notification letters have also been sent to the 
occupiers of adjoining and surrounding properties, the Crime Prevention Design 
adviser, the Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group, the Hammersmith 

Page 100



Society, English Heritage and local residents' and amenity groups. In addition, the 
Environment Agency and Thames Water have been consulted on the proposal.   
 
2.2 English Heritage has written in to say that they do not wish to comment.  
 
2.3     The Environment Agency has reported that they do not object to the proposal. 
   
2.4 Thames Water have reported that the have no objection to the scheme, subject to 
a condition in respect of managing surface water drainage. 
 
2.5     The Crime Prevention Design Officer, the Hammersmith Society and other groups 
have not responded.  
 
2.6      An objection has been received from Councillor Belinda Donovan, supporting the 
residents' objections to the proposed scheme. 
         
2.7 The Member of Parliament for Hammersmith, Andrew Slaughter, has expressed 
concerns over the proposed development, that the developers have not responded to 
the concerns raised by the Planning Inspector and supports the objections raised by 
local residents. 
 
2.8 41 letters/e-mails have been received in response from local residents/occupiers. 
These letters/emails objecting to the development have been received from Sinclair 
Road, Hofland Road, Milson Road, Girdlers Road, Redan Street and Masbro Road. In 
addition, an objection has been received from the Sinclair, Milson and Hofland Roads 
Residents' Association (SMHRRA), and the grounds for objection can be summarised 
as follows: 
 
- Insufficient response to the Planning Inspector's report 
- Excessive density of the development and the huge number of flats with associated 
impacts in terms of noise and disturbance, loss of privacy, and increase in traffic 
- Overdevelopment of the site will not benefit community and will harm quality of life for 
residents 
- A detailed response from SMHRRA raises concerns on demolition, excavation, 
flooding, density, impact of terraces and balconies, amenity space, communal area, 
refuse, lift accessed subterranean car park, vehicle lift doors, transport and disturbance 
history 
- Design unacceptable and will harm the conservation area 
- Developers have not interacted with the local residents to a satisfactory degree, they 
told the residents what was happening and did not take any account of residents' views 
- Transport report is not accurate or realistic 
- Will lose a large area of soakaway ground due to excavation 
- RBKC and probably Westminster are banning such large excavations, why is LBHF 
considering them? 
- There is no Conservation Area Character Profile for this conservation area, as such 
how can decisions be made affecting the conservation area 
- Area is already at saturation point 
- Development will increase demand for on-street car parking spaces, and will result in 
traffic along Hofland Road being significantly increased 
- Sinclair Road is one of the most densely populated streets in London  
- Inadequate lift, car spaces and noise and disturbance from refuse collections 

Page 101



- No set down point for deliveries, development will generate significant deliveries that 
will result in congestion on streets (Officer Comment: It is accepted that 
servicing/deliveries will have to be undertaken from the street) 
- Modern design and appearance out of keeping with the area 
- Loss of commercial floorspace, doubt whether the marketing of this site was 
undertaken in any serious manner, and historic use was low density 
- Gardens will be overlooked from new windows 
- Mews cottage should be retained; it's the last one left 
- Refuse arrangement mean that excessive noise and disruption will occur when this is 
put out on street for collection 
- Public transport cannot cope with demand 
- Impact on local services  
- Environmentally unacceptable, no solar panels proposed 
- No children's play area provided 
- Will devalue my property and affect rental potential of my flat (Officers' comment: This 
is not a material planning consideration) 
- Sewers will not cope with demand 
- New access adjacent to 43 Sinclair Road will result in noise nuisance and disturbance 
- One car-lift for the basement parking will not work, and the transport assessment 
under estimates the impact of the traffic generated 
- Noise issues from the excessively dense development, especially from car lift and 
remaining terraces/balconies and shared amenity space 
- Excessive excavation for the sub-basement parking will cause structural problems and 
flooding issues (Officer comment: A structural report has been submitted with the 
application; flooding matters will be discussed below) 
- Development will harm the quiet, community atmosphere of Hofland Road 
- Development should be amended to no more than 30 flats 
- Extended period of noise/dirt and disruption during construction period (Officers' 
comment: These are common concerns for local residents with any redevelopment, but 
cannot be a reason to withhold planning permission. If the development were found to 
be acceptable in all matters and an approval were to be forthcoming officers would 
recommend the future submission of a demolition and construction management plan, 
to ensure that impact on local residents would be minimised during the works). 
 
2.9     The Friends of Brook Green have commented on the proposal. Their response 
can be summarised as follows: 
- appreciate the efforts that the applicants have made 
- satisfied refuse arrangements are workable 
- agree residential redevelopment is desirable 
- overlooking has been reduced 
- no major quibble with external appearance of building 
- still have concerns about density 
- concerns about depth of basement and impact on groundwater 
- garage arrangements with lift may work, but this is of a new design and must be quiet, 
quick and efficient 
- no permits should be issued to occupiers of new development 
- new residents will make use of Brook Green, therefore a S106 contribution towards 
improvements/maintenance and repair should be sought 
 
2.10    Five standardised letters have been received in support of the application. These 
letters are from residents living in Sinclair Road, Redan Street, Gratton Road, 
Springvale Terrace and Bolingbroke Road. The agents have also submitted a petition 

Page 102



with 38 signatures with the heading 'Support for the redevelopment of Nomis Studios' 
and listing the reference numbers of the four current applications. It has not been made 
clear what information has been provided to the signatories to gain their signature on 
the petition, therefore, officers cannot give any significant weight to the petition.  
 
2.11     The planning issues raised above will be addressed in the report below. 
 
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
   
3.1 The main considerations in determining the applications are: The loss of 
employment land, the principle of the proposed residential accommodation in land use 
terms; the design and appearance of the building and its impact on the street scene, 
and on the character and appearance of the Lakeside, Sinclair, Blythe Road 
Conservation Area; the impact of the development on the existing amenities of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties, in terms of overlooking/loss of privacy, 
daylight/sunlight, and noise & disturbance; traffic generation and car parking; the 
accessibility of the development for wheelchair and disabled users, sustainability and 
energy efficiency, cycle parking, refuse storage, contaminated land issues and flood 
risk.  
 
3.2      The draft Development Management Local Plan was submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for Examination and the Inspector's Report has been received. The draft 
Development Management Local Plan, which is scheduled for adoption in July 2013, 
will form part of the H&F Local Plan. When adopted, it will replace the remaining saved 
policies of the UDP and will be used, together with the Core Strategy and London Plan 
to determine planning applications. Although not yet adopted, the draft Development 
Management Local Plan (and Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD)) as emerging policy documents are a material consideration in the determination 
of planning applications. They should be given weight in assessing proposals, given 
their advanced stage. 
 
LAND USE  
 
3.3 The application relates to demolition of the existing commercial building and the 
redevelopment of the site to provide 52 residential flats. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) (2012) promotes the delivery of a wide choice of high quality 
homes, to widen opportunities for home ownership and to create sustainable, inclusive 
and mixed communities. Effective use of land is encouraged in this national guidance, 
with a priority for re-using brownfield sites.  Policy 3.3 of The London Plan 2011 states 
that 'Boroughs should identify and seek to enable development capacity to be brought 
forward to meet [borough housing targets]... in particular the potential to realise 
brownfield housing capacity including the redevelopment of surplus commercial 
capacity.' Policy 4.2 of The London Plan supports the conversion of surplus office space 
to other uses. Core Strategy policy LE1 seeks to retain premises capable of providing 
continued accommodation for local services or significant employment unless certain 
criteria can be met. One of criterion would allow release if 'it can be satisfactorily 
demonstrated that the property is no longer required for employment purposes'. 
Development Management DPD policy DM B1 states that 'Where the loss of 
employment use is proposed...the council will have regard to: the suitability of the 
site/premises for continued employment use, evidence of unsuccessful marketing, the 
need to avoid impact on established clusters of employment use, the need to ensure a 

Page 103



sufficient stock of premises and sites to meet local need for a range of employment 
uses in appropriate locations'.  
 
3.4 The applicants have advised that the application property has been vacant since 
January 2008 and was last used as offices, following earlier use as recording studios. 
This application is for solely residential use and is supported by a report detailing that 
there has been no demand for the office space, and that future use for office purposes 
is unlikely to be achievable. In view of the circumstances of the existing premises 
including having regard to the location of the property, it is considered that it would be 
unreasonable to object to the loss of the employment land in this instance. There is a 
stock of employment premises available elsewhere, in more appropriate locations in the 
borough.  A purely residential scheme is considered to be in accordance with the NPPF 
guidance, London Plan Policies 3.3 and 4.2 and Core Strategy Policy LE1, and may be 
acceptable in principle; provided other development plan policies are satisfied which will 
be discussed below. It is also noted that the Planning Inspector in his decision on last 
year's appeal concluded that the loss of employment land accorded with development 
plan policy objectives.  
  
3.5 This application seeks to provide 54 new residential dwellings. London Plan Policy 
3.3 B states that an annual average of 32,210 net additional homes should be delivered. 
Table 3.1 sets an annual target of 615 net additional dwellings for Hammersmith and 
Fulham. Core Strategy 2011 Policy H1 reiterates the London Plan's annual target of 615 
net additional dwellings for the borough. The provision of 54 units would contribute 
towards these targets.  
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
  
3.6 Policy 3.12 of the Mayor's London Plan states that 'the maximum reasonable 
amount of affordable housing should be sought when negotiating on individual private 
residential and mixed use schemes, having regard to the current and future 
requirements for affordable housing at local and regional levels; adopted affordable 
housing targets, the need to encourage rather than restrain residential development, the 
need to promote mixed and balanced communities, the size and type of affordable 
housing needed in particular locations and the individual circumstances of the site'. The 
London Plan goes on to say that 'the Mayor wishes to encourage, not restrain overall 
residential development. Boroughs should take a reasonable and flexible approach to 
securing affordable housing on a site by site basis. Boroughs should take into account 
economic viability and the most effective use of public and private investment, including 
the use of developer contributions. Development appraisals should be provided to 
demonstrate that the scheme maximises affordable housing output.' 
   
3.7 London Plan Policy 3.13 states that 'Boroughs should normally require affordable 
housing provision on a site which has the capacity to provide 10 or more homes'; which 
is the case here. 
 
3.8 The proposed development would provide 52 new residential units, so affordable 
housing would normally be required. No affordable housing is proposed as part of this 
development, and the applicants have submitted a financial appraisal which concludes 
that it would not be viable to provide any on site in this case. The applicants have 
offered a S106 contribution of £260,000 for unspecified use.  
 

Page 104



3.9     No affordable housing is proposed on site, and the scheme would not meet the 
affordable housing target expressed within the Council's Core Strategy. A commuted 
sum towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere within the borough has been 
proposed, but it is considered that insufficient justification has been provided to fully 
demonstrate that the amount of the proposed commuted sum is the maximum feasible 
for the provision of affordable housing that could be achieved from the scheme. 
Therefore this would result in a lower level of affordable housing than the development 
could actually support. The proposal thereby fails to support a mixed and balanced 
community, contrary to policy H2 of the Core Strategy 2011 and policies 3.11 and 3.12 
of The London Plan, 2011. 
 
DESIGN 
 
3.10    A number of residents have raised concerns that there is no conservation area 
profile available for this area. Officers acknowledge that this local conservation area 
does not yet have its own conservation area character profile. However, in relation to 
design and heritage matters there is a wealth of relevant policy for officers to consider. 
The hierarchy includes the National Planning Policy Framework, The London Plan, the 
Core Strategy and the Unitary Development Plan saved policies (EN2 and EN8 in 
relation to development in conservation areas, and design of new development 
respectively), adopted Supplementary Planning Documents and the emerging 
Development Management Local Plan. In addition there is the emerging Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document, which contains Design Guidance for all 
conservation areas and is gaining weight in the decision making process as it moves 
towards adoption in the summer.  
   
3.11 Policy EN2 of the UDP relates to development in conservation areas and seeks to 
ensure that in considering new development, the character and appearance of a 
conservation area is either preserved or enhanced.  Policy EN8 is also relevant and 
states that 'development will not be permitted unless it is of a high standard of design, 
and compatible with the scale and character of existing development and its setting'. In 
addition policy 3.5 of The London Plan states that housing development should be of 
the highest quality, internally, externally and in relation to their context and the wider 
environment. The NPPF states that `good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively towards 
making places better for people'. It goes on to state that `.....developments should 
respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local 
surroundings.......are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate 
landscaping'. It also states that `design policies should avoid unnecessary prescription 
or detail and concentrate on guiding the overall scale, density, massing, height, 
landscape, materials and access......Planning policies and decisions should not attempt 
to impose architectural styles or particular tastes..' 
       
3.12 The site lies within a conservation area and originally comprised a terrace of five 
Victorian houses with a mews to the rear, accessed via a stuccoed arch on Hofland 
Road.  Unlike the four mid terrace buildings (replaced by the existing 3 storey, (plus 
mansard and basement) interwar building), the arch and end of terrace building (53 
Sinclair Road) are existing and would be retained by the development.  
     
3.13    The end of terrace house at No. 53 is considered to retain most of its original 
architectural features including the parapet, portico and timber sliding sash windows on 
the front elevation.  It is typical of the townscape in Sinclair Road which consists of 

Page 105



terraces of grand Victorian stucco fronted houses of three or four storeys over semi-
basements and is considered to make a positive contribution to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. The proposal would retain this building as part of 
the proposal and this is supported by officers. 
       
3.14 The arch at the entrance to the former mews (Hofland Road elevation) would also 
be retained and is considered a richly ornamented structure and an important 
architectural and historic feature of the conservation area. The retention of this structure 
is supported by officers. 
     
3.15    The red brick building is not considered characteristic of either Sinclair Road or 
the conservation area as a whole.  It is a sturdy inter-war building with some 
architectural features including pilasters and a substantial cornice, which sits discretely 
in the townscape, respects its neighbours in terms of building line and height and does 
not compete for attention with the surrounding Victorian terraces in the streetscene.  A 
site inspection has revealed the building to be unsatisfactory for modern office uses and 
it is considered that it would be very difficult to convert to an alternative use given the 
highly unusual internal layout including many changes of level and the numerous 
piecemeal extensions and internal alterations.  The rear of the building is dominated by 
various accretions and none of the original mews buildings survive.  The canopy over 
the rear yard is not considered to be of special architectural or historic interest and does 
not form part of the original design of the mews, being a much later addition. Overall the 
interwar building is considered to make a neutral contribution to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and there would be no objections to its demolition 
providing that an acceptable proposal for a replacement building is secured. 
   
3.16    With the exception of the building at 53 Sinclair Road and the archway to Hofland 
Road, the remainder of the proposed development would comprise new buildings. The 
Sinclair Road elevation would take the form of a 4 storey plus basement, plus mansard 
roof, matching the height of the existing adjoining terrace, with a mansard floor also 
being added to the retain 53 Sinclair Road. The contemporary elevation is judged to be 
a worthy replacement for the interwar building, and draws inspiration from the 
surrounding Victorian terraces. In particular, the bays and detailing on the front 
elevation, which would add articulation and visual interest. The new building would step 
up slightly from 41 Sinclair Road lifting towards the higher retained 53 Sinclair Road. 
The building would respect the front building line of the adjacent Victorian buildings and 
the set back of the additional floor at fourth floor level, is concentrated over the primary 
frontage, so that the height and massing of the main block is similar to those adjacent 
houses with additional mansard floors. There is an existing basement level floor which 
would be retained. There is a light well to the Sinclair road frontage, which would take 
the form of stepped planters.  
   
3.17    On the Hofland Road elevation, the rear wing of the building would step down 
towards the rear of the site, and would also incorporate a series of set backs to reduce 
the massing so that they would be subservient to the frontage building and are 
considered to respect the hierarchy of development within the street block, particularly 
on the secondary frontage to Hofland Road which is located opposite two storey 
Victorian houses on the Local Register of Buildings of Merit (1-31 Hofland Road).  The 
building would also be set back from 43 Sinclair Road, at upper levels. The height, bulk 
and massing of the development is considered to be acceptable in the streetscene and 
would be compatible with the retained Victorian buildings. 
  

Page 106



3.18 Within the site and adjacent to the boundary with Rayburne Court, and the Milson 
Road properties,  a two storey plus basement replacement building would be erected. 
This building would not be visible from public vantage points and it is not considered 
that it would have any unacceptable impact on the character or appearance of the 
conservation area, given its location and size.  
       
3.19 The proposed building is therefore considered a well designed contemporary 
development which retains the arch and corner house and respects the scale and 
massing of surrounding buildings. The overall massing of the building would increase 
however, but it is judged that this reflects the scale of existing development in sensitive 
areas such as the Sinclair Road elevation, and boundaries adjacent to residential 
properties particularly the Hofland and Milson Road properties and 43 Sinclair Road. 
     
3.20 The applicants propose to use materials, such as brickwork, cast stone, PPC 
aluminium windows, lead cladding, timber windows. Notwithstanding the above, full 
details of all materials would be required, prior to the carrying out of any development. 
With regard to landscaping, the applicants propose to provide stepped landscaped 
planters to the Sinclair Road elevation within the lightwell. In addition the communal 
garden area (rear of the site) would also be landscaped. Full details of this would be 
conditioned. However this in itself is not sufficient to warrant a reason to refuse the 
application, and could be dealt with by condition if planning permission were to be 
approved. 
 
3.21 The Planning Inspector in his decision notice on the appeal scheme noted that 
'.......the proposal would preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area in accordance with the statutory duty imposed by Section 72(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 that is reflected in UDP Policy 
EN2.' 
         
3.22 Subject to clarification of the above mentioned detailed design matters officers 
consider that the proposal is of an acceptable design and would not compromise the 
street scene or character and appearance of the conservation area, in accordance with 
Policies EN2 and EN8 of the Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Density 
3.23 Policy 3.4 of The London Plan states that ` Taking into account local context and 
character, the design principles, in Chapter 7 of The London Plan, and public transport 
capacity, development should optimise housing output for different types of location 
within the relevant density range shown in Table 3.2.' The site is considered 'urban' in 
relation to the GLA density matrix in Table 3.2, giving an indicative density range of 200-
700 habitable rooms per hectare (hrph). The proposed development site comprises 0.18 
hectares and would have a density of around 805hrh, which is therefore in excess of the 
density range stipulated in The London Plan.  
    
3.24 However, paragraph 3.28 of The London Plan states that 'It is not appropriate to 
apply Table 3.2 mechanistically. Its density ranges for particular types of location are 
broad, enabling account to be taken of other factors relevant to optimising potential - 
local context, design and transport capacity are particularly important, as well as social 
infrastructure (Policy 3.16)'. Furthermore paragraph 3.29 of The London Plan further 
states that higher density provision for smaller households should be focused on areas 
with good public transport accessibility (measured by Public Transport Accessibility 
Levels (PTALs).   

Page 107



   
3.25   The proposal is situated in an area of very good public transport accessibility 
(PTAL 5). The applicants have indicated that Sinclair Road is a densely developed 
street (with densities in the high 800's), in excess of The London Plan guidelines. The 
other adjoining streets around the development do not exhibit the same high densities, 
Hofland Road, and Milson Road for example are significantly lower in density (340 to 
400 hrh in most cases).  
 
3.26 In dismissing the appeal scheme, the Planning Inspector stated that 'The scale 
and massing would be appropriate and Sinclair Road has densities in the high 800s. 
The proposed density, whilst high, would not in itself warrant dismissing the appeals. 
Other streets nearby are significantly less dense, with Hofland Road and Milson Road 
having densities of 300-400 hrh in many cases. I note the Council's concern that the 
proposal might result in high density levels spreading to the adjoining, less dense, 
streets but each proposal should be considered on its own merits.' 
 
3.27 Density as a matter in itself cannot be a reason to refuse planning permission, as it 
is only a number, reflecting the amount of development that would be provided. 
However, it is how the magnitude of any scheme would affect the local environment, in 
particular the amenities of neighbours, that needs to be evaluated. Officers will consider 
these mattes in the report below. 
  
3.28 In terms of shopping facilities, there is a range of commercial premises relatively 
close to the site in nearby streets to meet everyday local needs whilst further away, 
within 13 minutes of the site, is Shepherd's Bush Town Centre and slightly further afield 
(17 minutes) is Hammersmith Town Centre.  Access to the underground public transport 
network and local bus services is provided reasonably close to the site. It is therefore 
considered that the site is fairly well served by existing local and town centre shopping 
facilities with easy access to central London for specialist shops and services. 
 
STANDARD OF ACCOMMODATION 
       
3.29 A total of 54 residential units are proposed within the development from basement 
to roof level. The accommodation provided would be 5 x studio units, 17 x 1 bed flats, 
21 x 2 bed flats and 11 x 3 bed flats. 
  
3.30 The NPPF states that one of the core planning principles is `always (to)  seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all future occupants of 
land and buildings'. Policy DM A9 states that 'The council will ensure that the design 
and quality of all new housing ...is of a high standard and that developments provide 
housing that will meet the needs of future occupants and respect the principles of good 
neighbourliness'. 
      
3.31 Two of the proposed units would have a predominantly north facing aspect; these 
units are located at fourth floor level and comprise a 1 bedroom unit and a 3 bedroom 
unit. Whilst it is considered that there would be sufficient natural lighting, these units 
would have very limited direct sunlight. There are also two units at lower ground and 
ground floor level in the retained 53 Sinclair Road, where there are non-predominantly 
north facing windows provided, albeit at reduced size and at a very low level. Whilst 
officers have concerns about these units, they do form part of the retained property and 
on balance it is not considered that reasonable objections could be raised on these 

Page 108



grounds. All of the proposed units would meet the council's size standards as detailed in 
the Unitary Development Plan, as well as meeting the London Plan 2011 standards.  
 
3.32 With regards to daylight and sunlight for the proposed units, the applicants have 
submitted a report under the BRE guidelines to analyse the daylight/sunlight 
implications for the development. This report states that all of the flats bar two would 
receive the recommended sunlight levels recommended within the guidance. The 
applicants advise that the two units that would fail, would still receive adequate levels of 
sunlight given the urban nature of the development. This report also assesses the 
communal amenity space provided and finds that it will receive reasonable levels of 
sunlighting. Officers have considered the report and consider that, on balance, given the 
scheme in its totality, no objection  be raised with regards to these matters.  
 
3.33     UDP standard S5 requires that family units at ground floor level should have at 
least 36 sq m of private amenity space directly accessible from the unit, and non-family 
units, at least 14 sq m. The London Plan SPG requires that a minimum of 5 sq m of 
private space be provided for 1-2 person units and an extra 1 sq m per occupant.  
 
3.34     Policy DM A2 of the Development Managment DPD states that 'All new housing 
must be of high quality design and take account of the amenity of neighbours'. It also 
says that '....ground floor level family housing should have access to private 
gardens/amenity space and family housing on upper floors should have access to a 
balcony and/or terrace, subject to acceptable amenity and design considerations, or to 
shared amenity space and to children's playspace'.  The Planning Guidance SPD, June 
2012, now has increased weight in assessing applications. SPD Housing Policy 1 
relates to amenity space in new dwellings. It states that all new dwellings should have 
access to an area of amenity space, appropriate to the type of housing being provided. 
It states that every new family dwelling should have direct access to amenity or garden 
space of not less than 36 sq.m. It goes on to say that dwellings with accommodation at 
ground floor level should have at least one area of private open space with direct 
access to it from the dwelling. For family dwellings on upper floors this space may be 
provided either as a balcony or terrace and/or communally within the building's 
curtilage. Para 4.6 of the SPD states that `In relation to the provision of private gardens 
and amenity space the council will expect to see a more generous provision of outdoor 
amenity space than the minimum standards' (in the London Plan SPG). 
 
3.35     Policy DM E2 of the Development Management DPD states that 'In new 
residential development that provides family accommodation, accessible and inclusive 
communal playspace will normally be required......The scale of provision and associated 
play equipment will be in proportion to the scale and nature of the proposed 
development'. The Planning Guidance SPD also says that where communal open 
space is provided that development proposals should demonstrate that the space has a 
well designed children's play area, is overlooked, is accessible to wheelchair users, 
takes advantage of sunlight and has suitable management arrangements in place. 
London Plan policy 3.6 states that ` Development proposals that include housing should 
make provision for play and informal recreation'. The SPG 2012 expects 100 - 300 
sq.m. to be provided where the child yield is 10-29 children. 
 
3.36     There would be 10 flats with accommodation at the lowest floor level within the 
scheme, none of which would now be classified as family units as they have a 
maximum of 2 bedrooms. There would be four 1 bed, 2 person units; four 2 bed, 4 
person units and two studios (1 person). All of these units would have access to a patio 

Page 109



area, but only half of these units would have sufficient amenity space to meet UDP 
standard S5 i.e. they would have 14 sq.m. or more of private area (directly accessible); 
albeit that one of those areas would be on Sinclair Road in a proposed lightwell. The 
private amenity space to a further unit which wouldn't have sufficient space to meet 
UDP standard is also within the proposed lightwell on Sinclair Road. If London Plan 
standards are applied the units which are proposed to have their own private amenity 
space on the lowest level of accommodation would have a sufficient amount of space. 
However, the 2012 SPG expects that the council will expect to see a more generous 
provision of outdoor amenity space than the London Plan SPG minimum requirements. 
 
3.37     There would be 10 family units within the scheme (all 3 bedroomed); all located 
on upper floors. The 2012 SPD states that every new family dwelling should have direct 
access to amenity or garden space of not less than 36 sq.m. For family dwellings on 
upper floors this space may be provided either as a balcony or terrace and/or 
communally within the building's curtilage. Of those ten units, only one would have a 
small balcony (ground floor level of c.7-8 sq.m.). It is considered that the occupiers of 
these units might require up to 396 sq.m.; which could be provided communally. Only 
283 sq.m. of communal amenity space is proposed, at lower ground floor level. There 
are also 37 units within the scheme that have no private amenity space at all, which 
officers could reasonably expect should have some communal space available to them. 
 
3.38     The communal area would be overlooked by future residents, would have 
sufficient sunlight given its orientation and relationship to buildings and would be 
accessible to wheelchair users living within the scheme. It is not clear whether there 
would be suitable management arrangements in place, though it is common place that a 
management company would be employed for example to keep the area tidy, within a 
flatted scheme. A children's play area is not proposed, however. 
 
3.39     The proposed development is considered to be unacceptable with regard to 
amenity space and quality of life of future residential occupiers. An insufficient amount 
of amenity space would be provided for future occupiers. No playspace would be 
provided for children. These shortfalls are symptomatic of the overdevelopment of this 
site, and the development is judged to fail to comply standard S5 of the Unitary 
Development Plan 2007 and 2011, Planning Guidance SPD, June 2012, London Plan 
policy 3.6 (and SPG 2012 ) and Core Planning Principle 17. 
 
3.40     The Planning Inspector did not find the amenity space arrangements proposed 
in the appeal scheme to be objectionable. Whilst he noted that the UDP standards 
would not be met for the units at lower ground floor level, he acknowledged that London 
Plan requirements would be met for them. He also acknowledged the amount of 
communal amenity space that would be provided for the scheme as a whole (293 
sq.m.). However, the amenity provision is different in this scheme, as against from that 
which the Inspector deliberated over, as most of the previously included balconies and 
terraces have been removed. Also, it is necessary to have regard to the emerging 
Planning Guidance SPD. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 
Noise and disturbance 
 
Amenity space and use of flats 
3.41 Policy EN21 of the UDP (amended 2011) relates to environmental nuisance and 
states that `all developments shall ensure that there is no undue detriment to the 
general amenities at present enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers of their 
properties particularly where commercial and service activities are close to residential 
properties'. The proposed development would comprise a total of 54 residential flats, 
located in close proximity to existing residential accommodation. The development site 
effectively equates to five residential properties on Sinclair Road and in terms of 
intensity given the density of the development it is considered that there would be 
significant numbers of occupiers.   
 
3.42     The communal amenity space provided would be available to be used by all of 
the occupiers of this development. Officers consider that the use of this large communal 
area situated adjacent to residential boundaries would result in noise nuisance and 
disturbance, especially given the potential numbers of persons who could use this area. 
Furthermore, whilst the current scheme has significantly reduced the number of roof 
terraces and balconies by 17, this would have the effect of increasing the usage of the 
communal amenity space.  
 
3.43 In dismissing the appeal, the Planning Inspector considered that the communal 
space was set lower than neighbouring gardens enclosed by high boundary walls, and 
that the communal space was less likely to be used than private amenity space such as 
balconies and terraces. The Inspector noted that the developers proposed to limit use of 
the amenity space (private and communal) and 'It is suggested that a 24 hour concierge 
would manage this on-site. However, there is no mechanism in place that would ensure 
these measures to prevent excessive noise would be implemented effectively, and such 
restrictive matters of management and ownership go beyond that which could 
reasonably be required by condition. The proposal would therefore have a detrimental 
impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of nearby properties in terms of 
additional noise and disturbance, contrary to the aims of S13.2A in UDP Chapter 12.' 
The Inspector rejected concerns about the discharge from the vents serving the 
underground car park on the grounds that these vents are air intakes and not extracts. 
 
3.44 Officers consider that with the removal of terraces/balconies from a significant 
number of flats within the development, the use of the communal space is likely to be 
increased to levels in excess of those considered as part of the appeal scheme. As 
such, officers consider that the use of the outdoor amenity space is likely to result in 
noise nuisance and disturbance for neighbouring properties, contrary to policy EN21 
and Standard S13.2a of the UDP 
 
3.45 A significant number of roof terraces and balconies have been removed from the 
current proposal. Whilst officers welcome this the flats that would no longer have 
terraces/balconies would have large window openings, in the same location as the 
previously proposed access doors. This does not negate officers' previous concerns. 
Noise created by occupiers from use of those living, kitchen, dining areas adjacent to 
those window openings would result in noise disturbance, albeit that it would be set 
back 1.5 metres further away from neighbours than before. Furthermore, it could be 
argued that detrimental impacts as a result of the window openings would likely  happen 

Page 111



on a greater number of occasions than could have occurred on the external spaces, that 
would have been open to the elements.  
 
3.46 Officers consider that due to the number of large window openings in close 
proximity to neighbouring residential properties could result in noise nuisance and 
disturbance for the occupiers of these dwellings. Taking this into account, with the likely 
increased use of the proposed communal amenity space would mean that this would be 
regarded as an unneighbourly form of development, harmful to the amenities of 
neighbouring properties.  The applicants state that the use of the communal area would 
be controlled through lease agreements, but no further details have been provided. 
Nonetheless, whilst some controls could be made available and enforced for the 
communal areas, it is unlikely that any such controls could be exercised over the 
occupiers' use of their flats, such as requiring windows to be kept closed. Officers are 
not satisfied that the revised arrangement would result in a satisfactory resolution of 
conflicts for neighbouring residents, and consider that the scheme as proposed would 
fail to comply with policy EN21 and standard S13.2A of the UDP. 
 
Car and goods lifts 
3.47 There are two lifts proposed, a goods lift and a car lift. Both would be located on 
the Hofland Road part of the site, adjacent to no.32 Hofland Road.  
 
3.48    The car lift would serve the sub-basement level car parking area, and it could 
accommodate one car at a time. Officers are advised that it would take approximately 
one and a half minutes per cycle i.e. for a car to get into the lift, to travel down to sub-
basement level, for the car to exit and for the lift to go back up to ground level. The 
default position of the lift would be at ground level. 
 
3.49    The use of the lift was raised during the appeal scheme and the Planning 
Inspector considered that subject to appropriate planning conditions the use of the car 
lift itself should not cause harm to neighbours¿ amenity.  However, he raised concerns 
that the use of the external doors to the lift area could result in noise nuisance and 
disturbance, he stated that `Use of the car lift would, therefore, have a detrimental 
impact on the occupiers of nearby properties'. Added to this would be the noise arising 
from bringing bins to ground level and leaving them outside in the absence of adequate 
holding space for what is currently a weekly refuse collection. This would have to take 
place early to ensure that they were in place before the collection was due and the to-
ing and fro-ing would be likely to cause unacceptable disturbance for near neighbours. 
Refuse management matters will be discussed below. 
 
3.50     The Inspector said that `The lift shaft would effectively be a box within a box and 
be separated from the boundary (with 32 Hofland Road) by around 2 metres with a 
further wall isolated from the existing wall of the nearest property. The noise from a 
typical lift would be well below the level at which it would be detectable via this path. 
The lift motor room would be on the opposite side of the lift to 32 Hofland Road and 
distance alone would be sufficient to prevent unacceptable noise and disturbance from 
this source. Structure borne sound would be controlled by isolation through the double 
wall configuration, isolation under the shaft and enhanced sound insulation at the top of 
the shaft. The use of the lift, as opposed to the outer shutter, would not have any 
significant effect in terms of noise and disturbance. There would be relatively few car 
movements even in the peak period and there is unlikely to routinely be a need for 
waiting in the street with an engine running. In this urban area the car movements that 
would be generated would have no significant impact on the existing noise climate.'   

Page 112



                         
3.51      It is proposed to provide a Hormann ST-500 automatic sliding door, external to 
the car lift. The applicants advise that the product is manufactured by an internationally 
renowned company, which specialises in garage door installations for domestic and 
commercial properties, including basement car parks. They advise that it fulfils 
European standards and that it would have a ten year warranty. It would be a single 
panel timber clad door, which would slide to the side of the opening. It would feature 
stable twin rollers at the top and bottom in a rounded floor rail. It would be motor driven 
and operated using a fob device as the driver approaches the door.  
 
3.52     Officers have assessed the information submitted for the car lift and external 
door, including the acoustics report. The noise levels given for the operation of the ST-
500 sliding door to the proposed car lift are sufficiently low and unlikely to give rise to 
complaints by neighbouring residents. The car lift would operate in a double enclosure, 
with the motor being located distant from dwellings at the bottom of the lift, as such also 
unlikely to give rise to unacceptable noise to residents. In the event that all other 
matters were found to be acceptable, conditions would be required to ensure that the 
car lift and external door would operate in a neighbourly manner; for example anti-
vibration measures would need to be installed to the motor prior to first use and retained 
in good working order, so as to prevent transmission of vibration to neighbours. 
 
3.53     Officers carried out a site visit to a property in LB Westminster - Bolsover Street, 
which is close to Great Portland Street underground station. Officers witnessed (around 
midday) the use of an external door to a basement car park, which had residential 
neighbours both above and adjoining. This was a ET-500 door, which is made by the 
same manufacturer as the one proposed within this application. It is however, an up-
and-over type door, and not one which would slide to the side; and is made of metal 
with a mesh design, not having a timber front as the one proposed herein. Officers are 
advised that the lift would use the same motor unit observed, however. The use of this 
door, from officers¿ observations, did not appear to be noisy to the extent that 
residential neighbours would be adversely affected by its use. 
 
Refuse strategy 
 3.54     With the appeal scheme, the Planning Inspector said that an acceptable refuse 
strategy had not been demonstrated and, in his conclusion, he stated that `the lack of 
acceptable measures for refuse collection....(is one of the).... determining issues in 
these appeals'.  
 
3.55      The applicants have submitted a revised strategy in this proposal. The 
estimated waste arising from the scheme has been calculated by the applicant using the 
council's SPD, which says that for every 5 dwellings there should be a 1100 litre 
Eurobin for refuse and a 1280 litre Eurobin for recycling. This is agreed by officers. For 
52 flats, 10.4 or 10/11 bins would thereby be required for refuse, and the same for 
recycling. The scheme proposes three areas for storage of waste in the sub- basement 
level; one would hold 4 bins, one would hold 8 bins and one would hold 9 bins.  
 
3.56     The refuse and waste would be collected separately, by different lorries, on a 
weekly basis. The bins would be brought to ground level via the goods lift by the 
facilities management company. This would occur on collection day or during the 
afternoon of the day before if the collection is to be early in the morning. There would 
now be two holding areas at ground floor level (there was one in the appeal scheme). 
The holding areas could accommodate ten 1100 litre bins, and the same number of 

Page 113



recycling bins (they are the same dimensions in footprint, only taller). A bin could also 
be held in the goods lift. It is stated by the applicant that the facilities management 
company would be in attendance at all times during the refuse/recycling collection. The 
responsible person would then return the empty bins to the storage areas within the 
sub-basement, via the goods lift. With this strategy it is anticipated that the collections 
vehicle would be able to pick up the refuse or recycling without being held on the street 
outside the site for a lengthy period; such that noise to neighbours would be minimised. 
Noise arising from bringing the bins up and down for collection would be contained 
within the building, and it is not anticipated that this would result in significant noise 
nuisance or disturbance to neighbours. 
 
3.57     The refuse truck would stop in front of the car lift at collection times, so residents 
would not be able to use the car lift at those times. As this would not be for prolonged 
periods (c.10 minutes for each collection), officers do not consider that this would 
adversely affect the free flow of traffic to such an extent that this could be a reason for 
refusal. The applicants have advised that this arrangement would be written into any 
future residents' leases. 
 
3.58 Bicycle storage at sub-basement level would also be accessed either by use of the 
lifts, or via the stairs. It is not anticipated that this would result in significant noise 
nuisance or disturbance to neighbours. 
 
Privacy and Outlook      
3.59 Standards S13.1 and S13.2 of the UDP require that there is no significant loss of 
outlook or privacy to occupiers of surrounding residential properties and that on-site 
judgement can be used to determine the likely impact. S13.1 states that a general 
standard can be adopted for assessing outlook, by taking a line at 45 degrees from a 
point 2 metres high on the boundary with adjoining gardens.  S13.2 states that new 
windows should be no less than 18 metres as measured in an arc of 60 degrees from 
any residential windows.   
    
3.60 Unlike the previously refused student housing scheme, none of the new windows 
within the development, facing towards Milson Road and Hofland Road would breach 
this privacy standard. The proposed development would adjoin the rear gardens of 
several residential properties including 32 Hofland Road, 1-12 Rayburne Court and 43 
Sinclair Road and would in some cases intercept a 2m and 45 degree line from the 
boundaries of these properties. However, it is noted that the existing buildings on site 
fail to meet this standard and it is recognised that the proposed changes to the site, will 
open up the development to the rear, improving the outlook. The proposed building 
would be separated from the rear garden of 32 Hofland Road by the boundary wall at a 
height of some 2.3 metres. This would replace the existing boundary fencing. The 
proposed Garden block would adjoin the boundary with 43 Sinclair Road and 1-12 
Rayburne Court, and at this point would comprise two storeys (with a basement level) 
which would maintain a similar envelope as the existing building in this location.  No 
significant loss of outlook to these properties in respect of the standard is therefore 
anticipated.  
   
3.61 To 43 Sinclair Road the proposed development (main Sinclair Road building) 
would create a new enclosed entrance lobby at ground floor level, and then the building 
would have residential accommodation on the upper floors. The Sinclair Road building 
where it adjoins no.43 would keep the same building line on the upper floors, with a 
3.5m setback before the building extends some 4.5 metres to the rear. To the rear, the 

Page 114



development would be set back between 2 metres to 6 metres from the common 
boundary and in accordance with the standard. 
   
3.62 The proposed elevation to Hofland Road would be separated from the residential 
property at 55 Sinclair Road by approximately 14m (ground to second floor levels). 
There are new windows proposed to this elevation, which would be within 18m, 
however, the new windows would not be any closer than the existing separation 
between existing windows. It is accepted that existing windows would have served a 
commercial property (albeit vacant), and the new windows would serve residential 
properties. However, the windows would be set behind parapet walls, and it is 
considered that the likelihood of overlooking from the windows would be limited, such 
that it would not be unacceptable.  
         
3.63 The rear elevation, adjacent to residential properties at 32 and 33 Hofland Road 
and Rayburne Court would incorporate a significant number of new windows.  In this 
case, the new windows are not proposed to breach this privacy standard, with window 
to window separation of over 18 metres. It is recognised that the new windows would 
afford some potential for the overlooking of rear gardens, albeit that these gardens are 
already overlooked by existing neighbouring properties.  
     
Daylight and Sunlight 
3.64 New development should allow for the protection of adequate light to reach 
adjacent buildings.  In considering this, the council has regard to the guidance set out in 
`Building Research Establishments' (BRE) Report 1991  'Site Layout planning for 
Daylight and Sunlight - A guide to good practice.'  The BRE methodologies set out a 
range of non-statutory guidelines which need to be used in conjunction with on site 
judgement, in assessing the potential for any development to result in demonstrable 
harm.  
     
3.65     The BRE provides for a number of ways to assess potential reduction of light. 
The most common methods are calculation of a Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and 
Average Daylight Factor (ADF). In addition orientation to the sun is taken into account in 
regard to direct sunlight. Each of these methods were used by the applicant in their 
daylight/sunlight assessment and tested by officers. 
     
3.66       Vertical Sky Component (VSC) is the measure of light to a potentially affected 
window by calculating the angle of vertical sky at the centre of each of the windows 
serving a residential building which look towards the site. Obstructions, existing or 
proposed, in front of the window are factored into the calculation and result in a 
reduction in available daylight. The guidelines state that if as a result of any proposal 
there is reduction of less than 20% in the amount of light previously available to any 
window then day lighting is unlikely to be seriously affected. Average Daylight Factor 
(ADF) is a more detailed analysis and therefore more accurate method which calculates 
the amount of sky visibility on the vertical face of the window and also considers the 
window size and room use. In relation to direct sunlight, the criteria in the BRE requires 
calculation of the annual probable sunlight hours, which considers the amount of sun 
available in both the summer and winter months for each window which faces within 90 
degrees due south.  The BRE states that windows which may be adversely affected are 
those that lose greater than 20% of their currently available direct sunlight.  
   
3.67 The applicant has submitted a sunlight & daylight assessment in accordance with 
the BRE guidelines, and concludes that the neighbouring properties would not 

Page 115



experience a reduction of sunlight or daylight, and will in some cases see an 
improvement.  
  
3.68     In conclusion, the daylight and sunlight tests submitted by the applicant and 
assessed by officers show that the habitable rooms to neighbouring properties would 
not experience a reduction of sunlight or daylight beyond those recommended in 
guidance by the BRE. It is therefore considered that the proposal would not result in any 
harmful or significant loss of light and would accord with the relevant guidance. 
     
TRAFFIC GENERATION, CAR PARKING, CYCLE PARKING AND SERVICING 
 
Traffic generation 
3.69 Policy TN13 of the UDP requires that all development proposals will be assessed 
against their contribution to traffic generation and other impact on congestion, 
particularly on bus routes and on the primary road network, and against the present and 
potential availability of public transport, and its capacity to meet increased demand. 
Policy TN15 of the UDP requires any proposed development to conform to car parking 
standards S18 and S19 and Table 12.1 of the UDP.  
       
3.70  The site has a PTAL level of 5 with very good public transport accessibility. The 
site is within a controlled parking zone which operates between 9am to 6pm Monday to 
Friday. There are bus routes in the vicinity, and the Kensington Olympia underground is 
within walking distance. The site is within 13 minutes walk to Shepherds Bush Station 
(and town centre) and 17 minutes walk from Hammersmith Broadway.  There are two 
existing crossovers serving the site, one located on Hofland Road, and a smaller one on 
the Sinclair Road elevation.  A transport assessment has been submitted which 
provides details on expected trip generation. The submission has been analysed and 
officers are satisfied that the report is robust.   
  
The peak hour trips and the daily trips are set out in the table below:  
  
Hour Starting   Consented Office   Proposed Residential  
   Car  M/C B/C Taxi  Car  M/C B/C Taxi 
08:00  5 2 0 0  6 1 0 0 
17:00  9 1 0 2  2 0 0 0 
Daily   73 8 5 8  39 4 7 2 
 
TRAVL and census data has also been used to forecast the likely trips across other 
modes the peak hour and daily forecasts are set out in the table below: 
 
Hour Starting   Consented Office   Proposed Residential 
   Bus  Tube Rail Walk  Bus  Tube Rail Walk 
08:00  11 41 7 15  2 9 1 3 
17:00  17 63 10 23  3 10 2 4 
Daily   125 462 74 165  25 94 15 34 
   
3.71 These movement are significantly less than could be generated from a commercial 
use of the site. Officers have assessed the transport study and are of the opinion that 
this is a robust assessment, and that the car parking provision is acceptable. It is 
considered that the lift would provide satisfactory access to the parking spaces in the 
context of highways movements. The submitted transport assessment is judged to be 
acceptable and this element of the development is judged to comply with Policy TN13. 

Page 116



   
Car parking   
3.72 The developers propose to excavate and sub-basement and provide 41 off street 
car parking spaces, accessed via a car lift on Hofland Road. The UDP would normally 
require a provision of some 62 spaces for a development of this size; however, a lesser 
provision can be acceptable in some circumstances. The London Plan would require a 
lower provision of parking. The proposal is not considered to be unacceptable in this 
context; provided that none of the future occupiers would be eligible to have a parking 
permit to park on street. The developers have confirmed that whilst the car parking 
provision would not allow all, occupiers of the development to have a parking space, 
they could agree to a legal agreement with regard to restricting the occupiers from 
obtaining on-street car parking permits.  
    
Cycle parking  
3.73     Policy TN6, Standard S20 and Table 12.2 of the UDP set out the cycle parking 
requirements for developments, and for a scheme of this size 54 spaces would be 
required. The development would provide 72 spaces at sub-basement level, accessed 
via the stairs or using the lifts on the premises. As such, the proposed cycle parking 
arrangements are considered satisfactory and comply with Policies TN6, Standard S20 
and Table 12.2 of the UDP. 
  
Refuse and servicing 
3.74 Policy EN17 of the UDP relates to refuse and recycling, storage and collection. 
The policy requires suitable on site facilities to be provided in each development for 
servicing and storage of refuse. The submitted drawings indicate enclosed refuse areas 
at sub-basement level. The refuse would be brought up tog round level using the goods 
lift, and would be held in two holding areas within the site (adjacent to the car lift). It 
would then be brought out to the refuse or recycling truck for collection. The refuse 
storage provision is judged to be acceptable, in the context of policy EN17 and the SPD. 
The applicants advise that the moving of refuse would be controlled and managed by a 
management company for the site. If all other matters were found to be acceptable, 
such details could be secured through a condition or in a legal agreement. There are no 
servicing requirements, as there is no commercial land use proposed within this 
scheme. Deliveries of goods to any future occupiers would operate in the same way as 
every other flatted property; small items would arrive by post (Royal Mail) or courier and 
bulky items (e.g. furniture) would be delivered by larger vehicles and would necessarily 
have to park on street for a limited time. 
   
ACCESS 
 
3.75 Policy HO6 of the UDP states that 'Development for 20 or more dwellings will only 
be permitted if: (a) 10% of the units are designed to be suitable for occupation by 
wheelchair users; and (b) A mixture of units of different sizes is provided to meet the 
needs of family and non-family households'.  Policy 3.8 of The London Plan also 
requires 10% of units to be accessible to wheelchair users and requires new 
developments to provide a range of housing choices in terms of the mix of housing 
sizes and types. Core Strategy (2011) Policy H4 (Meeting Housing Needs) states that 
all new build dwellings should be built to 'Lifetime Homes' standards with 10% to be 
wheelchair accessible, or easily adaptable for residents that are wheelchair users. 
  
3.76 In accordance with these policies, 10% of the units have been shown to be fully 
adaptable to wheelchair users, to accord with Policy HO6 of the UDP, Policy H4 of the 

Page 117



Core Strategy and Policy 3.8 of The London Plan. The wheelchair adaptable units 
would have level access and there would be lift access to all flats in the main building 
(with the exception of the two unit garden block). If all other matters were found to be 
acceptable, and subject to a condition requiring final details to be submitted for 
approval, all units would be expected to meet Lifetime Home standards. Disabled 
parking bays are annotated (6 would be provided), all in close proximity to the lifts. The 
mechanism for the marketing of wheelchair units, to ensure that they would be offered 
to those in need of this accommodation, could also be secured as part of the legal 
agreement, if any permission were to be forthcoming. 
   
3.77 The scheme would provide a mixture of studio, one, two and three bedroom units 
and is considered to provide a satisfactory choice of dwelling size, in accordance with 
UDP policy H06 and Core Strategy Policy H4 
  
CRIME PREVENTION 
       
3.78 Policy EN10 of the UDP requires developments to provide a safe and secure 
environment. The submission does not contain any specific details regarding measures 
to achieve secured by design standards for the scheme. However, officers consider that 
this is not a reason to refuse consent and that satisfactory information could be 
submitted to comply with a condition, if all other matters were considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
ENERGY, SUSTAINABILITY, FLOOD RISK 
 
Energy 
3.79 As required for a major application, an Energy Assessment has been submitted 
showing the development's expected energy use and associated CO2 emissions, taking 
account of energy efficient design measures and low/zero carbon technologies. The 
baseline energy use of the development, is designed only to meet the minimum 
requirements of the Building Regulations, is calculated to produce just less than 67 
tonnes of CO2 a year. Passive design and energy efficiency measures such as use of 
improved insulation, better airtightness, low energy lighting and local heating/cooling 
controls are calculated to reduce energy use sufficiently to cut CO2 emissions by about 
3.5%. Unregulated energy use will be reduced by using efficient A-rated appliances, 
providing a home user guide and integrating energy meter displays. 
 
3.80      The integration of Combined Heat and Power (CHP) has been assessed as 
required by London Plan Policy 5.6. There are no communal heating/CHP systems 
currently in use in the vicinity of the site that could be connected to, but an assessment 
has found that the installation of such a system on-site is feasible and would reduce 
CO2 emissions by about 20%. The use of renewables has also been assessed. As a 
CHP system is to be installed, this reduces the viability of a number of renewable 
energy technologies. However, solar PV panels are considered to be complementary to 
the use of CHP and there is space on the roof for their installation. Despite identifying 
that PV panels are technically and economically viable for the development, the 
developer's preferred approach appears to be to not proceed with any PV panels at this 
stage. Given that the energy efficiency measures and the use of CHP are calculated to 
reduce annual CO2 emissions from regulated energy use by 23%, further consideration 
could have been given to including PV panels to help boost this figure to the 25% CO2 
reduction target. Alternatively, if all other matters were found to be acceptable then 
policy allows that a payment in lieu could be made to the council to compensate for this 

Page 118



small shortfall in CO2 emissions reduction. The required payment would be in the 
region of £1,800.  
 
3.81    Officers consider that these details could be conditioned for future approval if all 
other matters were found to be acceptable and planning permission were to be granted. 
Any condition should seek the implementation of energy efficiency and the use of CHP 
system. 
  
Sustainability 
3.82 A Sustainability Statement has also been submitted to show how sustainable 
design and construction principles on other issues such as water, waste, materials, 
ecology etc will also be implemented for the new development. For example, water 
efficiency measures will be implemented by using low water use appliances; building 
materials will lower environmental impacts will be used where possible, including using 
recycled materials, sustainable timber etc; a site waste management plan will be 
implemented during construction to minimise waste and provision will also be made for 
both internal and external storage of recyclable waste for the proposed dwellings to help 
encourage minimisation of waste; soft landscaping and green roofs will also be included 
which will help to boost biodiversity. 
 
3.83    The proposed measures comply with the requirements of London Plan policy 5.3 
on sustainable design and construction. Should all other matters be judged to be 
acceptable, and planning permission is forthcoming, officers would also recommend 
that a condition be attached to ensure the implementation of the sustainable design and 
construction measures as outlined in the Sustainability Strategy in order to show 
compliance with London Plan Policy 5.3 Sustainable Design and Construction. The 
London Plan now includes a policy (6.13) that requires electric vehicle recharging points 
to be installed for 1 in 5 parking spaces in new developments. No provision has been 
made within the transport assessment or the sustainability statement, so this would 
need to form the basis of as condition as well, if all other matters were found to be 
acceptable. 
  
Air quality/Noise  
3.84     The site is situated in a residential area. It was not considered that an air quality 
assessment was required for this site as it is located in an area where pollution levels 
are low compared to the national targets and exposure to high pollution levels is not a 
risk. With regard to the development's impact on local air quality, it is judged that given 
the low level predicted of vehicle trips associated with the new residential use, it would 
not result in harm to the local air quality. Likewise, it is not considered that noise from 
local roads would impact upon the quality of the accommodation proposed. Potential 
noise nuisance from the development has been discussed above. 
  
Flooding 
3.85    The property is located within Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3. A flood risk assessment 
(FRA) has been submitted with the development. This has been submitted to the 
Environment Agency, and they raised no objection to the development proposal. The 
FRA includes consideration of reducing surface water run off for example. Insufficient 
information has been provided to demonstrate compliance with policy 5.13 of The 
London Plan and Core Strategy policy CC2. Accordingly, if all other matters were 
considered to be acceptable, conditions would be recommended requiring the 
submission of further details of a sustainable drainage strategy.  
 

Page 119



Contaminated land         
3.86      In view of the previous commercial use of the site, officers advise that 
potentially contaminative land uses, past or present, are understood to occur at, or near 
to, this site. In order to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, 
controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development works 
conditions would be attached to any permission requiring the assessment of 
contaminated land to be carried out.  Policy 5.21 of The London Plan and Policy CC4 of 
the Core Strategy states that the Council will support the remediation of contaminated 
land and that it will take measures to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites 
and ensure that mitigation measures are put in place. This is supported by UDP Policies 
EN20A and EN21. 
 
MAYORAL CIL 
 
3.87 The proposed development is subject to the Mayoral CIL, which took affect on 1st 
April 2012. This is also a material consideration to which regard has to be had when 
determining the applications. The applicants calculate that the CIL payable is £33,650. 
 
PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 
3.88     In accordance with Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (As 
Amended) the applicant has offered a S106 contribution (£270,000) for unspecified use. 
There would be an increased demand arising from the development on local 
social/physical infrastructure, which would need to be offset. The viability report 
discussed earlier fails to demonstrate that the amount of the proposed commuted sum 
is the maximum feasible that could be achieved from the scheme. Therefore it is 
considered that the scheme would not provide adequate contributions to offset the 
increased demand on local social and physical infrastructure.  
 
4.0 CONCLUSION and RECOMMENDATION  
 
4.1     It is not considered that the proposed redevelopment is unacceptable in terms of 
loss of employment space, the principle of residential use, the building¿s design, bulk 
and massing; nor on grounds of traffic generation and vehicle movements; and the 
general approach on environmental matters.  
 
4.2     However, the  density of the proposed development is considered to be excessive 
and symptomatic of this is the likely harmful impact of the development on neighbouring 
properties as a result of noise nuisance and disturbance from this overdense 
development. This is exacerbated by the significant number of large window openings in 
close proximity to neighbouring properties, and the likely increased use of the 
communal garden space given the loss of the terraces/balconies. Furthermore, officers 
consider that there are shortfalls in that an insufficient amount of amenity space would 
be provided for future occupiers and no playspace would be provided for children  
 
4.3     No affordable housing is proposed on site, and the scheme would not meet the 
affordable housing target expressed within the Council's Core Strategy. A commuted 
sum towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere within the borough has been 
proposed, but it is considered that insufficient justification has been provided to fully 
demonstrate that the amount of the proposed commuted sum is the maximum feasible 
for the provision of affordable housing that could be achieved from the scheme. 

Page 120



Therefore this would result in a lower level of affordable housing than the development 
could actually support.   
 
4.4     Given the concerns raised, it is considered that the proposed demolition of the 
building would be premature in the absence of a satisfactory replacement building, and 
that the proposed demolition would result in a void in the streetscene that would harm 
the character and appearance of the conservation area.  
      
4.5 In light of the above, officers consider that planning permission and conservation 
area consent should be refused. 
     
     
 

Page 121



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Addison 
 
Site Address: 
Nomis Studios  45 - 53 Sinclair Road  London  W14 0NS   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00825/CAC 
 
Date Valid: 
04.03.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Neil Egerton 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Lakeside/Sinclair/Blythe Road Conservation Area 
- Number 36 

 

Page 122



 
Applicant: 
Regal (Sinclair Road) LLP C/o Mr Paul Eden 
4-5 Coleridge Gardens London NW6 3QH  
 
Description: 
Demolition of the existing buildings at 45 - 51 Sinclair Road 
Drg Nos: 10044A_PL_01, 009, 010, 011, 012, 013, 02, 20, 21 
 
 
Application Type: 
Conservation Area Consent 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be refused for the following reason(s): 
 
 
 
 
 1) The proposed demolition works are considered unacceptable in the absence of a 

satisfactory redevelopment scheme for the site. In the circumstances it is 
considered that it would be premature to grant conservation area consent and that 
the proposed demolition would result in the creation of a void in the streetscene 
that harm the character and appearance of the conservation area which the 
Council considers it desirable to preserve or enhance in compliance with Section 
72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. In this 
respect the proposal is contrary to the aims of Policies EN2 and EN8 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 1st March 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
 
 

Page 123



Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
    
English Heritage London Region 
 

Dated: 
    
21.03.13 
 

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
Flat 3 55 Sinclair Road London W14 0NR  16.04.13 
31 Craven Cottages Hofland Road London W14 0LN 
  19.04.13 
Flat 4 20 Bolingbroke Road London W14 0AL 
  15.04.13 
Nag     18.04.13 
100 Masbro' Road London W14 0LP   19.04.13 
96 Masbro' Road London W14 0LR   12.04.13 
35 Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   03.04.13 
33 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   03.04.13 
flat 5 Hofland House hofland Road london w1 0LN  27.03.13 
Flat 5 68 Sinclair Rd London W14 0NJ  07.04.13 
97A Sinclair Road London W14 0NP   05.04.13 
38 Redan Street London W14 0AB   03.04.13 
Flat E 78 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   03.04.13 
20 Spring Vale Terrace London W14 0AE   03.04.13 
70 Sinclair Road London W14 0NJ   08.04.13 
10A Bolingbroke Road London W14 0AL   08.04.13 
Flat 4 32 - 34 Gratton Road London W14 0JX 
  08.04.13 
24 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   04.04.13 
33A Sinclair Road London W14 0NS   27.03.13 
 
 
For Report see 2013/00824/FUL 
 

Page 124



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Hammersmith Broadway 
 
Site Address: 
The Old Fire Station  244 Shepherd's Bush Road  London  W6 
7NN   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2012/04171/LBC 
 
Date Valid: 
21.12.2012 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Dale Jones 
 
Conservation Area: 
Hammersmith Broadway Conservation Area - 
Number 22 

 

Page 125



 
Applicant: 
Wagamama Ltd C/o Mr Richard Chin 
Waverley House 7-12 Noel Street London W1F 8GQ 
 
 
Description: 
External alterations comprising of new glazed doors to the rear and replacement of 
existing condenser units; internal alterations involving removal/restoration of the original 
floor tiles, new dining table fittings, removal of (non structural) internal partitions, 
installation of support shelves, rationalisation of ducting and wiring with new grilles, 
installation of new lighting, installation of plasterboard acoustic systems, reconfiguration 
of toilet and kitchen areas, removal of modern addition internal refuse storage area;  
display of adverts to the east (front) elevation comprising two internally illuminated 
vertical fascia signs, two externally illuminated projecting signs and six moveable 
windbreaks. 
 
Drg Nos: 18_08_03C; 18_08_04D; 18_08_05A; 18_08_06B; 18_08_07C; 18_08_08C; 
18_08_09A; 18_08_10C; 18_08_11B; 18_08_12B; 18_08_14B;18_08_15B; 
18_08_16B; 18_08_17B; 18_08_18B; 18_08_19C; 18_08_20A; 18_08_21A; 
18_08_22A; 18_08_23A; 18_08_24A; 18_08_26A;18_08_27; 18_08_28A; 18_08_29A; 
18_08_30; 18_08_31 and 18_08_32. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Listed Building Consent 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be approved subject to the condition(s) set out below: 
 
 
 1) The works hereby granted consent shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date upon which this consent is granted. 
   
 Condition required to be imposed by Section 18(1) (a) of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended by section 91 of the 
Planning and Compensation Act 2004). 

 
 
 2) The works hereby approved are only those specifically stated in the written 

description and indicated on the approved drawing numbers outlined above. 
   
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building, in 

accordance with policy EN3 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 
and 2011, and Core Strategy (2011) policy BE1. 

 
 
 3) All works of making good shall match the existing fabric in every respect. 
  

Page 126



 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building, in 
accordance with policy EN3 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended in 2007 
and 2011, and Core Strategy (2011) policy BE1. 

 
 
 4) Before the relevant part of the work is begun, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the council of the proposed fixtures of the signage (relating 
to the Shepherd's Bush Road frontage). The signage shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory standard of external appearance and to prevent harm to 

the special historic and architectural interest of the listed building, in accordance 
with policy EN3 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 1) The proposal would preserve the architectural and historic character and 

appearance of the listed building. In this respect the proposal complies with policy 
EN3 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 20th December 2012 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
      
Council For British Archaeology 
       

Dated: 
      
05.03.13 
       

 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
 
Please refer to joint officer report under ref. 2012/04289/FUL. 
 

Page 127



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Hammersmith Broadway 
 
Site Address: 
The Old Fire Station  244 Shepherd's Bush Road  London  W6 
7NN   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2012/04289/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
21.12.2012 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Dale Jones 
 
Conservation Area: 
Hammersmith Broadway Conservation Area - 
Number 22 

 

Page 128



 
Applicant: 
Wagamama Ltd C/o Mr Richard Chin 
Waverley House 7-12 Noel Street London W1F 8GQ 
 
 
Description: 
External alterations comprising of new glazed doors to the rear; replacement of existing 
condenser units. 
Drg Nos: 18_08_03C; 18_08_04D; 18_08_05A; 18_08_06B; 18_08_07C; 18_08_08C; 
18_08_09A; 18_08_10C: 18_08_11B and 18_08_12B. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be approved subject to the condition(s) set out below: 
 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
  
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 
 2) The development shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the 

detailed drawings: 18_08_03C; 18_08_04D;  18_08_05A;  18_08_06B;   
18_08_07C; 18_08_08C; 18_08_09A; 18_08_10C; 18_08_11B; 18_08_12B and 
08_08_14B. 

  
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved 

and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with policies EN2, EN3, EN8B and EN21 of the Unitary Development 
Plan, as amended in 2007 and 2011, and policy BE1 of the Core Strategy (2011).  

 
 
 3) There shall be no customers in the external courtyard area to the rear of the 

premises (as indicated on drawing no: 18_08_03c) between 22.00hrs and 
09.00hrs the following day (Monday to Sundays, including Bank Holidays). 

   
 In order that the use of the area does not give rise to conditions detrimental to the 

amenities of local residents or the area generally by reasons of noise or 
disturbance, in accordance with policy EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as 
amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 4) Prior to commencement of the development, details of external artificial lighting 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Lighting contours 

Page 129



shall be submitted to demonstrate that the vertical illumination of neighbouring 
premises is in accordance with the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting 
Professionals in the 'Guidance Notes For The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2011'. 
Details should also be submitted for approval of measures to minimise use of 
lighting and prevent glare and sky glow by correctly using, locating, aiming and 
shielding luminaires. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of 
the development and thereafter be permanently retained.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by lighting, in accordance with policies EN20C and EN21 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 5) Prior to commencement of the development, details of anti-vibration measures 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  The measures shall 
ensure that machinery, plant/ equipment are mounted with proprietary anti-
vibration isolators and fan motors are vibration isolated from the casing and 
adequately silenced.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of 
the development and thereafter be permanently retained.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by vibration, in accordance with policies EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 6) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of the external noise level emitted from plant/ 
machinery/ equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate. The measures 
shall ensure that the external noise level emitted from plant, machinery/ equipment 
will be lower than the lowest existing background noise level by at least 10dBA, as 
assessed according to BS4142:1997 at the nearest and/or most affected noise 
sensitive premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A 
post installation noise assessment shall be carried out where required to confirm 
compliance with the noise criteria and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be 
taken, as necessary.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of 
the development and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/ equipment, in accordance 
with policies EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 7) No live music or amplified sound shall be performed/allowed on the premises. 
   
 In order that the development does not give rise to conditions detrimental to the 

amenities of local residents and the area generally by reason of noise disturbance, 
in accordance with policy EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 
2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 8) No tannoys or public address systems shall be used on the premises.    

Page 130



  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with policies EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 9) The entrance door(s) to the premises shall have a level threshold with the 

pavement fronting the entrance and with the rear courtyard.  
  
 To ensure adequate access for people with disabilities or mobility difficulties, in 

accordance with Policy 7.2 of The London Plan 2011. 
 
 
10) Prior to first occupation of the development, a Servicing Management Plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council detailing management of 
deliveries to the site, collection of waste and recyclables, times of deliveries and 
collections and vehicle movement.  The approved measures shall be implemented 
and continued thereafter for the lifetime of the development.   

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with policies EN20A, 
EN20B, EN21, TN5, TN13 and standard S21 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
11) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 

provision of the refuse and recycling storage enclosures, as indicated on the 
approved drawing: 18_08_04.  All refuse and recycling generated by the 
development hereby permitted shall be stored within these enclosures and shall 
be permanently retained for these purposes. 

     
 To ensure that the use does not give rise to smell nuisance and to prevent harm to 

the street scene arising from the appearance of accumulated rubbish, in 
accordance with policy EN17 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 
and 2011. 

 
 
12) No removal of refuse nor bottles/cans to external bins or areas of the premises 

shall be carried out other than between the hours of 08.00 and 22.00.  
  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with Policies EN20A,  EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
13) No customers should be on the premises during the hours of 23:30hrs and 

09:00hrs (Monday to Sunday and Public/Bank Holidays). 
   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise from activities or people at or leaving the site, in accordance with 
policies EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 
2007 and 2011. 

Page 131



 
 
14) No organised delivery of hot food shall take place from the premises using motor 

vehicles (which includes motor cycles, mopeds and motor scooters). 
  
 No provision has been made for the parking of vehicles off-street in connection 

with a delivery service. In the circumstances, any such vehicles would be likely to 
park on the public highway which would prejudice the free flow of traffic and public 
safety, in accordance with policy SH11 and TN13 of the Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
 
15) The development shall not commence until a statement of how 'Secured by 

Design' requirements are to be adequately achieved has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. The approved details shall be carried out prior 
to occupation or use of the development hereby approved and permanently 
maintained thereafter.  

       
 To ensure a safe and secure environment for users of the development, in 

accordance with Policy EN10 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 
and 2011. 

 
 
16) No machinery or equipment shall be operated or used outside the hours during 

which customers are permitted to be on the premises. 
  
 In order that the development does not give rise to conditions detrimental to the 

amenities of local residents and the area generally by reason of noise disturbance, 
in accordance with policy EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as amended 
2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 1.  Heritage & Design:  It is considered that the proposal would be of an 

acceptable visual appearance and overall would not harm the architectural or 
historic significance of the listed building. The proposal would secure the long term 
viability of the listed building and also preserve and enhance the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. Furthermore, the proposed development 
would be a high quality development which would make a positive contribution to 
the urban environment in this part of the borough.  The development would 
therefore be acceptable in accordance with the NPPF (2012), London Plan policy 
7.8 , Core Strategy Policy BE1, UDP policies EN2, EN3, EN4 and EN8B and 
Policy DM G1 of the submission DM DPD, which seek a high quality in design and 
architecture, requiring new developments to have regard to the pattern and grain 
of existing development. 

   
 2.  Residential Amenity: The impact of the proposed development upon adjoining 

occupiers is considered acceptable. It is not considered that the proposal would 

Page 132



harmfully affect the outlook and light to neighbouring properties. Residents' privacy 
would not be materially affected. Measures would also be secured by condition to 
minimise noise and disturbance to nearby occupiers from the operation of the 
property. In this regard, the development would respect the principles of good 
neighbourliness, and thereby satisfy policies EN8 and EN21 and Standard S13 of 
the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

   
 3. Safety and Access: The development would provide a safe and secure 

environment for all users in accordance with London Plan Policy 7.3 and UDP 
Policy EN10. The proposal would provide ease of access for all people, including 
disabled people, in accordance with London Plan Policy 3.8, Core Strategy Policy 
H4 and the Council's Adopted Supplementary Planning Document (SDP) 'Access 
for All'. 

   
 4.  Transport:  It is considered that the proposal would have no adverse impact on 

local parking and the scheme would not result in congestion of the road network. 
Conditions would secure satisfactory provision of refuse storage to accord with the 
submitted plans and the submission of a Service Management Plan. The 
development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with Section 4 of the 
NPPF (2012) and UDP Policies TN13 and EN17 and Standards S18, S19 and 
S20.  

   
 5.  Flood Risk: A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted and has 

considered risks of flooding to the site and adequate preventative measures have 
been identified. The development would therefore be acceptable in accordance 
with National Planning Policy Framework together with supplementary Technical 
Guidance and policies 5.11, 5.13, 5.14 of the London Plan 2011 and Core 
Strategy Policies CC1 and CC2. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 20th December 2012 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
       
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 
     

Dated: 
       
06.02.13 
     

Page 133



 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
Flat 2C The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherds Bush Rd W6 7NN  06.02.13 
2A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  06.02.13 
Shepherds Bush Housing Association 
   Mulliner House Flanders Road Chiswick London W4 1NN  06.02.13 
4C The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  07.02.13 
2B The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  07.02.13 
1A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  06.02.13 
1A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  22.03.13 
1A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherds Bush Road W6 7NN  08.02.13 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
  
1.1 The subject site relates to a five-storey building that was originally used as a fire 
station (the building is known as the 'Old Fire Station') that was last used as a public 
house (Class A4), located on the west side of Shepherd's Bush Road, north of 
Hammersmith Broadway. It is a Grade II listed building within the Hammersmith 
Broadway Conservation Area and within the Hammersmith Town Centre. 
 
1.2 The original building dates from 1913 and was designed by W E Riley (LCC 
Architects). The main façade is of a grand appearance within its setting, constructed of 
red brick with stone dressings. The building is 5 storeys in height with the upper levels 
being used as flats. The pub use ceased around 6 months ago. 
 
1.3 The site has the following relevant planning history: 
 
2002/02824/FUL and 2002/02842/LBC - Planning permission and listed building 
consent approved for the use of the ground floor for A3 purposes and conversion of the 
upper floors to five one-bed flats, five two bed flats and two three bed flats; excavation 
of yard at rear and erection of two storey rear extension; erection of lift and water tank 
enclosure to rear elevation; installation of dormer windows to rear roof slope; alterations 
to front elevation at ground floor level including installation of new doors and door 
openings. 
 
2004/01181/FUL and 2004/01344/LBC - Planning permission and listed building 
consent approved for the excavation of yard at rear and erection of single storey rear 
extension and the use of ground floor and extension for A3 purposes. 
 
2005/00027/FUL and 2005/00050/LBC - Planning permission and listed building 
consent approved for the replacement of windows in the front elevation with new doors. 
 
2005/01655/ADV and 2005/01662/LBC - Advertisement consent and listed building 
consent approved for the display of two non illuminated projecting signs. 
 

Page 134



2008/01383/LBC - Listed building consent approved for the internal refurbishment 
including extension of raised searing area, relocation of bar counter and installation of 
signage screens behind entrance doors. 
 
1.4 The current proposal seeks planning permission and listed building consent for 
external alterations comprising of new glazed doors to the rear; replacement of existing 
condenser units; new hard paving and rendered wall finishes; removal of external gas 
pipes. The internal alterations relate to the re-configuration and upgrade of the buildings 
interior at ground floor level. This is a joint report covering matters arising from the two 
applications. A report relating to a proposal for adverts (under ref. 2013/00369/ADV) at 
the property is reported elsewhere on this agenda.  
 
1.5     The proposal has been revised since receipt. It was originally proposed to part 
demolish the existing single storey rear extension, to remove three modern rooflights 
and to re-finsh the flat roof. These elements would now be kept as are existing.   
 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
  
2.1 The planning application has been advertised by a site notice, press advert and 
notification letters were posted to occupiers of adjacent properties. A total of 6 
representations were received (from nos 1A, 2A, 3B, 2C and 4C and Shepherds Bush 
Housing) in response to the public consultation exercise, with the following objections 
and concerns listed below: 
 
- The development would be visually unacceptable and out of keeping with the 
listed building, including the use of signage 
- Noise and disturbance would result from the outdoor seating area to the detriment 
of residents' amenity 
- Highways implications resulting from the operational use 
- Opening hours may have an impact in amenity terms 
- Structural implications on surrounding residents 
- Proposal would result in a loss of employment, including for local people 
- The area is already saturated by food and drink uses 
 
2.2 The Environment Agency was consulted and has raised no objections.  
 
2.3     LAMAS - Historic Buildings & Conservation Committee, who acts on behalf of the 
Council for British Archaeology in respect of listed buildings and applications within the 
Greater London area have advised that they discussed the case at their meeting. They 
made the following observations: (i) the committee has no objections in principle (ii) it 
was difficult to obtain an idea of how the fitting out would affect the character of the 
space (iii) the timber cladding to some of the interior walls appears at odds with trying to 
make more of the historic character of the property (the character of the Fire Station 
being defined by hard surfaces such as glazed brick) (iv) it was mooted that finishes 
should be conditioned. 
  
2.4 English Heritage was consulted and has raised no objections. 
 
2.5 In response to the above raised matters, it should be noted that planning 
permission was granted for use of the property in Class A3 which at that time included 
both a public house and a restaurant. The premises have an established, lawful use as 
a restaurant/public house and thus the use of the premises as a restaurant does not 

Page 135



require planning permission.  Comments relating to the acceptability of a food and drink 
use, the particular establishment proposed, and impact on local employment cannot be 
taken into account in this planning decision, as consent is not required for the use. The 
relevant planning matters raised will be explored and assessed within the context of 
section 3 of the officers' report. 
   
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
3.1      The main issues in this case are the design of the scheme and impact on the 
visual amenities of the conservation area and the listed building, impact on neighbours 
amenities, highways matters, secure by design, access and food risk. 
 
LAND USE  
 
3.2 The application site relates to a vacant public house building. The proposal would 
involve the use of the property as a restaurant. Planning cannot control the use in this 
instance, though the proposed use as a restaurant  is considered to be complimentary 
to the property's town centre location.  
 
HERITAGE & URBAN DESIGN 
 
3.3   The Council has a statutory duty when assessing applications in conservation 
areas to ensure that the proposal would preserve or enhance the character or 
appearance of the conservation area. Relevant planning policies relating to the 
determination of applications involving heritage assets includes: the following. 
 
3.4 Part 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 requires local planning 
authorities to consider the impact of development upon heritage assets. The NPPF 
states that 'In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of: 
 
- The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
- The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 
- The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness. 
- When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the assets conservation. The 
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed 
or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its 
setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 
convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed building, park or 
garden should be exceptional. Substantial harm to or loss of designated heritage as 
sets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, 
battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, 
and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional. 
- Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be  
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum 
viable use.' 
 

Page 136



3.5 London Plan policy 7.4 states that 'Buildings, streets and open spaces should 
provide a high quality design response that: a) has regard to the pattern and grain of the 
existing spaces and streets in orientation, scale, proportion and mass, b) contributes to 
a positive relationship between the urban structure and natural landscape features, c) is 
human in scale, ensuring buildings create a positive relationship with street level activity 
and people feel comfortable with their surroundings, d) allows existing buildings and 
structures that make a positive contribution to the character of a place to influence the 
future character of the area, and e) is informed by the surrounding historic environment'.   
 
3.6 London Plan Policy 7.8 (Heritage assets and archaeology) states that: 
 
A) London's heritage assets and historic environment, including listed buildings, 
registered historic parks and gardens and other natural and historic landscapes, 
conservation areas, World Heritage Sites, registered battlefields, scheduled 
monuments, archaeological remains and memorials should be identified, so that the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing their significance and of utilising their positive 
role in place shaping can be taken 
into account.  
B) Development should incorporate measures that identify, record, interpret, protect 
and, where appropriate, present the site's archaeology.  
C) Development should identify, value, conserve, restore, re-use and incorporate 
heritage assets, where appropriate. 
D) Development affecting heritage assets and their settings should conserve their 
significance, by being sympathetic to their form, scale, materials and architectural detail. 
E) New development should make provision for the protection of archaeological 
resources, landscapes and significant memorials. The physical assets should, where 
possible, be made available to the public on-site. Where the archaeological asset or 
memorial cannot be preserved or managed on-site, provision must be made for the 
investigation, understanding, recording, dissemination and archiving of that asset. 
 
3.7  Relevant UDP policies in these matters are EN2, EN3 and EN8B. Policy EN3 
states that the Council's position is in presumption of preserving listed buildings, by not 
permitting their demolition. Policies EN2B and EN8B require that a high standard of 
design be achieved in extensions that are compatible with the scale and character of 
existing development and the site's setting and that particular care be taken for 
developments in conservation areas to ensure that a proposal would preserve or 
enhance the character and appearance of such areas and views into or out of them.   
 
External Alterations 
 
3.8 The existing single storey rear extension that provides direct access to the 
external rear courtyard area would be retained in situ as a result of the revised 
proposals, which now retain this element of the building. The existing extension is not 
original, and was constructed around 10 years ago. The proposal would result in new bi-
folding doors that would fit the same form and position of the existing two openings, and 
so, the existing access arrangements for customers to the rear court yard would 
essentially be retained as existing. The new doors would have ultra slim sliding 
aluminium frames,  with a dark grey finish. The courtyard area would include non-fixed 
seating and landscaping elements. 
 
3.9 The existing fire station training tower that rises from within the rearmost corner of 
the external courtyard is to be retained in situ and illuminated using ground mounted 

Page 137



LED up lighters. The proposed external alterations in these cases would be of limited 
scale and confined to lower levels, and would not be visible from any public views, and 
assessed on their individual planning merits with regard to design and heritage 
considerations, the alterations are considered to be acceptable in the context of local 
plan policies EN2, EN3 and EN8B.  
 
3.10 Condenser units would be replaced on a like-for-like basis. Other works involve 
the re-paving of the courtyard area in order to repair previously damaged concrete and 
bring the courtyard up to a better state of repair. The external gas pipe would also be 
removed. The external alterations in these examples would again be of a limited scale 
and would also involve limited intervention to the fabric of the Grade II listed building, 
and so, officers do not raise any objections to the proposals which are considered to be 
in accordance with policies EN2, EN3 and EN8B of the UDP.    
 
Internal Alterations 
 
3.11 A number of internal alterations are proposed in order to convert the ground floor 
level of the fire station building from use as a public house/bar into a restaurant that 
includes: 
 
- Removal/restoration of the original floor tiles; 
- New dining table fittings; 
- Removal of (non structural) internal partitions; 
- Installation of support shelves; 
- Rationalisation of ducting and wiring with new grilles; 
- Installation of new lighting; 
- Installation of plasterboard acoustic systems; 
- Reconfiguration of toilet and kitchen areas; 
- Removal of modern addition internal refuse storage area. 
 
3.12  The internal works are considered minor in scale and would involve little 
intervention to the historic fabric of the listed building. The areas of flooring to be 
removed would primarily be due to the requirement for new tables and chair fixings, and 
so this process would ensure that historic flooring neither would nor be permanently 
damaged in this respect.  
 
3.13 The proposals are therefore considered satisfactory in heritage terms. No 
important original features would be harmed and the character and setting of the 
building would be preserved. It is therefore considered that the proposals are in 
accordance with UDP policy EN3. Furthermore, English Heritage were consulted on the 
proposals and have not raised any objections to the scheme, and state that the Council 
should deal with the applications in accordance with local policy.  
 
IMPACT ON NEIGHBOURS 
 
3.14 Policy EN8B of the UDP requires developments to be neighbourly. Furthermore 
Standard S13 of the UDP seeks to protect the existing amenities of residential 
occupiers. The potential impact of the development on the amenity of surrounding 
residential occupiers has been considered. Due to the fact that the proposals would not 
involve any extensions or alterations to the external fabric of scale, it is not considered 
that there would be any detrimental impact upon the amenities of surrounding residents 
in terms of loss of daylight, sunlight, outlook or privacy. Where assessed against UDP 

Page 138



standard S13, officers do not raise any concern in relation to the proposed works in this 
case. However, the main issue for consideration here relates to noise and disturbance. 
 
3.15 UDP Policy EN21 (Environmental Nuisance) states that 'All developments 
(including new buildings, demolition of existing buildings, conversions and changes of 
use) shall ensure that there is no undue detriment to the general amenities at present 
enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers of their properties, particularly where 
commercial and service activities are close to residential properties. The council will, 
where appropriate, require precautionary and/or remedial action if a nuisance would 
otherwise be likely to occur, to ensure that it will not'. Consideration needs to be given 
to the living conditions of occupiers of the residential flats on the upper four floors of the 
building, in terms of the operational use  - comings and goings, voices and general use 
of the premises, including in the external courtyard. 
 
3.16     In officers' view the comings and goings and noises arising from patrons' voices 
associated with this town centre restaurant would not be materially different that arising 
from a public house use here. The property has the benefit of an outside hard 
landscaped patio area that is located to the rear of the building that measures 49sqm in 
area. The patio area is surrounded by high retaining walls on all sides with a large free-
standing training tower that stands prominently within the rear portion of the yard (the 
tower was historically used as the fire station's training tower). The revised proposal 
would retain the existing extension in its current position, therefore the size of the rear 
courtyard area used by the ocupier would stay the same as existing. The proposal 
would involve improvements to tidy up the broken paving within the rear courtyard area, 
new landscaping and tables and chairs 
 
3.17 The applicant has agreed to restrict the hours of use of the restaurant and the rear 
yard, beyond those which are currently in force. The restaurant would not be open to 
customers beyond 11.30pm and the courtyard area not beyond 10pm. Currently the 
planning conditions restrict opening until 1am at weekends and midnight during the 
week. On this basis, it could be argued that the noise environment for local occupiers 
could be improved. The flats are also set back from the courtyard area. Mitigation 
measures to minimise noise would also be secured by planning conditions (Conditions 
5, 6, 7, 8, 12 and 13). Conditions would restrict noise levels to within set parameters 
and also restrict against any external music, tannoys or disposal of bottles and refuse. 
For these reasons it is not considered that the proposal would give rise to the harmful 
potential for noise and disturbance, in accordance with policy EN21 of the UDP.  
 
3.18 Policy EN20C of the UDP (Light Pollution) states that 'Where planning applications 
include external lighting, this should be designed in order to provide the minimum 
amount of lighting necessary to achieve its purpose and to avoid glare and light spillage 
from the site. In particular, consideration will be given to the effect of the light produced 
on local residents'. Free-standing up lighters are proposed within the rear courtyard 
area. Due to the fact that there are residential properties on the upper floors  it is 
considered that details of the positioning, LUX levels and orientation of these lighting 
elements should be secured by planning condition (Condition 4). 
 
HIGHWAYS MATTERS 
 
3.19 Policy TN15 (Vehicle Parking Standards) and Standard S18.1 (Car Parking 
Standards) are relevant. Under S18.1 car parking for restaurant uses are treated on 
their own merits. Although no parking provision is made here the site is in a town centre 

Page 139



location with an excellent accessibility to public transport (PTAL 6B), in proximity to the 
London Underground Piccadilly, District and Hammersmith and City/Circle lines in 
addition to multiple bus routes. A town centre location is considered appropriate for a 
use of this type and it is anticipated that the majority of customers would arrive on foot. 
Officers therefore consider that the restaurant use would not result in harmful additional 
parking stress or traffic generation in the area, consistent with policy TN15 and standard 
S18.1. Standard S20.1 would normally require the provision of 10 cycle parking spaces. 
However, it is considered that due to the location of the site and land ownership (i.e. the 
physical site constraints), it would not be reasonable to place this condition on the 
application.   
 
3.20 The use of the ground floor of the premises as a restaurant does not require 
planning permission. However, given the location of the site in a busy town centre 
location it is considered that servicing arrangements need particular attention, given the 
site's proximity to bus stops / bus lanes and zebra crossings on Shepherd's Bush Road. 
The applicant has agreed to a planning condition (Condition 10) in order to secure a 
Servicing Management Plan which is considered to satisfactorily address highways 
implications of the development both in terms of pedestrian/vehicle safety and in terms 
of convenience for the through flow of traffic along this busy stretch of Shepherd's Bush 
Road. The proposal would make adequate provision for refuse and recycling storage in 
accordance with UDP policy EN17. In this respect a refuse/recycling storage area would 
be confined within the building envelope at ground level. This provision is considered 
appropriate to meet the needs of the development, and would be secured by planning 
condition (Condition 11).  
 
FLOOD RISK 
 
3.21 The NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should 
be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk; but that where 
development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere is 
necessary. London Plan Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 and policies CC1 and 
CC2 of the Council's Core Strategy require new development to comply with their flood 
risk assessments and management requirements of National Policy, including the 
incorporation of sustainable urban drainage systems. The site lies within Flood Risk 
Zones 2 and 3. However, the proposal would not involve any changes to the existing 
floor levels from that of the former public house use, and as such, it is not considered 
that any flood risk issues would be raised as a result of the proposal.  
 
ACCESS MATTERS 
 
3.22  Policy 7.2 of The London Plan 2011 seeks an inclusive environment in which the 
specific needs of older and disabled people meet BS 8300:2009 and other relevant best 
practice standards. The existing level access into the unit from Shepherd's Bush Road 
and to the rear courtyard area would remain unaltered in this instance, and so, no 
objections are raised in this respect.  
 
SECURITY 
 
3.23     A condition is recommended (no.15) requiring that the development shall not 
commence until a statement of how 'Secured by Design' requirements are to be 
adequately achieved has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The 
approved details shall be carried out prior to occupation or use of the development 

Page 140



hereby approved and permanently maintained thereafter. This would ensure a safe and 
secure environment for users of the development, in accordance with Policy EN10 of 
the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 
 
4.0 CONCLUSION and RECOMMENDATION 
  
4.1 The proposal would result in the reuse of a currently vacant building and ensure 
the sensitive refurbishment of the listed property. The proposed works would 
complement the property's character and appearance. Given the site's accessibility to 
public transport networks within the town centre location, it is not considered that the 
proposal would generate a significant increase in traffic or car parking demand. Given 
the site's position in relation to residential properties and through the use of conditions, 
it is not considered that the development would result in demonstrable harm by way of 
noise and disturbance to local residents. 
  
4.2     For these reasons, it is recommended that planning permission and listed building 
consent be granted, subject to appropriate conditions. 
 

Page 141



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Hammersmith Broadway 
 
Site Address: 
The Old Fire Station  244 Shepherd's Bush Road  London  W6 
7NN   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00369/ADV 
 
Date Valid: 
04.02.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Dale Jones 
 
Conservation Area: 
Hammersmith Broadway Conservation Area - 
Number 22 

 

Page 142



 
Applicant: 
Wagamama Ltd C/o Mr Richard Chin 
7 - 12 Waverley House London  W1F 8QG  
 
Description: 
Display of two internally illuminated vertical fascia signs; display of two externally 
illuminated projecting sign; display of six moveable windbreaks. 
Drg Nos: 18_08_05a and 08_08_27. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Display of Advertisements 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be approved subject to the condition(s) set out below: 
 
 
 1) The period of this consent shall expire 5 years from the date of this notice. 
  
 Condition required to be imposed by the Town and Country Planning (Control of 

Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 
 
 
 2) The illumination shall not be intermittent. 
   
 An intermittent illumination would be unacceptable in the interests of public safety 

as it is likely to distract the attention of drivers of vehicles, in accordance with 
Policy TN8 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011.  

  
 
 
 3) Prior to the display of the illuminated signage hereby approved, details shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, of artificial lighting levels 
(candelas per square metre). Details shall demonstrate that the recommendations 
of the Institution of Lighting Professionals in the 'Guidance Notes for the Reduction 
of Light Pollution 2011' will be met, particularly with regard to the 'Technical Report 
No 5, 1991 - Brightness of Illuminated Advertisements'. Approved details shall be 
implemented prior to use/ or display of signage and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained.  

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by artificial lighting, in accordance with policies EN20C and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



 Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
1) It is considered that the proposal would not be detrimental to visual amenity or 

public safety. The impact of the advertisement in terms of scale, character and 
appearance would be limited as would any harm to the setting and views of the 
conservation area and Listed Building. The proposal is thereby in accordance with 
paragraph 67 of the NPPF, Core Strategy policy BE1, UDP policies TN8, EN2, 
EN3, EN8, EN20C, EN21 and standards S14.1 and 16.5, and policy G8 of the 
emerging Development Management Local Plan. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 1st February 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
   
English Heritage London Region 
   

Dated: 
   
11.03.13 
   

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
Flat 3B The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road    05.03.13 
Flat 3B The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road   05.03.13 
The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherds Bush Rd W4 2NW  27.02.13 
Mulliner House Flanders Road Chiswick W4 1NN  06.03.13 
2A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  28.02.13 
1A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  28.02.13 
1A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  05.03.13 
1A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  05.03.13 
1a The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherds Bush Rd W6 7NN  28.02.13 
4C The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  02.03.13 
3A The Old Fire Station 244 Shepherd's Bush Road W6 7NN  06.03.13 
 
 

Page 144



1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION AND RELEVANT HISTORY 
    
1.1 The subject site relates to a five-storey building that was originally used as a fire 
station (the building is known as the 'Old Fire Station') that was last used as a public 
house (Class A4), located on the west side of Shepherd's Bush Road north of 
Hammersmith Broadway. It is a Grade II listed building within the Hammersmith 
Broadway Conservation Area and within the Hammersmith Town Centre. 
 
1.2 The original building dates from 1913 and was designed by W E Riley (LCC 
Architects). The main façade is of a grand appearance within its setting, constructed of 
red brick with stone dressings. The building is 5 storeys in height with the upper levels 
being used as flats. The pub use ceased around 6 months ago. 
 
1.3 The site has the following relevant planning history: 2005/01655/ADV and 
2005/01662/LBC - Advertisement consent and listed building consent approved for the 
display of two non illuminated projecting signs. 
 
1.4  The current application seek advertisement consent relating to the display of two 
internally illuminated vertical fascia signs; display of two externally illuminated projecting 
sign and the display of six moveable windbreaks. The application has been revised 
since it was received. An originally proposed internally illuminated menu box (measuring 
504mm in width by 674mm in height at A2 paper size) that would have been centrally 
located within the front fenestration of the building on one of the stone frontage columns 
has been omitted, as it would have been placed over the foundation stone. 
 
1.5 It should be noted that applications for planning permission (ref. 2012/04289/FUL) 
and listed building consent (ref. 2012/04171/LBC) have been submitted for various 
external and internal re-configuration and upgrade works to the Old Fire Station Building 
in order to facilitate the requirements of the new restaurant operator. These applications 
are reported elsewhere on this agenda. 
   
2.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES (INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL) 
    
2.1 The application has been advertised by a site notice, press advert and notification 
letters were posted to occupiers of adjacent properties. A total of 8 representation were 
received in response to the public consultation exercise from Nos 1A (x 2); 2A; 3A; 3B; 
4C and also further comments from Shepherds Bush Housing Group and, finally, one 
from an unnumbered flat at 244 Shepherd's Bush Road, with the following comments 
and objections in summary: 
 
- The proposed advertisements would be harmful to the listed building and to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area, for reasons relating to: 
- Inappropriate use of materials 
- Harm on the stone columns 
- Implications on post and deliveries due to confusing signage on the building 
frontage 
- Poor siting and detailing would have visual harm 
- Noise and disturbance from the proposed windbreak area at front of site 
 
2.2     Officers' response: the planning issues regarding visual amenity, including impact 
of the proposal upon the fabric of the listed building and upon the character and 

Page 145



appearance of the conservation area will be explored within the context of the officer 
report. 
    
3.0 PLANNING ISSUES 
 
3.1 The issues in this case are whether the adverts would be detrimental to visual 
amenity (including impact on the conservation area and the listed building) and/or 
detrimental to public safety. The Advert Regulations (2007) restrict assessment of 
adverts to these two matters. Visual amenity and public safety are assessed against the 
policies and standards of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP). Weight should also be afforded to the emerging 
Development Management Local Plan (DM LP). Paragraph 67 of the NPPF is relevant 
in this case. Policies TN8, EN2, EN8, EN14 and EN20c and Standard S14.1 and S15 of 
the UDP are material considerations, as is policy BE1 of the Core Strategy. Weight is 
also afforded to emerging policy G8 of the Development Management Local Plan (DM 
LP).    
 
3.2 Paragraph 67 of the NPPF sets out that poorly placed advertisements can have a 
negative impact on the appearance of the built and natural environment. The document 
states that advertisements, where considered acceptable, should have an appreciable 
impact on their surroundings, taking account of the cumulative impacts of other adverts 
in the surrounding area.   
 
3.3 UDP policy EN14 requires development to be assessed in accordance with the 
Advert Regulations, as well as having regard to standard S15, which relates to adverts 
on premises. UDP standard S14.1 states that the council will normally refuse consent 
for advertisements where the preservation of visual amenity is of prime importance. 
UDP policy E3 states that `The council will protect buildings of special architectural or 
historic interest which are contained in the Department of Culture, Media and Sport's 
statutory list....Permission will not normally be granted for any development which would 
not preserve the setting of any listed building'.  UDP policy EN2 states that development 
will only be permitted if the character or appearance of the conservation area is 
preserved or enhanced.  UDP standard S15 provides guidance on what is appropriate 
signage on buildings - their size, design, height and number. UDP policy EN8 and Core 
Strategy policy BE1 set out that development will not be permitted unless it is of a high 
standard of design and compatible with the scale and character of the existing 
development and its setting.  
 
3.4     Policy DM G8 of the draft Development Management Local Plan states that the 
council will require a high standard of design of advertisements which are in keeping 
with the character of their location and do not impact on public safety, and will resist 
excessive or obtrusive advertising and inappropriate illuminated signs.  
 
3.5     UDP policy TN8 states that `Development affecting the borough's road network 
will be regulated according to the council's hierarchy of roads'.  UDP policy EN20c 
seeks to protect residents from light pollution. 
 
FASCIA SIGNS 
 
3.2 It is proposed to install two vertically aligned fascia signs that would be positioned 
in the two dividing columns of the building frontage of the Old Fire Station building. The 
fascia signs would promote the proposed new restaurant use at ground level reading 

Page 146



'Wagamama' and the two mounted fascias would measure 2.635m (height) by 0.8m 
(width). The fascia panels would be of an aluminium design with a 20mm return, which 
would be fixed off the face of the stone columns by 6 fixings. The total projection off the 
face of the columns would be 85mm. The fascias would be internally illuminated by 
bright white LEDs, including around the edges. The individual letters of the signs would 
be comprised of perspex, set within the frame.  
 
3.3 The signage and method of illumination is considered appropriate in scale and 
proportion, and this part of the proposal would not have a harmful impact on the 
character and appearance of the conservation area or the historic interest of the listed 
building. Furthermore, it is not considered that the fixings would have a harmful effect 
on the fabric of the listed building, where the signage adjoins the stonework of the 
original columns, given that original building features would not be obscured and also 
considering the limited scale and positioning of the signage in this instance. The 
proposals are therefore considered to be acceptable in the interest of visual amenity, in 
accordance with policies EN2, EN8, EN14 of the UDP and with Policy DM G8 of the 
draft Development Management Local Plan, when assessed against the provisions of 
Core Strategy policy BE1 and the principles of the NPPF, in that the setting and 
character of the listed building would be preserved.  
 
PROJECTING SIGNS 
 
3.4 The application also proposes two hanging signs that would project from the 
building façade, measuring 0.9m (width) by 0.9m (height). The two signs would read 
'Wagamama' on each of the signs faces (the signage would be orientated north to 
south) along Shepherd's Bush Road. The signs would comprise of white vinyl panels 
and would be externally illuminated by two small `trough lights' that would provide down 
light onto the faces of the signs. The illumination proposed would be static, in order to 
ensure that visual amenity is not compromised, whilst also ensuring that there would be 
no distraction for motorists using Shepherd's Bush Road.  
 
3.5 No objection is raised on visual grounds to the appearance of the projecting signs 
in this instance, as it is considered that the signage is of an appropriate size, and 
position on the frontage of the listed building. It is also considered that the proportions 
are appropriate to the character and the age of the building. There would be a clearance 
of 2.9m above the pavement, avoiding conflict with pedestrians. It is considered that the 
proposed hanging signs that would project off the building facade are considered to 
accord with policies. Full details of the external lighting fixtures would be conditioned as 
part of the listed building consent application that is pending consideration concurrently 
with this application under ref. 2012/04171/LBC. The proposals are therefore 
considered to be acceptable in the interest of visual amenity, in accordance with policies 
EN2, EN8, EN14 of the UDP and with Policy DM G8 of the draft Development 
Management Local Plan, when assessed against the provisions of Core Strategy policy 
BE1 and the principles of the NPPF, in that the setting and character of the listed 
building would be preserved. 
 
REMOVABLE WINDBREAKS 
 
3.6 The application includes the provision of six removable windbreaks that would be 
positioned adjacent to the building frontage to separate the demise of the site from the 
public footpath that runs adjacent to the application site along Shepherd's Bush Road. 
The frontage area here would be used for external tables/chairs, in connection with the 

Page 147



new restaurant operator. The windbreaks would be of PVC mesh construction on 
stainless still free-standing posts and bases, with the finish of the screens including 
white text on a grey background to display the business brand 'Wagamama'. The height 
of the screens would measure 860mm (height) by 1.5m (width) and would rise 915mm 
above ground level. As the signage is of a limited scale and also removable, it is not 
considered that there would be any harm on the fabric of the listed building. An 
informative would be added to the consent advising that planning permission would be 
required for the use of the external space to the front of the site for outside seating 
purposes. The proposals are therefore considered to be acceptable in the interest of 
visual amenity, in accordance with policies EN2, EN8, EN14 of the UDP and with Policy 
DM G8 of the draft Development Management Local Plan, when assessed against the 
provisions of Core Strategy policy BE1 and the principles of the NPPF, in that the 
setting and character of the listed building would be preserved.  
 
PUBLIC SAFETY 
 
3.7     UDP policy TN8 sets out that development affecting the strategic road network 
will not be permitted if it would prejudice the effectiveness of the strategic route network. 
Although Shepherd's Bush Road is a busy and important route, it is considered the 
proposed advertisements would not have an adverse impact on pedestrian or highway 
safety subject to the imposition of conditions ensuring the signs are illuminated in 
accordance with Technical Report 5 of the Institute of Lighting Engineers and do not 
flash. 
    
4.0 CONCLUSION and RECOMMENDATION 
  
4.1 In summary, the advertisements have been assessed in accordance with policies 
identified above and are found to be acceptable. Though the property is listed, it is not 
within an area where the preservation of visual amenity is considered to be of prime 
importance. The advertisements proposed have taken into account the important status 
of the listed building and are not considered to harm visual amenity or public safety. The 
advertisements are considered to have an acceptable size, design and height, while the 
number of signs is not unacceptable, given the size of the building. The style of 
illumination proposed for all the advertisements is considered to be acceptable.  
 
4.2     Grant advertisement consent, subject to conditions. 
 

Page 148



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Ravenscourt Park 
 
Site Address: 
282 - 292 Goldhawk Road  London  W12 9PF     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00856/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
28.02.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Jackie Simkins 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Ravenscourt And Starch Green Conservation 
Area - Number 8 

 

Page 149



 
Applicant: 
Firstwood Investments 
C/O Agent    
 
Description: 
Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to provide 25 residential units 
comprising of 3 x 1 bedroom flats, 7 x 3 bedroom houses and 15 x 4 bedroom houses, 
22 car parking spaces, associated landscaping and amenity space. 
Drg Nos: PL001, PL002, PL003, PL004, PL005, PL006, PL007,PL008, PL009, PL010, 
PL020, PL021, PL022, PL023. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Executive Director of Transport and Technical 
Services be authorised to determine the application and grant permission up on the 
completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) set out 
below: 
 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
   
 Reason: Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 
 2) The development shall be carried out and completed only in accordance with the 

detailed drawings; PL001, PL002, PL003, PL004, PL005, PL006, PL007, PL008, 
PL009, PL010, PL020, PL021, PL022, PL023.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby 

approved and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, 
in accordance with policies EN2 and EN8 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended 2007 and 2011 

 
 
 3) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until particulars and 

samples of materials to be used in all external faces of the building(s), and all 
surface treatments, have been submitted and approved in writing by the Council. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with such details as have 
been approved. 

   
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with 

Policies EN2 and EN8 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 
2011. 

 

Page 150



 
 4) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, other than ground 

works or site preparation, a phasing programme for the construction, completion 
and occupation of each building and related site area of the development shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Council.  Development shall proceed 
in accordance with the approved phasing strategy unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Council.   

  
 To ensure that the development accords with the development is carried out in a 

satisfactory manner in accordance with policies EN2, EN6, EN8 and EN10 and 
Standards S5A, S7, S18 and S20 of the UDP (as amended in September 2007 
and October 2011). 

 
 
 5) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of all external 

hard surfaces, boundary walls, fences and other means of enclosure, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, and the development shall not 
be occupied or used until such details as are approved have been carried out. 

   
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with 

Policies EN8 and EN29 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 
2011 

 
 
 6) No development shall commence until a scheme for temporary fencing and/or 

enclosure of the site where necessary has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council, and such enclosure has been erected in accordance with 
the approved details and retained for the duration of the building works.  No part of 
the temporary fencing and/or enclosure of the site shall be used for the display of 
advertisement hoardings. 

  
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the site, in accordance 

with policies EN2 and EN8 of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 
and October 2011). 

 
 
 7) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 1995 (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no aerials, 
antennae, satellite dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be 
erected on any part of the development hereby permitted, without planning 
permission first being granted. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment can be 

considered, in accordance with Policy EN2, and EN8 of the adopted UDP, as 
amended 2007 and 2011. 

 
 
 8) No plumbing or pipes, other than rainwater pipes on the approved elevations, shall 

be fixed on the external faces of the buildings. 
  

Page 151



 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policy 
EN2, and EN8 of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 and October 
2011). 

 
 
 9) The development hereby permitted shall not commence prior to the submission 

and approval in writing by the Council of details in plan, section and elevation (at a 
scale of not less than 1:20) of typical bays including detail of fenestration, and 
entrances for each of the buildings, and no part of the development shall be used 
or occupied prior to the completion of that part of the development in accordance 
with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 

street scene, in accordance with Policy EN2, EN3 and EN8 of the adopted UDP 
(as amended in September 2007 and October 2011). 

 
 
10) No deliveries to or from the site in connection with the site preparation or 

construction works shall take place outside the hours of 8 am and 6 pm on 
Mondays to Fridays and 8 am and 1 pm on Saturdays and no such deliveries shall 
take place at all on Sundays or public holidays. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ 

surrounding premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policy 
EN20A, EN20B, EN21, TN5, TN13 and Standard S21 of the adopted UDP (as 
amended in September 2007 and October 2011). 

 
 
11) Prior to the commencement  of development, details of compliance with lifetime 

homes standards for the residential units and of the provision of 10% of the 
residential units to wheelchair adaptable housing standard or accessible to this 
standard, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  The 
Development shall accord with the details as approved and shall be permanently 
retained thereafter. 

  
 To ensure that the development provides for the changing circumstances of 

occupiers and responds to the needs of people with disabilities, in accordance with 
policy 3.8 of the London Plan and policy HO6 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham UDP (as amended in September 2007 and October 
2011). 

 
 
12) No development shall commence prior to the submission and approval in writing 

by the Council of full details of the proposed hard and soft landscaping of the site, 
including: planting schedules and details of the number, species, height and 
maturity of the trees proposed to replace the 15 trees felled, and a proposed 
landscape maintenance plan outlining management responsibilities for all 
landscaped areas. The approved scheme shall be implemented in the next winter 
planting season following completion of the building works, or before the 
occupation of any part of the building, whichever is the earlier, unless previously 
agreed in writing by the local authority and the landscaping shall thereafter be 
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  

Page 152



  
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the development, 

improve its contribution to biodiversity and the local environment and to ensure the 
needs of the visually impaired are catered for in accordance with the Equality Act 
2010, policies 3.1, 3.9, 7.1, 7.2, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan (2011), policy 
BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) 
and policies EN2, EN8, and EN26 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 2011). 

 
 
13) Any tree or shrub planted pursuant to approved landscape details that is removed 

or severely damaged, dying or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years of 
planting shall be replaced with a tree or shrub of similar size and species to that 
originally required to be planted.  

  
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory provision for planting, in accordance with 

policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2B, 
EN8 and EN26 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 2011).  

 
 
14) Prior to occupation of any building, confirmation that the dwellings meet the 

requirements of level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council.  

  
 In the interests of energy conservation, reduction of CO2 emissions and wider 

sustainability, in accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London 
Plan 2011. 

 
 
15) Prior to commencement of the development, a noise assessment shall be 

submitted to the Council for approval of external noise levels and details of the 
sound insulation of the building envelope, orientation of habitable rooms away 
from major noise sources and of silenced mechanical ventilation, as necessary, to 
achieve `Good¿ internal room- and (if provided) external amenity noise standards 
in accordance with the criteria of BS8233:1999. Approved details shall be 
implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be 
permanently retained.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not 

adversely affected by noise from transport [industrial/ commercial noise sources], 
in accordance with Policy EN20B and EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended 2007 and 2011.  

 
 
16) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of the external noise level emitted from plant/ 
machinery/ equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate.  The measures 
shall ensure that the external noise level emitted from plant, machinery/ equipment 
will be lower than the lowest existing background noise level by at least 10dBA, as 
assessed according to BS4142:1997 at the nearest and/or most affected noise 

Page 153



sensitive premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A 
post installation noise assessment shall be carried out where required to confirm 
compliance with the noise criteria and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be 
taken, as necessary.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of 
the development and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not 

adversely affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/ equipment, in 
accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the Unitary Development 
Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011.    

 
 
17) A) No demolition or development shall take place until the applicant has secured 

the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a 
Written Scheme of Investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and 
approved by the local planning authority. 

 B) No development or demolition shall take place other that in accordance with the 
 Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Part (A). 
 C) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post 
 investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme 

set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Part (A), and the 
provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination of the results and 
archive deposition has been secured. 

  
 Reason: Heritage assets of archaeological interest survive on the site. The 

planning authority wishes to secure the provision of archaeological investigation 
followed by the subsequent recording of significant remains prior to development 
(including preservation of important remains), in accordance with 
recommendations given by the borough and in PPS 5/NPPF. 

 
 
18) No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report is 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall comprise: a 
desktop study which identifies all current and previous uses at the site and 
surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants associated with those 
uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating potential pollutant 
linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those in the 
surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk assessment 
of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant linkages 
to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including ecological 
receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

 
 
19) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme is submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and 
target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall 
provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground 
gas, surface and groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 

Page 154



Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

 
 
20) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following a site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment report is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the 
degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through the site 
investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to 
confirm the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks 
posed by any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

 
 
21) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until a remediation method statement is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works 
and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved 
quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

 
 
22) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full and a verification report confirming these works has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Council. This report shall include: details of the 
remediation works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or 
monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste management 
documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment, movement and 
disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, the 
Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report 
indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. Any required remediation shall 
be detailed in an amendment to the remediation statement and verification of 
these works included in the verification report. All works must be carried out in 
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the 
current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

 
 

Page 155



23) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 
commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council where further monitoring is required past 
the completion of development works to verify the success of the remediation 
undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no 
residual adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

 
 
24) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until full details of 

the proposed photovoltaic (PV's) system are submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Council at a scale no less than 1:20 in plan, section and elevation. Such 
details shall be implemented prior to occupation or use of the building and shall be 
retained thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the development is consistent with the Mayor's 

sustainable design objectives, to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to 
prevent harm to the street scene and public realm, in accordance with policies 5.3 
and 5.7 and 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies EN2 and 
EN8 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development 
Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011).  

 
 
25) No development shall commence (with exception to site clearance works and 

enabling works) until details of how the development accords with the Metropolitan 
Police "Secure by Design" requirements have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. Such a statement shall include, but not be limited to, CCTV 
coverage, access controls and means to secure the site throughout construction in 
accordance with BS8300:2009. The approved details shall be carried out prior to 
occupation of any part of the development and permanently maintained thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures 

to minimise opportunities for, and the perception of crime, in accordance with 
Policies 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policy EN10 of 
the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as 
amended 2007 and 2011). 

 
 
26) Prior to occupation of the residential units, details of the facilities to be provided for 

the secure storage of residents' and other users cycles shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. Such details shall include the number, location 
and access arrangements to cycle parking. No residential units shall be occupied 
until such facilities have been provided. Thereafter the cycle parking facilities 
provided shall be retained. 

  

Page 156



 Reason: To ensure the suitable provision of cycle parking within the Development 
to meet the needs of future site occupiers and users and in the interest of the 
appearance of the development, in accordance with Policies 6.9 and 6.13 of the 
London Plan (2011) and Policy TN6 and Standard S20.1 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 
2011). 

  
 
 
27) Prior to the first occupation of the development, details of refuse storage and a  

Waste Management Strategy for storage and collection arrangements for that 
building, including how recycling will be maximised and incorporated into the 
facilities, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. No building 
shall be occupied until the approved refuse storage arrangements are in place and 
all approved storage arrangements shall be maintained permanently thereafter.  

  
 Reason: In order to protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory 

provision is made for refuse storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.3 
of the London Plan (2011), policy EN17 of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 2011) and the 
Council's Supplementary Planning Document `Storage of Refuse and 
Recyclables'. 

 
 
28) Prior to occupation of any part of the development, details of all proposed external 

lighting, including security lights shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council and no occupation shall take place until the lighting has been installed 
in full accordance with the approved details. Such details shall include the number, 
exact location, height, design and appearance of the lights, together with data 
concerning the levels of illumination and light spillage and the specific measures, 
having regard to the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Engineers in 
the `Guidance Notes For The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2005' (or relevant 
guidance) to ensure that any lighting proposed does not harm the existing 
amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that adequate lighting is provided to the pedestrian pathways 

for safety and security and that the lighting does not adversely affect the amenities 
of occupiers of the surrounding premises, in accordance with Policies 7.3 and 7.13 
of the London Plan (2011) Policy BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN8, EN10, EN20A, EN20C 
and EN21 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 2011). 

 
 
29) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a surface water 

drainage scheme, based on sustainable drainage principles, and a maintenance 
programme for the sustainable urban drainage measures, have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the council. The scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of the development 
hereby permitted, and thereafter permanently maintained in accordance with the 
agreed details.  

  

Page 157



 Reason: To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the satisfactory 
storage of/disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with Policy CC2 of 
the Core Strategy 2011, Policy 5.13 of The London Plan 2011. 

 
 
30) Prior to the commencement of development, detailed design/layout of the car park, 

including the entrance gate (design and operation) and vehicle tracking, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning authority. The car park 
arrangement shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, and 
shall be retained permanently thereafter.  

  
 Reason: To ensure the suitable provision of car parking within the development to 

meet the needs of future site occupiers and users, in accordance with policies 6.13 
and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011) and Policy TN15 and Standards S18 and S19 
of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan 
(as amended 2007 and 2011) and the Council's Access for All Supplementary 
Planning Guidance. 

 
 
31) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of the sound insulation of the floor/ ceiling/ 
walls separating any communal stairs from dwellings. Details shall demonstrate 
that the sound insulation value DnT,w is sufficiently enhanced and, where 
necessary, additional mitigation measures implemented to contain commercial 
noise within the commercial premises and to achieve the `Good¿ criteria of 
BS8233:1999 within the dwellings/ noise sensitive premises.  Approved details 
shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be 
permanently retained.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of [the development site] 

[adjacent dwellings/ noise sensitive premises] is not adversely affected by noise, in 
accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the Unitary Development 
Plan, as amended 2007. 

 
 
32) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of an enhanced sound insulation value DnT,w   
for the wall structures separating different types of rooms/ uses in adjoining 
dwellings, namely [e.g. Bathrooms, living rooms adjacent bedroom of separate 
dwelling].  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained.   

  
 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not 

adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B and EN21 
of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007. 

 
 
33) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a demolition 

method statement and a construction management plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include control measures for dust, 
noise, vibration, lighting, delivery locations, restriction of hours of work and all 
associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays 

Page 158



to Fridays and 0800-1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours 
and other interested parties of proposed works and public display of contact 
details including accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the site 
works for the duration of the works.  Approved details shall be implemented 
throughout the project period.   

  
 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not 

adversely affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the 
building site, in accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B, EN20C and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007.  

 
 
34) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a Construction 

Logistics Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council.  The details shall include contractors' construction method statement 
setting out; waste classifications and disposal procedures; dust, noise, vibration, 
and light monitoring and control; working hours; provisions within the site to ensure 
that all vehicles associated with the construction works are properly washed and 
cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto the highway; and all other 
matters relating to traffic management to be agreed. All works to be carried out in 
accordance with approved plan though the project. 

   
 Reason: In order that appropriate steps are taken to limit the impact of the 

proposed demolition and construction works on Network Rail and the amenities of 
local residents and the area generally, in accordance with policies TN15, EN19A, 
EN20A, EN20B, EN20C and EN21 and of the Unitary Development Plan, as 
amended 2007 and 2011 and Core Strategy policy CC3 and Policies 5.19 and 
5.20 of the London Plan for the construction of the proposed redevelopment. 

 
 
35) Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, C, D, E, F and G of Part 1 of 

Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(Amendment) (No. 2) (England) Order 2008, no development within the curtilage 
of a dwelling house which forms part of the overall development hereby approved 
shall be carried out without the prior permission of the Council, obtained through 
the submission of a planning application. 

  
 In the interests of the living conditions of neighbouring properties within the 

development, in accordance with policies EN8 and EN8B of the London Borough 
of Hammersmith and Fulham UDP (as amended in September 2007 and October 
2011). 

 
 
36) Prior to the commencement of development a scheme of ecological enhancement 

of the site (to include; native planting, bird and bat boxes) shall be submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved scheme prior to the occupation of any 
part of the development and thereafter retained and any subsequent amendments 
shall be agreed in writing with the local planning authority.  

   
 Reason: To prevent harm to biodiversity interests and encourage the expansion of 

biodiversity in particular foraging birds and bats in accordance with policies EN28A 

Page 159



and EN29 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007 and 2011 and 
policy 7.19 of The London Plan 2011. 

 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 1) 1.  Land use and housing tenure:  The proposed residential development will make 

effective use of under-utilised land and replace existing land uses on the site that 
are no longer viable. The proposal offers 3 flats in the development to residents 
who previously lived at the site who have indicated they may wish return. The 
scheme provides 40% affordable housing which includes social rent and 
intermediate homes. The proposal also offers a significant number of family homes 
including for intermediate housing  which accommodates a required need in the 
Borough. The proposals are considered acceptable in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, London Plan (2011) policies 3.3, 3.4, 3.10, 
3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 and policies HO6 of the adopted UDP (as amended in 
September 2007 and October 2011) and policies H1, H2, H3, ,H4, of the Core 
Strategy. 

  
 2.  Design:  The proposal represents a high quality development which would 

make a positive contribution to the area in this part of the Borough.  The proposal 
preserves and enhances the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
The development is therefore considered to be acceptable in accordance with 
Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4,  7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2011) and policies 
EN2,  EN8, EN10, EN25, of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 
and October 2011) and policy BE1 of the Core Strategy.   

  
 3.  Residential Amenity and Impact on Neighbouring Properties:  The impact of the 

proposed development upon adjoining occupiers is considered acceptable with no 
overall significant worsening of undue noise, overlooking, and loss of sunlight or 
daylight to cause undue detriment to the amenities of neighbours.  In this regard, 
the development would sufficiently respect the principles of good neighbourliness.  
The development is therefore considered acceptable in accordance with Policies 
HO6, EN8, EN10, EN23, EN23B and Standards S5A.1, S5A.2,  S7.1, S7A, S13.1, 
S13.2 and S13.3 of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 and 
October 2011), and policies H3 and CC4 of the Core Strategy.   

  
 4.  Transport:  Subject to a satisfactory legal agreement there would be no 

significantly adverse impact on traffic generation and the scheme would not result 
in unacceptable conditions on the road network.  Satisfactory provision would be 
made for vehicle and cycle parking.  Adequate provision for storage and collection 
of refuse and recyclables would be provided.  The development is therefore 
considered to be acceptable in accordance with Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.13 of 
the London Plan (2011) and policies TN4, TN6, TN8, TN13 and TN15 and 
Standards S18, S19, S20, S21 and S23 of the adopted UDP (as amended in 
September 2007 and October 2011) and policy T1of the Core Strategy.  

  
 5. Access:  The development would provide a safe and secure environment for all 

users.  The development is therefore considered acceptable in accordance with 

Page 160



Policy EN10 of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 and October 
2011), and the Council's adopted supplementary planning document 'Access for 
all'. 

  
 6.  Sustainability:  The proposed development has been designed to meet the 

highest standards of sustainable design and construction, also utilising renewable 
energy technology.  The proposal would thereby seek to reduce pollution and 
waste and minimise its environmental impact. The development is therefore 
considered acceptable in accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.7, 5.9, 5.11, 
5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15 and 7.19 of the London Plan (2011) and policies EN28Aand 
EN29 of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 and October 2011) 
and policies CC1, CC2, H3 and OS1 of the Core Strategy.   

  
 7.  Land Contamination:  Conditions on the permission require that the site would 

be remediated to an appropriate level for sensitive residential use.  The proposed 
development is therefore considered acceptable in accordance with policy 5.21 of 
the London Plan (2011) and policy CC4 of the Core Strategy and policies EN20A 
and EN21 the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 and October 2011). 

  
 8.  Flood Risk: A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted and has 

considered risks of flooding to the site and adequate preventative measures have 
been identified and secured. The development is therefore considered to be 
acceptable in accordance with the NPPF and London Plan (2011) policies 5.11, 
5.13 and 5.14. 

  
 9.  Planning Obligations:  The application proposes that its impacts are mitigated 

by way of financial contributions to fund improvements that are necessary as a 
consequence of the development as well as providing 40% affordable housing.  
The proposed development is considered to adequately mitigate external impacts 
and is therefore considered to be acceptable in accordance with policy 8.2 of the 
London Plan (2011), policy EN23 of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 
2007 and October 2011) and policy CF1 of the Core Strategy.  

  
 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 27th February 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
 

Page 161



Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
                        
Ashchurch Residents Association 
   
English Heritage London Region 
      
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 
   
Thames Water - Development Control 
     
Transport For London - Land Use Planning Team 
         

Dated: 
                        
02.04.13 
   
25.03.13 
      
18.03.13 
   
18.03.13 
     
28.03.13 
         

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
16 Ashchurch Grove Hammersmith W12 9BT   20.03.13 
12 Ashchurch Grove London W12 9 BT   27.03.13 
10 Ashchurch Court Ashchurch Grove London W12 9BS  20.03.13 
12 Ashchurch Grove London W12 9BT   30.03.13 
12 Ashchurch Grove London W12 9BT   30.03.13 
12 Ashchurch Grove London W12 9BT   30.03.13 
12 Ashchurch Grove London W12 9BT   30.03.13 
12 Ashchurch Grove London W12 9BT   30.03.13 
35a Ashchurch park Villas London w12 9sp   28.03.13 
12 Ashchurch Grove London W12 9BT   30.03.13 
Nag     30.03.13 
Flat 32 Vitae 311 Goldhawk Road London W6 0SZ  25.03.13 
11 Ashchurch Grove London W12 9BT   23.03.13 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Site Description 
 
1.2 The site comprises two distinct parcels of land; the first is 282-288 Goldhawk 
Road, which consists of a vacant residential care home and a sheltered housing 
building known as Elizabeth Finn House. The residential care home has been vacant 
since 2006 (residents were decanted to Mary Seacole House on Goldhawk Road). The 
sheltered housing at Elizabeth Finn house has been vacant since 2007. On 16th July 
2007 the Council's Cabinet confirmed the site was surplus to requirements. 
 
1.3 The second parcel 292 Goldhawk Road is an obsolete former hostel previously 
owned by Metropolitan Housing Trust (MHT) and purchased by Firstwood Investments 
in September 2012. It was previously occupied by refugees on a short term basis.  
 

Page 162



1.4 282 -288 Goldhawk Road was owned by London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham (LBHF) and contracts have been exchanged with Firstwood Investment Lux 
Sarl to purchase the site.  
 
1.5 The site is located in Shepherd's Bush on the northern side of Goldhawk Road. 
The site is bound to the west by Ashchurch Park Villas and to the east by Ashchurch 
Grove.  
 
1.6 The site is within the Ravenscourt and Starch Green Conservation Area. The total 
site area is 0.47 hectares. Part of the site lies within Flood Zone 3 and part is in Flood 
Zone 2. The site is subject to aerodrome safeguarding areas for Northolt and Heathrow. 
Goldhawk Road is a strategic road.   
 
Planning History of Application Site 
 
1.7 Following the Council's decision to dispose of 282-288 Goldhawk Road in July 
2007 Registered Social Landlord (RSL) Places for People (PFP) were chosen as the 
preferred bidder for the land which was to be transferred on a subject to planning basis. 
PFP submitted a planning application in 2009 for Conservation Area Consent for the 
demolition of existing buildings on the site (2009/02758/CAC) and redevelopment of the 
site to provide 66 units (48 x 1 bed, 15 x 2 bed and 2 x 3 bed properties) with an 
underground car park for 38 spaces planning reference (2009/02757/FUL).  
 
Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of the site by erection of four blocks 
of part 1-storey to 4-storey in height to provide 66 residential units comprising 1 x 1 
studio flat, 48 x 1 bed flats/houses (including 7 wheelchair dwellings), 15 x 2 bed 
houses and 2 x 3 bed houses; together with provision of an underground car park with 
38 parking spaces with vehicular access from Ashchurch Park Villas and provision of 
amenity space, refuse stores, cycle parking and landscaping¿ 
 
1.8 A resolution to grant planning permission was approved at Planning Applications 
Committee (PAC) on 16th December 2009 however the Section 106 Agreement was 
never completed and therefore formal planning permission has not been issued. LBHF 
has since worked to find a developer for a more comprehensive scheme incorporating 
the adjoining MHT land at 292 Goldhawk Road. A site specific planning brief was 
prepared by the Council with the input of local residents while not adopted as formal 
policy guidance the planning brief helped direct proposals for the comprehensive re-
development of the two sites.   
 
1.9 The lawful use of 292 Goldhawk Road as a hostel was established in 1999 
through application 1998/01281/CLE by Metropolitan Housing Trust.  
 
Current Application  
 
1.10 The current proposal is for 25 residential units; 3 x 1 bed flats, 7 x 3 bed houses 
and 15 x 4 bed houses. All 22 houses have private gardens, the ground floor flat has a 
private garden and the upper two flats have balconies. 
 
1.11 The tallest buildings in the scheme front Goldhawk Road. These 4 bedroom 
homes are three storeys tall with a recessed fourth floor that is set back. The mews 
houses are two storeys with a pitched roof providing an internal third floor with dormer 

Page 163



protrusions. The Ashchurch Grove villas are two storeys, with a third storey provided 
with a mansard roof.    
 
1.12 A total of 22 parking spaces are proposed. The 4 bed houses fronting Goldhawk 
Road have garages. A small car park will serve the mews homes and the 3 villas 
fronting onto Ashchurch Grove. Each home has a facility for storing bikes.    
 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS  
 
Pre application consultation 
 
2.1 A Statement of Community Engagement activities has been submitted with the 
application which details the public consultation undertaken by the applicant prior to 
submission of the application. LBHF produced a site specific planning brief for the site 
with input from Ashchurch Residents Association (ARA); the final draft of the brief was 
dated 16 November 2011, although it was never adopted as formal policy guidance. 
The applicants Firstwood Investment also held a design competition to select the 
architect. A community drop in event was held on 17 January 2013, 10,000 leaflets 
were delivered to surrounding streets to advertise the event. The drop in event was 
attended by approximately 58 local residents, as well as representatives from ARA and 
Canthor Park Action Group.   
 
Planning Application Consultations 
 
2.2 The application was advertised by way of site notices and a press notice. The 
application has been advertised as being: 
- A Major Development   
 
2.3 474 letters were distributed, 10 responses were received including 7 letters of 
objection.  There were two responses in support for the proposal from Ashchurch 
Resident's Association and The Hammersmith Society.  A summary of the objections 
are provided below: 
-  concern with corner top floor windows in Goldhawk Road villas, 
-  uninspiring design that does not enhance architecture of the area, lacks integrity, 
-  few architectural features that reflect local buildings, out of character, 
-  lack of features means no point of interest, 
-  mansard roof lets down the whole design, 
-  concern regarding the lack of parking proposed and the impact on street, parking, 
-  request for underground parking, 
-  removal of some of the existing trees raised concern,  
-  concern regarding disruption during the building works, especially construction traffic, 
-  concern that sewers need to be able cope with additional units, 
-  request that a proper environmental study is undertaken, 
-  concern regarding the impact on social infrastructure including health and police, 
-  the comments of the Ashchurch Residents Association are not representative.  
 
Amenity groups within LBHF: 
 
2.4 Ashchurch Residents Association 
- Support the collaborative planning approach with how the Council and applicant 
have worked with the local community. 

Page 164



- Support the planning application subject to resolution of outstanding design 
issues, window and roof treatments,  
- Concern regarding entrance gates to avoid a ¿gated community, 
- Consider it crucial that no parking permits are granted by LBHF,  
- Support the applications approach to protect and preserve major trees on site and 
extend the beech hedge, 
- Support Section 106 monies to fund a traffic survey, 
- Propose use of Section 106 funds to improve the appearance of Starch Green and 
the northern entrance to Ravenscourt Park and new planting on Goldhawk Road. 
 
2.5 The Hammersmith Society 
- Support the cooperative process employed by the developers and council in 
responding to local resident issues. 
- As with ARA they are still concerned regarding about villa frontages, roof 
treatments and in particular window treatments on Ashchurch Grove, Goldhawk Road 
and Ashchurch Park Villas. 
- Some of the windows lack definition and offer only shallow reveals. 
- Do not support the site becoming a gated community unless it was essential for 
security reasons. 
- Generally supportive of this application and ARA's letter of comment. 
- Concerned regarding the loss of up to 15 trees on the site. 
- If there is an unavoidable net loss of trees on site then this shortfall should be 
made up with street trees in the vicinity. This should be conditioned. 
 
External Consultees  
 
2.6 Transport for London (TfL) 
- A construction logistics plan should be secured via condition, TfL wish to be 
consulted on the discharge of this condition. 
- Transport Assessment does not explore the demolition and construction 
methodology. 
- Support the level of cycle parking. 
- Although level of car parking is compliant with London Plan TfL would encourage a 
reduction. 
- Subject to further discussions regarding demolition and construction TfL do not 
consider the proposals will cause an unacceptable impact on the SRN or local public 
transport network. 
 
2.7 English Heritage 
- No comment on historic buildings or historic matters. 
- Comments below relate to Archaeological issues; 
- A designated archaeological priority area lies approximately 100m south of the 
eastern edge of the site, this was the location and setting of the medieval 
- Pallenswick/Paddingswick Manor (rebuilt in the 18th century at Ravenscourt  
- House). 
- There is also the potential for prehistoric, Roman and post-medieval remains to 
survive in certain locations or "pockets" across the site.   
- In view of this and particularly the site's location close to the line of a Roman Road 
it is recommended that a condition is required for archaeological investigation prior to 
development in order to fully determine the presence, nature and significance of any 
archaeological remains. 
 

Page 165



2.8 Environment Agency  
- Have no objection to the planning application for the following reasons; 
- The Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) for the Borough indicates the site to 
be outside the area at risk of flooding in the event of a breach or failure of the River 
Thames tidal flood defences. 
- The other sources of flooding that affect the site (e.g. surface water, sewer, 
groundwater flooding) are not with the Environment Agencies remit but may inform 
suitable mitigation measures to reduce the impact of flooding. 
 
2.9 Thames Water 
- Concerned regarding the inability of existing waste water infrastructure to 
accommodate this application.  
- Concern regarding the combined flow from this site, in particular surface water 
flows, and the effect further down the catchment in the Counters Creek area. 
- Preference for all surface water to be disposed of on site using SUDs as per 5.13 
of the London Plan.  
- Where the proposal is to discharge groundwater into a public sewer, a 
groundwater discharge permit is required. 
- Have no objection to the proposals as regards water infrastructure subject to 
attaching an informative to the application relating to minimum pressure in the design of 
the proposed development.  
 
3.0  Planning Considerations 
 
3.1 It is considered that the key considerations relating to this application are: 
 
- Principle of development; 
- Housing mix and tenure; 
- Design, conservation and heritage;  
- Standard of residential accommodation;  
- Amenity space and landscaping; 
- Highways and transportation;  
- The impact of the development on surrounding residential amenities 
- Environmental impact, sustainability and energy;  
- Equality impacts; 
- Planning obligations 
 
3.2 The planning application has been assessed against the Development Plan which 
comprises the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), the 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP amended 2007 and 2011) and the London Plan 
(2011).  In addition, Section 149 of the Equality Act (2010) in combination with the 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires the Council to consider the equality 
impacts on all protected groups when exercising its functions.  In addition, Section 149 
of the Equality Act (2010) which sets a Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) came into 
force in April 2011 and requires the Council to consider the equality impacts on all 
protected groups when exercising its functions. In the case of planning, equalities 
considerations are factored into the planning process at various stages. The first stage 
relates to the adoption of planning policies (national, strategic and local) and any 
relevant supplementary guidance. A further assessment of equalities impacts on 
protected groups is necessary for development proposals which may have equality 
impacts on the protected groups.  
 

Page 166



3.3 With regards to this application, all planning policies in the London Plan, Core 
Strategy, UDP and National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which have been 
referenced where relevant in this report have been considered with regards to equalities 
impacts through the statutory adoption processes, and in accordance with the Equality 
Act 2010 and Council's PSED. Therefore, the adopted planning framework which 
encompasses all planning policies which are relevant in officers assessment of the 
application are considered to acknowledge protected equality groups, in accordance 
with the Equality Act 2010 and the Council's PSED.  
 
3.4 Reference has made to the Draft Development Management Local Plan, which 
has now had the final Inspector's report issued.  When adopted it will replace the 
remaining saved policies of the UDP and will then be used, together with the Core 
Strategy and London Plan as part of the Development Plan. Reference is made to the 
draft Local Plan as an emerging policy document however until formally adopted its 
weight is limited as a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications.   
 
Principle of Development 
 
3.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications should 
be considered in the context of a presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
that development proposals which accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. The NPPF encourages development on previously developed 
land.   
 
3.6 London Plan Policy 3.4 promotes development which optimises the use of land for 
housing and London Plan Policy 3.3 sets housing targets for each Borough in order to 
ensure the provision of new homes in London.  Core Strategy Policy H1 aims to exceed 
London Plan housing supply targets.   
 
3.7 The proposed development is considered to be supported by the Core Strategy, 
the London Plan and the NPPF as it would make effective and efficient use of 
previously developed land whilst providing new homes.  
 
3.8 The principle of new housing has already been established on part of the site 282 - 
288 Goldhawk Road as the Council approved resolved to grant planning permission at 
Committee for a residential scheme in December 2009. The remaining part of the site 
292 Goldhawk Road was previously used by MHT as as a hostel. Core Strategy Policy 
H4 and DM LP policy A6 seeks to protect hostel use where there is a local need. There 
is not an identified need for hostel provision in this location therefore housing would be 
an alternative suitable use.  
 
3.9 The principle of redevelopment of the Site for residential led mixed use is therefore 
considered acceptable and is in accordance with the NPPF and London Plan Policies 
3.3, 3.4 and Core Strategy Policy H1 and H4. 
 
Housing Density 
 
3.10 London Plan Policy 3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential) seeks to ensure that 
housing developments achieve the maximum intensity of use while taking account of 
local context and character, public transport accessibility and the attainment of a high 
quality design.  Density guidance is provided in Table 3.2, which outlines a density 

Page 167



range of 200 - 450 habitable rooms per hectare (hrh) for sites with an urban location 
and a PTAL of 3.   
 
3.11 Core Strategy Policy H3 (Housing Quality and Density) states that LBHF will 
expect all housing development to respect the local setting and context, provide a high 
quality residential environment, be well designed and energy efficient in line with the 
requirements of the Code for Sustainable Homes, meet satisfactory internal and 
external space standards, and provide a good range of housing types and sizes.  
Acceptable housing density will be dependent primarily on an assessment of these 
factors, taking account of London Plan policies and subject to public transport and 
highway impact and capacity. 
 
3.12 The proposed development results in a density of  321 hrh and is therefore well 
within  the guidelines set out in the London Plan.  The Site has a PTAL rating of 3, 
which comprises moderate public transport accessibility.   
 
3.13 An assessment of the standard of residential accommodation is set out in more 
detail below within the relevant section.  It confirms that the proposals would deliver 
housing of high quality which would comply with planning policy guidance relating to 
standards of residential accommodation.  Design is also discussed further in the report 
and Officers conclude that the proposed development meets a high standard of 
architecture and urban design.  Transport and amenity space issues are also 
considered below. Subject to a number of recommended conditions and obligations, 
officers consider the proposed quality of accommodation, design, transport impact and 
open space provision to be acceptable.  Sunlight and Daylight impacts are addressed in 
a separate section below and are also considered to be acceptable.  Furthermore the 
proposed development is expected to contribute to local "place shaping" in the wider 
context. 
 
3.14 In conclusion, officers consider that the proposed level of residential density is 
appropriate for this location complying with Policy 3.4 of the London Plan and while not 
formally adopted Policy DM A2 of the Draft Local Plan.  
 
Housing type, tenure and viability assessment 
 
3.15 The NPPF (para. 17) sets out a number of core land-use planning principles which 
should underpin both plan making and decision taking.  Every effort should be made 
objectively to identify and then meet the housing, business and other development 
needs of an area.  Plans should take account of market signals, such as land prices and 
housing affordability, and set out a clear strategy for allocating sufficient land which is 
suitable for development in their area, taking account of the needs of the residential and 
business communities. 
 
3.16 London Plan Policy 3.8 seeks to promote housing choice by supporting residential 
development proposals which provide a mix of unit sizes.   
 
3.17 Strategic Policy H4 of the Core Strategy outlines there should be a mix of housing 
types and sizes in development schemes, especially increasing the proportion of family 
accommodation.  The precise mix in any development will be subject to the suitability of 
the site for family housing in terms of site characteristics, the local environment and 
access to services.   
 

Page 168



3.18 UDP Policy HO6 requires new residential development to provide a mix of units to 
meet the needs of family and non-family households.   
 
3.19 Policy DM A3 of the draft Local Plan supports Policy HO6.  In this regard, the 
proposed development provides a dwelling mix comprising 3 x 1 bed flats, 7 x 3 bed 
houses and 15 x 4 bedroom houses. Three (12%) units would be 1 x bed, 7 (28%) units 
would be 3 x bed and 15 (60%) would be 4 x bed.  The proposed units vary in size and 
provide a significant number of larger units. The dwelling mix is therefore considered to 
meet the policy requirements for the provision of a range of unit sizes within new 
development.              
                                          
3.20  In support of  Core Stratey policy H4 there is a high proportion of family homes 
proposed in this development at 88% (22 homes) making an important contribution to 
the current under provsion of family homes in the Borough.The 3 x 1 bed flats are 
required to house returning tenants with a "right to return". It is noted in Policy DM A3 
that where social rented housing is replacing existing social rented housing the new 
housing should meet the needs of relocating tenants.  
 
Affordability 
 
3.21 The NPPF states (para.50) that in order to deliver a wide choice of high quality 
homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and 
mixed communities, local planning authorities should: 
o plan for a mix of housing based on current and future demographic trends, market 
trends and the needs of different groups in the community;  
o identify the size, type, tenure and range of housing that is required in particular 
locations, reflecting local demand; and 
o where they have identified that affordable housing is needed, set policies for 
meeting this need on site, unless off-site provision or a financial contribution of broadly 
equivalent value can be robustly justified.  
 
3.22 London Plan Policy 3.13 (Affordable Housing Thresholds) outlines that affordable 
housing will normally be required on a site which has the capacity to provide 10 or more 
homes and that negotiations should take account of development viability.   
 
3.23 London Plan Policy 3.11 sets out London wide affordable housing target of at least 
13,200 more affordable homes per year.  The policy advises that 60% of new affordable 
housing should be provided for social rent and 40% for intermediate rent or sale, with 
priority accorded to the provision of affordable family housing.  The Mayor has 
published an early minor alteration to the London Plan to address the introduction of 
affordable rent, with further guidance set out in the Housing SPG.  The second part of 
Policy 3.11 relates to the establishment of Borough level affordable housing targets 
through LDF preparation that take account of a range of considerations that include the 
strategic target and local circumstances.   
 
3.24 London Plan Policy 3.10 defines affordable housing as including social rented and 
intermediate housing provided to specified eligible households whose needs are not 
met by the market and goes on to specify that affordable housing should also a) meet 
the needs of eligible households, b) include provisions for the unit to remain at an 
affordable price for future generations, and c) if these restrictions are lifted, for the 
subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision.  The supporting 
justification to Policy 3.10 defines the affordability requirements for intermediate housing 

Page 169



and advises that these will be updated annually.  Affordability is currently set at an 
upper annual household income of £77,200 (as updated by the London Plan 2011), 
which translates to a maximum sale value of £270,200 (using a 3.5 x income multiplier).   
 
3.25 London Plan Policy 3.12 promotes negotiations in order secure the maximum 
reasonable amount of affordable housing within new developments taking account of 
the individual circumstances including development viability.  Importantly, part B of 
Policy 3.12 advises that `negotiations on sites should take account of their individual 
circumstances including development viability, the availability of public subsidy, the 
implications of phased development including provisions for reappraising the viability of 
schemes prior to implementation (`contingent obligation), and other scheme 
requirements. 
 
3.26 Core Strategy Policy H2 (Affordability) sets a Borough wide target that 40% of all 
additional dwellings should be affordable.  LBHF recognises that there is an imbalance 
of tenures in the borough with a high proportion of both social (32 per cent) and private 
(23.4 per cent) rented accommodation (Borough Profile, 2010).  The Core Strategy 
outlines that even if the entire 40% affordable housing target (almost 3,000 dwellings by 
2021/22) is intermediate housing, this will still only increase the intermediate housing 
stock to about 4,800 dwellings or about 5.5% of the total dwelling stock.  In recognition 
of this concentration of social rented properties in the Borough, Policy H2 states a 
preference for the provision of intermediate and affordable rented housing over social 
rented housing.  In relation to the negotiation of affordable housing provision on 
individual sites, the policy identifies a range of relevant considerations, including 
scheme financial viability.   
 
3.27 London Plan policy 3.11 seeks that 60% of new affordable housing is provided for 
social rent.  However, the preference for intermediate and affordable rented housing in 
the Borough is supported by Core Strategy policy H2 as the council seeks to reduce 
social and economic polarisation in the borough and to encourage social mobility. This 
approach is also supported in London Plan policy 3.9 which seeks mixed and balanced 
communities.  The preference for low cost housing is considered to contribute to the 
objective of creating more mixed and balanced communities in areas which have been 
identified by the Council as being in need of regeneration 
 
3.28 The scheme will provide 40% (10 units) of affordable housing. The affordable 
housing units will consist of 3 x 1 bed flats for social rent and 7 x 3 bed houses for 
intermediate (discounted market sale).The social rent units are tailored to meet the 
needs of 3 residents who have a right to return. The Borough already has a substantial 
amout of social housing and Core Strategy Policy H2 states a preference for 
intermediate or affordable rented housing however there is a specific reasaon for 
providing these 3 social rented units. The developer has agreed that if these three 
social rent tenants don¿t want to return then these units will be turned into lower income 
DMS, this will be captured in the section 106. The remaining affordable units 7 x 3 bed 
houses are intermediate (discounted market sale) and specifically meet the 
requirements of Core Strategy Policy H2. These family DMS units provide a unique 
opportunity into home ownership supported by a significant financial subsidy from the 
developer. As they are large family units the sales values will relate to the upper bracket 
of annual household income of £77,200 from the London Plan. The proposals are 
considered acceptable in accordance with policies 3.8, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 3.13 of the 
London Plan, and policies H2 and H4 of the Core Strategy.   
 

Page 170



Standard of residential accommodation  
 
3.29 Policy 3.5 of the London Plan requires new residential development to provide 
high quality internal living environments and Table 3.3 of this policy specifies minimum 
space standards for residential development.  Core Strategy Policy H3 requires new 
residential development to provide high quality living conditions for future occupiers and 
UDP standard S7A specifies minimum internal floor space standards for new residential 
units.   
 
3.30 The unit sizes within the proposed development are 51m² for 1 x bed units, 100m²  
for 3 bed houses and  230m² for 4 bed houses.The proposed unit sizes are considered 
generous and all units comply with the minimum space standards set out in the London 
Plan and UDP standard S7A with one exception. The 7 x 3 bed mews houses are three 
storeys and the London Plan requires this property type to be minimum 102m2. At 
100m2 these 7 units are very slightly below standard.   
 
3.31 UDP Standard S13.3 (Aspect) requires that no dwellings should have all its 
habitable room windows facing exclusively in any northerly direction. In this regard, 
none of the proposed residential accommodation faces exclusively north.  The proposed 
development therefore complies with this standard.   
 
3.32 London Plan policy 7.3 and UDP policy EN10 seek to promote new developments 
which create safe, secure and appropriately accessible environments.  In this regard the 
proposed development is expected to provide a high level of natural surveillance by way 
of over looking from living areas and balconies. The only vehicle access to the site is 
from Ashchurch Park Villas. The Secure by Design officer's advice was not to have a 
through route hence there is a pedestrian access only from the site out to Ashchurch 
Grove. One of the 3 houses on Ashchurch Grove is entered from the side (south) which 
provides natural surveillance of this pedestrian exit. The communal parking area has 
been located so that it is overlooked by the mews houses and villa houses on 
Ashchurch Grove. There is also an entrance gate as you enter the development from 
Ashchurch Park Villas. There is a clearly defined perimeter to the development and a 
fence will be placed alongside the beech hedge that surrounds the development to 
provide extra security. A condition (25) has been added to ensure Secure by Design 
principles are adequately met.   
 
3.33 London Plan Policy 3.8, Core Strategy Policy H4, the Council's Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) `Access for All' and policy DM A4 of the Draft Local Plan all 
require new residential development to be built to lifetime homes standards, with 10% of 
units designed to be wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable to this standard.  In this 
regard all of the units do meet lifetime homes standards and 10% of the units have the 
capability to be wheelchair accessible. This has also been conditioned (11). Two 
disabled parking spaces have been provided in the communal parking area located 
behind the mews houses. In addition the garages linked to the 12 villa houses on 
Goldhawk Road meet disabled standards. Therefore 66% (14) of the car parking spaces 
are wheelchair accessible parking spaces. The S106 will include a clause to ensure the 
wheelchair accessible units will be actively marketed via specific avenues for a period of 
at least 6 months before they go on general sale.   
 
3.34 In conclusion, it is considered that the standard of accommodation is acceptable 
and in accordance with London Plan Policies 3.8, 3.5 and 7.3,  Core Strategy Policies 

Page 171



H4 and H3, Polices EN10, S7A and S13.3 of the UDP and is supported by the Council's 
`Access for All' SPD and policy DM A4 of the draft  Local Plan. 
 
Amenity space and landscaping 
 
3.35 The NPPF seeks to ensure the provision of quality open space and landscaping 
within new developments.  Policy 3.6 of the London Plan and the GLA¿s `Shaping 
Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation' SPG (2012) requires the provision of 
play space for children within new residential development commensurate with the child 
yield of the development.   
 
3.36 Policy H3 of the Core Strategy promotes shared amenity space in large residential 
developments.  Core Strategy Policy OS1 seeks to ensure the provision of quality 
accessible and inclusive open space and children's play space and Core Strategy 
Policy BE1 seeks good quality public realm and landscaping.  The principles set out in 
these policies are supported by Policy DM A2 of the draft Local Plan. 
 
3.37 UDP Policies EN23 and EN23B require the provision of suitable open space and 
play space within new development to meet the needs of future occupiers.  These 
policies are supported by UDP Standards S5A.1, S5A.2, S6 and S7.1 and relate to the 
provision of amenity space in new development.  Policy DM A2 of the draft Local Plan 
although not formally adopted supports the requirement for amenity space and also 
requires family housing on upper floors to have access to a balcony and/or terrace, 
subject to acceptable amenity and design considerations.  Policy E2 of the draft Local 
Plan requires on-site provision (play space) or an off-site contribution where it cannot be 
provided. 
 
3.38 As the majority of units in the scheme are houses these all have private gardens. 
In terms of private amenity space, 23 (92%) of the dwellings would have direct access 
to their own private amenity space in the form of a garden with the 2 (8%) flats at first 
and second floor having access to a balcony only. S5A.1 requires new family dwellings 
with accommodation at ground floor level to have access to private open space or 
garden space of not less than 36m2. The 15 x 4 bed houses on Goldhawk Road and 
Ashchurch Grove all have gardens in excess of this standard with the majority at 40m2 
and a few significantly in excess of this standard. The 7 x 3 bed mews houses have 
gardens of 23m2 for four of the houses and 20m2 for the remaining three. This falls 
slightly short of the UDP standard however Ravenscourt Park is located a short 
distance away and a Section 106 contribution is proposed which would make this 
acceptable.The ground floor one bed flat has a private garden of 30m2 which is in 
excess of 14m2 required in UDP policy S5A.2.  The standard of private amenity space 
proposed is therefore considered acceptable.   
 
3.39 There is no communal play space proposed on site. The child yield for the site is 
relatively high as the majority 88% (22) of the units are family units however all family 
units have private gardens. The site is located in the immediate vicinity of Ravenscourt 
Park and a Section 106 contribution has been secured of £75,000 to upgrade 
Ravenscourt Park. This approach is in line with Policy E2 of the draft Development 
Management Local Plan where play space provision cannot be provided on site a 
contribution to new or enhanced facilities in the locality will be sought.  
 
3.40 Overall, the level of amenity space proposed as part of the development is 
considered to provide an acceptable quality of living environment that will adequately 

Page 172



comply with London Plan policy 3.6, Core Strategy Policies H3, OS1 and BE1, and UDP 
Policies EN23, EN23B, S5A.1, S5A.2, S6 and S7.1 and is supported by Policy DM A2 of 
the draft Local Plan. 
 
Design, Conservation and Heritage  
 
3.41 The NPPF seeks to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  It also emphasises the 
importance of good design in determining applications and outlines that good design is 
a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should 
contribute positively to making places better for people.  In relation to matters of detailed 
design, the NPPF states that planning decisions should not attempt to impose 
architectural styles or particular tastes and that they should not stifle innovation, 
originality or initiative.  
 
3.42 London Plan Policy 7.1 requires that all new development is of high quality that 
responds to the surrounding context and which enhances the character, legibility, 
permeability and accessibility of the surrounding neighbourhood.  Policies, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 
7.7 and 7.8 of the London Plan require new developments to respond to the 
surrounding scale and setting to provide high quality design and public realm that 
makes a positive contribution to the immediate, local and wider area. London Plan 
Policies 7.2 and 7.3 require new development to incorporate crime prevention measures 
and to be inclusive.   
 
3.43 Core Strategy Policy BE1 requires that all new development creates a high quality, 
accessible, urban environment that respects the surrounding setting, including heritage 
assets.   
 
3.44 UDP Policy EN8 requires that new development is of a high standard of design 
that is compatible with the scale and character of existing surrounding development. 
Policy DM G1 of the draft Local Plan  builds on the abovementioned policies and other 
design and conservation policies, seeking new build development to be of a high 
standard of design and compatible with the scale and character of existing development 
and its setting. 
 
Layout 
3.45 The propsed layout is similar to the established building line with a line of large 
family houses along Goldhawk Road and Ashchurch Grove with a paralell line of mews 
houses to the rear of the villas. This proposed layout reverses the current introverted 
and inward facing layout ensuring the development has active street frontages in the 
form of front doors facing onto Goldhawk Road, Ashchurch Grove and Ashchurch Park 
Villas to provide natural surveillance and architectural articulation. There is an access 
road to the rear of the site that runs in between the end of the garages to the Goldhawk 
Road villas and infront of the mews houses which will assist with surveillance. Along 
Ashchurch Grove there are a number of mature trees that are to be retained.  
 
Massing and Height 
3.46 The proposed Goldhawk villas are four storeys in height which is the tallest 
element within the scheme. The existing buildings on the south side of Goldhawk Road 
are two, three and four storeys high and due to the width of this section of Goldhawk 
Road this height should not have any significant impact. The three houses on 
Ashchurch Grove are three storeys in height  and as with most neighbouring houses on 

Page 173



Ashchurch Grove the second floor is located within a mansard roof and the windows 
within dormers. The three bedroom mews houses and end block of one bedroom flats 
are also three storeys with the third storey in the pitched roof. The varying heights 
generally reflect the heights of existing buildings in the adjoining developments.  The 
proposal will therefore relate positively in scale and height with the surrounding area 
 
Design 
3.47 The design approach is a modern interpretation on traditional architecture of the 
London House. The appearance has been designed to portray a set of paired villa 
houses along Goldhawk Road which is a recognisable house type within this area.  
Materials have been used that are prevalent in the area brick, slate, stone. A condition 
(3) will secure further details of materials are submitted. 
 
Goldhawk Road Villas  
3.48 The Goldhawk Road frontage consists of a terrace of 4 storey paired villas with 2 
storey recessed linking wings. This form picks up on the Victorian pattern of paired villas 
typical within the conservation area where a strong rhythm of repeating paired facades 
is established on many streets.The four storey elevation is split base, middle and top 
which is a common device in the neighbourhood to help reduce the apparent height and 
responds to the local vernacular.The main features distinguishing this elevation are the 
vertically linked and centralised windows to the first and second floors, the scale of 
window openings has has been chosen to link with the scale and proportions of 
windows in the area.  These windows will also be recessed with stone lined reveals with 
central verticle glazed panels set forward of glazed side panels to create more layered 
depth to the facades and visual interest. The shallow pitched gable roofs are typical in 
the conservation area and this form is used to cap off the villas however they will only 
become apparent in longer views of the terrrace or from oblique viewpoints in closer 
range views. Two storey garage/amenity buildings form a terrace for the south side of 
the proposed mews at the rear of the villas. These are attractively detailed, with London 
stock brick facades, with recessed windows and timber doors adding depth and shadow 
and pitched slate roofs. Overall this element of the scheme, the mix of traditional form, a 
strong rhythm of paired villas, restrained elevations and traditional materials are 
expected to enhance the character of the conservation area in line UDP Policy EN2.     
 
 Ashchurch Grove 
3.49   A short terrace of 3 houses is proposed which are set back from the street and 
staggered in response to the trees fronting onto Aschurch Grove that will be retained. 
The accommodation is spread over three floors with the rooms on the top floor 
incorporated within a mansard roof. These houses have generous plot widths and large 
front gardens which are typical features of much of the conservation area. The mansard 
roofs with dormer windows are reflective of the character of the Edwardian houses in 
the opposite terrace. The brick facades and slated roofs proposed will also help to 
integrate the houses into the conservation area. The scale of the houses is slightly less 
than the opposing terrace and is complimentary to the predominantly 3 storey buildings 
found in the rest of the street. The design has drawn on elements of the character of the 
conservation area and has integrated those characteristics with simple, well ordered 
modern façades. The houses are therefore, compliant with policy EN2. 
 
Mews Houses 
3.50 This terrace of seven 3 storey houses fronting onto the mews beginning with a 3 
storey apartment block with entrances onto both Ashchurch Park Villas and the Mews. 
The proposal creates a terrace of well articulated buildings with the houses having a 

Page 174



strong rhythm of identical facades. A repeating pattern of London stock brick frames 
each house frontage and set back within this is a timber clad facade containing the 
windows and the entrance. The third storey is contained within the roof space with 
dormer windows which is a common feature within the conservation area. The 
apartment block is detailed in a consistant manner to compliment and terminate the 
terrace. On the west end of the terrace on to Ashchurch Park Villas, the gable is 
complimentary in scale to buildings further north in the street.  The elevations of both 
the garages and this terrace of three bedroom houses echo the historic mews buildings. 
This element of the proposal is reflective of the scale, massing, height, materials, 
vertical emphasis and colour of it's neighbours in the conservation area and is compliant 
with UPD Policy EN2.  
 
3.51 In summary, the proposed scheme represents an opportunity to regenerate a site 
which will significantly enhance the local townscape.  The proposed layout, massing, 
height scale is considered to present a good relationship with the surrounding area.  In 
terms of design the development proposals are considered to provide a positive 
contribution to the locality in accordance with London Plan policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 
7.5, 7.6, 7.7 & 7.8, Core Strategy policies BE1, T1  and UDP Policies EN2 EN8, EN31x 
and EN34. 
 
Landscaping  
3.52 Policy DM E4 of the Draft Local Plan seeks to enhance biodiversity and green 
infrastructure in the borough by maximising the provision of gardens, garden space and 
soft landscaping and seeking green roofs and other planting as part of new 
development.  
 
3.53 A key element of the site layout and of key importance to local residents during the 
design development process is the retention of the beech hedge that runs along the 
entire front boundary of Goldhawk Road and Ashchurch Grove. Additional new beech 
hedging will be planted to the remaining boundaries around the western edge of the 
development in Ashchurch Park villas. The hedging will be protected with metal railings 
along Goldhawk Road and Ashchurch Park Villas. New trees will be planted to replace 
those trees that have been removed (15 trees) and secured via condition (13).  
    
3.54 The rear gardens to houses will be surfaced with hardwood decking which will be 
supplied from a sustainable source. Gardens will be edged with timber fencing 1.8m in 
height. Paving to the mews road will be in block paviours. There will be a a colour 
change in this paving to define safe zones for pedestrians to walk.  
 
3.55 The proposals comply with Policy DM E4 however further detail is required 
regarding the landscaping that will be secured through a condition (12).  
 
Archaeology  
 
3.56 The NPPF requires that the significance of any heritage assets affected should be 
identified and the potential impact of the proposal on their significance addressed.  
Where a site on which development is proposed includes or has the potential to include 
heritage assets with archaeological interest, an appropriate desk based assessment 
and where necessary, a field evaluation is required. 
 
3.57 London Plan policy 7.8 advises that development should incorporate measures 
that appropriately address the archaeology of sites.  Core Strategy policy BE1 advises 

Page 175



that new development should respect and enhance the historic environment of the 
Borough, including archaeological assets.  UDP policy EN7 states a presumption 
against proposals which would involve significant alteration of, or cause damage to, 
Archaeological Remains of National Importance and advises that the loss of 
archaeological value must be outweighed by the need for the development.  The policy 
advises that archaeological study of application sites will be required before applications 
are approved.   
 
3.58 An Historic Environment Assessment (produced by Museum of London 
Archaeology MoLA February 2013) was submitted as part of the application. English 
Heritage Archaeology have reviewed the report and provided comments on the 
application. The application site does not stand within an Archaeological Priority Area, 
but a designated archaeological priority area lies c.100m south of the eastern edge of 
the site, within Ravenscourt Park. This was the location and setting of the medieval 
Pallenswick/Paddingswick Manor (rebuilt in the 18th century as Ravenscourt House). 
Additionally, there is the potential for prehistoric, Roman and post-medieval remains to 
survive in certain locations or `pockets¿ across the site. In view of this, and particularly 
the site¿s location close to the line of a Roman road it is recommend that a standard 
archaeological condition requiring archaeological investigation prior to development be 
applied in order to fully determine the presence, nature and significance of any 
archaeological remains, and the impact of the scheme, and to allow an appropriate 
mitigation strategy to be put in place. Any specification for investigation would need to 
use the MoLA study to locate and optimise those areas of the site where archaeological 
remains may have survived previously recorded impacts (cf. Section 6.2 of the MoLA 
report). 
 
3.59 The report also notes that if any further geotechnical works are to be carried out 
for engineering purposes, a preliminary stage of investigation would be to have these 
boreholes archaeologically monitored. This would help to distinguish between modern 
made ground and possible archaeological remains. Further targeted investigation, for 
example archaeological evaluation trenches, may be required depending on the results 
(cf. Section 7.1.6). In view of the scale of the proposed scheme, it would be appropriate 
for archaeological work to be undertaken in connection with any forthcoming 
development, which is secured through condition (17). 
 
3.60 In summary, officers have reviewed the archaeological assessment and are 
satisfied that that the proposed development is in accordance with London Plan policy 
7.8, Core Strategy Policy BE1 and UDP policy EN7 in regard to Archaeology. 
 
Highways and Transportation 
 
3.61 The NPPF outlines that transport policies have an important role to play in 
facilitating sustainable development but also in contributing to wider sustainability and 
health objectives.  The NPPF states that the transport system needs to be balanced in 
favour of sustainable transport modes, giving people a real choice about how they 
travel.  
 
3.62 London Plan Policy 6.1 sets out the intention to encourage consideration of 
transport implications as a fundamental element of sustainable transport, supporting 
development patterns that reduce the need to travel or that locate development with 
high trip generation in proximity of public transport services.  London Plan Policy 6.3 
requires applications for new development to detail the impacts on transport capacity 

Page 176



and states that development should not compromise highway safety.  London Plan 
Policy 6.11 promotes a coordinated approach to smoothing traffic flow and tackling 
congestion through a range of sustainable development principles, public transport 
improvements and corridor management.  Core Strategy Policy T1 requires new 
development to secure access for all persons and provide appropriate car parking 
provision to meet the essential needs of the development without impacting on the 
quality of the urban environment.  UDP Policy TN13 states that the arising traffic 
generation from development will be assessed along with the contribution to traffic 
congestion.   
 
Traffic Generation and Highway Impact  
3.63     UDP Policy TN13 sets out the requirement for development proposals to assess      
the potential impact on traffic and congestion.  In this regard a Transport Assessment 
(TA) was submitted as part of the application. The TA estimates the trips for the 
propsed development using TRAVL. Due to the nature of the existing uses on the site 
and that it has been vacant for a number of years, it has been assumed that they do not 
generate any trips. The peak hour trip generation is set out below; 
 

AM Peak PM Peak Transport Mode 
In Out Total In Out Total 

Car Driver 1 5 6 4 4 8 
Car Passenger 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Bus 0 2 2 1 1 2 
Underground 2 10 12 7 5 12 
Train 0 1 1 1 0 1 
Walk 0 2 2 1 1 2 
Bicycle 0 1 1 1 1 2 
Motorcycle 0 1 1 1 0 1 
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total 3 22 25 16 12 28 
 
3.64 The proposal is expected to generate 6 car trips during the AM Peak and 8 car 
trips during the PM Peak. This equates to one trip every 10 minutes in the morning peak 
and one trip every 7.5 minutes in the evening peak. Traffic modelling has been carried 
out to assess the impact on the site access junction with Ashchurch Park Villas; 
Ashchurch Park Villas with Goldhawk Road to the south and Ashchurch Park Villas with 
Ashchurch Terrace to the north. The results show that the junctions operate well within 
capacity for the development. There were also no issues identified in regards to 
vehicles queuing.  The proposed development is therefore considered satisfactory with 
regards to impact on traffic and the highway and in accordance with UDP Policy TN13.   
 
3.65 A Construction Logistics Plan will be secured in accordance with TfL requirements. 
(Condition 34)  This should seek to minimise the impact of demolition and construction 
traffic on nearby roads and restrict trips to peak hours only.  
 
Car and Bicycle Parking 
3.66 Policy 6.13 of the London Plan promotes new development which avoids 
excessive car parking provision, and states that new development should accord with 
the London Plan car and cycle parking standards.  The policy also requires that 20% of 
car parking spaces provide an electrical charging point and that the delivery and 
servicing needs are met.  London Plan Policy 6.9 seeks to facilitate an increase in 
cycling in London and requires that new development provides for the needs of cyclists.  
UDP Standards S18, S19 and S20 sets out the Council's standards for car parking and 
layout and cycle parking facilities.  

Page 177



 
3.67 Policies DM J2 and DM J3 of the draft Local Plan sets out vehicle parking 
standards, which brings them in line with London plan standards.  The maximum car 
parking standards for residential development are therefore 1 car parking space per 1 & 
2 bed units and 1-1.5 car parking space for 3 x bed units.  Policy DM J5 of the draft 
Local Plan also sets out cycle parking standards and requires 1 space per 1or 2 bed 
unit and 2 spaces per 2+ bed units.  
 
3.68 The proposed development provides 22 car parking spaces at a car parking ratio 
of 0.88 spaces per dwelling and is therefore in accordance with the maximum car 
parking standards. The 3 affordable housing flats have no parking and the 12 villas to 
the south of the access road will have parking for one vehicle in a garage at the rear of 
the property. These spaces will also allow for charging of electric vehicles and meet 
disabled parking standards.The remaining 10 properties (7 mews houses and 3 houses 
on Ashchurch Grove) share a communal parking area located within the development 
behind the mews.Two of these parking spaces meet disabled parking standards.  
 
3.69  The 12 villa houses have adaquate storage space in their garages to store at 
least two bicycles. The 7 mews houses and 3 houses on Ashchurch Grove have secure 
covered cycle parking for at least two bicycles in their rear gardens. The 3 affordable 
flats have secure covered cycle parking at ground level for 4 bicycles. The cycle parking 
provision for 48 bikes in total adheres to minimum cycle parking standards.  
 
3.70 The car and bicycle parking provision is in accordance with the London Plan and 
UDP standards and has satisfied the Council's Highways Officer in this regard.  The 
development will be subject to a S106 obligation that restricts new residents (apart from 
blue badge holders) from obtaining on street car parking permits for any existing or new 
controlled parking zone.  The layout of the car park and cycle parking meet the relevant 
standards in the UDP and details will be secured by way of the conditions (26).  
 
3.71 The proposed development is therefore considered acceptable with regard to car 
and cycle parking and in accordance with London Plan Policies 6.13 and 6.9, UDP 
Standards S18, S19 and S20 and Policies DM J2, DM J3 and DM J5 of the draft Local 
Plan. 
 
Servicing 
3.72 Adequate refuse and recycling storage is proposed for the development and will 
be collected from the access road. A swept path analysis has demonstrated that a 10.2 
metre refuse vehicle can enter and exit the site in a forward gear, and will not be 
affected by the operation of the gates at the entrance to the development as they will be 
open during hours of collection. Council officers are satisfied that no negative impact will 
occur on the public highway in terms of traffic and highway safety as a result of the 
required refuse collection.   
 
Travel Plan 
3.73 A site wide Framework Travel Plan was submitted as part of the application 
documentation. The initial details were satisfactory and the Travel Plan will be  secured 
through the S106 Agreement. 
 
Access 
3.74 The proposed access to the site will be from Ashchurch Park Villas. The existing 
site entrance will be located approximately 12 metres further south to be more centrally 

Page 178



located within the frontage of the proposed scheme. The alteration to the access 
position will require the relocation of the existing on street parking bays however there 
will be no net loss of parking. This work will be constructed to the Council¿s latest 
design standards, by the council but at the developers expense. This will be secured 
through the Section 106. There is a pedestrian access only from the site through to 
Ashchurch Grove.  
 
3.75 There will be an entrance gate to the site that will operate on a timer that will 
automatically lock in the evening and open again in the morning in time for the council 
refuge collection arrangements. The gate will be set back from the public highway to 
ensure that waiting vehicles do not block the highway and the detailed design will be 
secured by a condition.(30)     
 
Pedestrian Improvements 
3.76 There will be an increase in pedestrian trips to and from the proposed 
development therefore the pedestrian environment around the site will need to be 
improved. This will be funded by the developer and secured through the Section 106 
Agreement and should include repaving to the council's latest standards the footway on 
Ashchurch Park Villas, Goldhawk Road and Ashchurch Grove, adjacent to the site.    
 
3.77 In summary, the proposed development is not expected to result in any negative 
impact on the highway in terms of increased traffic levels or highway safety.  The 
development promotes sustainable forms of transport and is considered to be 
acceptable in accordance with London Plan Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11 & 6.13, 
Core Strategy Policy T1 and UDP policies EN17, TN4, TN5 TN13 & TN15 and 
Standards S18, S19 & S20 as well as Policies H5, J2, J3 & J5 of the draft Local Plan.  
 
The impact of the development on surrounding residential amenities  
 
3.78 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF makes specific reference to securing a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  Policy 7.6 of the 
London Plan states that buildings and structures should not cause unacceptable harm 
to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, particularly residential buildings, in 
relation to privacy, overshadowing and wind and microclimate.   
 
Outlook and privacy 
3.79 Policy EN8 of the UDP outlines that development should respect the principles of 
good neighbourliness and ensure that new developments are designed so that the 
amenities of existing residential properties are not unacceptably harmed.  Standards 
S13.1, S13.2 and S13.3 provide guidance on the loss of outlook and the loss of privacy 
of neighbouring properties arising from new development. UDP standard 13.2 
recommends 18m as the minimum separation distance between facing habitable rooms. 
The distance between the rear of the mews properties and the south flank elevation of 
37 and 38 Ashchurch Park Villas is approximately 8.5 metres. M1 and M2 mews 
properties have oriel windows at first floor level to the rear to ensure there is no 
overlooking.  
 
Sunlight and Daylight 
3.80 There are no specific policies with regard to the impact of development on daylight 
and sunlight or overshadowing either within the saved UDP or the Core Strategy.  UDP 
Policy EN8 does however refer to impact generally and the principles of `good 
neighbourliness'. 

Page 179



 
3.81 The application is supported by a Daylight and Sunlight Report (April 2013). The 
report provides daylight and sunlight analysis to the surrounding properties in relation to 
the proposed scheme. The assessments consider the likely significant effects of the 
proposed development in terms of daylight and sunlight.  In particular it considers the 
potential impact on daylight and sunlight to windows of habitable rooms in the 
surrounding properties.The issue of daylight and sunlight has not been asessed within 
the development itself.   
 
3.82 The daylight and sunlight  assessment was undertaken in line with the guidance 
provided in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) document entitled `Site Layout 
Planning for Daylight and Sunlight (2011).  In urban and city centre areas, BRE 
Guidelines advise that the guidance be applied flexibly and that there are circumstances 
that will exist where a greater degree of obstruction to light can on occasions be 
acceptable. 
 
3.83 The daylight and sunlight assessment has been undertaken on those residential 
properties most likely to experience impacts from the development. According to the 
BRE Guidelines a surround existing building to a proposed scheme will retain the 
potential for good interior daylighting, provided that the scheme subtends less than 25 
degrees from the horizontal as measured from the lowest habitable windows in the 
neighbouring windows. The study included 1-6 Ariel Court, 298 Goldhawk Road, 287 
Goldhawk Road, 279 Goldhawk Road 280 Goldhawk Road and 42 Ashchurch Grove. 
All properties above do not protrude above this 25 degree plane and therefore the 
daylight and sunlight to these properties is fully compliant in relation to the BRE 
Guidelines.  
 
3.84 This excludes 298 Goldhawk Road where the 25 degree plane does pass through 
the roof of the proposed villa property on the corner of Goldhawk Road and Ashchurch 
Park Villas. Immediately to the north on Ashchurch Grove is 1-12 Ashchurch Court, as 
there are no windows in the end flank of this property it was excluded. The only other 
property which the 25 degree line infringes is 37 & 38 Ashchurch Park Villas which has 
been analysed, along with 298 Goldhawk Road, in more detail in the report and detailed 
below.  
 
Daylight 
3.85 The BRE guidelines provide three principle methods of calculating daylight to or 
within a room. The first is the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) method, followed by the 
No-Sky Line method (NSL) or Daylight Distribution method and finally the Average 
Daylight Factor (ADF) method. The most commonly accepted approach to the issue of 
the impact of a development upon daylight is to consider each of the three different 
methods sequentially; VSC, NSL and then ADF (if the VSC, NSL result in a `fail¿).  In 
the first instance the VSC results should be considered.  If all the windows in a building 
meet the VSC criteria, it can be concluded that there will be adequate daylight.  If the 
windows in a building do not meet the VSC criteria, the NSL analysis for the room 
served by that window needs to be considered. If neither the VSC nor NSL criteria are 
met, the ADF results should be considered.   
 
3.86 The VSC is the most common method used for calculating daylight levels.  It is a 
measure of the amount of skylight visible from the centre of an existing window serving 
residential buildings which look towards the Site.  It measures the sky visibility from the 
outside face of a window and compares the amount of sky that would still be capable of 

Page 180



being seen from that same position following the erection of the development.  The VSC 
does not rely on internal calculations and assesses the amount of sky that can be seen 
by converting it into a percentage.  An unobstructed window will achieve a maximum 
level of 40%. The BRE guide advises that a good level of daylight is considered to be 
27%.  The BRE guide state that daylight will be noticeably reduced if after the 
development the VSC at the centre of a window is both less than 27% and less than 
80% of its former value. 
 
3.87 The VSA analysis has been undertaken on the property at 298 Goldhawk Road. 
The results are shown in the table below. All windows in the property will lose less than 
20% of their existing VSC and so are in accordance with the BRE guidelines for 
daylight. As can be seen from the table below there are two windows on the ground 
floor of 298 Goldhawk Road where the proposed VSC is less than 27%, however all 
windows in 298 Goldhwk Road including these two mentioned will lose less than 20% of 
their exiting VSC and so are in accordance with VSA requirements for daylight. 
 
VSC- 298 Goldhawk Road 
Floor Room 

type 
Window Existing 

VSC (%) 
Proposed 
VSC (%) 

Loss VSC % Loss 
VSC 

Ground R1 W1 33.71 29.34 4.37 12.95 
Ground R2 W2 33.52 29.66 3.86 11.53 
Ground R3 W3 33.05 29.40 3.64 11.03 
Ground R4 W4 22.27 22.14 0.13 0.58 
Ground R5 W5 21.72 21.72 0 0 
First R1 W1 36.21 32.55 3.66 10.11 
First R2 W2 36.16 32.90 3.28 9.01 
First R3 W3 36.07 33.09 2.99 8.28 
First R4 W4 35.35 35.52 2.83 8.00 
First R5 W5 35.37 32.84 2.53 7.15 

 
3.88 The VSC analysis has also been undertaken on the other property that sits quite 
close to the development boundary at 37 and 38 Ashchurch Park Villas. As detailed in 
the report there are two windows in the south flank elevation of this building facing 
directly at the site and a glazed door on the ground floor. The report considers the door 
and window at ground floor as serving non habitable rooms and therefore these do not 
need to be considered in relation to loss of daylight and sunlight. On the first floor, there 
is a larger window and that will retain VSC above 27% (although the percentage loss of 
VSC is slightly above 20%) and so will be acceptable in relation to daylight.  
 
Sunlight: 
3.89 To assess loss of sunlight to an existing building, the BRE guidance suggests that 
all main living rooms of dwellings, and conservatories, should be checked if they have a 
window facing within 90 degrees of due south. The guidance states that kitchens and 
bedrooms are less important, although care should be taken not to block too much sun.  
 
3.90 The windows in 298 Goldhawk Road that face towards the site do not face within 
90 degrees of due south and thus do not need to be analysed for sunlight according to 
BRE Guidelines. The ground floor windows in 37 and 38 Ashchurch Park Villas facing 
the scheme are unlikely to serve main living rooms but they maintain at least 25% total 
ASPH with the proposal in place. The window on the first floor meets the BRE 
guidelines for sunlight.  
 

Page 181



Overshadowing  
3.91 The BRE Guidelines require that at least 50% of any garden or open space should 
receive at least two hours of sunlight on 21 March.   
 
3.92 The report analyses the open amenity space gardens to the north side of the site, 
the rear of 1-12 Ashchurch Court and the garden open amenity space at 38 Ashchurch 
Park Villas. The analysis shows that both of these areas will maintain at least 50% of of 
its area with at least two hours of sunlight on 21st March and therefore is in accordance 
with BRE Guidelines for shadow to open amenity spaces. The levels of sunlight to these 
areas will be improved compared to the existing situation.     
 
3.93 In conclusion, the proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms 
of impact on neighbouring residential amenity in including impact on daylight, sunlight 
and overshadowing in accordance with London Plan Policies 7.6 & 7.7 and UDP EN8. 
 
Noise Impact and Vibration 
 
3.94 The National Planning Policy Framework (Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment) states that planning decisions should aim to avoid noise from giving rise to 
significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life as a result of new development 
and should mitigate and reduce to a minimum any adverse impacts.   
 
3.95 London Plan policy 7.15 (Reducing noise and enhancing soundscapes) seeks to 
minimise the existing and potential impacts of noise on, from, within or in the vicinity of, 
development proposals 
 
3.96 UDP policy EN20B states that noise and associated vibration can affect and have 
a direct impact on noise sensitive users, particularly housing.  Existing and proposed 
noise levels will be taken into account when assessing a proposal for residential 
development. 
 
3.97 Policy H9 of the Draft Development Management Local Plan stipulates measures 
to control noise (including vibration) impacts of development.   
 
3.98 The recommendation is that similar rooms should match in adjoining dwellings 
however  the second floor layout in the Ashchurch Grove houses has bathrooms and 
staircases adjacent to bedrooms of separate dwellings. Conditions 31 and 32 have 
therefore been included to ensure enhanced sound insulation is included where 
required.   
 
3.99 An assessment of the proposed development with regards to noise has been 
submitted. However the sound insultation of the building envelope has been based on 
the "Reasonable" not "Good" standard of BS8233. Further details are required to 
ensure the proposed development can meet LBHF requirements. This will be secured 
through conditions (15 and 16).   
 
Contamination, soils and geology 
 
3.100 The NPPF outlines that planning decisions should take account of potential 
contamination and potential sensitivities of proposed developments. 
 

Page 182



3.101 Policy 5.21 of the London Plan supports remediation of contaminated sites 
and states that appropriate measures should be taken to control the impact of 
contamination within new developments.  Policy CC4 of the Core Strategy states that 
the Council will support the remediation of contaminated land and that it will take 
measures to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites and ensure that 
mitigation measures are put in place.  This is supported by Policy DM H7 of the draft 
Local Plan.. 
 
3.102The information submitted as part of the planning application includes a Ground 
Investigation Report.  
-  It is noted that a desk study, dated 2012 (reference R-STJ2201N-DS01) was 
produced by  Soiltechnics Ltd and this document should be submitted to the council for 
consideration; 
- Whereas it is appreciated that asbestos was tested for in soil samples and not 
detected, the site history, presence of Made Ground and the findings of the asbestos 
survey indicates that asbestos may be a potential contaminant in the ground.  The 
Conceptual Site Model should be revised accordingly and consideration given to further 
intrusive investigation of Made Ground; 
- Elevated ground gas concentrations have been detected within the borough in 
instances where there is no apparent source other than natural alluvial deposits at 
depth.  A programme of ground gas monitoring for a sensitive land use, in line with 
CIRIA C665, will be required.  The programme should include at least one round 
undertaken during a period of low and decreasing barometric pressure; 
- The Conceptual Site Model must consider the risks to receptors at neighbouring 
properties; 
- In light of the history of development in the general area, groundwater is a 
potential source of contaminants (such as vapours) at the site.  Further assessment of 
groundwater as a source and pathway is required; and 
- Statutory guidelines referred to in the report should be current.  Reference is made 
in the report to Circular 02/2000 which has now been superseded by Circular 01/2006 
and the Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance 2012.  The assessment should be 
reviewed to assess whether it meets current guidelines and revised as necessary. 
 
3.103   Potentially contaminative land uses (past and present) are understood to occur 
near to this site and the geo-environmental assessment carried out does not sufficiently 
assess potential risks associated with land contamination, it is therefore recommended 
that a number of conditions are included in the planning permission. Conditions are 
required (18 to 23) to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, 
controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development works, 
in accordance with policies EN20A and EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan as 
amended 2007 and 2011, policy CC4 of the Core Strategy 2011, and policy 5.21 of The 
London Plan 2011.  
   
Flood Risk, drainage and water resources 
 
3.104 The NPPF outlines that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where 
development is necessary, making the developments safe without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere.   
 
3.105 London Plan Policy 5.12 states that new development must comply with the 
flood risk assessment and management requirements of the former PPS25 

Page 183



(Development and Flood Risk). Core Strategy Policy CC1 requires new development be 
designed to take account of increasing risks of flooding.   
 
3.106 A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted as part of the 
application in accordance with the above polices. Part of the site is located in Flood Risk 
Zone 3 although most of the site is in Flood Zone 2. This indicates a medium to high risk 
of flooding from the River Thames, although this does not take into account the 
existence of flood defences such as the Thames Barrier and local river wall defences 
which provide a high level of protection from flooding to the site.The site is also not in an 
area at risk from rapid inunduation should these defences ever fail or are breached.    
 
3.107 The FRA recommends that the development is constructed using the latest 
best practice flood resistant construction techniques to ensure the site remains 
operational and will reduce the damage in the unlikely event of the site being inundated 
with floodwater. It also recomends that a flood plan is drawn up for the site which details 
appropriate action to take in a flood event. This includes suitable evacuation procedures 
and egress routes.  
 
 Surface Water Drainage 
3.108 London Plan Policy 5.13 states that development should incorporate 
sustainable urban drainage systems and specifies a drainage hierarchy for new 
development.  London Plan Policy 5.15 seeks the conservation of water resources and 
Policy 5.11 supports the provision of green roofs within developments to assist in 
sustainable urban drainage systems.  Core Strategy Policy CC2 states that new 
development will be expected to minimise current and future flood risk and that 
sustainable urban drainage should be incorporated into new developments to reduce 
the risk of flooding from surface water and foul water.  This is supported by Policy DM 
H3 of the draft Development Management Local Plan.  
 
3.109  In terms of surface water drainage, most of the existing site is impermeable, 
although there is a small area of permeable surfaces and landscaping that allows 
infiltration of rainfall. An initial assessment of the site¿s suitability for sustainable 
drainage measures shows that large-scale infiltration techniques may not be suitable on 
the site due to ground conditions and concludes that the only feasible option is to 
consider the use of the existing connection to the Thames Water sewer at a rate not 
exceeding that of the pre-development rates. There is not currently enough detail to 
assess whether this approach would comply with the requirements of London Plan 
policy 5.13 on sustainable drainage and Core Strategy policy CC2.  
 
3.110  The aim of the SUDS measures should be to minimise surface water run-off by 
an improvement factor of at least 50% compared to the existing arrangements. The 
latest design for the site includes the use of green roofs which will provide some 
attenuation of flows. This should be quantified and if necessary, other measures 
considered including use of attenuation tanks and flow controllers if no other SUDS 
measures are feasible. Thames Water have echoed these concerns stating that their 
preference is that all surface water is disposed of on site using SUDs as per policy 5.13 
of the London Plan. Further details are required to ensure the surface water drainage 
proposals are adequate which is secured through a condition (29). 
 
Ecology and trees 
 

Page 184



3.111 The NPPF outlines that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on biodiversity and 
providing net gains in biodiversity where possible. 
  
3.112 The London Plan Policy 7.19 describes the protection that should be given to 
internationally and nationally designated sites, Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINCs), protected species and priority species identified in the UK, 
London and borough Biodiversity Action Plans (BAPs).  UDP Policy EN27 states that 
nature conservation areas will be protected from development likely to cause 
demonstrable harm to their wildlife value.   
 
3.113 Core Strategy Policy OS1 confirms the Council¿s commitment to protecting 
and enhancing biodiversity in the Borough.UDP Policy EN29 states that development 
should protect any significant nature conservation interest of a development site and 
Policy EN28A states that the Council will not approve development that would have a 
demonstrably harmful effect on protected species or their habitat.  Policy DM E3 of the 
Draft Local Plan states that nature conservation areas and green corridors will be 
protected from development likely to cause demonstrable harm to their ecological 
(habitats and species) value. 
 
3.114 The application site is not subject to any statutory nature conservation 
designation. The nearest statutory designated site, Chiswick Eyot Local Nature Reserve 
lies approximtely 1.3km south west of the site. The closest non-statutory nature 
conservation area is Ravenscourt Park which is a Site of Borough Grade II importance 
for Nature Conservation (SINC) which lies 15 metres south of the site.  
 
3.115 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal  has been submitted as part of the 
planning application. A field survey was undertaken on site on 23rd November 2012 
which was a preliminary ecological appraisal of the ecological value of the site and to 
provide recomendations for protecting, managing and enhancing its wildlife value.  
  
3.116 The habitats within the site have been found to have moderate potential to 
support roosting bats and high potential to support widespread birds' species. The 
potential presence of protected species, such as bats and birds, will pose some 
constraint to development at the site. Due to the presence of features of bat roosting 
potential inspections will need to be undertaken on the site to assess for roost potential. 
As a consequence of this it is possible that emergence /activity and transect bat surveys 
will be required. The site contains buildings and vegetation of potential to support 
nesting and foraging birds. Where the scope of works requires the removal of these 
habitats searches for any nesting birds will be required. The report also has 
recommendations for habitat enhancement.   
 
3.117 The Council's ecology officer has advised that the tree cover on this site is a 
valuable contribution to the streetscape and associate species, especially on the Betula 
pendula and Fagus sylvatica. There should be a commitment to maintain the tree 
canopy cover on the site however where this cannot be done an option to replace with 
native green roof planting to maintain or increase the number of native species on site 
should be sought. There should be also be a no net loss approach to the number of 
species found on the site and planting recommendations should be submitted to help to 
influence this. 
 

Page 185



3.118 A condition requiring submission of proposals for the ecological 
enhancement of the site has been included to ensure ecoogical enhancements in the 
form of bat and bird boxes and native planting (Condition 36). 
 
Trees 
 
3.119 The London Plan Policy 7.21 seeks the retention of trees wherever possible, 
and states that any loss should be replaced and additional trees should be planted 
where possible.  UDP Policy EN25 also seeks to retain and protect trees and states that 
suitable replacements for trees that are removed will be required.  UDP Policy EN26 
sets out the requirement for developers to plant trees where appropriate, ideally using 
native species. London Plan Policy 5.10 states that development proposals should 
integrate green infrastructure from the beginning of the design process, which could 
include tree planting; green roofs and walls; and soft landscaping. The site falls within 
the Ravenscourt and Starch Green Conservation Area. 
 
3.120 An arboricultural survey was undertaken of all significant trees located within 
and immediately adjacent to the proposed development site in accordance with British 
Standard (BS) 5837:2012. A total of 15 trees are proposed for removal, the majority of 
these are along Goldhawk Road and are poor specimins of little or no merit. The larger 
and more prominent trees will be retained and 6 of these will be the subject of a Tree 
Preservation Order. It is proposed that there will be replacement planting throughout the 
site but specific details have not been provided. A planning condition (12) will therefore 
be added to ensure landscape and planting details are submitted for approval prior to 
development commencing.  It is important that equivalent numbers of trees that are 
proposed for removal (15) are replaced either within the new development or close to 
the site. The proposed tree protection measures described in section 8 of the 
Arboricultural Report (AR/2894/ap - Feb 2013) are acceptable. The proposed 
development is therefore considered acceptable and in accordance with London Plan 
Policies 7.21 and 5.10 and UDP Policy EN26. 
 
Environmental sustainability and energy  
 
3.121 The NPPF seeks to meet the challenge of climate change by reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions, minimising vulnerability and providing resilience to the 
impacts of climate change by supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon 
energy and associated infrastructure.  The NPPF states that this is central to the 
economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. 
 
3.122 London Plan Policy 5.1 states the target to achieve a 60% reduction in 
London¿s CO2 emissions by 2025.  Policy 5.2 advises that the Policy 5.1 target should 
be achieved through planning decisions by using less energy, supplying energy 
efficiently and using renewable energy (lean, clean, green), and specifies CO2 
reduction targets for new development, progressively increasing to zero carbon 
development between 2016 and 2031.  Policy 5.3 requires the highest standards of 
sustainable design and construction be employed throughout London addressing CO2 
emissions, urban heat islands, efficient use of natural resources, minimising pollution, 
minimising waste, avoidance of natural hazards including flooding, ensuring the 
development is comfortable for users, securing sustainable materials and local supplies 
and promoting and protecting biodiversity.   
 

Page 186



3.123 Core Strategy Policy CC1 states that the Council will reduce emissions and 
tackle climate change by ensuring that new development minimises energy use, uses 
energy from efficient sources and uses renewable energy where feasible, and through 
meeting London Plan reduction targets.  This is supported by Policy DM H1 of the draft 
Local Plan. Policy H3 of the Core Strategy requires new housing development to be well 
designed and energy efficient in line with the requirements of the Code for Sustainable 
Homes.    
 
3.124An Energy Strategy & Code for Sustainable Homes pre-Assessment Report has 
been submitted as part of the application. The Code for Sustainable Homes pre-
assessment shows that the development can be designed to meet level 4 of the Code 
by incorporating sustainable design and construction measures to reduce energy use 
and CO2 emissions, promote sustainable use of resources such as water and building 
materials, reduce waste and increase recycling, reduce pollution and improve ecology 
on the site. Level 4 is adequate to meet the sustainability requirements of London Plan 
policy 5.3 and Core Strategy policy CC1. 
 
3.125In relation to CO2 reduction, the design of the flats, houses and villas will 
incorporate energy efficiency measures and renewables in the form of solar PV panels. 
These measures can provide an average of 30% reduction in CO2 emissions for the 
three different dwelling types being built on site. This meets the London Plan and Core 
Strategy target of achieving at least a 25% improvement on the 2010 Building 
Regulation requirements.   
 
3.126A condition has been added to secure the implementation of the measures 
outlined in the Energy Strategy & Code for Sustainable Homes pre-Assessment Report. 
 
Waste and Recycling 
 
3.127 London Plan Policy 5.16 states that the Mayor will aim to achieve zero 
biodegradable or recyclable waste to landfill by 2031 by minimising waste and 
encouraging the reuse of (and reduction in) the use of materials and waste.  Core 
Strategy Policy CC3 seeks to promote sustainable waste behaviour and ensures new 
developments provide suitable waste and recycling storage facilities.  
 
3.128 Policy H5 of the draft Local Plan sets out criteria to ensure that all 
developments include suitable facilities for the management of waste, including the 
collection and storage of separated waste. 
 
3.129 Details of refuse storage, management and recycling will be secured by way 
of condition (27).  
 
Equality Impacts 
 
3.130 The planning applications are required to be in accordance with the 
Development Plan, which comprises the London Plan (2011), the Hammersmith and 
Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and the Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development 
Plan (as amended in September 2007 and October 2011), unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.   
 
3.131 Section 149 of the Equality Act (2010) requires the Council to have due 
regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 

Page 187



other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity 
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it; (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  This means that the Council must have 
due regard for the impact on protected groups when exercising its functions, and case 
law establishes that this must be proportionate and relevant, and does not impose a 
duty to achieve results.   
 
3.132 In accordance with the provisions of the Equality Act (2010), the Council is 
required to have due regard for the potential of the development to affect the various 
needs of those with protected characteristics. The scheme will provide 40% (10 units) of 
affordable housing. Seven of these units are 3 bedroom family homes offered on a 
Disounted Market Sale basis. These mainly larger family houses will contribute to 
offering a wider choice of housing as there is a shortage of family homes in the 
Borough.  While there will be some groups who may be less likely to be able to access 
private housing than others due to age, disability, pregnancy and maternity, race or sex, 
it is not considered that this means that all people within these groups, for example, 
disabled people will be unable to access this type of housing, and this will not result in 
unlawful discrimination.  
 
3.133 Consistent with duty to give due regard to Section 149 of the Equalities Act 
(2010), all dwellings would be built to Lifetime Homes standards and 10% are adaptable 
to full wheelchair housing, thus helping to facilitate equality of opportunity between 
disabled people and non-disabled people. 66% (14) of the car parking spaces are 
wheelchair accessible parking spaces. The pedestrian environment around the site will 
be improved which will include repaving to the Council's latest design standards the 
footway on Ashchurch Park Villas, Goldhawk Road and Ashchurch Grove which should 
benefit all protected groups, but specifically the elderly and disabled. The S106 will 
include a clause to ensure the wheelchair accessible units will be actively marketed via 
specific avenues for a period of at least 6 months before they go on general sale. 
 
3.134 In conclusion, it is considered that LBHF has had due regard to section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010 in its consideration of this application and resulting 
recommendations to committee Members. 
 
CIL/Planning Obligations 
 
3.135 In dealing with planning applications, local planning authorities consider each 
on its merits and reach a decision based on whether the application accords with the 
relevant development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where 
applications do not meet these requirements, they may be refused.  However, in some 
instances, it may be possible to make acceptable development proposals which might 
otherwise be unacceptable, through the use of planning conditions or, where this is not 
possible, through planning obligations. 
  
3.136 CIL Regulations also set out a number of tests including that: a planning 
obligation must be necessary to make the proposed development acceptable in 
planning terms, directly related to the proposed development, fairly related in scale and 
kind to it and reasonable in all other respects.  Negotiations should seek a contribution 
towards the full cost of all such provision that is fairly and reasonably related in scale 
and in kind to the proposed development and its impact on the wider area.  
 

Page 188



3.137 London Plan Policy 8.2 recognises the role of planning obligations in 
mitigating the effects of development and provides guidance of the priorities for 
obligations in the context of overall scheme viability.  Core Strategy Policy CF1 requires 
that new development makes contributions towards or provides for the resulting 
increased demand for community facilities.   
 
3.138 The applicant has agreed to provide a total s106 package of approximately 
£214,600.  
  
Heads of Terms 
 
3.139The proposed legal agreement would incorporate the following heads of terms: 
 
- 10 units (40%) Affordable Housing provision provided on site. 7 X 3 bed houses for 
intermediate (Discounted Market Sale) and 3 X 1 bed flats for social rent;     
  
- Provision of 10% of the residential units to be adaptable to wheelchair accessible 
standards; 
 
- Exclusive provision and active marketing (for a period of 6 months) of at least two 
residential units (10%) that can be adapted to the wheelchair accessible standard; 
 
- Travel Plan including monitoring costs;  
 
- Construction Logistics Plan to be submitted prior to commencement;  
 
- Financial contribution to cover costs in the entirety of the footway repaving to 
Ashchurch Park Villas, Goldhawk Road and Ashchurch Grove and to build out the 
improvements in accordance with the approved drawings; 
 
- Financial contribution to cover costs in the entirety of the crossover, footway parking 
bay and traffic regulation order amendments to Ashchurch Park Villas in accordance 
with the approved drawings; 
 
- Commitment to meet Code 4 (Code for Sustainable Homes) for residential units 
 
- Commitment to meet the costs of the Council¿s Legal, Professional and Monitoring 
fees in completing the Section 106 Agreement. 
 
- A restriction preventing residential occupiers from being eligible from obtaining on-
street car parking permits; 
 
-Provision of a financial contribution of up to £7,000 towards a traffic study of the local 
area including street calming and management measures; 
 
-Provision of a financial contribution of up to £3,600 towards new trees;  
 
-Provision of a financial contribution of up to £50,000 towards Education,  
 
-Provision of a financial contribution of up to £30,000 towards Health and Community 
Wellbeing; 
 

Page 189



- Provision of a financial contribution of up to £75,000 towards upgrading parks and 
open space;  
  
- Provision of a financial contribution of up to £20,000 towards sports equipment, play 
equipment and leisure/recreational initiatives in Ravenscourt Park and Starch green; 
 
- Provision of a financial contribution of up to £20,000 towards community safety and 
security including towards CCTV provision, community policing and neighbourhood 
wardens;  
 
- Provision of a financial contribution of up to £5,000 towards the Opportunity Fund; &  
 
- Provision of a financial contribution of up to £4,000 towards a work placement and 
training scheme. 
 
- Monies not used (in whole or part) after an agreed time period thereafter will revert to 
an infrastructure fund to be used for economic, social and environmental requirements 
within the area. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
3.140 Mayoral CIL came into effect in April 2012 and is a material consideration to 
which regard must be had when determining this planning application. This 
development will be subject to a London-wide community infrastructure levy.  An 
estimate of £170,787 has been calculated.  This will contribute towards the funding of 
Crossrail, and further details are available via the GLA website at www.london.gov.uk.  
The GLA expect the council, as the collecting authority, to secure the levy in 
accordance with London Plan Policy 8.3. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
3.141 The development is considered to be acceptable in accordance with national 
policy and guidance, the London Plan, the Core Strategy, the UDP and the draft  Local 
Plan.  Officers consider that the development would enhance the built environment  in 
this part of Borough and enable the delivery of much needed family housing in London 
and the borough.   
 
3.142 Officers have given consideration to all the representations received when 
assessing the proposal.  For the reasons detailed in this report officers¿ conclude that 
the proposal is acceptable in accordance with the relevant policies including the scale, 
nature and density of the land uses proposed; the housing provision; design; impact on 
surrounding amenity; highways; access for all; energy and environmental impact and 
equalities.  On the basis of securing the recommended planning obligations and 
conditions, the proposal is considered to represent sustainable and high quality 
regeneration within the Borough. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.143 Therefore, officer recommendation is that the Committee resolve that the 
Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to determine the 
application and grant planning permission upon the completion of a satisfactory legal 
agreement and subject to the planning conditions. 

Page 190



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Shepherd's Bush Green 
 
Site Address: 
Westfield London Shopping Centre  Ariel Way  London     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 
 
Reg. No: 
2013/01074/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
15.03.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
Neil Button 
 
Conservation Area: 
 

 

Page 191



 

 
Applicant: 
Westfield Shoppingtowns Limited 
C/o Agent    
 
Description: 
Extension of the existing shopping centre at roof level to comprise 3,092 sqm 
(Gross Internal Area (GIA)) retail floorspace (A1 Use Class) and 7,249 sqm 
(GIA) leisure floorspace (D2 Use Class), including identification of external 
signage zones, relocation of existing plant and addition of new plant and other 
associated works. 
Drg Nos: WL-BGI-M2-80-DR-A-08002, WL-BGI-M2-80-DR-A-08001WL-BGI-
M2-00-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08002,WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-
08003, WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08004WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08005, WL-BGI-
M2-00-DR-A-08006,WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08007, WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-
08008,WL-BGI-M2-20-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-20-DR-A-08002WL-BGI-M2-
50-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-50-DR-A-08002,WL-BGI-M2-50-DR-A-08003, 
WL-BGI-M2-55-DR-A-08001,WL-BGI-M2-55-DR-A-08002, WL-BGI-M2-57-
DR-A-08001,WL-BGI-M2-60-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-60-DR-A-08002,WL-
BGI-M2-65-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-75-DR-A-08001,WL-BGI-M2-77-DR-A-
08001, WL-BGI-M2-80-DR-A-08003Design and Access Statement by 
BuchanTransport Statement and Appendices by VectosSustainability and 
Energy Statement by Cudd BentleyConstruction Management Method 
Statement (dated March 2013)Planning, Leisure and Retail Statement by 
Montagu EvansStatement of Community Involvement by Camargue 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Executive Director of Transport and 
Technical 
Services be authorised to determine the application and grant permission up 
on the 
completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) 
set out 
below: 
 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the 

expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
    
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 
 2) The development shall be carried out and completed in accordance with 

the following plans submitted, unless agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority: 

Page 192



 

   
 WL-BGI-M2-80-DR-A-08002, WL-BGI-M2-80-DR-A-08001,  
 WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08002, 
 WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08003, WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08004, 
 WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08005, WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08006, 
 WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08007, WL-BGI-M2-00-DR-A-08008,  
 WL-BGI-M2-20-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-20-DR-A-08002,  
 WL-BGI-M2-50-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-50-DR-A-08002,  
 WL-BGI-M2-50-DR-A-08003, WL-BGI-M2-55-DR-A-08001, 
 WL-BGI-M2-55-DR-A-08002, WL-BGI-M2-57-DR-A-08001, 
 WL-BGI-M2-60-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-60-DR-A-08002, 
 WL-BGI-M2-65-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-75-DR-A-08001, 
 WL-BGI-M2-77-DR-A-08001, WL-BGI-M2-80-DR-A-08003 
  
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby 

approved and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the 
approved plans, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 
7.7, 7.8 and 7.21, of the London Plan and policies EN2B, EN8, EN8B 
and EN10 of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 and 
October 2011) and policy BE1 of the Core Strategy. 

 
 
 3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed 

in accordance with the following submitted sample of materials, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council: 

  
 Existing Plant Screen Louvre CMF -Custom Metal Fabrications 

Aluminium Louvres RAL 9010 - Pure white 30% gloss  
 Existing EWS-1 Insulated Metal Panel Paroc Insulated Metal Panel 

Paroc 200mm Original e - Micro e profile panel colour RR40 
  
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby 

approved and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the 
approved materials, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 
7.6, 7.7, 7.8 and 7.21, of the London Plan and policies EN2B, EN3, 
EN8, EN8B and EN10 of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 
2007 and October 2011) and policy BE1 of the Core Strategy. 

  
 
 
 4) No development works shall commence prior to the submission and 

approval in writing by the Council of a construction management plan 
and a construction logistics plan (in accordance with Transport for 
London guidelines), which shall include details of the steps to be taken 
to re-use and recycle waste, details of site enclosure throughout 
construction avoidance of impact on nesting birds, and details of the 
measures proposed to minimise the impact of the construction 
processes on the existing amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties, including monitoring and control measures for dust, noise, 
vibration, lighting and working hours, waste classification and disposal 
procedures and locations, and the measures proposed to prevent the 
passage of mud and dirt onto the highway by vehicles entering and 

Page 193



 

leaving the site in connection with the demolition and construction 
processes. All construction works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.  

   
 In order that appropriate steps are taken to limit the impact of the 

proposed demolition and construction works on the amenities of local 
residents and the area generally, in accordance with ordnance with 
policies EN2B, EN3, EN8, EN19A, EN20A, EN20B, EN20C and EN21 of 
the Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 

  
 
 
 5) The leisure use shall not be occupied until a servicing strategy (or 

Servicing Management Plan), including vehicle tracking, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council detailing 
management of deliveries, emergency access, collection of waste and 
recyclables, times and frequencies of deliveries and collections/ silent 
reversing methods/ location of loading bays and vehicle movement and 
impacts on existing servicing and delivery arrangements. The approved 
measures shall be implemented and continued thereafter for the lifetime 
of the development.  

  
 In order to ensure that satisfactory provision is made for refuse storage 

and collection and to protect the amenities of the visitors and shopping 
centre operators at the development site in terms of noise and 
disturbance, in accordance with Policy 6.11 of the London Plan (2011), 
policies EN17, EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 
2007 and 2011) and the Council's Supplementary Planning Document 
`Storage of Refuse and Recyclables'. 

 
 
 6) No plumbing, extract flues or pipes, other than rainwater pipes shall be 

fixed on the external elevations of the detailed part of the development 
hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Council.  

   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance with 

policies BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and 
policies EN2B, EN3 and EN8 of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham UDP (as amended 2007 and 2011). 

 
 
 7) Within 3 months of occupation of the development hereby permitted a 

BREEAM Post Construction Stage Certificate confirming a `Very Good¿ 
rating for leisure and retail use shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. 

   
 In the interests of energy conservation, reduction of CO2 emissions and 

wider sustainability measures as recommended within the Energy 
Statement should be undertaken to ensure as a minimum a 21.5% 
carbon reduction in accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of 

Page 194



 

the London Plan (2011) and policy CC1 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011). 

  
  
 
 
 8) Prior to use of the development, details shall be submitted to the Council 

and approved in writing of the external noise level emitted from the 
proposed plant machinery/equipment and mitigation measures as 
appropriate. The measures shall ensure that the external noise level 
emitted from plant, machinery or equipment at the development hereby 
approved shall be lower than the lowest existing background noise level 
by at least 10 dBA, as assessed according to BS4142:1997 at the 
nearest and/or most affected noise sensitive premises, with all 
machinery operating together at maximum capacity. 

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not 

adversely affected by noise from mechanical installations/ equipment, in 
accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007.   

 
 
 9) Neither music nor amplified loud voices emitted from the development 

shall be audible at any residential/ noise sensitive premises.  
   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not 

adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B 
and EN21 of the Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007. 

 
 
10) Prior to commencement of the relevant part of the development hereby 

approved, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council of any external lighting. Details shall demonstrate that the 
recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Engineers in the 
`Guidance Notes For The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2005 will be met 
with regard to glare, sky glow and illuminance of neighbouring facades.  
Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained.   

    
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers adjacent to the development 

site and surrounding premises are not adversely affected by lighting, in 
accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20C and EN21 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007.   

 
 
11) Prior to the display of any illuminated sign / advertisement, details shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, of external 
lighting.  Details shall demonstrate that the recommendations of the 
Institution of Lighting Engineers in the `Guidance Notes for the 
Reduction Of Light Pollution 2005 will be met, particularly with regard to 
the `Technical Report No 5, 1991 - Brightness of Illuminated 

Page 195



 

Advertisements. Approved details shall be implemented prior to use / 
occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently retained.   

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and 

surrounding premises is not adversely affected by lighting, in 
accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20C and EN21 of the Unitary 
Development Plan, as amended 2007. 

 
 
12) Prior to any operation of development, details of the proposed cycle 

parking provision (an additional 23 cycle spaces) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council. The development shall accord 
with the details as approved, and the cycle parking shall be installed 
prior to occupation and retained thereafter. 

   
 To ensure the suitable provision of cycle parking within the development 

to meet the needs of future site occupiers and users, in accordance with 
policies 6.9 and 6.13 of the London Plan (2011) and policy TN6 and 
Standard S20.1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
UDP (as amended 2007 and 2011) 

 
 
13) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use 

Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), the use of the leisure facility shall 
be restricted to Class D2 only and the use of the additional retail 
floorspace shall be restricted to Class A1 only, as identified in the 
application description, and no changes to the uses shall be permitted 
without the prior written approval of the Council, through the submission 
of a full planning application for change of use. 

   
 To ensure that no changes of use are undertaken that result in impacts 

not previously assessed, in accordance with policies 6.3, and 6.13 of the 
London Plan (2011) and policies EN8, EN10, EN20B, SH1 and TN13 of 
the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham UDP (as amended 
2007). 

  
 
 
14) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 
2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification), no aerials, antennae, satellite dishes or related 
telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of the 
development hereby permitted, without planning permission first being 
granted. 

   
 To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment can be 

considered, in accordance with Policy EN2B, EN3 and EN8 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham UDP (as amended 
2007). 

 
 

Page 196



 

15) The refuse and recylcing arrangements for the leisure use and 
additional retail floor area shall be carried out in accordance with the 
existing centre-wide waste management scheme which is in operation in 
perpetuity. Any modifications to the waste and recyclables storage and 
the collection arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council.  The approved measures shall be implemented in 
accordance with the waste management strategy and continued 
thereafter.   

    
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ 

surrounding premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance 
with Policy EN17, EN19, EN20A, EN20B, EN21, TN5, TN13 and 
Standard S21 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham UDP 
(as amended 2011). 

 
 
16) The detailed layout and internal floor plans within the additional retail 

floorspace and new leisure use shall accord with the Council's 'Access 
for All' Supplementary Planning Document. 

   
 To ensure that the proposal provides an inclusive and accessible 

environment in accordance with the Council's 'Access for All' 
Supplementary Planning Document and Policy 7.2 of the London Plan 
2011. 

 
 
17) The entrance doors to all publically accessible parts of the leisure use 

and the extended retail floorspace and integral lift/stair cores, hereby 
approved shall not be less than 1 metre wide and the threshold shall be 
at the same level. 

   
 In order to ensure the development provides ease of access for all 

users, in accordance with Policy 3.1 and 7.2 of the London Plan 2011, 
and the Council's adopted supplementary planning document "Access 
for all". 

 
 
19) Details of the outfall drainage systems and rainwater outlets to be 

removed (within the existing building) alongside the details of all new 
systems to be installed within the new extension shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority for approval in writing, prior to the 
commencement of the relevant part of the development. The details 
shall include information on surface water drainage, including measures 
to be implemented to attenuate flows which will ensure the existing 
centre is in compliance with Sustainable Urban Drainage principles. 

  
 To ensure that surface water run-off is managed in a sustainable 

manner, in accordance with policy 5.13 of The London Plan 2011. 
  
 
 
 

Page 197



 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
  Land Uses: It is considered that the proposed retail and leisure land 

uses would be compatible with the shopping centre and would increase 
the range of facilities available in Shepherd¿s Bush Town Centre in 
accordance with policies SH1 of the Unitary Development Plan. The 
proposed retail and  leisure uses would be appropriate uses within the 
White City Opportunity Area which is well served and accessible by 
public transport. The proposed development is therefore considered 
acceptable, in accordance with policies 2.13, 2.14, 2.15, 4.6, 4.7, and 
4.8 of the London Plan (2011) and Strategic Policies WCOA and 
WCOA1 which require the wider regeneration of the White City area and 
Strategic Policy C and CF1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core 
Strategy (2011). 

  
 Design: It is considered that the proposed rooftop extension and 

signage areas would relate sympathetically to the existing shopping 
centre building, in terms of scale, height, materials, massing and bulk 
and would comprise the high quality required for new development . 
Although the proposed extension would be highly visible and would 
impact on non-sensitive views from within LBHF and the Royal Borough 
of Kensington and Chelsea, it is considered that the impact is not one of 
harm to  the setting of nearby conservation areas or local townscape 
and the proposed development would positively contribute to the skyline 
of this part of White City. The proposed development is therefore 
considered acceptable in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 
7.6, 7.7 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2011) requiring high quality 
inclusive development providing safe and secure environments which 
respond to their setting and are of high architectural quality with high 
quality public realm and policies BE1, WCOA and WCOA1 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) 
requiring a high quality urban environment and policies EN2B, EN3,  
EN8 and EN8B of London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham's 
Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011) requiring 
development does not harm the setting of conservation areas and listed 
buildings and is of a high standard of design. 

  
 Residential Amenity: It is considered that given the scale, height and 

position of the extension, and the urban context adjacent to the site 
which includes the West Cross Route, West London line and the H-
junction, the impact of the proposals, in terms of overshadowing, 
privacy, daylight and sunlight to existing surrounding properties would 
be acceptable and in accordance with policies 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, 7.3, 7.6, 7.7, 
7.14 and 7.15 of the London Plan (2011), policies BE1 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies 
EN8, EN8B, EN20a, EN23 and EN23B and Standards S12.1, S12.2, 
S13.1, S13.2 and S13.3 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011) 

  

Page 198



 

 Transport and Parking: No additional car parking to serve the proposed 
development is considered to be necessary in light of the current on-site 
parking capacity to cater for any additional demand. It is considered that 
the existing coach parking and drop of facilities, coupled with the high 
public transport capacity of the site would ensure that the leisure and 
retail uses would be easily accessible for visitors and staff. It is 
considered that the overall traffic impact of the proposed development 
(of both the leisure and retail uses) would be marginal and as such, the 
traffic impact would be acceptable and in accordance with policy TN13 
of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). Subject to a condition 
requiring additional cycle parking, the proposed cycle and car parking 
levels are considered to be acceptable in accordance with the standards 
S18, S19 and S20 set by the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). It is 
considered that any impacts arising from the development would be 
mitigated by conditions and s106 provision to contribute towards 
sustainable transport infrastructure measures within the White City 
Opportunity Area and prevent significant increase in on-street parking 
pressures in surrounding roads. Subject to conditions and a legal 
agreement the proposed development is therefore considered 
acceptable in accordance with policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 6.13, of 
the London Plan (2011) and policy T1 and CC3 of the London Borough 
of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies TN4, 
TN5, TN6, TN8, TN13, TN15, TN21, TN28 and Standards S18, S19, 
S20, S21 and S23 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011) and policies 
DM J2, DM J3 and DM J5 of the DM Local Plan (2013). 

  
 Sustainability: The proposed development has been designed to a 

BREEAM rating of Very Good. The proposed development will include 
passive design measures which are set out in the Energy Strategy. 
Although the proposed C02 emissions for the development itself will fall 
marginally short of the requirement set out in London Plan policy 5.2, a 
s106 contribution will be made to ensure the shortfall in C02 emissions 
can be off-set through carbon savings off-site. This will result in a 
significant reduction of CO2 emissions beyond the Building Regulations 
2010 compliant level and will achieve the London Plan target of 25%. 
The proposed development is therefore considered acceptable in 
accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 
5.14, 5.15, and 7.19 of the London Plan (2011), and policies CC1, CC2 
and H3 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core 
Strategy (2011) and policies EN28A, EN29 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 

  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 199



 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 15th March 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
                      
Ministry Of Defence 
              

Dated: 
                      
25.04.13 
              

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
6th Floor  One Lampton Road  Hounslow Middlesex TW3 1JB  22.04.13 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The application site relates to the roof space above the three storey 
Mark's and Spencer (M&S) department store situated on the north east corner 
of the Westfield Shopping Centre, in Shepherd's Bush.  The roof space 
currently houses rooftop plant and machinery which serves the existing 
centre. 
 
1.2 The north eastern corner of the centre is currently occupied by a three 
floor M&S department store which extends over both levels of the centre and 
also occupies basement space.    
 
1.3 Ariel Way and the White City Industrial Estate lie immediately to the north 
of the application site. The White City Industrial Estate comprises 
warehouses, offices and distributions units. Planning permission was granted 
(in March 2012) for the comprehensive redevelopment of this land for mixed 
use purposes including an extension to the Westfield London Shopping 
Centre to provide circa 60,000 sqm retail, restaurant, community, offices and 
leisure floorspace and 1,522 residential units. 
 

Page 200



 

1.4 White City Underground Station is located approximately 450 metres 
northwest of the Site, while Shepherds Bush Underground Station is located 
approximately 530 metres to the south of the site.  Both stations are served 
by the Central Line.  Shepherds Bush station was rebuilt with a relocated 
entrance as part of the development of Westfield London.  In addition, as part 
of the original Westfield London shopping centre development, an integrated 
bus station interchange and London Overground Station served by the West 
London Line and Southern train services were constructed adjacent to 
Shepherds Bush underground station.  Wood Lane Underground Station is 
located approximately 300 metres to the west of the site and is served by the 
Hammersmith and City Line.  This is an entirely new station built as part of 
the Westfield London development.   
 
1.5 The land to the east of the shopping centre comprises an internal service 
road which connects Shepherd's Bush Bus Station with the White City Bus 
Station. The service road contains a number of bus stands and coach drop-off 
bays which serve the shopping centre. The West London Line Overground 
line lies immediately to the east of the service road. The West Cross Route 
lies immediately to the east of the rail line which includes a raised H-junction 
section that provides vehicular access to the shopping centre. There is a free-
standing lift/stair tower which provides pedestrian access from the raised 
footway area at the top of the H-junction to the lower ground level and the 
service road. 
 
1.6 The site is located within the White City Opportunity Area as designated in 
the London Plan (2011) and the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Core Strategy (2011). Westfield Shopping Centre is located within the 
Shepherd's Bush Town Centre which is a Metropolitan Town Centre in the 
Core Strategy and London Plan. 
 
1.7 The site is not located within a conservation area and there are no 
heritage assets immediately adjacent to the part of the building where the 
extension is proposed. The nearest heritage asset is the Grade II listed Dimco 
building which comprises a bus stabling facility. This is located approximately 
100m from the area where the extension is proposed to the west. Wood Lane 
Conservation Area is located to the north of the Hammersmith and City Line 
viaduct. 
 
Planning History 
 
1.8 Planning permission (Ref: 1993/01830/OUT) was granted for a major 
mixed use development incorporating retail, leisure, residential, workshops 
and a new rail station which became Westfield London on 29 March 1996. A 
further outline planning permission (Ref: 2000/01642/OUT) was granted in 
January 2003 for the south-west corner retail expansion.  Changes have been 
made as follows to vary these permissions:  
 
- Condition 8 attached to the 1996 permission restricted the gross lettable 
retail floorspace (excluding plant and circulation space) such that it was 
restricted to 57,598 sqm, with the space to be used for Class A1, A2 or A3 
purposes.   This condition has now been varied twice as follows.  
 

Page 201



 

- In July 2000, permission was granted to vary condition 8 of the outline 
permission to increase the Class A3 floorspace from 3,558 sqm to 20,486 
sqm.  The new Class A3 floorspace comprised additional restaurants, food 
court units and other space previously shown illustratively in the previously 
proposed link building between the main building and the Dimco buildings. 
- (Ref: 2005/00168/VAR) In June 2004, as a result of additional space 
required by an anchor store within the development, an application was made 
to vary Condition 8 of the 1996 outline planning permission (adding to the 
57,597 sqm already permitted) by allowing a further 5,575 sqm Class 
A1/A2/A3 retail floorspace.  This application was withdrawn and a new 
application submitted in January 2005, again to vary Condition 8 of the 1996 
outline planning permission to allow a further 5,575 sqm Class A1/A2/A3 retail 
floorspace.  A resolution by LBHF to approve the proposal was made in June 
2005.   
 
1.9 Condition 6 attached to the December 2002 permission requires that the 
gross lettable (Class A1) floorspace shall not exceed 29,100 sqm.   
 
1.10 On 29 March 2012, LBHF granted outline planning consent (Ref: 
2011/02940/OUT) for the redevelopment of land to the north of Ariel Way to 
allow a mixed use scheme consisting of new additions and alterations to the 
existing Westfield London shopping centre.  The permitted scheme comprises 
up to 50,855 sqm Class A1 (Retail), up to 5,070 sqm Classes A3, A4 and A5 
(Restaurants, Cafes, Bars, Hot-food Take-away use), up to 540 sqm Class B1 
(Offices), up to 1,520 sqm Class D1 (Community use) and up to 1,758 sqm 
Class D2 (Leisure use) floorspace, as well as up to 1,522 residential units.   
 
 
2.0 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS   
 
2.1 The Application proposes an extension above the existing M&S store, 
located at roof level in the north eastern corner of Westfield London.  The 
extension will comprise of two full floors plus a mezzanine level to provide:     
 
- 3,092 sq m [GIA] of retail floorspace above the existing M&S to be 
occupied by M&S; and  
- 7,249 sq m [GIA] of leisure floorspace (spilt over a  full floor and 
mezzanine level) to be occupied by a Children's Education and Entertainment 
use (The CEE Attraction), located above the new M&S floor.    
 
New Class A1 (Retail) Floorspace to Marks and Spencer (M&S) 
   
2.2 The existing M&S store is laid out over three floors (basement, ground 
and first floors) and comprises an area of approximately 15,488 sq m (GIA).  
These proposals will create an additional floor above the existing roof level of 
the M&S store.  The additional retail floorspace created by these proposals 
will amount to 3,092 sq m (GIA) which results in a store of 19,480sqm (GIA).  
Marks and Spencer own the long leasehold interest in the store, and the 
additional floor is to be occupied by M&S and accessed internally via the 
existing M&S store.  
  

Page 202



 

2.3 The applicant has confirmed that M&S has yet to work up a detailed floor 
layout plan for the expansion space, so the precise layout is not up for 
determination at this stage.  However, the proposals need to consider the 
options for redevelopment of back of house storage and staff areas.  It has 
been confirmed that these areas would be accessed internally and would 
therefore be considered ancillary A1 floorspace.   
 
2.4 The applicant has confirmed that the extension to the M&S store would 
increase its floorspace to a level comparable with other flagship M&S stores, 
such as Westfield Stratford City.  It is stated in the applicant's supporting 
planning statement that an enhancement to this store would allow it to offer 
the full M&S range which is not possible at present.   
 
2.5 It is estimated that the proposed additional retail floorspace could 
accommodate around 50 new jobs.   
 
New Class D2 (Children's Education and Entertainment (CEE)) Concept  
 
2.6 The application is for Class D2 (leisure) floorspace which would be 
occupied by is bespoke in planning terms. The proposed new leisure 
floorspace would comprise a Children's Education and Entertainment (CEE) 
facility. The CEE concept is an education and entertainment destination for 
children, formatted as a child-sized replica of a real city, including buildings, 
paved streets and shops.   
 
2.7 Entry to the CEE attraction is based upon the experience of airport check 
in.  A designated entrance area is incorporated into the `city', wherein children 
are issued with their `boarding pass¿ and a security bracelet.  This security 
bracelet cannot be removed whilst children are inside, and allows their 
movements to be monitored for security reasons, as well as enabling children 
to access activities and services.   
 
2.8 Within the CEE facility, children can attend `University' and can graduate 
to `work' in a job of their choice, earning credits. The credits are kept in a 
child¿s individual bank account and can be used to pay for activities or buy 
products or services within the CEE facility.  Bank accounts can be kept live 
and can be used for future visits.     
 
2.9 Key to the CEE `role play' concept is the integration of real-world 
companies as `partners' who sponsor businesses and activities and provide 
their format for the CEE experience.  The partners for the CEE concept have 
not yet been determined, but key partners could include major businesses 
such as HSBC, Coca Cola, Samsung and Sony.   
 
2.10 Comparable CEE attractions operating in other countries work closely 
with relevant educational bodies within the cities and countries in which they 
are located.  In the case of the proposed development, it is anticipated that 
there would be scope to connect with the curriculum of schools within the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham, in neighbouring Royal 
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and throughout London and the UK.  
The importance of linkages with local schools is demonstrated in comparable 
CEE attractions by the high proportion of visitors from school trips.  The 

Page 203



 

prediction for the proposed CEE attraction at Westfield London is that 3.8% of 
tickets will be taken up by organised trips from local schools, with further 
school trips that may come from the wider area.   
 
2.11 The CEE attraction will typically operate in two four-hour sessions from 
09.00 - 13.00 and 14.00 - 18.00.  It is anticipated that total daily visitor 
numbers to the CEE attraction would average approximately 2,000 children, 
with children able to enter a session at any time, although more are expected 
to enter at the start of the session.   
 
2.12 Visitors pay for entry to a single session.  Ticket prices for CEE 
attractions vary country to country and will be determined after planning 
permission.  The CEE attraction is proposing to operate a policy of making 
available a number of free and discounted tickets each year for school groups 
and large parties, which is to be secured by way of the Section 106 
agreement.  Additionally, CEE attractions across the world have established 
links with under-privileged children within the local area, offering discounted 
tickets.  This is something that this proposal would be extremely keen to 
emulate, with the potential to allocate a proportion of tickets to disadvantaged 
children via links established with schools.  The benefits for the local 
community will be formalised through a Section 106 Agreement.     
 
2.13 The estimate is that the CEE attraction would provide employment for 
approximately 487 people (312 FTE).  The CEE operator will commit to 
providing jobs for local people, although it must be noted that any 
employment will need to be offered on the basis of rigorous checks given the 
involvement with children.  Training would be given to all employees on the 
basis of general CEE attraction training (e.g. security personnel or 
supervisors) or training tailored towards the partner brand (e.g. operation of a 
Coca Cola bottling plant).  
 
2.14 A double height space is proposed above the new Marks and Spencer 
floor which would accommodate the CEE attraction.   Within this double 
height space, the CEE attraction would comprise a ground floor of 4,740 sq m 
(GIA) and mezzanine floor of 2,509 sq m (GIA).    
 
2.15 Access to the CEE attraction would be via the existing first floor mall 
level at the north east corner of the centre between the M&S store and lift 
core 6.  Security bracelets will be provided for children at kiosks at this level 
before entry is permitted to an access corridor leading to lifts and a series of 
escalators which lead up to the CEE attraction.  The proposed new lifts and 
escalators would replace a WC block at level 50 and above, it would utilise 
void area within the existing building up to the existing roof level.  Above this 
level the lifts and escalators would be contained within the extension.     
 
2.16 The proposals also require existing plant currently located on top of the 
M&S roof to be relocated and reconfigured on top of the roof of the proposed 
extension.  Additional plant serving the CEE attraction would also be 
contained on top of the roof of the proposed extension.     
 
2.17 The following technical reports and documents have been submitted in 
support of the full planning application: 

Page 204



 

 
- Application drawings by Buchans/Westfield;  
- Retail, Leisure and Planning Statement by Montagu Evans; 
- Design and Access Statement, including Key Views/CGI Views, Sunpath 
and Overshadowing Analysis, Waste Management Statement, Acoustic 
Statement and SUDS Statement by Buchans/Westfield;  
- Regeneration Statement by Quod;  
- Energy and Sustainability Statement by Cudd Bentley;  
- Transport Statement (including Retail Travel Plan, March 2013) by 
Vectos;  
- Community Involvement Statement by Camargue;  
- Construction Management Plan by Westfield; and  
- CIL Information Form by Montagu Evans.   
 
 
3.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
3.1 The application has been advertised by way of 6 x site notices (dated 
18/03/13) and a newspaper press release (dated 22/03/13). Letters of 
notification were sent to 386 adjacent properties including the existing M&S 
unit, Network Rail and properties within the Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea (RBKC). 
 
There have been no responses to the application notification. 
 
Shepherd's Bush Town Centre Manager: No response: 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham Access and Disability Forum: Support proposals 
and ask that the CEE attraction is useable for 4-14 year old disabled children. 
The Forum would also encourage employment opportunities for people with 
disabilities.  
 
Transport for London: No objections to the proposals subject to provision of 
financial infrastructure contribution towards White City Opportunity Area, 
provision of additional cycle parking and travel plans. Further comments 
incorporated into Transport and Parking section in the main body of this 
report. 
 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC): No response 
 
The following tenants and residents associations have been consulted: 
McFarlane Road, Wood Lane Residents, Wood Lane Tenants, White City 
Community Group, White City Neighbourhood Forum, White City Residents 
and Edward Woods Estate Residents: No responses have been received at 
the date of writing the report.  
 
Hammersmith Society: No objections raised to proposals. 
 
Environment Agency: No response 
 
Thames Water: No response 
 

Page 205



 

London Fire and Emergency Service: No response 
 
Network Rail: No response 
 
National Air Traffic services: No response 
 
British Airports Authority: No response 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham Primary Care Trust (PCT): No response 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment: 
 
3.2 Having regard to the duty on the Council under regulation 7 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 
(the EIA Regulations) Officers have considered whether the application is one 
which should require an environmental impact assessment.  Officers have 
reviewed the information submitted as part of the application including the 
pre-application scoping paper.  Having done so, in this case it is concluded 
that an environmental impact assessment is not required for the following 
reasons:  
 
3.3 Whilst it is noted that other major planning applications on this site have 
been subject to an environmental impact assessment, this application is a 
self-contained application for planning permission.  It is not an application for 
a change to or extension of a new EIA development, and consequently 
schedule 2 paragraph 13 to the EIA regulations does not apply. 
 
3.4 The area of development comprised in the application is less than 0.5 
hectares and it is considered that the development subject of this application 
would be unlikely to have significant environmental effects when judged on its 
own account or cumulatively with other development in the area (this other 
development includes the development to the north of the Westfield London 
centre which was permitted by the council in March 2011 but which has not 
yet commenced (ref: 2011/02940/OUT). For this reason, it is considered that 
a full environmental impact assessment is not required to support the 
development proposed in this application. 
 
 
4.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
4.1 The main planning considerations are as follows: 
 
- Principle of Development 
- Suitability of Land Uses 
- Design and Heritage Impacts  
- Impact on Neighbouring Properties 
- Transport and Parking 
- Sustainability and Energy 
- Access 
- Noise 
- Flood Risk 
- Planning Obligations/CIL 

Page 206



 

 
Principle of Development  
 
4.2 The proposed development will be considered against the current 
development plan policies for the Borough which are contained within the 
London Plan, the Council's Core Strategy and the Unitary Development Plan 
for the Borough.  There is also important guidance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) where there is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  
 
4.3 Both the NPPF and the London Plan advocate the need to optimise the 
use of land and provide high density development in appropriate locations 
specifically within areas of high public transport accessibility.   
 
4.4 The site falls within the White City Opportunity Area (WCOA) as identified 
within the London Plan and the Council's Core Strategy.  Within the London 
Plan, Opportunity Areas (OAs) are defined as 'the capital's major reservoir of 
brownfield land with significant capacity to accommodate new housing, 
commercial and other development linked to existing or potential 
improvements to public transport accessibility'.  Part B of Policy 2.13 
(Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas) states that development 
proposals within OAs should 'seek to optimise residential and non-residential 
output and densities, provide necessary social and other infrastructure to 
sustain growth, and, where appropriate, contain a mix of uses'.   
 
4.5 One of the key challenges identified within the LBHF Core Strategy is the 
need to regenerate town centres and local centres, specifically through the 
better utilisation of sites within the designated town centres to ensure the 
continued provision of a wide range of high quality retailing, services, arts and 
cultural and other leisure facilities to serve local residents, visitors and 
workers.   
 
4.6 Both the UDP Saved Policies and the Core Strategy seek the 
regeneration of areas and aim to sustain a mix of uses.  Strategic Policy A of 
the Core Strategy (Planning for Regeneration and Growth) recognises the 
need to focus regeneration and growth within the WCOA and the other key 
regeneration areas.  The supporting text to the policy notes that a range of 
uses will be expected within the WCOA, including leisure uses.   
 
4.7 The Application seeks to provide new leisure and retail floorspace to 
complement the existing offer of Westfield London and of Shepherds Bush 
Metropolitan Town Centre.  As a result of the development, it is considered 
that Shepherds Bush's status as a retail and leisure destination would be 
enhanced.  As such, it is considered that the principle of development is in full 
accordance with planning policy requirements.   
 
Town Centre Uses  
 
4.8 The planning policy context for increased town centre uses is enshrined 
within various planning policy documents.  At the national level, Chapter 2 of 
the NPPF refers to the need to ensure the vitality of town centres and states 
the need to promote competitive town centre environments.  

Page 207



 

 
4.9 The site falls within Shepherds Bush Town Centre, identified in Annex 2 
Table A2.1 of the London Plan (2011) as a Metropolitan Town Centre, having 
been elevated from a Major Town Centre as set out within the previous 
iteration of the London Plan.  Policy 2.15 of the London Plan (Town Centres) 
states that development proposals in town centres should 'support and 
enhance the competiveness, quality and diversity of town centre retail, 
leisure, arts and cultural, other consumer services and public services'.   
 
4.10 The Council's adopted Core Strategy recognises the elevated status of 
Shepherds Bush Town Centre, with Strategic Policy C (Hierarchy of Town 
and Local Centres) stating that the priority is to strengthen the town centre by 
encouraging commercial and leisure based development and uses that will 
help regenerate town centre functions and linkages with the WCOA.   
 
4.11 Policy C1 of the emerging Development Management DPD states that 
the Council will support proposals that aim to enhance the viability and vitality 
of the town centres and will seek to ensure a range of accessible shopping 
and other town centre uses to meet the needs of local residents, workers and 
visitors.   
 
4.12 The proposals would provide additional retail floorspace and leisure 
floorspace with an education flavour. It is considered that both uses would 
contribute to the vitality of the town centre and the future viability of the 
location.  The acceptability of each of the proposed uses is considered in 
more detail below.   
 
Education / Leisure Use  
 
4.13 The principle of new leisure floorspace being provided within the town 
centre is strongly encouraged within the adopted development plan.  London 
Plan Policy 3.16 (Protection and Enhancement of Social Infrastructure) refers 
to the need for social infrastructure to support new development, and states 
that adequate provision of social infrastructure is particularly important in 
areas of major new development and regeneration.   
 
4.14 Throughout the Core Strategy and the draft WCOAPF there are 
numerous references to the need to deliver a major leisure attraction within 
the OA.  Core Strategy Policy CF1 (Supporting Community Facilities and 
Services) is considered to underline the need for major new leisure and 
recreation facilities in the WCOA, especially east of Wood Lane and within 
Shepherds Bush Town Centre.   
 
4.15 The emerging policy guidance in the draft WCOAPF reinforces the 
strategic policies WCOA and CF1 which confirms that there should be `a 
range of schools, health, leisure, community facilities to support the expanded 
population across the whole area'.  The current draft WCOAPF is yet to be 
adopted but reflects the need to establish the long-term viability of Shepherd's 
Bush Town Centre as a Metropolitan Centre by building on its existing 
strengths, such as its leisure and cultural importance.  Again, the draft 
guidance underlines the strategic policy requirements. 
 

Page 208



 

4.16 Policy D2 of the draft Development Management Local Plan (Draft Local 
Plan) refers to the enhancement of arts, culture, entertainment, leisure, 
recreation and sports uses.  Supporting text to the policy recognises that 
accessible leisure facilities provide an important element of social 
infrastructure and contribute greatly to the quality of life of all members of the 
community, as well as visitors.  It is also emphasised that such facilities are 
essential in supporting the borough's growth.   
 
4.17 The Council's Leisure Needs Assessment Final Report (August 2009), 
which is part of the evidence base for the WCOAPF, aims to inform the 
Council on the future leisure infrastructure requirements within the borough.  
It concludes that there is currently a high demand for sport and leisure 
facilities in the borough.  The report also notes that the WCOA provides a 
unique opportunity to address sport and leisure provision across a relatively 
deprived area.   
 
4.18 The Application provides the opportunity to deliver an education based 
leisure facility to serve the local and regional area.  The Application proposes 
a maximum of 7,249 sqm (GIA) of leisure (Use Class D2) floorspace, in the 
provision of a CEE attraction unique within the UK, the concept of which has 
been set out in detail in section 1 of this report. An Operations Management 
Plan is to be secured by way of a section 106 obligation which will contain the 
operational details of the proposed CEE attraction which would include visitor 
number capacity (for children and supervisors), hours of operation (including 
any after hours usage) and the detailed design and layout of the facilities to 
ensure they are fully accessible for disabled children and people of impaired 
mobility.  It is considered that this use will complement existing leisure 
provision within the local area, including the Vue multiplex cinema at 
Westfield London, and will create a critical mass of leisure uses which should 
assist in attracting operators to take up forthcoming provision including the 
1,850 sqm of leisure floorspace which may be delivered as part of the Phase 
2 extension to Westfield London.  It is considered that the resultant provision 
would facilitate a wider range of town centre uses consistent with the function 
of Shepherds Bush as a Metropolitan Town Centre.   
 
4.19 The Core Strategy recognises that there is a high level of deprivation 
within the OA, with communities suffering from income, employment, health, 
education and skills deprivation.  The Core Strategy highlights the need to 
readdress this situation as one of the key objectives of the Plan. There is a 
critical need to harness all significant development opportunities in the OA for 
the social, economic and physical benefit of the whole area in order that 
development plays its part in the reduction of concentrations of deprivation, 
unemployment and social and economic polarisation and the encouragement 
of social mobility.    
 
4.20 The standard business model for the proposed CEE attraction refers to 
ticket concessions, discounted tickets for groups and free tickets for local 
schools and children in care. The proposed CEE attraction aims to include 
programmes to create links with local schools and disadvantaged children 
within the local area.  This linkage is to be formalised within the s106 
agreement which the Council's Children's Services Director will continue to 
provide assistance in agreeing. It is proposed that each year for 20 year 

Page 209



 

period a number of free and discounted tickets will be distributed to 
underprivileged children and through local schools.   
 
4.21 It is considered that the proposed ticket concessions and formal 
arrangement with schools would ensure local children can benefit from the 
use of the facilities which have a bespoke educational flavour.  The effect of 
these initiatives are to address the Core Strategy key objectives in reducing 
social polarisation, enhancing opportunities and raising aspirations. 
 
4.22 Annex 1 of the London Plan details the policy context for the White City 
OA, setting out an indicative employment capacity of 10,000 new jobs 
 
4.23 It is considered that the proposed CEE attraction would serve to 
enhance the town centre through the provision of a world class education and 
leisure venue. However, it also has the potential to be a significant 
employment generator within the borough.  It is estimated that approximately 
487 new jobs (312 FTE) will be created as a result of the proposed CEE 
attraction.  Officers consider that these would create important job 
opportunities for local Borough residents, providing shift work for those who 
require flexible working patterns.  The applicant has confirmed that 
employment would be on the basis of ongoing training. Such employment and 
training measures will form the basis for an on-going strategy which would be 
set out in the s106, and would be agreed with the Borough's Head of 
Economic Development. 
 
4.24 It is considered that the provision of a significant number of jobs, as well 
as a valuable leisure destination would present a valuable contribution to the 
local economy. 
 
Retail  
 
4.25 The scheme seeks to provide an additional 3,092 sqm (GIA) of retail 
floorspace (Use Class A1), in the form of an additional retail floor above the 
existing Marks and Spencer department store, located within the north east 
corner of Westfield London.  The floorspace is to be occupied by Marks and 
Spencer, and will be accessed internally via the existing retail area.   
 
4.26 The applicant has stated that the proposed additional retail floorspace is 
needed to ensure a quality, scale and range of retailing appropriate to 
Westfield London and Shepherd's Bush Metropolitan Town Centre.  Marks 
and Spencer is an anchor store within the centre and the Town Centre, and 
the proposals seek to improve the offer of the store, providing new space for 
expansion and allowing the variation of its offer. By comparison, the Marks 
and Spencer department store at Westfield Stratford City operates with a floor 
area of approximately 18,580 sqm, and offers a full complement of retail 
goods and services.  The applicant confirms it is their intention to replicate 
this offer in Westfield London in order to compete with the proposed 
forthcoming department store in the Phase 2 extension.   
 
4.27 Officers recognise that the 2012 planning permission for the future 
expansion northwards of Westfield London (Ref: 2011/02940/OUT) is a factor 

Page 210



 

in assessing the current proposals.  These proposals would provide additional 
retail floorspace and a significant amount of new residential accommodation.   
 
4.28 The proposed extension to the M&S Store will increase the size of the 
store by approximately 20%.  The resulting store will have a gross floor area 
of approximately 18,580 sq m.  As set out above, this will bring the size of the 
store in line with the size of the existing M&S at Stratford City.  
In terms of national planning policy, the site lies within a town centre location 
and therefore the proposals for retail use are compliant with the policies of the 
NPPF which seek to ensure that the vitality and viability of town centres are 
enhanced.   
 
4.29 Paragraph 26 of the NPPF sets out that planning policies and decisions 
should assess the impact of retail and leisure proposals and demonstrate 
compliance with the sequential site approach.  As the site is located within an 
identified town centre and is in accordance with an up-to-date development 
plan, officers consider that there is no need to assess the proposed 
development against these tests.   
 
4.30 Policy 4.7 of the London Plan (Retail and Town Centre Development) 
sets out the Mayor's support for bringing forward capacity for retail, 
commercial, culture and leisure development in town centres, while Policy 4.8 
(Supporting a Successful and Diverse Retail Sector) emphasis the need to 
'bring forward capacity for additional comparison goods retailing, particularly 
in International, Metropolitan and Major centres'.  These policies encourage 
the location of town centre uses within town centres such as Shepherds 
Bush, and are consistent with the NPPF which seeks to ensure the viability 
and vitality of town centres through the promotion of competitive town centres 
that provide a diverse retail offer.   
 
4.31 Policy 4.7 of the London Plan also states that 'the scale of retail, 
commercial, culture and leisure development should be related to the size, 
role and function of a town centre and its catchment'.  As an existing 
Metropolitan Town Centre, it is considered that the scale of the development 
proposed is consistent with its role, function and catchment.   
 
4.32 Notwithstanding this, the applicant has carried out a detailed impact 
assessment in order to determine whether the proposed increase in turnover 
of Shepherds Bush Metropolitan Town Centre will have a detrimental impact 
on any other centres within LBHF.   
 
4.33 The applicant has made the assumption with regards to the turnover of 
extensions and upper floors that they generally trade at a lower rate than the 
published company average figures (often up to 30% less). However, in order 
to demonstrate robustness of the impacts the applicant has used the 
company average figure within this assessment.  Based on company average 
turnover figures, the applicant has stated that the turnover of the store will 
increase by £9.8 million.  The applicant has assumed the pattern of trade 
draw for the extension is the same as for the existing store.   
 
Table 1 - Impact of M&S Extension 2016 
 

Page 211



 

Centre                                  Impact of M&S Extension 2016 (%) 
Hammersmith                                 0.10 
Fulham                                 0.04 
Shepherds Bush/Westfield  -1.15 
Other neighbourhood centres   0.01 
 
Source: Montagu Evans 2013 
Note: Negative figure indicates an increase in turnover  
 
4.34 The potential levels of impact that may arise from the proposed 
extension to M&S are set out in the above Table. The applicant has formed 
the view that these levels of impact would not have a detrimental impact on 
the vitality and viability of any of the other centres located within LBHF. 
Officers have reviewed the submitted quantitative information provided by the 
applicant which is considered to be generally sound. As such, officers 
generally agree with the applicant's conclusions relating to the impacts of the 
retail extension with regards to the levels of impact on town and 
neighbourhood centres in LBHF. In conclusion, as the levels of impact are 
minimal, the proposed additional retail floorspace would not be considered to 
have any adverse impacts on the vitality or viability of town centres within 
LBHF, in accordance with policies 4.7 and 4.8 of the London Plan and the 
NPPF. 
 
4.35 In terms of the type of retail proposed, the proposals relate specifically to 
the improvement of the offer of a major anchor store (M&S) within the existing 
shopping centre.  Therefore, the proposed retail offer cannot be 
accommodated elsewhere within Westfield London or within the town centre.  
As such, it is considered the type of retail proposed would be acceptable and 
would comply with the above relevant policies.  
 
Design and Access 
 
4.36 High quality and inclusive design is encouraged at all policy levels.  The 
NPPF notes that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
and should contribute positively to making places better for people.  The 
NPPF also states that Local planning authorities should identify and assess 
the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a 
proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) 
taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They 
should take this assessment into account when considering the impact of a 
proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the 
heritage asset's conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 
 
4.37 Chapter 7 of the London Plan sets out the Mayor's policies on a number 
of issues relating to London's places and spaces.  Policy 7.2 (An Inclusive 
Environment) requires all new development in London to achieve the highest 
standards of accessible and inclusive design, while Policy 7.4 (Local 
Character) states that 'development should have regard to the form, function, 
and structure of an area, place or street and the scale, mass and orientation 
of surrounding buildings'.  Part D of Policy 7.6 (Architecture) states that 
buildings and structures should 'not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity 
of surrounding land and buildings'.  

Page 212



 

 
4.38 Core Strategy Policy BE1 (Built Environment) states that all development 
within Hammersmith and Fulham should create a high quality urban 
environment.  It adds that there should be an approach to accessible and 
inclusive urban design which responds to the townscape context and 
considers how good design and land use can be integrated to help 
regenerate places.  The Core Strategy further states that WCOA should be a 
model of high quality urban design, sustainable architecture and construction 
situated within a first class permeable, accessible and inclusive public realm.   
 
4.39 UDP Saved Policy EN2B states that development (including 
development outside conservation areas) will only be permitted if the 
character or appearance of the conservation areas in terms of their setting 
and views into or out of them is preserved or enhanced. 
 
4.40 UDP Saved Policy EN3 states that permission will not normally be 
granted for any development which would not preserve the setting of any 
listed building 
 
4.41 UDP Saved Policy EN8 states that development will not be permitted 
unless it is of a high standard of design, and compatible with the scale and 
character of existing development and its setting. UDP Saved Policy EN8B 
will require a high standard of design in all extensions and alterations to 
existing buildings. These should be compatible with the scale and character 
of existing development, its neighbours and its setting. In considering 
applications the council will take into account the following: 
 
(i) scale, form, height and mass 
(ii) proportion 
(iii) vertical and horizontal emphasis 
(iv) relationship of solid to void 
(v) materials 
(vi) relationship to existing building, spaces between buildings, and gardens, 
and 
(vii) good neighbourliness 
 
4.42 The GLA has also published Supplementary Guidance to the London 
Plan.  SPG: Achieving an Inclusive Environment provides detailed advice and 
guidance on providing inclusive design in London.   LBHF adopted the LDF 
SPD Access for All in March 2006.  This document highlights important 
principles in designing inclusive buildings and open spaces.  Paragraph 1.9 
states that high quality and inclusive design should apply to all development, 
including individual buildings, public and private spaces and wider 
development schemes.  This creates an environment that functions well and 
is accessible to everyone'. 
   
4.43 The draft Local Plan Policy G1 (Design of New Build) discusses the 
design requirements of new proposals with the compatibility of new 
development with the scale and character of the existing development to be 
of considerable importance.  It adds that designs need to respect the local 
design context, including the prevailing rhythm and articulation of frontages 
within the area.  Policy G3 (Alterations and Extensions) requires that the 

Page 213



 

development should be successfully integrated into the existing architectural 
design, with the impact on scale, mass and vertical/horizontal emphasis to be 
of particular design importance.   
 
4.44 The proposals have been prepared in consultation with design officers at 
LBHF to create a seamless extension to the existing centre which sits 
comfortably within the existing form of the centre and its surroundings.    
 
4.45 A comprehensive Design and Access Statement is submitted in support 
of the Application and discusses the design merits of the proposals.  The roof 
level extension has been designed to take into consideration the existing 
scale and massing of the centre, other roof level enlargements such as the 
Vue Cinema box (on the northern part of the roof adjacent to the Dimco 
building) and the Net-a-Porter offices (adjacent to the West Cross Route) as 
well as the contextual scale and massing of the permitted Phase 2 extension 
of the centre.   
 
4.46 The CEE and Retail extension has been submitted in addition to 
forthcoming proposals for an office extension to accommodate additional Net 
a Porter office floorspace. The Net-a-Porter extension is proposed to extend 
the roof level box which is on the eastern side of the shopping centre.  
 
4.47 Visually, the proposed CEE and Retail extension will fill-in existing gaps 
in the elevations between the existing Net a Porter office space on the 
eastern elevation (leaving space for the proposed Net a Porter extension) and 
the existing Vue cinema box on the northern elevation.  It is considered that 
the proposed new extension closely relates to the scale of the roof top cinema 
accommodation and the form of the façade has been articulated to reference 
this relationship.   
 
4.48 The existing height of the north east corner of the centre is 32.65m AOD 
and the extension increases the height of the centre in this location to 
approximately 50m AOD.  At present, the highest point of the centre (Core 
114) stands at 56.5m, while the highest point visible from street level is the 
cinema box on the northern façade which stands at 46.1m. Therefore, while 
the proposed extension to the north east corner will be lower that the highest 
point of the centre, it will be taller than the cinema box by approximately 4m. 
 
4.49 It is considered that this increase in height complements the taller 
elements of the existing centre within this location.  By comparison, the phase 
2 proposals include provision for a building up to 75.5m (AOD)in height to the 
north of the H-junction on the opposite side of Ariel Way. It has been 
demonstrated that there would be no adverse impacts on the nearest 
neighbouring residential properties in Hunt Close, as a result of the roof 
extension, or cumulatively with the additional phase 2 proposals.  In 
townscape terms, it is considered that the additional height at this junction on 
the north-eastern corner of the shopping centre on its own and cumulatively 
alongside the phase 2 proposals would be appropriate as it would reflect the 
open and urban scale of the location. 
 
4.50 In terms of detailed design, the proposed facade is comprised of three 
elements:   

Page 214



 

- The existing louvred plant screen currently on the roof of the M&S unit;  
- The two storey facade of the extension comprising of a sandwich panel 
construction consistent with the existing adjacent cinema box cladding; and  
- New roof level louvred plant screens to match the existing plant screens. 
  
4.51 The existing louvres are to be incorporated into the new facade with the 
construction of a new weathering enclosure behind the line of the louvres. 
This approach assists with breaking up the mass of the proposed extension. 
The extension is to be primarily enclosed with a facade comprising of a 
sandwich panel construction which is consistent with the existing cladding of 
the adjacent cinema block. The vertical emphasis of these new panels is also 
consistent with the cinema block. The sandwich panels are flat and will vary 
between an 8m and 4m long model to achieve the proposed radial setting out 
of the facade. A band of new louvres are proposed to screen the relocated 
M&S plant and the CEE unit plant at roof level. The louvres will be consistent 
with the existing retained louvres in appearance and will extend around the 
north and east edges and return around part of the south and west edges of 
the extension. A further zone of louvres is proposed between the new 
extension and the proposed roof level Net-a-Porter office extension to also 
screen the plant in this location.  
 
4.52 The extension will complete the roofscape in this corner of the shopping 
centre and will be set back from the main elevation of the shopping centre to 
respect this strong parapet line and to allow the existing green tiling to remain 
as the predominant material which unifies the shopping centre elevations.  
The massing of the extension is compatible with the character and 
appearance of the existing building.  In terms of design and materials it will 
appear as an integrated part of the shopping centre, maintaining the 
consistency of the original design approach.  The louvres and their existing 
set back will be retained behind which the extension to Marks and Spencer 
will be located and the louvres will continue to provide the strong horizontal 
emphasis above the green tiling found on the other elevations of the shopping 
centre.  Above the louvres the metal insulated cladding panels will match 
those of the existing cinema box and will provide a zone for signage.   
 
4.53 Signage is proposed to the new and existing facades. However this 
application seeks consent for signage zones only. The applicant has 
confirmed that a separate application will be made subsequently for the 
proposed signage. In principle, it is considered that the signage zones as 
proposed are appropriately located and scaled for this prominent location in 
the local townscape and are considered to be acceptable in design terms. 
 
4.54 The applicant has submitted sample panels and detailed sectional 
drawings detailing the materials and their interface with the existing building. 
The proposed louvers are the same material as the existing plant screen 
louvre which comprises CMF (Custom Metal Fabrications) aluminium louvres 
RAL 9010 in a pure white 30% gloss.  The proposed panelling is also the 
same specification as the existing material in the cinema box facades which 
comprises a  EWS-1 insulated metal panel paroc 200mm Original e and Micro 
e profile panel colour RR40. 
 
Heritage Considerations 

Page 215



 

 
4.55 The site is located close to the Grade II listed Dimco building, currently 
used as a substation and bus stand.  The other nearby heritage assets are 
the Wood Lane Conservation Area and the Grade II listed BBC Television 
Centre, both of which are to the north of the Hammersmith and City Line 
viaduct.  There are no Conservation Areas in RBKC immediately adjacent to 
the West Cross Route at this point. 
 
Townscape and Visual Impact 
 
4.56 The north east corner of the shopping centre presents an important 
elevation to the West Cross Route and to pedestrians accessing the site from 
the east side of the West Cross Route.  The roofscape in the north east 
corner is a weak point in urban design terms lacking either the setback 
element of the cinema box on the north elevation or the glazed cantilever of 
the Net a Porter offices on the eastern elevation facing the West Cross Route.  
The opportunity to tidy the roofscape and create a strong corner in urban 
design terms now exists following agreement between Westfield and Marks 
and Spencer about the development of this part of the site.  It should be noted 
that Marks and Spencer and not Westfield own the freehold of their store in 
this corner of the shopping centre.  The current proposal would now also be 
seen in the context of the consented Westfield 2 development which will 
include a residential tower on the north west corner of the H junction opposite 
the north east corner of the shopping centre. 
 
4.57 Wireline views and assessments of the impact of the proposals on key 
views from within LBHF and RBKC have been provided with the application.  
The location of the viewpoints has been agreed through consultation with 
officers in LBHF and RBKC.  The extension would be visible from Kensal 
Green Cemetery within RBKC, which is on the English Heritage Register of 
Parks and Gardens and is located within a Conservation Area.  However the 
views of the proposed development from the Cemetery are not considered to 
be harmful or to cause harm to its setting. Furthermore, the view adequately 
demonstrates that it would be completely obscured by the consented 
Westfield 2 development.  The extension would not be visible in the key views 
tested from within the Holland Park and Ladbroke Conservation Areas in 
RBKC.  The extension would be highly visible from Hunt Close within LBHF 
on the east side of the West Cross Route but would help to provide a legible 
gateway to the WCOA, complemented by the consented Westfield 2 
development and the residential tower included within it. 
 
Access 
 
4.58 The proposed retail floor would be accessed via the existing store. New 
lifts and escalators would be fitted to ensure the new floorspace is fully 
accessible and level thresholds would need to be secured by way of 
condition. The CEE attraction requires creation of a new internal access core 
which would comprise a pair of  lifts and escalators running up through the 
building at the side of the M&S store. Again, level thresholds would be 
required by way of condition. The Council's Disability Forum have inquired 
whether the facilities in the CEE attraction would be available for children with 
disabilities. The detailed layout of the CEE attraction is yet to be designed, 

Page 216



 

and so it is recommended that a condition is imposed to ensure that the 
proposed development (including the CEE attraction) complies with Access 
for All guidance and London Plan guidelines on accessibility issues to ensure 
the facilities are available for disabled children, in terms of corridor widths, wc 
facilities and entrances/thresholds. An Operations Management Plan is 
recommended by way of a section 106 obligation, which requires the detailed 
design and internal layout of the CEE attraction to include provision for 
disabled children in terms of the functions, activities and equipment to be 
provided.  
 
Design Conclusions 
 
4.59 The proposal is of a high quality of design, makes good use of a site in 
the town centre and WCOA and will assist the regeneration and vitality of 
both, whilst providing a strong corner to the north east section of the building 
in townscape terms.  Setting of adjacent heritage assets and views from the 
English Heritage Registered Historic Park and Garden at Kensal Green 
Cemetery will not be harmed.   
 
4.60 The submitted samples are considered to be acceptable without 
requiring a further planning condition. Therefore, in summary the proposed 
extension to the Westfield Shopping Centre is considered to be of the 
required quality to ensure compliance with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 
7.7, 7.8 and 7.21 of the London Plan and policies EN2B, EN3, EN8 and EN8B 
of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 and October 2011) and 
policies BE1, WCOA and WCOA1 of the Core Strategy. 
 
Amenity  
 
4.61 At a national and regional level there is a requirement to prevent 
unacceptable harm to amenity arising from new development.  Paragraph 109 
of the NPPF seeks to prevent new and existing development from 
contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution.   
 
4.62 London Plan Policy 7.6 (Architecture) states that buildings and structures 
should not 'cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and 
buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation to privacy, 
overshadowing, wind and microclimate'.   
 
Daylight/Sunlight and Privacy  
 
4.63 The Design and Access Statement submitted in support of the 
Application includes a shadow path analysis and a section illustrating a 25 
degree line from the closest residential habitable room window to the 
proposed development.  These analysis' illustrate that there would be no 
significant harm in terms of daylight/sunlight or overshadowing on nearby 
residential properties and adjacent local amenity space as a result of the 
proposed development.  
  
4.64 The distance between the application site and the nearest residential 
building at Hunt Close to the east is approximately 105m  with the West Cross 

Page 217



 

Route and West London Line which combine to form a significant physical 
barrier. The garden spaces to the Hunt Close properties are located below 
the southbound ramped part of the H-junction. A high boundary wall is located 
at the rear of the gardens which blocks views of the road and would also 
ensure there are limited views of the rooftop extension. Notwithstanding the 
limited views of the proposed extension, it is considered that there is sufficient 
distance to maintain privacy.  It is considered that there would be no 
significant worsening in terms of impact on the adjoining properties.   
 
4.65 The proposed phase 2 works include upper floor residential uses within 
adjacent buildings which have the potential to be affected by the proposed 
extension. The shadow path analysis demonstrates the impact of the 
extension would result in a shadow being cast over the potential new 
development in November which is representative of winter months (when the 
sun angle is low). The analysis demonstrates that there would be no adverse 
impacts in March or June (which are representative of their various seasons). 
Officers have reviewed the phase 2 proposals which were subject to outline 
approval and note that the adjacent buildings contain lower floor commercial 
uses which are likely to be impacted more than the upper floor residential 
premises which would have a better outlook. Officers consider that the 
majority of new dwellings which are adjacent to the extension would be 
unaffected by the proposals and would receive good levels of light the 
majority of the year round. In light of the limited over-shadowing that would 
occur in November, when the sun is low, and the limited number of potential 
dwellings which may be affected, it is considered that the proposed 
development would not constitute a significant impact that would justify 
refusing this application. Officers consider that there is sufficient distance 
between facing buildings to ensure that the most affected dwellings in the 
new development would receive at least one good aspect, and that for the 
main part of the year the dwellings would benefit from being south facing 
which have more direct access to sun. 
 
4.66 The application site boundary is separated from the location of the 
proposed tall building in Phase 2 only by the location of the `H¿ junction 
which provides the main vehicular access into the centre.  Therefore, the 
proposals would be located not only in a place where there is existing height, 
but also where there are likely to be nearby taller buildings as part of the 
extension to the centre.   
 
4.67 As such, it is considered that given the scale, height and position of the 
extension, and the urban context adjacent to the site which includes the West 
Cross Route, West London line and the H-junction, the impact of the 
proposals, in terms of overshadowing, privacy, daylight and sunlight to 
existing surrounding properties would be broadly acceptable and in 
accordance with policies 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, 7.3, 7.6, 7.7, 7.14 and 7.15 of the 
London Plan (2011), policies BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN8, EN20a, EN23 and 
EN23B and Standards S12.1, S12.2, S13.1, S13.2 and S13.3 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as 
amended 2007 and 2011) 
 
 

Page 218



 

Noise  
 
4.68 London Plan Policy 7.15 (Reducing Noise and Enhancing Soundscapes) 
considers the implications of noise as part of development proposals, stating 
that development proposals should seek to minimise the potential adverse 
impacts of noise on, from, within, or in the vicinity of, development proposals.   
 
4.69 UDP Saved Policy EN20B (Noise Pollution) states that 'noise generating 
development will not be permitted, if it would be liable to materially increase 
the noise experienced by the occupants/users of existing or proposed noise 
sensitive uses in the vicinity'.   
 
4.70 The proposals include the relocation of existing plant to a plant deck on 
the new roof, as well as the installation of new plant to serve the CEE 
attraction.   
 
4.71 Extensive acoustic data was collected for the original development of 
Westfield London and this was used to determine an acceptable acoustic 
specification for those works.  As these circumstances have not changed, the 
applicant proposes to follow these guidelines for the new extension so that 
the internal and external noise levels remain within the same boundaries.   
 
4.72 The main sources of noise at the eastern façade are road traffic on the 
West Cross Route and trains on the West London line.  Assuming that the 
noise levels measured for the original Westfield development are consistent 
with the noise and vibration levels, measured behind the new façade (within 
the CEE and retail uses), the proposals would be within appropriate 
standards. This is based on the elevation comprising insulated steel cladding 
panels within the following minimum octave band sound reduction index Rw 
values:  
 
Frequency  63 125 250 500 1k 2k 4k Hz 
Rw             16 20 24 31 35 29 36 dB 
 
4.73 Plant, louvres, inlets and outlets would be attenuated so that the ambient 
LA90 Noise levels are not increased.  This means that, in line with the original 
development, noise levels from services systems would not generally exceed 
the following LAeq levels when measured at 1m from the plant or louvre:  
 
Area                        Day            Night 
General Locations 65 Laeq 55 Laeq 
 
4.74 The Council's Environmental Health officer has advised that the full 
details of the external noise level emitted from plant/ machinery/ equipment 
and mitigation measures should be submitted to the local authority for 
approval, prior to implementation.  The measures would need to ensure that 
the external noise level emitted from plant, machinery/ equipment will be 
lower than the lowest existing background noise level by at least 10dBA, as 
assessed according to BS4142:1997 at the nearest and/or most affected 
noise sensitive premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum 
capacity.  
 

Page 219



 

4.75 In terms of noise during the course of construction, a Construction 
Management Plan is submitted as part of this application.  This document 
provides discussion of measures to ensure that the noise impact of 
construction is mitigated for neighbouring properties. A condition is 
recommended to ensure the noise levels during construction meet the policy 
requirements noted above.  
 
4.76 With the recommended conditions imposed, it is considered that the 
amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises would not be adversely 
affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/ equipment, of from 
construction, in accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended 2007.    
 
Transport and Parking  
 
4.77 Section 4 of the NPPF refers to the promotion of sustainable transport 
and highlights the need for development that generates significant movement 
to be located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of 
sustainable transport can be maximised.  The London Plan echoes this 
recommendation; with Policy 6.1 (Strategic Approach) outlining the general 
objectives of transport policy and setting out the Mayor's preference that 
development that will generate a significant number of trips should be located 
in areas with a high level of public transport accessibility.   
 
4.78 LBHF's Core Strategy seeks to improve public transport and accessibility 
in the borough, whilst reducing the adverse impact of road traffic and 
congestion (Policy T1 - Transport), while the draft Local Plan discusses 
opportunities for public transport, cycling and walking arising from new 
developments (Policies J1 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans and J5 
- Increasing the Opportunities for Cycling and Walking).  UDP Saved Policy 
TN21 states that development will not be permitted where it would result in 
overcrowding on public transport, unless measures are included to improve 
provision.   
 
4.79 A Transport Statement (TS) has been prepared by Vectos to address the 
transport issues associated with the scheme proposals, and has been 
informed by ongoing discussions with Transport for London (TfL) and the 
Council's transport and planning officers.  The TS provides an assessment of 
the proposed development within the context of the existing baseline position 
- the existing shopping centre - and within the context of the future baseline 
position, taking into account development permitted through the Phase 2 
application.   
 
4.80 The site has a PTAL score ranging between 5 and 6a, which is at the 
higher end of the available PTAL accessibility ratings.  The Transport 
Statement demonstrates that the Site benefits from being located within an 
area where the use of sustainable travel to access the site can be maximised.   
 
4.81 The effect of the proposed development has been assessed against the 
existing baseline position (existing shopping centre), which is 171,562m² GFA 
of retail and leisure floorspace, and the future baseline position (consented 

Page 220



 

extension of shopping centre), which is 230,660m² GFA of retail and leisure 
floorspace. This is considered to be a robust method of assessment. 
.  
4.82 Access: The proposed development does not include any amendments 
to the access arrangements to the Westfield London Shopping Centre. 
 
4.83 Car Parking: A total of 4,500 car parking spaces are provided at 
Westfield London Shopping Centre (reducing to 3,500 spaces Monday - 
Friday). No additional spaces are proposed as part of the development 
proposals. The Council's Transport officer advises that a nil-increase in car 
parking is supported in light of the predicted trip attraction and profile of the 
proposed development. 
 
4.84 Cycle Parking: The existing cycle parking provision is 448 cycle parking 
spaces and 154 London Cycle Hire Scheme docking stations at Westfield 
London Shopping Centre and adjoining transport interchanges. No additional 
spaces are proposed as part of the development proposals, which the 
applicant states is reflective of the observed take up and demand of existing 
cycle parking spaces and cycle hire docking stations. 
 
4.85 The application should comply with London Plan cycle parking 
standards. Therefore, based on the uplift in floorspace, 23 extra spaces 
should be provided. 11,484m² extra floorspace at 1 additional space per 
500m² results in this number of cycle parking spaces. A condition is 
recommended to ensure that the additional cycle spaces are provided. 
 
4.86 Coach Parking: The Westfield London Shopping Centre is served by two 
drop-off / pick-up coach bays and 10 coach parking bays. This is shown in the 
diagram below. It is stated that the existing level of provision comfortably 
accommodates existing demand, and the increase in coach trips as a result of 
the proposed development is not expected to unduly effect the operation of 
coach arrangements. Therefore no amendments to coach parking operations 
are proposed. 
 
4.87 The two drop-off / pick-up bays are located on the Eastern Access Road 
(Westfield Way). Coaches pre-book their arrival and departure, with specific 
time slots allocated to individual coaches. Drivers have 20 minutes to drop-off 
/ pick-up passengers, before being directed to the coach parking area off Ariel 
Way (Loading Bay A). The drop-off / pick-up bays and the coach parking area 
are managed by Westfield employees. 
 
4.88 A total of 10 coaches can be parked at any one time, and there is an 
overspill coach parking area on Depot Road called Eurostorage. The overspill 
parking area has never been used, but it does provide flexibility should there 
be an unusual peak in coach demand. 
 
4.89 That applicant states that typically 6 coaches will arrive each day, based 
on the CEE attraction operational model. The coach management and 
parking proposals are considered to be adequate for the proposed 
development. 
 

Page 221



 

4.90 Travel Plan: Westfield London Shopping Centre's Retail Travel Plan has 
been updated to reflect the development proposals, and specifically the CEE 
attraction. The monitoring and review of the measures the CEE attraction 
would implement would be undertaken within the framework of the shopping 
centre wide Retail Travel Plan. This is considered to be acceptable in 
continuing to ensure a robust and effective retail travel plan for the shopping 
centre. 
 
4.91 CEE Attraction: Officers are advised that the CEE attraction is a new 
concept to the UK, and is therefore unique to this country in terms of its trip 
attraction profile. However, the applicant has provided evidence that the 
concept of the CEE facility is well established abroad, with existing examples 
in a number of other countries. Highways Officers advise that the trip 
attraction profile at a CEE attraction is well established and broadly similar, 
given that each CEE attraction follows the same operational model. 
 
4.92 The applicant has carried out a first principles assessment utilising 
existing CEE data and existing Westfield London Shopping Centre data to 
calculate the likely effect of the proposed CEE attraction. 
 
4.93 CEE- Trip Numbers: The CEE attraction expects to employ 
approximately 487 full time and part time staff. The CEE attraction business 
model assumes the number of visitors each day will typically range between 
1,500 - 2,000, with these visitors split between two sessions, a morning 
session and an afternoon session. The maximum number of visitors expected 
on any one day is 2,000, split evenly between the morning and afternoon 
sessions. Visitors can join a session at any point during a session. 
 
4.94 CEE - Trip Type.  It is stated by the applicant that the CEE attraction 
would focus on providing opportunities for local children, and the prediction 
for the CEE attraction at Westfield London Shopping Centre is that 3.8% of all 
tickets (19,000 annually) would be taken by organised trips from local 
schools. This is comparable with other London leisure / education attractions 
which typically see 1% - 15% of all tickets taken by school groups. 
 
4.95 Approximately 50% of tickets are expected to be pre-booked tickets by 
visitors who plan their trip well in advance. The remaining tickets are likely to 
be taken by `impulse' visitors who simply turn up on the day. It is considered 
that the majority of the `impulse' visitors are people who are already visiting 
the shopping centre. 
 
4.96 CEE - Trip Profile: The CEE attraction would operate two sessions, in 
the morning (09:00 - 13:00) and afternoon (14:00 - 18:00), seven days a 
week. Visitors can arrive and depart at any time during a session. Typically 
for the morning shift CEE attraction data demonstrates that the majority of 
visitors arrive between 08:30 - 10:00 and depart between 11:30 - 13:30. 
Typically for the afternoon shift visitors arrive at the CEE attraction between 
13:30 - 15:00 and depart between 16:00 - 18:30. 
 
4.97 The average length of stay for paid indoor leisure attractions in London 
is 1.5 - 2.5 hours. The expected length of stay at the Westfield London 
Shopping Centre CEE attraction is approximately 2.5 hours, although this 

Page 222



 

could vary as visitors tailor their visit to avoid the busiest periods on local 
transport networks. 
 
4.98 It is stated that staff would arrive and depart at staggered times 
throughout the day, broadly in line with the anticipated arrival and departure 
profile of visitors and according to the specific duties of each staff member. 
Staff would not be able to park on site, in line with existing site restrictions at 
Westfield London Shopping Centre. Therefore the staff modal split is 
expected to replicate the observed modal split at the shopping centre 
(excluding car driver mode split). This is summarised below. 
 
Mode              Mode Split 
Car Driver     12.0% 
Car Passenger   0.7% 
Motorcycle     1.0% 
Taxi                 0.3% 
Rail                 13.0% 
Bus                 25.0% 
Underground      25.0% 
Walk                  21.0% 
Bicycle       1.0% 
Other                 1.0% 
TOTAL        100.0% 
 
4.99 It is stated by the applicant that approximately 10% (200 visitors per day) 
of CEE attraction visitors will likely arrive by coach. Typically 6 coaches will 
arrive each day, each with 30 - 35 visitors on board, which will result in 180-
210 visitors. 
 
4.100 As mentioned earlier in this section, the predicted number of coaches 
can be accommodated by the existing coach pick-up/drop-off facility, which 
has the capacity to accommodate two coach drop-offs / pick-ups coaches at 
any one time, with on-site coach parking for 10 coaches, and further off site 
overspill coach parking available. 
 
4.111 The remaining 90% of visitors (1,800 visitors) will arrive by alternative 
modes, in line with the existing modal split observed at Westfield London 
Shopping Centre which is summarised above. 
 
4.112 CEE - Linked Trips: The Shepherd's Bush Town Centre, which includes 
Westfield London Shopping Centre, is a significant trip attractor in its own 
right. Therefore, as with the Marks & Spencer additional floorspace, it is not 
expected that the CEE attraction would attract a significant number of new 
trips to the area. 
 
4.113 Research on CEE attractions demonstrates that when a paid leisure 
attraction such as CEE attraction is added to a existing shopping centre 
between 2% - 10% of existing shopping centre visitors visit the leisure 
attraction. 
 
4.114 The applicant states that the Westfield London Shopping Centre 
receives approximately 9,000 visitors during the weekday evening peak and 

Page 223



 

12,500 during the weekend peak. A conservative estimate would be that the 
shopping centre receives approximately 50,000 visitors on a weekday, 
increasing to 75,000 visitors on a Saturday. Applying the lowest observed 
linked trip ratio, 2%, results in 1,000 CEE attraction visitors during a weekday 
evening peak being drawn from existing Westfield London Shopping Centre 
visitors (50% of the CEE capacity). This would increase to 1,500 CEE 
attraction visitors during the weekend peak (75% of the CEE capacity). 
 
4.115 On this basis the new trips the CEE attraction will likely attract are: 11 
two-way vehicle trips in the morning peak; 5 two-way vehicle trips in the 
evening peak; and 14 two-way vehicle trips in the Saturday peak. 
 
4.116 Marks & Spencer Vehicle Trips: The trip attraction of the proposed 
extension of Marks & Spencer floorspace has been derived using the 
approach agreed with LBHF and TfL officers to calculate the trip attraction of 
the consented extension to the shopping centre. 
 
4.117 The proposed Marks & Spencer extension would result in 0 additional 
two-way vehicle trips in the morning peak, 3 additional two-way primary 
vehicle trips in the evening peak, and 4 additional two-way primary vehicle 
trips in the Saturday peak. 
 
4.118 Total (CEE + Marks & Spencer) Multi-Modal Trip Attraction: The total 
multi-modal trip attraction of the proposed extension is summarised below. 
 
                   AM    PM         Saturday 
                    In Out Two-way   In Out Two-way In  Out  Two-way 
Car Driver           13 0 13            10 15 25            23 18 41 
Car Passenger   1 0 1            1 1 1            1 1 2 
Motorcycle    2 0 2            1 2 3            3 2 5 
Taxi                     1 0 1            0 1 1            1 0 1 
Rail                     30 0 30            13 25 37            39 21 61 
Bus                     57 0 57            24 47 71            76 41 117 
Underground    57 0 57            24 47 71            76 41 117 
Walk                     48 0 48            20 40 60            64 34 98 
Bicycle            2 0 2            1 2 3            3 2 5 
Other            2 0 2            1 2 3            3 2 5 
Coach            20 0 20            0 10 10            20 30 50 
Total   234 0 234    95 191 286   310 193 502 
 
TRANSPORT EFFECT 
 
4.119 Highway: The baseline (existing shopping centre) and future baseline 
(consented extension of shopping centre) traffic flows to and from the 
Westfield London Shopping Centre, together with the predicted traffic flows 
associated with the proposed extension and the percentage effect this 
equates to, is summarised below. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 224



 

Traffic Effect of Proposed Extension: 
 
TWO-WAY TRAFFIC FLOWS Ariel Way Roundabout 
                                                 AM      PM       Saturday 
Baseline                                       802      1480      2122 
Future Baseline                              829      1918      2468 
Development Trips                           13      25         41 
Percentage Effect - Baseline      1.6%      1.7%      1.7% 
Percentage Effect - Future Baseline  1.6%       1.3%         1.7% 
 
TWO-WAY TRAFFIC FLOWS Ariel Way / Wood Lane 
                                                  AM  PM  Saturday 
Baseline                                       1193  1334  1370 
Future Baseline                            1198  1430  1463 
Development Trips                              3  5    8 
Percentage Effect - Baseline          0.2% 0.4%  0.6% 
Percentage Effect - Future Baseline    0.2% 0.3%  0.6% 
 
TWO-WAY TRAFFIC FLOWS Ariel Way / West Cross Route 
                                                  AM  PM  Saturday 
Baseline                                       493  1054  1421 
Future Baseline                             515  1394  1674 
Development Trips                             10  20  33 
Percentage Effect - Baseline         2.1% 1.9%  2.3% 
Percentage Effect - Future Baseline     2.0% 1.4%  2.0% 
 
4.120 The maximum number of additional vehicles during any peak period is 
41. The maximum percentage change in traffic flows as a result of the 
proposed extension is 2.3%. This level of change is within the typical daily 
variation in traffic flows and therefore considered to be minor. The proposed 
extension should not alter the operation of the local highway network. 
 
4.121 Bus: It has been satisfactorily demonstrated by the applicant that the 
proposed development will result in a maximum of 1 additional passenger per 
service in the peak periods. This level of change is considered to be minor. 
The additional bus passengers can be accommodated by the existing bus 
network without altering the character or operation of local bus services. 
 
4.122 Underground: Westfield Shopping Centre is served by three 
underground stations, Shepherd's Bush, Wood Lane and White City. The 
proposed extension will generate an increase of between 0.2% - 0.7% on the 
baseline and future baseline underground passenger numbers across all 
three stations. This level of change is considered to be minor and is unlikely 
to alter the character or operation of underground services. 
 
4.123 Rail: Westfield London Shopping Centre is served by the Shepherd's 
Bush rail station. It has been satisfactorily demonstrated by the applicant that 
the maximum percentage change in rail passenger numbers at Shepherd's 
Bush rail station as a result of the proposed extension is between 0.9% - 
1.7%. 
 

Page 225



 

4.124 This level of change is not perceptible to existing rail passengers and it 
is not considered material. In real terms the maximum effect of the proposed 
development is 4 additional passengers per service during the peak hours. It 
is considered that the proposed development will not alter the character or 
operation of rail services. 
 
4.125 Walking: The applicant that indicated that the proposed development 
would result in 48 additional two-way walking trips in the morning peak, 60 
additional two-way walking trips in the evening peak, and 98 additional two-
way walking trips in the Saturday peak. 
 
4.126 This number of additional walking trips will not affect the pedestrian 
experience at the shopping centre, given that it is a very small percentage of 
the existing pedestrian movements during peak periods. 
 
4.127 A Pedestrian Environment Review System (PERS) audit was carried 
out by the applicant for the main pedestrian routes surrounding the site for the 
consented extension of the shopping centre. The majority of the links in the 
study area perform well, with 25 of the links rated as `good', 12 rated as 
`average' and none rated as `poor'. The majority of the crossings in the study 
area also perform well, with 47 rated as `good', 4 rated as `average' and none 
rated as `poor'. 
 
4.128 Cycling: It has been satisfactorily demonstrated by the applicant that 
the proposed development would result in 2 additional two-way cycling trips in 
the morning peak, 3 additional two-way cycling trips in the evening peak and 
5 additional two-way cycling trips in the Saturday peak. 
 
4.129 A Cycle Environment Review System (CERS) audit was carried out by 
the applicant for the main cycle routes surrounding the site for the consented 
extension of the shopping centre. This concluded that all of the links and 
junctions assessed recorded a neutral rating and the interchanges assessed 
received a neutral or good rating. 
 
4.130 Servicing: The delivery and servicing arrangements for the proposed 
development will make use of the current provision for the existing Westfield 
London Shopping Centre. The application does not mention any amendments 
being needed to these arrangements to facilitate the proposed extension. 
 
4.131 It is considered that the increased delivery and servicing activity for the 
proposed extension will be able to be accommodated. However, it is 
considered that more information on the delivery and servicing requirements 
of the CEE attraction is required which can be secured by way of condition. 
 
4.132 Construction Phase: The applicant has submitted a Construction 
Management Method Statement in line with LBHF¿s SPD: Sustainable 
Construction and Recycling of Building Materials and the Draft SPD: Planning 
Guidance. The CMMS sets out a series of standards, mitigation measures 
and procedures that will be observed through the construction process in 
order to minimise adverse effects. These measures will be refined and 
updated as the Application progresses and more detailed construction 
information becomes available. Although the CMMP  sets out standards 

Page 226



 

which the construction process will need to observe, a detailed Construction 
Logistics Plan will be required in accordance with TfL requirements to satisfy 
the Council's requirements. This should seek to minimise the impact of 
construction traffic on nearby roads and restrict trips to off peak hours only. 
The CLP shall be secured by way of a planning condition which should be 
discharged, prior to commencement of development. 
 
Energy and Sustainability 
 
4.133 The NPPF seeks to ensure the delivery of low carbon energy 
development in order to address climate change and achieve environmental 
sustainability. This is reflected within London Plan Policies 5.1 (Climate 
Change Mitigation), 5.2 (Minimising Carbon Emissions) and 5.3 (Sustainable 
Design and Construction).  Policy 5.2 sets out that new development should 
seek to minimise carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with the following 
energy hierarchy:  
 
Be lean - use less energy;  
Be clean - supply energy efficiently; and  
Be green - use renewable energy.   
 
4.134 At the local level, Strategic Policy CC1 of the Core Strategy (Reduce 
Carbon Emissions and Resource Use and Adapt to Climate Change Impacts) 
requires developments to make the fullest contribution to addressing climate 
change and reducing carbon dioxide emissions.   
 
4.135 LBHF's SPD: Energy has replaced many of the former UDP policies 
relating to energy and sustainability.  This document recognises that 
developments which are located in areas that minimise the need to travel and 
encourage cycling, walking and public transport use can lead to significant 
energy savings.   
 
4.136 An Energy and Sustainability Statement (ESS) has been prepared by 
Cudd Bentley Consulting and has been submitted as part of this Application, 
in line with policy requirements.  This document provides an assessment of 
the proposals in line with the energy hierarchy set out in the London Plan and 
within local policy.  
 
4.137 The energy strategy for the proposed development consists of passive 
design and energy efficient measures to reduce carbon emissions for the 
development as far as possible.  As the development comprises an extension 
to the existing centre, the options to provide a carbon saving are limited.  As a 
result, the applicant has confirmed that the current building services shall be 
used to meet the heating and cooling demands through the use of high 
efficiency heat pumps and an air cooled chiller.   
 
4.138 BREEAM Pre-assessments for both the CEE attraction and the 
proposed M&S extension have been carried out.  The design stage 
assessment and subsequent interim BREEAM Certification represents the 
performance of the building at the design stage of the assessment, typically 
prior to the beginning of operations on site.  Certification at this stage does 
not, therefore, represent the building¿s final `as built¿ BREEAM performance.   

Page 227



 

 
4.139 The predicted BREEAM rating for the proposed extension to the 
existing M&S store is 57.13% (Very Good).  The predicted BREEAM rating for 
the proposed CEE attraction is 56.33% (Very Good).  In light of the pre-
assessment indicating that the extension can meet the "Very Good" BREEAM 
standard, it is considered that the proposals are satisfactory enough to show 
compliance with the London Plan policy 5.3 on sustainable design and 
construction. A planning condition is recommended to ensure the proposed 
extension will comply with the final BREEAM performance rating of Very 
Good. 
 
4.140 The energy assessment shows that the baseline CO2 emissions 
associated with the extension, if built to comply with 2010 Building Regulation 
requirements, would be 1,178 tonnes a year. These emissions can be 
reduced by implementing energy efficiency measures such as use of building 
elements with higher insulation levels, energy efficient lighting and controls to 
minimise use of heating and lighting and use of efficient variable speed fans 
and pumps. The heating and cooling demand in the extension would be met 
by connecting into the existing building services which are provided by an 
energy efficient heat pump system. 
 
4.141 The proposed sustainable energy measures are calculated to reduce 
CO2 emissions by 21.53%. This falls short of the 25% target set in London 
Plan policy 5.2. Normally, further consideration should be given to improving 
the CO2 reduction levels of the extension either through further energy 
efficiency measures or integration of low/zero carbon energy generation. 
However, in light of the marginal shortfall, it is recommended that to achieve 
compliance with the London Plan policy 5.2, additional off-site measures are 
necessary which would deliver further reductions. This can be achieved by 
the applicant making a payment to the Council in lieu, which would be used to 
implement CO2 reduction measures off-site to reduce emissions by the 
required amount (an additional 41 tonnes). Officers have had due regard for 
the GLA study on costs associated with off-setting carbon emissions the by 
Zero Carbon Hub. The study recommends off-setting carbon emissions at a 
rate of £1,380 per tonne. Using this figure to calculate the payment for off-
setting 41 tonnes (the shortfall) in the case of the development, the total 
contribution necessary would equate to £56,345 which would be secured by 
way of a section 106 agreement. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
4.142 The NPPF aims to ensure that flood risk is taken into account at all 
stages in the planning process to avoid inappropriate development in areas at 
risk of flooding, whilst directing development away from areas at highest risk.  
 
4.143 The Site falls within Flood Zone 1.  Footnote 20 of the NPPF confirms 
that site specific flood risk assessments are only required for sites within 
Flood Zone 1 where that site is more than 1 hectare in area. Due to its 
location and size of development (the site is 5,050 sqm), no Flood Risk 
Assessment is required. However, within the BREEAM assessment reference 
is made to management of surface water run-off with an indication that most 
of the available credits will be achieved. Parts of the Westfield site could be 

Page 228



 

more susceptible to surface water flooding, so further information on surface 
water drainage, including measures to be implemented to attenuate flows 
should be provided by way of a planning condition.  
 
4.144 It is considered that the proposed development will have a negligible 
impact the footprint of the existing centre as the proposals involve extending 
the roof, vertically and not outwards.  The applicant has confirmed that the 
existing roof drainage outfall system will be extended to pick up rainwater 
outlets on the new roof.  
 
4.145 The existing centre's drainage systems were designed to SUDS 
compliant principles and incorporate rain water harvesting systems and very 
large underground retention tanks to attenuate peak flows into the 
surrounding infrastructure.  These features will be retained within the current 
proposals and no additional input capacity to the surrounding surface water 
drainage infrastructure is envisaged.  However, as the existing outfall systems 
are being removed, any new systems will require approval by way of planning 
condition. 
 
CIL/Planning Obligations 
 
4.146 In dealing with planning applications, local planning authorities consider 
each on its merits and reach a decision based on whether the application 
accords with the relevant development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. Where applications do not meet these requirements, they 
may be refused. However, in some instances, it may be possible to make 
acceptable development proposals which might otherwise be unacceptable, 
through the use of planning conditions or, where this is not possible, through 
planning obligations. 
 
4.147 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations - CIL Regulations 
(2010) set out a number of tests including that: a planning obligation must be 
necessary to make the proposed development acceptable in planning terms, 
directly related to the proposed development, fairly related in scale and kind 
to it and reasonable in all other respects. Negotiations should seek a 
contribution towards the full cost of all such provision that is fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and in kind to the proposed development and its 
impact on the wider area. 
 
4.148 The National Planning Policy Framework provides guidance for local 
planning authorities in considering the use of planning obligations. It states 
that authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 
could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning 
obligations and that planning obligations should only be used where it is not 
possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. It 
adds that where obligations are being sought or revised, local planning 
authorities should take account of changes in market conditions over time 
and, wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent planned 
development from being stalled. 
 
4.149 Policy 8.2 of the London Plan states that: 'When considering planning 
applications of strategic importance, the Mayor will take into account, among 

Page 229



 

other issues including economic viability of each development concerned, the 
existence and content of planning obligations. Development proposals should 
address strategic as well as local priorities in planning obligations. Affordable 
housing and other public transport improvements should be given the highest 
importance'. It goes onto state: 'Importance should also be given to tackling 
climate change, learning and skills, health facilities and services, childcare 
provisions and the provision of small shops'. 
 
4.150 Core Strategy policy CF1 requires that new development makes 
contributions towards or provides for the resulting increased demand for 
community facilities.  The proposed site is located within the White City 
Opportunity Area, and officers have sought a consistent level of s106 
contributions for all development schemes in this area. The significant 
component to the development is for the CEE attraction which has an 
educational theme. In order to ensure that the proposed CEE attraction is 
accessible, affordable and available for children of all ages and backgrounds, 
the applicant has set out a discounted ticketing scheme and has agreed to 
formalise the arrangement with LBHF to ensure that the facilities are linked to 
local schools. Officers consider that the discounted ticketing scheme would 
make a positive contribution to the Borough in terms of providing access for 
school children, including school children in White City.  
 
4.151 The draft WCOAPF also outlines the need for contributions in the area 
to go towards the local and strategic transport infrastructure and social 
infrastructure needs that may arise due to the resulting development 
pressures. Major transport interventions are required to facilitate sustainable 
regeneration of the area, which is currently constrained by the existing 
highway and public transport network.  
 
4.152 In the context of the above, Chapter 9 of the Core Strategy states that 
the Council will implement the policies and proposals of the Core Strategy 
and seek to ensure that the necessary infrastructure is secured to support 
regeneration by, inter alia, negotiating s.106 obligations. 
 
4.153 A Section 106 Agreement is proposed in order to secure the necessary 
infrastructure to mitigate the needs of the proposed development and ensure 
the proposal is in accordance with the statutory development plan.  
 
4.154 In accordance with the CIL Regulations 122, Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (As Amended) the applicant has agreed to 
enter into a legal agreement. The Legal Agreement will include financial 
contributions towards social, physical and economic infrastructure within the 
White City Opportunity Area which would include a significant contribution 
towards education (by way of discounted and free tickets over a 20 year 
period),  improvements to public transport, additional measures to deliver 
further CO2 emission reductions,  travel plans and employment and training 
initiatives. The contribution would be secured to enable any necessary 
infrastructure to be delivered within the vicinity of the site which is needed to 
accommodate the level of growth sought within the White City Opportunity 
Area, one of the five Regeneration Areas in the Borough. Officers have 
consulted with the various departments in the Council and TfL to confirm the 
individual requirements for this scheme. Non-financial contributions are also 

Page 230



 

sought to mitigate the impacts of the development and to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. 
 
4.155 As such, the applicant has agreed to provide a total s106 package of 
approximately £500,000 which includes a portion derived from the total  
discounted/free ticket offer. 
 
Heads of Terms 
 
4.156 The proposed legal agreement would incorporate the following heads 
of terms. 
 
- White City Opportunity Area Infrastructure Contribution towards the full 
cost of social, economic and physical infrastructure interventions within the 
White City Opportunity Area to address the resulting impact of the proposed 
development (of both the retail and leisure uses) including the discounted/free 
tickets. The total infrastructure contribution will amount to £500,000 and will 
include a sum of £56,345 (£1,380 per tonne) towards implementation of CO2 
reduction measures (off-site) to reduce emissions by the required amount (41 
tonnes) which the development has a shortfall of; 
- Commitment to adhere to the principles  set out in the Memorandum of 
understanding as agreed between LBHF, Westfield and the CEE attraction 
operator which will include (but not be limited to) details of the following: 
- links with local schools and potential incorporation into local curriculum; 
- discounted ticketing/concessions and free tickets; 
- extended working opportunities for 14+ local children 
- links to local children's charity/organisations involved with the most 
disadvantaged children and children in care;  
- Travel Plans in respect to both the leisure and retail uses. Retail/leisure 
Travel Plan to include details of the shop mobility scheme; 
- Commitment to submit to the Council for approval an Operations 
Management Plan detailing the hours of operation, accessible design for 
disabled visitors and capacity (amongst other information) of the CEE 
Attraction; 
- Commitment to local labour scheme (for operations jobs in the CEE and 
retail use)- ie: presumption in favour of local employment by way of early 
notification, exclusivity periods and provision of an employment and training 
strategy; 
- Commitment to provision of apprenticeships/traineeships for the retail 
and leisure uses on the site; 
-          Commitment to meet the costs of the Council's Legal, Professional and 
Monitoring fees 
 
Mayoral CIL 
 
4.157 The CIL regulations came into effect on 1 April 2012 and the proposed 
development would be liable for payment for Mayoral CIL. The current 
estimate for this application will be approximately £517,050.00. 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS  
 
4.158 The Application proposes a roof extension to the existing Westfield 
London shopping centre, comprising two full floors plus a mezzanine level to 
provide:  
 
3,092 sq m [GIA] of retail floorspace above the existing M&S to be occupied 
by M&S; and  
7,249 sq m [GIA] of leisure floorspace (split over a full floor and mezzanine 
level) to be occupied by a Children's Education and Entertainment use ('the 
CEE use'), located above the new M&S floor.     
 
4.159 This report has provided an assessment of the proposals against the 
Development Plan for the Borough, as required by Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.   
 
4.160 The proposed development is considered to accord with the relevant 
policies of the adopted development plan as well as the draft Local Plan and 
WCOAPF.  It is also considered to be consistent with the NPPF.  
 
4.161 The proposals would provide retail and leisure floorspace within the 
town centre, which would contribute to the vitality of Shepherds Bush Town 
Centre and the future viability of the location.  The proposed uses would 
serve the needs of both existing and future local residents, through the 
provision of leisure and retail floorspace as well the provision of employment 
opportunities, and is considered likely to enhance the metropolitan-level 
attraction of the Centre.   
 
4.162 In addition to delivering benefits to the town centre, it is considered that 
the proposed development would be of appropriate design standards, 
ensuring a high quality town centre environment for visitors.  The design of 
the proposed extension has been developed to fit seamlessly within the 
context of the existing centre and the proposed Phase 2 extension. It is 
considered that the development would complement the eastern and northern 
facades of the centre, infilling existing gaps on the roof between Net a 
Porter's existing office and the cinema box.   
 
4.163 The Application includes comprehensive Shadow-path and 
Overshadowing analyses which demonstrate that there would be no 
significant harm to nearby properties including the proposed dwellings within 
the phase 2 in addition to the adjacent local amenity spaces.   
 
4.164 The Site is already highly accessible by public transport with excellent 
rail, underground, bus and cycle infrastructure.  The existing shopping centre 
benefits from the high level of accessibility which resulted in a lower 
frequency of car-based trips. It is considered that the proposed development 
would operate on the same sustainable principles.  It is considered that the 
proposed development would not have a significant impact on highways or 
public transport networks, subject to WCOAPF contributions mitigating the 
highway and transport impacts.   
 

Page 232



 

4.165 In conclusion, the proposed development is considered to be in 
accordance with the relevant national and regional planning policy guidance, 
the Council's Core Strategy and saved UDP policies. It is also considered to 
adequately accord with the emerging policies of the draft Local Plan and is 
hereby recommended for approval.   
 

Page 233



 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Avonmore And Brook Green 
 
Site Address: 
Access Self Storage  184 Shepherd's Bush Road  London  
W6 7NL  
 
 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00454/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
08.02.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
John Sanchez 
 
Conservation Area: 
Brook Green Conservation Area - Number 3 

 

Page 234



 

Applicant: 
Access Self Storage Ltd 
C/o Precis Holdings Ltd 93 Park Lane London W1K 7TB 
 
Description: 
Erection of three additional floors on the roof of the existing building together with; 
erection of a single storey glazed extension to rear elevation; the erection of 
freestanding refuse/cycle storage building in the rear yard; associated plant equipment 
at roof level; along with external alterations to the existing listed building, involving the 
demolition of the front boundary wall; and associated landscaping; in connection with 
the change of use from Class B8 (self-storage) to Class B1 (offices). 
 
Drawing Nos: 
10036/ E(0)100; E(1)1B1; E(1)100; E(1)100M; E(1)101;E(1)102; E(1)103; E(2)101; 
E(2)102; E(3)100; E(3)101;E(3)102; E(3)103; D(1)1B1; D(1)100; D(1)100M; 
D(1)101;D(1)102; D(1)103; D(2)101; D(2)102; D(3)100; D(3)101; D(3)102; D(3)103; 
P(0)100; P(1)B1; P(1)100 Rev. B; P(1)101; P(1)102; P(1)103; P(1)104; P(1)105; 
P(1)106; P(2)101;P(2)102; P(2)103; P(3)100; P(3)101; P(3)102; P(3)103 Rev B; 
P(4)112; P(4)113; P(4)114; P(4)115; P(4)116. 
 
Associated Documents: 
Design and Access Statement (22/01/2013); Planning Statement (January 2013); 
Heritage Statement (January 2013); Transport Statement (January 2013); Travel Plan 
(January 2013); Deliveries and Servicing Management Strategy (January 2013); Air 
Quality Assessment (17/01/2013); Energy Assessment (17/01/2013); BREEAM 
Assessment (17/01/2013); Building Engineering Services Strategy (17/01/2013); 
Structural Statement (September 2012); Contaminated Land Assessment (January 
2013); Flood Risk Assessment (January 2013); Noise Survey (18/01/2013); Schedule of 
Works (28/01/2013); Statement of Community Involvement (February 2013); Daylight, 
Sunlight and Overshadowing Report (14/01/2013) and Daylight, Sunlight and 
Overshadowing Addendum Report (21/03/2013); Sequential Test and Impact 
Assessment (02/04/2013).  
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Executive Director of Transport and 
Technical Services be authorised to determine the application and grant 
permission up on the completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to 
the condition(s) set out below: 
 
(1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 
3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
 
Reason: Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 
 
(2) The development shall be carried out and completed only in accordance with the 
detailed drawings which have been approved: 10036/E(0)100; E(1)1B1; E(1)100; 

Page 235



 

E(1)100M; E(1)101; E(1)102; E(1)103; E(2)101; E(2)102; E(3)100; E(3)101; E(3)102; 
E(3)103; D(1)1B1; D(1)100; D(1)100M; D(1)101; D(1)102; D(1)103; D(2)101; D(2)102; 
D(3)100; D(3)101; D(3)102; D(3)103; P(0)100; P(1)B1; P(1)100 Rev B; P(1)101; 
P(1)102; P(1)103; P(1)104; P(1)105; P(1)106; P(2)101; P(2)102; P(2)103; P(3)100; 
P(3)101; P(3)102; P(3)103 Rev B; P(4)112; P(4)113; P(4)114; P(4)115; P(4)116.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby 
approved and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with policies 4.2, 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.8, 5.9, 5.12, 5.13, 5.15, 5.18, 5.21, 5.8, 5.9, 
5.12, 5.13, 5.15, 5.18, 5.21, 6.9, 6.12, 6.13, 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.6 7.8, 7.9, 7.14 and 7.15 of 
the London Plan (2011), Strategic Policy B and policies BE1, CC2, CC3, CC4, HTC, 
LE1, OS1 and T1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy 
(2011) and policies EN2, EN3, EN4, EN8B, EN8D, EN8F, EN10, EN14, EN17, EN19A, 
EN20A, EN20B, EN20C, EN21, EN26, TN4, TN5, TN6, TN8, TN13, TN15 and 
Standards of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development 
Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(3) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a Demolition and 
Construction Management Plan (CMP) and Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) in 
accordance with Transport for London guidelines have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Council. The details shall include contractors' construction method 
statement setting out; waste classifications and disposal procedures; dust, noise, 
vibration, and light monitoring and control; working hours; advance notification to 
neighbours and other interested parties of proposed works and public display of contact 
details including accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the site works for 
the duration of the works; provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated 
with the construction works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of 
mud and dirt onto the highway; and all other matters relating to traffic management to 
be agreed. All works to be carried out in accordance with the approved plan throughout 
the project. 
 
Reason: To ensure that construction works do not adversely impact on the operation of 
the public highway, and in order that appropriate steps are taken to limit the impact of 
the proposed demolition and construction works on the amenities of local residents and 
the area generally, in accordance with policies 5.19 and 5.20 of the London Plan (2011), 
policies and policies CC3 and T1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Core Strategy (2011) and policies TN8,TN15, EN19A, EN20A, EN20B, EN20C and 
EN21 and of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development 
Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(4) No development shall commence until a scheme for temporary fencing and/or 
enclosure of the site where necessary, including details at roof level has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council, and such enclosure has been erected in 
accordance with the approved details and retained for the duration of the building 
works. No part of the temporary fencing and/or enclosure of the site shall be used for 
the display of advertisement hoardings. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the site during the 
construction phase of the development and to prevent harm to the street scene and 
public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2011) and 
policy BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) 

Page 236



 

and policies EN2, EN3 and EN8B of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(5) No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report, in 
connection with land contamination, is submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council. This report shall comprise: a desktop study which identifies all current and 
previous uses at the site and surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants 
associated with those uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating 
potential pollutant linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those 
in the surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk assessment 
of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant linkages to 
human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including ecological 
receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for 
sampling and testing. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters 
or the wider environment during and following the development works, in accordance 
with policy 5.21 of The London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), and policies EN20A and EN21 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(6) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme, is submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and target the 
risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall provide provisions 
for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground gas, surface and 
groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters 
or the wider environment during and following the development works, in accordance 
with policy 5.21 of The London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), and policies EN20A and EN21 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(7) No development shall commence until, following a site investigation undertaken in 
compliance with the approved site investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment 
report is submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall: assess 
the degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through the site 
investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to confirm 
the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks posed by any 
contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment. All works 
must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to 
CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land contamination (Defra 2004) or 
the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 

Page 237



 

Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters 
or the wider environment during and following the development works, in accordance 
with policy 5.21 of The London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), and policies EN20A and EN21 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(8) No development shall commence (unless the Council agree in writing that a set 
extent of development must commence to enable compliance with this condition) until, a 
remediation method statement, if deemed to be required, is submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works and 
shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved quantitative 
risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters 
or the wider environment during and following the development works, in accordance 
with policy 5.21 of The London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), and policies EN20A and EN21 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(9) Prior to completion of the development a verification report demonstrating 
completion of the works set out in the approved remediation method statement shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Council. This report shall include: details of 
the remediation works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or 
monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all appropriate waste Duty of 
Care documentation and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during 
development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, 
the Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report indicating the nature 
of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is submitted to, and agreed in writing 
by, the Council. Any required remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to the 
remediation method statement and verification of these works included in the 
verification report. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters 
or the wider environment during and following the development works, in accordance 
with policy 5.21 of The London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), and policies EN20A and EN21 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(10) No development shall commence (unless the Council agree in writing that a set 
extent of development must commence to enable compliance with this condition) until 
an onward long-term monitoring methodology report if deemed required, in connection 
with condition 9, is submitted to and approved in writing by the Council where further 
monitoring is required past the completion of development works to verify the success 
of the remediation undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring works shall then 

Page 238



 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated 
that no residual adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for 
sampling and testing. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters 
or the wider environment during and following the development works, in accordance 
with policy 5.21 of The London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), and policies EN20A and EN21 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(11) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until particulars and 
samples of materials (where appropriate) to be used in all external faces of the building, 
including details and colour of the roof extension and all surface window and shop front 
treatments including window opening styles, have been submitted and approved in 
writing by the Council. The development shall be carried out in accordance with such 
details as have been approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies 7.1, 
7.6, 7.8 and 7.9 of the London Plan (2011), policies BE1 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN3 and EN8B of 
the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as 
amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(12) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details and samples 
(where appropriate) of all external hard surfaces, paving, boundary walls, railings 
(including acoustic barriers) and other means of enclosure, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. The development shall not be occupied or used until 
such details are carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies 7.1, 
7.6, 7.8 and 7.9 of the London Plan (2011), policies BE1 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN3 and EN8B of 
the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as 
amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(13) No plumbing, extract vents, flues or pipes not shown on the approved drawings 
shall be fixed on the elevations of the building hereby approved. 
 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the conservation 
area and listed building in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6, 7.8 and 7.9 of the London 
Plan (2011), policies BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core 
Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN3 and EN8B of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(14) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a statement of how 
'Secure by Design' requirements are to be adequately achieved has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council. The approved details shall be carried out prior to 
occupation of the development hereby approved and permanently maintained 
thereafter. 

Page 239



 

 
Reason: To ensure a safe and secure environment for users of the development, in 
accordance with policy 7.3 of the London Plan (2011) and EN10 of the Hammersmith 
and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007and 2011). 
 
(15) The development hereby permitted shall not commence prior to the submission 
and approval in writing by the Council of details in plan, section and elevation (at a scale 
of not less than 1:20) of the following matters, and no part of the development shall be 
used or occupied prior to the completion of that part of the development in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 

a) Roof extension including pattern of solid and clear glazing panels and roof top 
plant and plant screening. 

b) Replacement shop fronts and entrances.   
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 
conservation area and listed building in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6, 7.8 and 7.9 of 
the London Plan (2011), policies BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN3, EN8B and EN8D of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 
and 2011). 
 
(16) The ground floor entrance doors and integral lift/stair cores, hereby approved shall 
not be less than 1 metre wide and the threshold shall be at the same level to the path 
fronting the entrance to ensure level access. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure the development provides ease of access for all users, in 
accordance with Policy 3.1 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011), and the Council's 
adopted supplementary planning document "Access for all". 
 
(17) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 1995 (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no aerials, antennae, 
satellite dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of 
the development hereby permitted, without planning permission first being granted. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the Council can fully consider the visual impact of 
telecommunication equipment upon the appearance of this listed building, in 
accordance with policy 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2011), policies BE1 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, 
EN3 and EN8B of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(18) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before details of the soft 
landscaping of all areas external to the building, including: planting schedules and 
details of the species, height and maturity of any trees and shrubs and tree containers, 
and a landscape maintenance plan, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council. The approved scheme shall be implemented in the next winter planting 
season following completion of the building works, or before the occupation of any part 
of the building, whichever is the earlier, unless previously agreed in writing by the 
Council and the landscaping shall thereafter be retained and maintained in accordance 
with the approved details 

Page 240



 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the development and 
relationship with its surroundings, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.21 of the 
London Plan (2011), policies BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN3, EN8B and EN26 of the London Borough 
of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(19) Any tree or shrub planted pursuant to approved landscape details that is removed 
or severely damaged, dying or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years of planting 
shall be replaced with a tree or shrub of similar size and species to that originally 
required to be planted.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory provision for planting, in accordance with policies 7.1, 
7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2B, EN8 and EN26 of 
the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as 
amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(20) With the exception to access for maintenance purposes no part of existing flat roof 
at the proposed 3rd floor level of the development hereby approved shall be converted 
into or be used as a terrace or other form of open amenity space. No further alterations 
shall be carried out to the extension at roof level hereby approved to facilitate access 
onto this roof. 
 
Reason: Such a use would be harmful to the existing residential amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers as a result of overlooking, loss of privacy and additional noise 
and disturbance, contrary to policy EN2, EN3, EN8B, EN21 and standards S13.2, and 
S13.2A of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan 
(as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(21) No plant, water tanks, enclosures or other structures (save those hereby 
permitted) shall be erected on the roof of the development hereby approved without 
planning permission first being obtained. Any such changes shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to ensure that neighbouring 
occupiers are not unduly affected by smell, noise and disturbance, in accordance with 
policy BE1 and CC4 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core 
Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN3, EN8B, EN20B and EN21 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 
and 2011). 
 
(22) No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the development, 
including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction 
equipment not shown on the approved drawings, without planning permission first being 
obtained. Any such changes shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 
amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties, in accordance with 
policy BE1 and CC4 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core 
Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN3, EN8B, EN20B and EN21 of the London 

Page 241



 

Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 
and 2011). 
 
(23) Prior to use of the development, details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council, of the external noise level emitted from 
plant/machinery/equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate. The measures 
shall ensure that the external noise level emitted from plant, machinery/equipment will 
be lower than the lowest existing background noise level by at least 10dBA, as 
assessed according to BS4142:1997 at the nearest and/or most affected noise sensitive 
premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A post 
installation noise assessment shall be carried out where required to confirm compliance 
with the noise criteria and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be taken, as 
necessary.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not 
adversely affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/equipment, in 
accordance with policy BE1 and CC4 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies EN2, EN3, EN8B, EN20B and EN21 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(24) Prior to use, all plant / machinery / equipment and / or any air conditioning / extract 
/ ventilation system and ducting at the development hereby approved shall be mounted 
with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan motors shall be vibration isolated from 
the casing and adequately silenced and maintained as such.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and / or 
surrounding premises is not adversely affected by vibration, in accordance with policy 
BE1 and CC4 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy 
(2011) and policies EN2, EN3, EN8B, EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the London Borough 
of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(25) Prior to occupation of any part of the development, details of all proposed external 
lighting, including security lights shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council and no occupation shall take place until the lighting has been installed in full 
accordance with the approved details. Such details shall include the number, exact 
location, height, design and appearance of the lights, together with data concerning the 
levels of illumination and light spillage and the specific measures, having regard to the 
recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Engineers in the `Guidance Notes For 
The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2005' (or relevant guidance) to ensure that any lighting 
proposed does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site / surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by lighting, in accordance with policies BE1 and CC4 
of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies 
BE1 and CC4 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy 
(2011), policies EN2, EN3, EN8B, EN10, EN20A, EN20C and EN21 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 2007 
and 2011). 
 

Page 242



 

(26) The development hereby permitted shall not be used until the 104 bicycle parking 
spaces identified on approved drawings 10036 P(1)100 Rev B, P(4) 115 and 116; have 
been provided on the site. Full details of this provision shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the council prior to first use of the development. The cycle 
parking shall thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision and permanent retention of the cycle parking spaces 
for parking purposes, in accordance with policy 6.9 and 6.13 of the London Plan (2011) 
and policy TN6 and Standard S20.1 of the of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(27) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied prior to the designated 
four disabled parking spaces shown on drawing 10036 P(1)100, hereby approved being 
marked out on site, and made available for disabled users. The disabled parking spaces 
shall be permanently retained thereafter solely for this use. 
 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory provision and retention of disabled car parking 
facilities, in accordance with policy 6.13 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011) and policy 
TN4 and TN15 and Standard S18 and 19 of the of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(28) Prior to the first occupation of the development, details of refuse storage and a 
Waste Management Strategy for storage and collection arrangements for that building, 
including how recycling will be maximised and incorporated into the facilities, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. No building shall be occupied until 
the approved refuse storage arrangements are in place and all approved storage 
arrangements shall be maintained permanently thereafter.  
 
Reason: In order to protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory provision is 
made for refuse/recycling storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.3 of the 
London Plan (2011), policy EN17 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 2011) and the Council's 
Supplementary Planning Document `Storage of Refuse and Recyclables'. 
 
(29) No part of the development hereby approved shall be used prior to the provision of 
the refuse and recycling storage enclosures, as indicated on the approved drawings: 
10036 P (1)100 Rev B, P (4) 115 and 116. All refuse generated by the development 
hereby permitted shall be stored within these enclosures and they shall be permanently 
retained for these purposes, and no refuse shall be stored on the highway (except for 
on collection days). 
 
Reason: In order to protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory provision is 
made for refuse/recycling storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.17 and 
6.11 of the London Plan (2011), policy EN17 of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 2007 and 2011) and the Council's 
Supplementary Planning Document `Storage of Refuse and Recyclables'. 
 
(30) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Servicing 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Details 
shall include times and frequency of deliveries and collections, vehicle movements, 
silent reversing methods, location of loading bays, quiet loading/unloading measures, 

Page 243



 

etc.  Thereafter the scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that servicing and deliveries are carried out without any significant 
impact on the flow of traffic and the local highway network and to prevent harm to the 
amenities of surrounding occupiers by reason of noise disturbance, in accordance with 
policy 6.11 of the London Plan (2011) and policies EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(31) Prior to commencement of development, details of the methods proposed to 
identify any radio and television interference to residential properties caused by the 
proposed development, including periods during the construction phases, and the 
measures proposed to ensure that any television interference that might be identified is 
remediated in a satisfactory manner has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council. If any television interference to residential properties is identified, the 
approved remediation measures shall be implemented as soon as reasonably 
practicable.  
 
Reason: To ensure that television interference caused by the development is 
remediated, in accordance with policy 7.7 of the London Plan (2011) and policy EN21 of 
the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan, (as 
amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(32) The sustainable design and construction measures proposed in the Sustainability 
Strategy shall be fully implemented prior to the first occupation of the development. 
These measures shall thereafter be permanently retained to serve the development and 
maintained in a working order.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable design and construction in accordance with Policy 5.3 
of The London Plan (2011). 
 
(33) Prior to commencement of the works above ground hereby permitted, a surface 
water drainage scheme, based on sustainable drainage principles, and a maintenance 
programme for the sustainable urban drainage measures, shall have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the council. The scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to first use of the development hereby 
permitted, and thereafter permanently maintained in accordance with the agreed details.  
 
Reason: To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the satisfactory 
storage of/disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with policy 5.13 of The 
London Plan (2011) and policy CC2 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Core Strategy (2011).  
 
(34) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details have been 
provided of the windows to the northern elevation of the existing building at first and 
second floor level to be installed with obscure glazing in order to avoid overlooking of or 
loss of privacy to the existing Osram Court properties. In consultation with the Peabody 
Trust, details and samples of the obscure glazing to be used shall first be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council and no part of the building shall be used or 
occupied prior to the installation of the glazing in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 244



 

The glazing shall thereafter be retained in this form and no alterations shall be carried 
out to the glazing to replace the obscure glazing with clear glass. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and safeguard the 
special architectural or historic interest of the building and to ensure that no overlooking 
occurs between facing windows with the adjacent neighbouring residential occupiers in 
Osram Court, in accordance with Policies EN2, EN3, EN8B and standard S13.2 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
in 2007 and 2011). 
 
(35) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of the 
ratio and pattern between glazed and solid panels in the roof extension are provided, 
including the extent of glazed and solid panels to the northern elevation facing Osram 
Court properties. In consultation with the Peabody Trust, details, position and samples 
of the solid panels to be provided shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council and no part of the building shall be used or occupied prior to the installation 
of the solid panels in accordance with the approved details. The position of the glazed 
and solid panels shall thereafter be retained in this form and no alterations shall be 
carried out to the glazing to replace the solid panels with clear glass. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and safeguard the 
special architectural or historic interest of the building and to ensure that no overlooking 
occurs between facing windows with the adjacent neighbouring residential occupiers in 
Osram Court, in accordance with Policies EN2, EN3, EN8B and standard S13.2 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
in 2007 and 2011). 
 
(36) Neither music nor amplified voices emitted from the development shall be audible 
at any residential premises.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not 
adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policy EN20A, EN20B and EN21 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, as amended and 2011. 
 
(37) No advertisements shall be displayed on or within any elevation of the building 
itself (including inside windows), without details of the advertisements having first been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council. 
 
Reason: In order that any advertisements displayed on the building are assessed in the 
context of an overall strategy, so as to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to 
preserve the integrity of the design of the building, in accordance with policies BE1 and 
CC4 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and 
policies EN2, EN3, EN8B and EN14 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(38) No development shall take place until a photographic record of the interior and 
exterior of the buildings including the front boundary wall with locations marked on a 
plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, and a copy of the 
approved photographic record shall be lodged with the Borough Archive. 
 
Reason: To ensure that a proper record is made of the special architectural and historic 
interest of the building prior to works commencing, and that the information is made 

Page 245



 

available to the appropriate statutory bodies, in accordance with Policy EN3 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 
2007 and 2011). 
 
(39) The development shall not commence prior to the submission and approval in 
writing by the Council of details of the design, location and appearance of a 
commemorative plaque or sign board with information on the history of the existing 
buildings on the site. The plaque or sign board shall be located in a position where it 
can be readily viewed by the public. No part of the development shall be used or 
occupied prior to the installation of the plaque or sign board in accordance with the 
approved details, and the plaque or sign board shall thereafter be retained. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the historic identity of the site is commemorated as a 
point of reference for the future, in accordance with Policy EN3 of the London Borough 
of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
(40) The office use shall not be occupied or used until a scheme for the control of the 
operation of internal lighting, during periods of limited or non-occupation, within the 
buildings is submitted and approved in writing by the Council. The internal lighting shall 
be operated only in accordance with such scheme as is approved.    
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the office buildings do not cause excessive light 
pollution and in order to conserve energy when they are not occupied, in accordance 
with Policy EN20C of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
INFORMATIVES: 
Permitted hours for building work  
Construction and demolition works and associated activities at the development, 
audible beyond the boundary of the site should not be carried out other than between 
the hours of 0800 - 1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 0800 - 1300hrs on Saturdays and 
at no other times, including Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays, unless otherwise 
agreed with the Environmental Health Officer. 
 
Notification to neighbours of demolition/ building works   
At least 21 days prior to the commencement of any site works, all occupiers 
surrounding the site should be notified in writing of the nature and duration of works to 
be undertaken. The name and contact details of a person responsible for the site works 
should be made available for enquiries and complaints for the entire duration of the 
works and updates of work should be provided regularly. Any complaints should be 
properly addressed as quickly as possible.  
 
Dust 
Best Practicable Means (BPM) should be used in controlling dust emissions, in 
accordance with the Best Practice Guidance by the GLA 2006 for The Control of Dust 
and Emissions from Construction and Demolition.  
 
Dark smoke and nuisance 
No waste materials should be burnt on site of the development hereby approved.  
 
Noise and Vibration from demolition, piling, concrete crushing, drilling, 
excavating, etc.   

Page 246



 

Best Practicable Means (BPM) should be used, including low vibration methods and 
silenced equipment and machinery, in accordance with the Approved Codes of Practice 
of BS5228:2009 for noise and vibration control on construction and open sites.   
 
Environmental Quality 
The applicant should contact the Environmental Quality team via e-mail to 
Environmental.Quality@lbhf.gov.uk or by phone on 0208 753 1081 as soon as possible 
to discuss the steps necessary to fulfil the contaminated land conditions. 
 
It is suggested that contaminated land intrusive investigations are conducted in 
conjunction with geotechnical investigations. 
 
You are advised that under Section 80 of the Building Act 1984 you are required to give 
the Council a minimum of 6 weeks notice of your intention to carry out any works of 
demolition of the whole or part of a building. You should submit your notice of intended 
demolition to the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham, Environmental Quality 
Team, Hammersmith Town Hall Extension, King Street, Hammersmith W6 9JU or email 
Environmental.Quality@lbhf.gov.uk. 
 
JUSTIFICATION 
1.  Land Use: The loss of the existing storage (Class B8) facilities is accepted. The 
proposed use of the Grade II listed building for office (Class B1) purposes is considered 
to be acceptable, in keeping with the neighbouring land uses and compatible with the 
character of the building, in accordance with London Plan policy 4.2 of the London Plan 
(2011) and Strategic Policy B, HTC, LE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and the aims of the NPPF.  
 
2.  Design: It is considered that both the proposed extensions and alterations to the 
existing Grade II listed building would be of a high standard of design and consistent 
with the scale and height of the host building, complementing the character of the 
existing development and its setting. The proposal by reason of its proposed materials 
and design would result in a high quality development which would make a positive 
contribution to the urban environment in this part of the Borough. The character and 
appearance of the Brook Green conservation area and setting of adjacent conservation 
areas would be preserved and enhanced and the appearance and setting of listed 
building would not be affected. Policies EN2, EN2B, EN3, EN8B, EN8D and EN8F of 
the Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 
2011), Policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), Policies 7.4, 
7.6 and 7.8 of The London Plan (2011) and the aims of the NPPF would therefore be 
satisfied. Policies DM F1, DM F2, DM E4, DM G1, DM G6, and DM G7 of the 
Development Management Local Plan which seek a high quality in design and 
architecture, requiring new developments to have regard to the pattern and grain of 
existing development. 
 
3.  Highways: There would be no adverse impact on traffic generation and the scheme 
would not result in congestion of the primary road network. The accessibility level of the 
site is very good, and there are public transport links and shops and services available 
nearby. Measures to encourage the use of sustainable travel would be contained within 
a Travel Plan. Satisfactory provision would be made for car and cycle parking including 
disabled person parking. Adequate provision for servicing and the storage and 
collection of refuse and recyclables would be provided. The proposal is thereby in 
accordance with Policy T1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core 

Page 247



 

Strategy (2011) and policies EN17, TN4, TN6, TN13, TN15 and TN28 and Standards 
S18.1, S19, S20.1, S22, S23 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011).  
 
4.  Residential Amenity: The impact of the proposed development upon adjacent 
occupiers is considered acceptable. Due to the high quality design of the proposed 
curved roof extension to the existing building in respect to residential neighbours and its 
position, height and bulk within the street scene, it is not considered that the proposal 
would materially affect the outlook and light or result in overshadowing to neighbouring 
residential properties, in particular the occupiers of Osram Court. Residents' privacy 
would not be affected to an unacceptable degree. Lighting conditions to neighbours 
would not similarly be affected. Measures would also be secured by condition to reduce 
loss of privacy, overlooking, light glare and noise and disturbance to nearby occupiers 
from the operation of the proposed use. In this regard, the development would respect 
the principles of good neighbourliness, and thereby satisfy policies EN8B, EN20B, 
EN20C and EN21 and standards S12 and S13 of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 
 
5.  Sustainability: The proposed development has been designed to a BREEAM rating 
of Very Good whilst striking a balance between preserving the significance of the listed 
building. The proposal would minimise its environmental impact, by including measures 
that conserve energy, materials and water, minimise air, noise and water pollution, and 
promote sustainable waste behaviour. Although the proposed C02 emissions for the 
development itself will fall marginally short of the requirement set out in London Plan 
policy 5.2, a s106 contribution will be made to ensure the shortfall in C02 emissions can 
be off-set through carbon savings off-site. This will result in a significant reduction of 
CO2 emissions beyond the Building Regulations 2010 compliant level and will achieve 
the London Plan target of 25%. It is not considered that the development would have an 
adverse impact on a watercourse, flood plain or flood defences, and the implementation 
of a sustainable urban drainage strategy would be required by condition. Policies CC1, 
CC2, CC3, and CC4 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core 
Strategy (20110 and Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6,  5.7 and 5.13 of The London Plan 2011 
are thereby satisfied and policies CC1, CC2 and H3 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011). 
 
6.  Access and Crime Prevention: Subject to conditions the development would provide 
a safe and secure environment, and would be accessible to all users in accordance with 
Policy TN1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), 
Policy EN10 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development 
Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011), Policies 7.2 and 7.3 of the London Plan (2011) and 
the Council's adopted supplementary planning document 'Access for all'. 
 
7.  Planning Obligations:  The application proposes that its impacts are mitigated by way 
of financial contributions to fund improvements that are necessary as a consequence of 
the development. The proposed development would therefore mitigate external impacts 
and would accord with Policy 8.2 of the London Plan (2011) and policy CF1 of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011).  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 248



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 7th February 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

LBHF Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
LBHF Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
    
English Heritage London Region 
   
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 
   
Transport For London - Land Use Planning Team 
 
Transport For London - Land Use Planning Team 
   
Thames Water - Development Control 
 
Twentieth Century Society 
 
Friends of Brook Green  
 
Hammersmith Society 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group 
 
The Peabody Trust  

Dated: 
    
25.02.13 
   
22.02.13 
   
27.02.13 
 
22.04.13 
   
19.03.13 
 
21.03.13 
 
19.03.13 
 
05.04.13 
 
03.04.13 
 
08.03.13 
                       

 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
7 Osram Court 182 Shepherd's Bush Road London W6 7PF  26.02.13 
55 Osram Court 182 Shepherd's Bush Road London W6 7PF  05.03.13 
79 Osram Court 182 Shepherd’s Bush Road London w6 7PF  21.04.13 
17 Lena Gardens London W67PY   07.03.13 
11D Lena Gardens London W6 7PY   06.03.13 
15 Phoenix Lodge Mansions Brook Green W6 7BG  27.02.13 
68a Hammersmith Grove London W6 7HA  25.02.13 
92 Hammersmith Grove London W6 7HB   27.02.13 
8 Russell Court 108 Hammersmith Grove London W6 7HB  03.03.13 

Page 249



 

Flat 10 Russell Court 108 Hammersmith Grove W6 7HB   05.03.13 
Flat 10 Russell Court 108 Hammersmith Grove W6 7HB  02.04.13 
55 Brook Green London W6 7BJ   22.02.13 
 
 
OFFICER REPORT 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 No. 184 Shepherd’s Bush Road is a largely rectangular site of 4,418 square 
metres. It comprises a large scale, three storey (plus small basement), Grade II listed 
industrial building, formerly known as Citroen House. The building is currently in use by 
Access Self Storage, and has a lawful Class B8 use. The site is located on the west 
side of Shepherd’s Bush Road and looks onto Little Brook Green and Brook Green. The 
site is bounded to the east by the London Underground Hammersmith and City and 
Circle lines. To the south is the former Brook Green School, which is a modest scale 
building with modern additions, currently used as studios, as well as the larger, modern 
five storey fire station. The site is bounded to the east by Shepherd’s Bush Road, 
opposite Little Brook Green, Brook Green and Phoenix Lodge Mansions. To the north is 
Osram Court (182 Shepherd’s Bush Road). This is the former Osram factory 
redeveloped in the early 1990’s, retaining only its prominent tower and south wing, now 
serving a large Tesco's supermarket, a customer car park and residential units on the 
upper floors. Along with these surrounding residential properties the main characteristic 
of the area is set by a large number of commercial buildings. 
 
1.2 The site lies within the Brook Green Conservation Area and is outside, but within 
100m of the defined Hammersmith Town Centre. It is within Environment Agency Flood 
Zone 3a. The site benefits from proximity to good public transport links and is in close 
proximity to the Hammersmith town centre transport hub and several bus routes on 
Shepherd’s Bush Road and enjoys a Public Transport Accessibility Level - PTAL rating 
of 6B (excellent).There are a number of locally listed “Buildings of Merit” within the wider 
context of the site, including the tower and south wing of the former Osram Factory (182 
Shepherd’s Bush Road) located immediately to the north, the Brook Green Hotel (170 & 
172 Shepherd’s Bush Road), to the north east at the corner of Little Brook Green and 
Shepherd’s Bush Road, Phoenix Lodge Mansions, located to the east across Little 
Brook Green and Shepherd’s Bush Road and the former Brook Green School to the 
south. The site does not lie within an Archaeological Priority Area. 
 
1.3 Historically, the application site was originally built as a motor garage service 
depot with showroom, constructed for the Ford Motor Company around 1916. Soon 
afterwards it was taken over by Citroen in 1926 and used as a car showroom. It was 
later acquired by the Osram General Electrical Company for light industrial purposes. 
The building has been in use for the last 22 years as a secure personal self storage 
facility. More recently a mezzanine floor was added within the former taller ground floor 
space. Other than a small reception area on the ground floor and ancillary offices on the 
upper level in the north eastern corner of the building, the space is used for storage 
purposes. One of the building’s main features is the large flat roof which the list 
description suggests was originally designed to take cars up within the building to be 
test driven. The building has a long principle façade to the road and Little Brook Green, 
with 9 bays. The building is constructed in mostly brown brick with decorative brickwork 
panels and painted cement detailing and large metal windows. At the rear, the ground 
floor has a raised platform (original loading bays) to the now lost railway sidings, 

Page 250



 

sheltered by a cast-iron and glass roof. The rear yard of approximately 666 sqm is 
currently used as a car parking and customer pick-up area. 
 
1.4 Over the years there have been numerous advertisement applications for the 
storage centre use and listed building applications for minor internal and external works. 
All of these were approved. Permission was granted in November 1999 for change of 
use for part of the building to B1 (1999/01540) but this was not implemented.   
 
Current Proposal 
1.5 The proposed development involves the change of use of the building from 
storage (Class B8) to office use (Class B1). The total floor space of the existing building 
is 9,558 sqm (GIA).  It is proposed that the building would be used as Grade A office 
floor space for a national headquarters business. A sole tenant for the entire building is 
being secured. The proposal also involves works of alteration and extension to the 
grade II listed Building, involving the erection of three further floors of office 
accommodation on top of the existing building, in the form of a glazed dome made up of 
triangular panels. The total amount of office floor space proposed would amount 
to12,327 sq m (GIA) with a layout indicating up to approximately 890 employees (there 
are only 5 full time equivalent employees on site currently). Other external works 
include: a new glazed entrance door within the centre of the front elevation, in the 
position of the original entrance and a second entrance at the northern end of the front 
elevation, together with the repair and alteration to the existing fenestration of the 
building and new louvred vents to the north and south elevations; the erection of a glass 
conservatory including repair and reinstatement of the existing stainless steel canopy, 
enclosing part of the existing building at ground floor level on the western (rear) 
elevation; and the installation of various plant, located on the roof. At roof level one of 
the existing stair cores would be removed to accommodate the extra accommodation 
while one original core, at the southern end, would be retained. The chimney on this 
core would be removed so that it does not project above the proposed roof line. The 
proposal also includes the erection of a free standing structure within the north west 
corner of the rear yard, separate from the main building, for cycle and refuse storage 
use on the ground floor and chillers above. The existing front boundary wall on 
Shepherd’s Bush Road would be removed and replaced with soft landscaping. 
 
1.6 Accompanying the application for full planning permission is an application for 
listed building consent (ref: 2013/00455/LBC) for the above external works and the 
refurbishment and alterations to the interior of the Grade II listed building. Internally the 
proposal would result in the removal of all the existing storage facilities including the 
existing mezzanine floor to enable the office use. Key internal features would be 
retained such as the original staircase and the flooring and ceiling moulds in the 
reception area and the timber panelling and partitions in the office units on the first floor. 
 
1.7 There are currently 20 parking spaces and 4 disabled parking spaces on site. Four  
disabled spaces would be retained in the scheme and one visitor space would also be 
provided. There are parking restrictions in the area including a Controlled Parking Zone 
(Zone A) to the front of the building. The scheme would provide 104 new covered cycle 
parking spaces to the rear of the site. 
 
1.8 The application is accompanied by the following documentation: existing, 
proposed and demolition plans; Design & Access Statement; schedule of works; 
planning statement; heritage statement; daylight and sunlight report; transport 
statement; travel plan; deliveries and servicing management strategy; air quality 

Page 251



 

assessment; energy statement; BREEAM Assessment; building engineering services 
strategy; structural statement; contaminated land assessment; flood risk assessment 
 noise survey; and a statement of community involvement. 
  
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
2.1 A Statement of Community Involvement has been submitted in support of the 
application which summarises the pre-application consultation undertaken by the 
applicants in advance of the submission of the applications. Between November 2011 
and May 2012 the applicant held four presentations for amenity groups and residents. 
These were attended by representatives and residents of the Brook Green Association, 
Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group, Hammersmith Society, Phoenix 
Lodge Mansions, the Peabody Trust and Osram Court and a ward councillor for 
Avonmore and Brook Green ward.  
 
2.2 In summary the Statement of Community Involvement states that a number of 
supportive comments were received in response to the proposals and questions were 
asked about the design and materials for the roof extension, residential amenity in 
terms of daylight/sunlight and need for office space. However the Statement of 
Community Involvement states the Osram Court residents did express concerns 
regarding loss of light/outlook and privacy in relation to the height and proximity of the 
proposals and over noise from the existing use and during construction. 
 
2.3 A second round of consultation and presentations were undertaken following the 
submission of the applications, attended by the above amenity groups, residents and a 
ward councillor for Addison Ward. The responses are summarised in the comments 
section below.  
 
Design Review Panel: 
2.4 The emerging designs for the scheme were presented by the applicant at the 
Council's Design Review Panel on 3 April 2012. The feedback from the panel was as 
follows: 
(a) The Panel supported the principle and the concept of the roof structure; however 

in order for the structure to be successful, it should have a purer geometrical 
form without any penetrations through the vault. 

(b) There was a debate about the virtues of diagrid versus more conventional arch 
structures. 

(c) Whatever solution was to be followed it was vitally important to maintain the 
highest quality and finishes. 

(d) Similar attention would need to be extended across the site as a whole, including 
the refurbishment and the presentation of the other key internal structures of the 
building. 

 
2.5 The original design had plant penetrating through the roof structure in an off-centre 
position. The applicant has addressed point (a) by amending the design so that the 
plant is in the centre of the roof and is less visible.  
 
2.6 Point (b) is addressed in the design and access statement accompanying the 
application which sets out the rationale for the diagrid structure of the roof, being made 
up of equilateral triangular panels which would provide a contemporary approach to 
architecture and create an innovative workplace. The design and access statement also 
sets out details of the materials and finishes. Details of these can be subject to 

Page 252



 

conditions to address point (c). The design and access statement also addresses the 
refurbishment and internal structures in relation to point (d). 
 
Planning Application Publicity and Consultations: 
2.7 In addition to the above, this major application and listed building consent 
application has been publicised by means of site notices, a press advert and 
approximately 600+ individual notification letters were sent to the neighbouring 
properties. Other consulted parties include Transport for London (TfL), English Heritage, 
Environment Agency, Thames Water, Metropolitan Police - Crime Prevention Design, 
The London Fire and Civil Defence Authority, London Underground, Hammersmith 
Society, Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group, local residents groups and 
amenity groups. The contents of the representations in support and oppose to the 
proposals are summarised below: 
 
2.8 A total of 12 objections have been received from members of the public (3 from 
residents in Osram Court; 1 from Brook Green; 1 from Phoenix Lodge Mansions located 
opposite to the site and 2 from Lena Gardens and 5 objections from Hammersmith 
Grove). The comments can be summarised as follows:- 
 
Osram Court (3) 
- Development will be an eyesore. English Heritage's endorsement of the proposal is irrelevant.  
- Construction should remain as it is, would create an architectural clash by placing a 21st 
Century - Dome on a 19th or early 20th Century building.  
- The dome is too high and situated too close to those blocks which are South facing. 
- Would be intrusive and would obscure the skyline.  
- Would present privacy issues for some and be a source of light pollution.  
- Existing bedrooms that face the flank wall of 184 Shepherd’s Bush Road have very little 
natural light and windowless bathrooms. 
- Development will result in a considerable and precious loss of light. 
- Demolition work would add to the amount of noise already receive from the TFL Tube 
Depot and the day and night-time deliveries to the Tesco Superstore. 
- Suggest taking the proposal to the BBC complex in Wood Lane.  
 
Brook Green (1) 
- Building currently exists without being an intrusion overlooking Brook Green.  
- The Green will be overlooked and block light for the residents. 
 
Phoenix Lodge Mansions (1) 
- Height out of scale with surroundings. 
- Will ruin proportion of listed building. 
- Curved superstructure will destroy its character. 
- Use will generate a large increase in traffic. Junction at Brook Green already a bottleneck. 
- If developed would be far better used as housing than offices. 
 
Lena Gardens (2)  
- Overshadowing effect of the proposed extension.  
- Seek confirmation as to whether the proposed extension will affect direct sunlight on the back 
of the houses in Lena Gardens.  
- Will turn area from a 'residential' feel to an 'inner city' one. 
 
 
 

Page 253



 

Hammersmith Grove (5) 
- Impact on Hammersmith Grove properties has not been considered. The applicant has not 
consulted the community to the required extent.  
- Properties on Hammersmith Grove will be overlooked (loss of privacy). 
- Height infringes the requirements of UDP Pt 2 Chapter 12 Section 13.1. 
- Residents in Hammersmith Grove will no longer be able to see the trees in Brook Green. 
- Development affects sunlight into Brook Green. 
- Will destroy the view of the Osram building from Shepherds Bush Road, 
- Height and mass of the extension will destroy the proportions of a heritage building.  
- The proposed design is out of keeping and character with the conservation area and of the listed 
building. The proposed glass roof is too modern, and out of keeping with the style of neither the 
original building nor surrounding properties. 
- Hammersmith has no need for additional office space. Surplus of empty office space in the 
borough and additional office space is already being built.  
 
Hammersmith Society: 
2.9 The Hammersmith Society commends the proposed use of this building and the 
design of its glazed dome in particular. The Hammersmith Society state: 
“The design successfully and graciously completes the top half of a building that was 
left unfinished at the onset of the First World War. It thus balances the building upwards 
while maintaining an agreeable and airy view looking west across Brook Green”. 
 
2.10 The Hammersmith Society considers that the architect has also sensitively dealt 
with the rear of the building and strongly requests that the architect be contracted to 
carry through the work to completion. Add they know there have been enquiries about 
the front wall and the outlook for the Peabody residents; however, they believe these 
points will be resolved. The Hammersmith Society do share concerns about a possible 
increase in light pollution from the dome but are aware that measures are being taken to 
increase glass shading. 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group (HFHB&G):  
2.11 Support the applications for change of use and alterations to this listed building. 
The Group consider that: 
- The existing three storeys ‘base building’ will be changed very little externally and 
would be carefully restored under these proposals.  
- The main entrance would be reinstated centrally to the frontage facing Little Brook 
Green and the brick walls and chain-link enclosures on this frontage removed and 
replaced by planting. 
- Internally they acknowledge that much of the detail of the office areas in mahogany 
and marble survives and together with the original small-paned bronze-framed external 
glazing to the northern entrance, will be retained under these proposals. 
- Welcome the removal of the storage units and the return of the building to its original 
open plan where the concrete structure with its octagonal columns could be better 
appreciated.  
- Are of the opinion that the curved lightweight glazed extension proposed at roof level 
will be complementary to the listed building and will enhance the conservation area. 
They however state that overall surface finish of the extension should be the same 
whether the panels are solid or translucent.   
- Request that a condition be included for a history plaque to be provided a set of 
photographs of the existing building be deposited with the Borough Archives. 
 
 

Page 254



 

Friends of Brook Green  
2.12 The Board of Directors of the Friends of Brook Green support the applications for 
the refurbishment and re-development of the listed building. They consider that the 
proposed scheme to be “an elegant and imaginative re-development which has 
considerable visual appeal, will revive the area around it and will provide significant 
employment in our vicinity. It sensitively addresses issues of height, streetscape and the 
interests of its immediate neighbours. It will attract high quality tenants, which is 
obviously in the interests of the wider community”.  
 
2.13 The Friends of Brook Green add they are particularly pleased at the restoration of 
the building, the rationalization of its fenestration and removal of the plate glass 
windows on the north east corner and the removal of clutter at street level on the east 
side of the building, with the demolition of the low walls and metal cages which reduce 
the width of the pavement. They consider that the proposed glass roof has architectural 
precedent and it would be good to see a building of this quality in Hammersmith. 
 
2.14 The Friends of Brook Green however add that both Brook Green and Little Brook 
Green are extremely heavily used and the pressures on the park will undoubtedly 
increase dramatically with the completion of the student accommodation development 
on the former Palais site and with 750 to 850 people working on this site.  The allocation 
of S106 obligation to mitigate the impacts on Little Brook Green and the Western Lawn 
should be provided by the applicant.  
 
The Peabody Trust 
2.15 Object to the proposals in terms of the impact on tenants in Osram Court for the 
following reasons:  
- The proposal would result in a modern and radical roof design; does not reflect the local 
environment and conservation area; detract from the existing street scene and dwarfing Osram 
Tower. 
- Size and glazing of proposed roof structure will impact on residents’ views, resulting in 
overlooking and loss of privacy to several residents’ properties. 
- Residents likely to suffer from night time glare from the proposed glazed roofing 
arrangement. 
- Reference made overlooking from a balcony area and roof top terrace proposed along the 
elevation facing Osram Court with also potential noise issues.  
- Loss of daylight and potentially sunlight for several of properties within Osram Court.  
- Properties likely to suffer losses in terms of Rights of Light.  
- Concern expressed that there only 4 car parking spaces are provided that would increase 
congestion in the area and surrounding streets with office workers and their visitors searching for 
parking in the local vicinity.  
 
English Heritage: 
2.16 For both the planning and listed building consent applications English Heritage 
have considered the information provided and do no wish to offer any comments. 
Following extensive pre-application discussions English Heritage have authorised the 
Council to determine the listed building consent application as they think fit. 
 
Environment Agency: 
2.17 No objections, subject to the inclusion of conditions, including a requirement that 
the development is carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment. 
 

Page 255



 

Thames Water: 
2.18 Initially Thames Water raised concerns with regard to the ability of the existing 
waste and water infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development based 
on the increase in size of the building and change of use. Thames Water has however 
confirmed they would agree to a condition in relation to the provision of a drainage 
strategy dealing with waste matters and in terms of water. 
 
Twentieth Century Society: 
2.19 Welcomes the applicant’s approach to refurbishment of the internal areas and 
intention to retain original elements. The group is also supportive of the proposals to 
refurbish the front façade and replacement of the steel windows beyond repair with like 
for like units. 
 
2.20 The Twentieth Century Society however expressed concerns to the proposed roof 
extension and the impact this would have on the listed building. Whilst the society does 
not object to an extension they are concerned about the scale and consider these 
proposals to be overbearing and detrimental to the building. They consider that a lower 
structure at roof level would be more appropriate. 
 
Transport for London (TfL); 
2.21 The site forms part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN) and under he Traffic 
Management Act 2004 TfL has duty to ensure that any development does not have an 
adverse impact on the SRN. TfL have requested the following: 
- A Construction Management Plan (CMP) secured via appropriate planning conditions/ 
obligations. 
- A PERS audit, including an audit of the local bus stop facilities in order to establish if 
any mitigation towards bus facilities would be sought.  
- 104 cycle spaces are proposed, which is in accordance with the standards set out in 
the TfL cycle parking guidelines. Cycle parking should be located in an accessible, 
convenient, secure and sheltered area. In addition, CCTV coverage of the area should 
be provided, as well as shower and changing room facilities. 
- A Section 106 planning condition/obligation is imposed to require that the developer 
submits a Travel Plan in accordance with DfT and TfL guidance and that it passes the 
ATTRBUTE test. 
- Scheme to meet the Mayor’s CIL  
 
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 The main planning issues in considering whether the proposal is acceptable are: 
land use; the scale, bulk, design and appearance of the roof top extension; alterations 
to the listed building and its impact on the street scene and character and appearance 
of the Brook Green conservation area; impacts of the development on the existing 
amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, in terms of noise and 
disturbance, daylight/sunlight, privacy and outlook and glare; whether there would be 
any greater traffic generation or additional car parking demand as a result of the 
proposal; the accessibility of the development for wheelchair and disabled users; and 
energy efficiency and sustainability.  
 
LAND USE 
3.2 The main land use issue with this proposal is the suitability of an office use located 
just outside of Hammersmith town centre. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) states that LPA’s should require applications for main town centre uses to be 

Page 256



 

located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations and only if suitable sites are not 
available should out of centre sites be considered. When considering edge of centre 
and out of centre proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites that are well 
connected to the town centre.  
 
3.3 The Core Strategy and emerging Development Management Local Plan seek to 
protect employment generating uses where they are still viable. In this case the existing 
commercial use of the building would be retained by replacing the existing B8 storage 
use with a B1 office use. In terms of the suitability of the B1 office use, Core Strategy 
Strategic Policy B sets out that Hammersmith Town centre is the preferred location for 
major office space in the Borough. The justification text for this policy explains that large 
offices should locate in areas that are very well served by public transport and that 
Hammersmith Town Centre is the prime location because of its high public transport 
accessibility. 184 Shepherd’s Bush Road has a PTAL level of 6b, which is the highest 
accessibility by public transport so is in line with the objectives of policy. Strategic Policy 
HTC states that the Council “will continue to build on the centre’s location advantages 
for office development and to secure more modern accommodation”. Emerging 
Development Management Local Plan policy DM B1 adds that proposals outside town 
centres or Opportunity areas for large office development (above 2,500 sq m) will be 
discouraged unless it can be demonstrated that provision can not be provided within the 
town centres or the opportunity areas. 
 
3.4 The proposed office use would create 12,327 sq m of office space just 80 metres 
outside Hammersmith Town Centre. However, in line with guidance in paragraphs 24 
and 26 of the NPPF a sequential test and a town centre impact assessment have been 
provided by the applicant. The sequential test examines comparable sites in the town 
centre and concludes that there are no other opportunities within Hammersmith Town 
Centre for office redevelopment of a similar size. The report acknowledges that the 
Development Securities site at Hammersmith Grove will shortly provide a large amount 
of new office floor space, but this is of a different style as the application site which has 
a historical character and which will attract a specific type of tenant. The NPPF also 
states the Government is committed to securing economic growth in order to create jobs 
and prosperity; and to help achieve economic growth, local planning authorities should 
plan proactively to meet the development needs of business and support an economy fit 
for the 21st century. 
 
3.5 The Council's Core Strategy Policy LE1 states that ”The Council will seek to retain 
land capable of providing accommodation for local services or significant employment 
unless, amongst other considerations, it can be satisfactorily demonstrated that the 
property is no longer required for employment purposes". In addition, London Plan 
Policy 4.2 states that `Employment land and premises should be retained where needed 
and intensified where appropriate, but that changes of use of surplus office space to 
other uses should be supported. While saved UDP Policy E5 requires provision for 
small businesses in proposals for 5,000 sq m or more of office space, the Emerging 
Development Management Local Plan policy DM B1 sets out that the Council will 
support the retention and intensification of existing class ‘B’ uses.  
 
3.6 Policy B of the Core Strategy also states that the Council will support the local 
economy and inward investment in the borough and that land providing existing 
significant employment should normally continue to do so. The proposals for 184 
Shepherd’s Bush Road would increase employment opportunities with some 890 jobs 
proposed as opposed to the existing 5 employees on site. 

Page 257



 

 
3.7 The impact assessment accompanying the application has had regard to the fact 
that the site is on the edge of the town centre and well served by public transport. The 
analysis sets out that an increase in employees on this site would also produce trips into 
the town centre, which the existing self storage use is less likely to do and therefore the 
proposals would have a positive impact on the town centre and neighbourhood parades. 
The impact assessment also sets out that the proposed office space in this location 
would not detract from office opportunities in the town centre and it is understood that 
the applicant has secured a tenant from outside the borough to take the whole building. 
 
3.8 Officers consider that re-use of the building for an office use would present an 
appropriate option and would guarantee the provision of a substantial level of 
employment within the building in comparison with the existing underused storage use. 
It is considered that this would not compromise the provisions of Core Strategy and the 
emerging Development Management Local Plan. 
 
DESIGN & HERITAGE 
3.9 In respect of design, among the core planning principles of the NPPF is that 
development should always seek to secure high quality and inclusive design for all 
developments and buildings should be visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture. Great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which 
help raise the standard of design more generally in the area. Furthermore proposals 
should conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that 
they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future 
generations. London Plan policies 7.1, 7.2. 7.4. 7.6, 7.8 and 7.9 requires all new 
development to be of high quality that responds to the surrounding context. 
  
3.10 Saved Policy EN8B of the UDP, core strategy policy BE1, and Policy G3 of the 
Emerging Development Management Local Plan require new developments and 
extensions to buildings to have a high standard of design, and state that the physical 
character of new development should respond to that of the surrounding area, taking 
into account historical context, height, scale, massing, form, grain and use of materials. 
Although use of innovative and contemporary materials is encouraged, these must be 
sensitively integrated into the existing built form and townscape. Saved UDP policy EN2 
and EN2B states that development within conservation areas and setting adjacent to 
conservation areas, including alterations or additions to existing buildings, will only be 
permitted if the character or appearance of the conservation area is preserved or 
enhanced and that particular regard will be given to details such as the scale, bulk, 
massing, materials, colour, vertical and horizontal emphasis and the relationship with 
existing buildings, the street building line and open spaces. Policy EN3 relates to 
protecting listed buildings and includes the setting of listed buildings of architectural or 
historic interest. Policy G7 of the submission draft Development Management local plan 
sets out a presumption in favour of conservation, restoration and securing the future of 
the borough’s heritage assets and G4 and G5 deal with shop fronts and replacement 
windows. 
 
3.11 The application site lies within the Brook Green conservation area. The site faces 
and terminates the existing long views from Brook Green and Little Brook Green. The 
tapered open space provided by Little Brook Green provides views of the distinctive 
tower and cupola of the former Osram building to the north of the site along Shepherd’s 
Bush Road. Within the application site both the building and the attached wall on 
Shepherd’s Bush Road were statutorily listed at Grade II in 1990. There are also a 

Page 258



 

number of other statutorily and locally listed buildings within the wider context of the 
site. Brook Green lies at the heart of the conservation area with a large number of 
mature trees and is an important recreational space for residents, employees and 
visitors. 
 
3.12 The listed building was originally built for the motor industry at the beginning of the 
20th century, first used by the Ford Motor Company and later owned by Citroen for the 
assembling of motor cars. The building is one remaining example of a purpose built 
motor depot and garage/showroom dating from this early period. The building has a 
distinctive industrial appearance and comprises a large scale, three storey brown brick 
building with decorative brickwork panels and painted cement detailing. The concrete 
frame of the building is partially exposed externally to the flank and rear (west) 
elevations. The shell of the building remains much in its original state with few 
alterations. The principal east elevation is to the front of the building facing Little Brook 
Green and Shepherd’s Bush Road. The building has a modular form with its three large 
storeys subdivided into nine bays above a small basement level (originally the plant 
area). Historical reference in the supporting statements claim the building was originally 
intended as a four storey building but only three storeys were built due to the First World 
War. It has a large flat roof with a pair of brick clad lift houses and overrun atop 
designed to carry future floors. Although the list description suggest the lift cores were 
designed to take cars up within the building to the roof to be tested, the supporting 
Heritage states no evidence has been found that the roof was used in such a way but 
cars were taken up to the flat roof for storage. 
 
3.13 This industrial building retains much of its original architectural character 
externally. Some modern fenestration introduced at ground floor and signage installed 
to reflect the current storage use would be removed but otherwise the majority of the 
existing windows would be refurbished and retained. Overall these changes would be 
more in keeping and have a minimal impact on the appearance of the original building. 
Internally the building retains much of its original decorative features and finishes to its 
principal public spaces (showroom, sales office and toilets) and staircase hall in the 
north east part of the building. The remainder of the interior shell comprises utilitarian 
spaces which retain few features other than the structural elements themselves, and 
has been considerably altered as a result of later changes of use. Former machinery 
and other features associated with servicing cars and assembling parts have been 
removed. 
 
3.14 The listed building is of architectural and historic interest and has a distinctive 
industrial aesthetic. The reinforced concrete frame and modular plan of the building 
represents a pioneering engineering approach to construction for the time, and a 
functional solution for this use. The Brook Green or public facade of the building was 
designed in a classically inspired style in brick with cement dressings; with a simpler 
treatment of brick infill and glazing to the other elevations. The quality of the design and 
construction of the original building illustrates the prestige associated with the motor car 
in the early 20th century. It is associated with the architectural practice of Charles 
Heathcote and Sons; a large and notable commercial firm based in Manchester. 
 
3.15 The listed building shares group value with the contemporary gate and gate piers 
immediately to the north (also a listed building) designed by the same architects as part 
of one scheme. These gate piers are not subject to this application. 
 

Page 259



 

3.16 The proposed change of use would retain the existing building and its character 
and appearance would be maintained. No major changes are proposed to the overall 
building or its principal facades. In terms of the external changes, the proposals would 
enclose the existing open canopy structure to the rear of the building to create a 
conservatory addition therefore retaining a feature of the existing building. Similarly the 
two storey structure enclosing cycling parking, storage and plant areas would be located 
discreetly in the north west corner of the site. Existing ground floor fenestration and 
signage associated with the existing use would be removed and replaced to match the 
original building and repairs and alterations would be carried out to upgrade the existing 
fenestration. The existing 1920’s front boundary wall with its herringbone brick infill 
panels would also be removed as part of the proposals. This wall is not original and 
both the amenity groups and officers have considered that the removal of the existing 
front boundary would improve the overall appearance of the building. A condition would 
be imposed relating to the front boundary treatment and soft landscaping works 
(condition 18). Internally the removal of the unsympathetic mezzanine floor and other 
subdivisions added to the original columns enclosing the original utilitarian spaces of the 
former garage would create an open plan office space which will enhance the 
appreciation of its former character. At ground floor level a new entrance foyer and 
reception would be created linking to a new central core on the upper floors.  
 
Roof Addition 
3.17 Policy G3 of the submission draft Development Management local plan sets out 
that in most cases, extensions should be subservient to the existing buildings, should 
successfully integrate with the existing architecture and that the impact on and 
relationship to the existing building should be considered. 
 
3.18 Shepherd’s Bush Road comprises buildings ranging from 2-6 storeys in height. 
The proposals, which would extend the building from 3 up to 5 storeys are in keeping 
with this street pattern. The Design and Access Statement accompanying the 
application sets out the design rationale behind the proposals, demonstrating a 
comparison between a three storey brick box extension and the proposed glass domed 
extension. The curved roof pulls in the roof at all sides inside existing high parapet 
walls, minimising its impact. The new roof form would include an integral plant area. 
 
3.19 The proposed three storey extension to the roof of the existing building would be 
constructed in triangular steel sections combined to form a grid pattern with a 
combination of solid and transparent glass panels. This would give a lightweight 
appearance, ensuring that the roof extension does not over-dominate the existing listed 
building. The curvature and form of the roof is optimised to keep the structure as thin 
and lightweight as possible therefore, ensuring its visual appearance is in keeping with 
the host building. Requests made to reduce the size and height of this extension have 
been considered and were discussed at Design Review Panel but for both structural 
and design reasons a two storey roof extension  in a similar form, for instance, would 
require a significantly different form of structural design which would produce significant 
disbenefits in terms of design quality. The sleekness and thinness of the proposed 
structure could not be replicated with a lower structure due to increased lateral loads.   
In this instance Officers accept that the quality of form and detailed design justifies the 
erection of a three storey extension and this was also supported by the DRP.  
 
3.20 The proposed extension is contemporary in appearance, rather than trying to 
replicate the existing building. This distinctive element would contrast with the existing 
building, and add visual interest to the streetscape and result in a positive contribution 

Page 260



 

to the host listed building and to the conservation area. The extension would be 
constructed from high quality materials and finishes, samples and 1:20 details of which 
would be requested by condition (Condition 11 and 14). 
 
3.21 The impact of the additional three floors would be largely confined to longer 
distance views of the building. The Design and Access Statement contains modelled 
views of the proposals particularly from Brook Green and Shepherd’s Bush Road. The 
views from Brook Green have been modelled in spring, with trees, and in winter, without 
trees. The extension would be well screened by the trees in spring. The views modelled 
in winter show no trees, although in reality the trees would still screen the proposals to 
some extent, and the domed shape lessens the impact of the upper floors. The 
lightweight, contemporary extension is not considered to have an adverse impact on the 
Brook Green conservation area.  
 
3.22 From Shepherd’s Bush Road, the extension would be only glimpsed at from the 
street due to its shape as it pulls the roof line back from the building. The proposals 
would be largely screened to the east by the railway buildings. 
 
3.23 The proposals would enhance the existing building bringing it back into a more 
active use and would not harm the special architectural and historic interest of the listed 
building. The significance of this designated heritage asset would be sustained and 
enhanced, and the proposed extension at roof level to the main building is considered to 
be acceptable in relation to the height, scale, and form and mass of the existing 
building. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would result in a 
positive contribution to the character and appearance of the building and the 
conservation area. The proposal thus complies with Saved UDP policies EN2, EN2B, 
EN3 and EN8B and Core Strategy policy BE1. 
 
Accessibility: 
3.24 The application has been considered in light of the London Plan policy 7.2 and the 
Council’s SPD: Access for All. Policy 7.2 of the London Plan 2011 requires development 
proposals to meet the specific needs of disabled persons and Core Strategy Policy T1 
supports the saved policy TN4 of the UDP which requires new development to 
incorporate ease of access by disabled people and people with mobility impairment. 
Local Development Framework guidance  in the adopted H & F `Access For All` 
Supplementary Planning Document  advises that key features of accessible toilets and 
hygiene facilities is that they should be inclusive of people needing assistance as well 
as independent use. 
 
3.25 The proposal is to adapt the building for office accommodation. The main vehicular 
access to the site is to the parking at the rear of the site, via the existing public highway. 
Pedestrian access to the scheme would be via entrances on Shepherd’s Bush Road. At 
present there is only one entrance to the building on Shepherd’s Bush Road. The 
proposals include a second entrance on the frontage. Both entrances would be step 
free. The scheme also proposes a secondary entrance to the rear of the building, for 
servicing and for employees or visitors arriving by bicycle. This prevents cyclists from 
having to walk back to the front of the building after parking their bikes in the storage at 
the rear of the building. A ramp would run parallel to the former loading bay area to 
provide disabled access from the courtyard. A new core is proposed in the middle of the 
building, with four lifts servicing each floor. The secondary core would have an eight 
person lift. Each floor would also have both disabled toilets and disabled shower rooms.  
 

Page 261



 

3.26 The NPPF, London Plan Policy 7.3, saved UDP Policy EN10 (Designing Out 
Crime) and Policy G1 of the submission draft Development Management Local Plan 
require new development to incorporate crime prevention measures to provide a safe 
and secure environment. Identifying how the proposal would achieve Secured by 
Design standards would be secured by condition (condition 15). 
 
3.27 Overall it is considered the proposal would result in a high quality office 
accommodation, bringing new activity and interest to the conservation area. Internally 
the surviving original interior features in the north east corner of the building would be 
retained, repaired and sympathetically incorporated into the new layout whilst externally, 
the existing fenestration would be refurbished and enhanced with secondary glazing 
whilst the new entrances would complement the original building and more active 
frontage proposed. In terms of the proposed extensions in particular the proposed 
innovative contemporary roof addition, officers consider these would complement the 
original building and contribute to the surrounding Brook Green conservation area. For 
these reasons the proposal is considered acceptable in compliance with policies 
contained in the London Plan, Core Strategy and UDP.  
 
HIGHWAYS 
3.28 The site of the proposed development is on the A219 Shepherd’s Bush Road, 
which forms part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN) of bus stops and routes along 
Shepherd’s Bush Road, within 5 minutes walking distance of Hammersmith’s transport 
hub and 15 minutes from the West London Line at Kensington Olympia.  
  
Trip Generation: 
3.29 The NPPF requires developments that generate significant movement to be 
located where the need to travel would be minimised and the use of sustainable 
transport modes can be maximised; and development should protect and exploit 
opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or 
people. Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 of the London Plan set out the 
intention to encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element 
of sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to travel 
or that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public transport 
services. Policy TN8 sets out the Borough's road hierarchy and the restrictions on 
development within this hierarchy. Policy TN13 states that the arising traffic generation 
of development will be assessed along with the contribution to traffic congestion.  
 
3.30 Only five off-street parking spaces are proposed (four disabled parking bays and 
one visitor bay). Therefore the majority of trips associated with the proposal would be 
non car based. The following modal trip forecast for peak hours has been predicted by 
the developer in the Transport Assessment accompanying the application, based on 
comparative office sites and local census data: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 262



 

Travel Mode 0800 - 0900 trips 1700 - 1800 trips 
Underground  143 131 
Train 76 70 
Bus / coach 32 29 
Taxi / mini-cab 0 0 
Car driver 2 1 
Car passenger 0 0 
Motorcycle / scooter / 
moped 

10 9 

Cycle 16 15 
Walk  38 35 
Other 2 1 
Total 319 291 

 
 
The Transport Assessment sets out that the additional public transport journeys are not 
considered material as 37 trains pass through the underground stations per hour and 10 
trains pass through Kensington Olympia station per hour. A Pedestrian Environment 
Review System (PERS) audit has been requested by Transport for London to look at 
the quality of the walking route which will be secured by the S106 agreement. 
 
Parking: 
3.31 Policy 6.13 of the London Plan seeks a balance between promoting new 
development and preventing excessive car parking and sets maximum parking 
standards in table 6.2. Saved UDP standard S18 and Policy J2 of the emerging 
Development Management local plan require compliance with the Council's car parking 
standard except in exceptional circumstances. Standard S19 provides detailed 
guidance on expectations for the overall layout of a car parking area and the 
dimensions of each space. Policy TN15 requires new development to accord with the 
car parking standards set out in the Plan. Policy TN21 advises that development will be 
required to contribute to public transport where necessary due to resulting impact on 
services.  
 
3.32 There are currently 20 spaces and 4 disabled parking spaces provided within the 
existing rear yard. The proposals would provide 4 disabled spaces and 1 visitor space 
which is well below the maximum standards of between 13 and 22 spaces given in 
Table 6.2 of the London Plan. The parking spaces would exceed the London Plan 
requirements for disabled parking. The use of these bays would be restricted to use by 
blue badge holders, in line with Policy J4 of the submission emerging Development 
Management local plan. 
 
3.33 Given the location of the site on the edge of Hammersmith Town Centre and good 
public transport links, the level of on site parking provided for the office use is 
considered sufficient for the proposed use. As mentioned earlier, the site is located 
within Controlled Parking Zone A which operates restricted parking Monday to Saturday 
8.30 am to 6.30 pm whilst neighbouring CPZ’s B and C operate restrictions between 
Monday to Friday 9.00 am to 6.00 pm which should ensure that neighbouring streets 
should not be detrimentally affected by on street parking. 
 
Cycle parking: 
3.34 Table 6.13 of the London Plan sets out the minimum cycle parking standards that 
developments should accord with in line with policy 6.9. The minimum standards for B 

Page 263



 

class uses are 1 space per 500 sq m of floor space. Saved UDP policy TN6 states that 
development will not be permitted unless it provides appropriate facilities for cyclists, 
including cycle parking. Saved UDP Standard S20 and Table 12.2 seek to ensure one 
cycle space per 250 sqm, in accordance with Policy TN6. Policy J5 of the emerging 
Development Management Local Plan seeks increased opportunities for cycling and 
walking. 
 
3.35 The proposals would provide 104 cycle parking spaces. This exceeds the 
minimum requirements given in Table 6.3 of the London Plan (which requires a 
minimum of 52 cycle spaces) and UDP Standard S20 of the UDP. This provision is 
considered to be acceptable given the anticipated number of staff/visitors expected to 
be at the site at any one time. The cycle parking spaces would be located 
predominantly in a covered storage area within the rear yard, with the waste storage 
and chillers. This is considered acceptable. The application also includes a financial 
contribution towards the expansion proposals of the London Cycle Hire Scheme in the 
borough which is welcomed and would be secured through the s106 agreement. 
 
Travel Plan: 
3.36 The application is accompanied by a Travel Plan which sets out measures to 
encourage cycling and journeys on foot. A workplace travel plan in line with Transport 
for London guidance would be secured by way of a Section 106 agreement with a 
requirement for a review of the travel plan after one, three and five years. A sum of 
£2,000 per review for the review and monitoring has been sought via the s106 
agreement to allow the Council. 
 
Servicing and Deliveries: 
3.37 Servicing and delivery for the proposals would take place from Shepherd’s Bush 
Road. The refuse and recycling bins would be stored in the rear yard of the building.  
Using delivery information for existing office uses, the Transport Statement predicts a 
total of 18 deliveries a day for the proposals. The total delivery and waste trips per day 
are expected to be 31, spread over a 12 hour period. A draft Delivery and Servicing 
Plan has been produced to accompany to planning application. Swept path information 
for large vehicles is included in the Transport Statement. It sets out that the rear yard 
would be reconfigured to allow for an eight metre rigid vehicle, a refuse vehicle and a 
fire tender to enter, turn and leave the site in forward gear. These are the largest 
vehicles likely to enter the rear yard. It sets out operational efficiency measures in line 
with TfL guidance. A Servicing and Delivery Management Plan, in order to safeguard 
the amenity of local residents, would be required as part of the Travel Plan for the 
development and this would be secured via the s106 agreement. 
 
Refuse and Recycling: 
3.38 London Plan Policy 5.16 outlines the Mayor’s approach to waste management. 
Core Strategy Policy CC3, UDP Policies EN17 and policy H5 of the emerging 
Development Management local plan require development to incorporate suitable 
facilities for the storage and collection of segregated waste. 
 
3.39 The Transport Statement sets out that the proposed office use is expected to 
generate 44,650 litres of waste per week based on 885 employees each generating 50 
litres of waste. Refuse and storage provision is shown on the plans, which accompany 
the application and described in the Transport Statement. The proposals include six 
1100 litre commercial waste bins and six 1280 litre smarkbank recycling bins. It is 

Page 264



 

anticipated that these would be collected on site 3-4 times per week via a pre-booked 
service with the council. 
 
3.40 The refuse area is covered, so the bins cannot be seen from public view points. 
Therefore no design objections are raised. Officers consider the refuse area to be 
located in a convenient area for users and waste and recycling collectors.  
 
Demolition and Construction Phase: 
3.41 A Demolition and Construction Management Plan (CMP) and Construction 
Logistics Plan (CLP) would be required to ensure that there is no harmful impact on 
neighbours and on the local highways network. The Demolition and CMP shall include 
demolition details, contractors' construction method statements, waste classification and 
disposal procedures and locations, dust and noise monitoring and control, provisions 
within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction works are 
properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto the highway, 
and other matters relating to traffic management to be agreed. Construction Logistics 
Plan would be required in accordance with Transport for London (TfL) requirements. 
This should seek to minimise the impact of construction traffic on nearby roads and 
restrict construction trips to off peak hours only. This would be secured by condition 
(condition 3). 
 
3.42 Overall in terms of transport, officers consider that the proposal subject to the 
mitigation measures secured would not have a detrimental impact on the transport 
network and opportunities exist to promote alternative modes of transport for officer 
workers other than the private car. 
 
IMPACT ON NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES 
 
3.43 Policy 7.6 of the London Plan (2011) requires that new development does not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, in relation 
to privacy, overshadowing, wind and microclimate. 
 
3.44 Saved policy EN8B of the borough Unitary Development Plan relates to the design 
of new extensions and requires that development accords with the principles of good 
neighbourliness. Standard S13 of the UDP provides guidance on the loss of outlook and 
loss of privacy of neighbouring properties arising from development. Strategic objective 
13 of the Core Strategy seeks to preserve and enhance amenity for residents, 
supported by policy G1 of the emerging Development Management Local Plan which 
sets out that development should take into account the principles of good 
neighbourliness. 
 
3.45 This section focuses on the impact of the proposal on the properties of the 
surrounding area. The nearest neighbouring residential properties are located to the 
north of the site in Osram Court. This building has two blocks on a raised podium deck 
above a supermarket and has residential windows that face the application building. 
The implications of the proposals for the neighbouring residential properties in terms of 
amenity and in particular the impact of the proposals on Osram Court have been 
carefully considered. While inevitably there will be some change in terms of the view 
and outlook afforded to the neighbouring properties in Osram Court, the additional floors 
proposed to the application building have been designed in such a way to ensure that 
the proposal does not result in a harmful loss of daylight and sunlight to these properties 
nor an acceptable level in terms of enclosure. The design of the roof extension is 

Page 265



 

designed with a curved rather than vertical form which is angled away from these 
properties to ensure that their amenity is sufficiently protected.  
 
Daylight and sunlight: 
3.46 The Council has had regard to the guidance set out in Building Research 
Establishments' (BRE) Report 2011 - "Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight - A 
guide to good practice". The BRE guidelines advise that the guidance should be applied 
flexibly and there are circumstances that will exist where a greater degree of obstruction 
to light can on occasion be acceptable. The applicant has carried out a daylight/sunlight 
assessment in line with the BRE guidelines on the potential impact of the massing of the 
proposed building on surrounding properties. The report and addendum assesses the 
impact of the proposal on the windows of neighbouring properties in terms of daylight to 
or within a room using calculations of Vertical Sky Component (VSC), No Sky Line 
Contour (NSC) and the Average Daylight Factor (ADF). For sunlight, the report uses the 
Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) method. These methods are described below. 
 
3.47 VSC calculates the amount of visible sky available to each window, or to the parts 
of a façade on which windows will be regardless of which rooms are behind the 
windows. The BRE guidance sets out that if windows have sufficient levels of VSC, 
which is 27% or 0.8 of their existing value, they comply with guidance and no further 
tests are required. 
 
3.48 Should a window fall below the VSC guideline, NSC is used. NSC assesses how 
much daylight is received into rooms by calculating the area of the ‘working pane’ which 
receives a direct view of the sky. Within a residential property, the working plane is set 
at 850mm above floor level. There is not a set amount of no sky line within the BRE 
guidance but it recommends that 0.8 of the existing view of the sky should be retained. 
 
3.49 Should a window fall below the NSC guideline, ADF is used. The ADF is the most 
detailed method of assessing daylight. It calculates the average illuminance within a 
room. It takes into account of the nature of the room behind the window, and how 
reflective the window is. Windows should receive 5% daylight if there is no lighting or 
2% if there is lighting. Minimum daylight values are 1% for bedrooms, 1.5% for living 
rooms and 2% for kitchens. 
 
3.50 The Annual Probable Sunlight Hours test for sunlight considers the percentage of 
probable hours of sunlight for each window in summer (21st March – 21st September) 
and winter (21st September – 21st March). For properties surrounding a new 
development, windows orientated 90 degrees of due south which overlook the site are 
the only windows relevant for assessment. Main habitable rooms have the main 
expectation for sunlight. At least one window with the main living room should receive 
25% of total annual sunlight in summer and 5% in winter. Kitchens, bedrooms and 
ancillary rooms are considered less important in the guidance. 
 
3.51 The daylight and sunlight assessment has been undertaken on those residential 
properties nearest and most likely to experience impacts from the development. The 
daylight, sunlight and overshadowing report has assessed the daylight values of 
Phoenix Lodge Mansions, the residential accommodation above The Brook Green 
Public House, 14 Barb Mews and the properties in Osram Court - Block A and Osram 
Court - Block B, together with the amenity area and playground serving Osram Court 
and Brook Green. Other properties have commented on the impact of daylight, sunlight 

Page 266



 

and overshadowing, for example properties in Lena Gardens and Hammersmith Grove. 
These have been examined and considered to be too far away to be materially affected. 
 
3.52 The results show that all of the windows in Phoenix Lodge Mansions, The Brook 
Green Public House and Barb Mews have a VSC of higher than 27%, except for one 
window in Phoenix Lodge Mansions and that window retains over 0.8 of its existing 
visible sky. All the windows meet the suggested VSC values and require no further 
testing. The assessment on the impact of these surrounding properties show they would 
all continue to experience acceptable levels of daylight and sunlight and 
overshadowing.  
 
3.53 Objections have been received from three of the occupiers in Osram Court and the 
Peabody Trust (on behalf of the tenants). In the case of Osram Court - Block A, 32 
windows were tested. These comprise a mix of windows facing both the communal 
courtyard above the podium deck to the rear and include 16 windows on the south 
elevation, directly facing the development. Of the 32 windows registered, 8 windows are 
located on the upper ground floor level, above the existing retail store, which serve a 
community tenants hall, i.e. a non residential, use. Therefore, the remaining 24 upper 
level residential windows in Block A are considered relevant and have all been tested. 
In terms of VSC, the results demonstrate that seven of the windows fell below 27% VSC 
and retained less than 0.8 of their existing value. In accordance with the sequential 
approach, these seven windows have required an ADF assessment to establish as a 
consequence of the change in VSC, whether the rooms would retain sufficient levels of 
overall daylight to suit their particular usage. The seven windows on the south elevation 
serve three flats and were identified as W5, W6, W7 and W8 serving three rooms (a 
living room and two bedrooms) to the first floor flat, W7 and W8 serving two bedrooms 
to the second floor flat and W8 serving one bedroom on the third floor flat. 
 
3.54 The daylight assessment shows that windows W5 and W6 on the first floor serve 
the same living room as window W4. Window W4 is however located on the west 
elevation of Block A, facing the communal garden and passes the VSC assessment. 
Therefore this mediates the impact of windows W5 and W6, especially as this living 
room achieves an ADF daylight level of 2.2% which meets the ADF recommended 
target of 1.5% for a living room. 
 
3.55 Of the five remaining windows that were shown below the VSC guideline all serve 
existing bedrooms. Three windows, W7 on the first floor, W7 on the second floor and 
W8 on the third floor all met or exceeded the required ADF target value of 1% daylight 
to suit their particular bedroom usage. In comparison, window W8 on the first floor was 
found to fall marginally below the 1% target, instead having a 0.8% daylight value. 
Window W8 on the second floor also falls marginally below the 1% target, achieving a 
0.9% daylight value.  
 
3.56 Overall, of all the windows tested in Osram Court - Block A, two bedroom 
windows, one serving the first floor and the other serving the second floor flat marginally 
fail both the VSC and ADF tests, but are considered at levels in line with what is 
expected in an urban context. It should be noted that the BRE test are for guidance only 
and on site judgement also needs to be taken into consideration in this cases. It is likely 
that that these rooms in particular the bedrooms on the first floor level already need 
supplementary lighting. Therefore on evaluation of the likely impact, it is considered that 
the level of daylight experienced after development would not be significant worsen to a 
level to warrant refusal of planning permission. 

Page 267



 

 
3.57 In respect to Osram Court - Block B, a total of 48 windows were tested. In this 
case because of the position and gap of this block to the north-west of the application 
building, the assessment shows that all of these passed the VSC target of either 27% or 
retained 0.8 of existing values. The impact of the development on the windows in this 
block is therefore within acceptable BRE levels. 
 
3.58 The ASPH sunlight assessment has assessed The Brook Green and Osram Court 
Block A and Block B as the relevant buildings as the windows orientated within 90 
degrees of due south and which overlook the proposal site as relevant for assessment. 
The results show that all these relevant windows pass this assessment.  
 
3.59 The assessment has also considered the impact of the proposals on two open 
amenity spaces: the playground serving Osram Court to the north of the site and Brook 
Green to the east. The sunlight amenity assessment indicates that the proposal would 
not have an adverse impact in terms of shadow with each space not losing and  
retaining above the 2 hours requirement of sun on 21st March. Therefore the proposals 
are BRE compliant in terms of shadowing. Officers are satisfied that the orientation of 
the proposed roof extension particularly in relation to public space of Brook Green, 
along with the proposed form, would ensure that there would be only a minimal impact 
in terms of overshadowing. 
 
Outlook and privacy: 
3.60 UDP Standards S13.1 and S13.2 respectively require that there is no significant 
loss of outlook and privacy.  
 
Osram Court: 
3.61 Osram Court - Block A is the closest building to the application site and proposed 
development. The planning statement accompanying the application sets out that the 
proposals would not obstruct an angle of 33 degrees from the first floor window of 
Osram Court and 27 degrees from the second floor. While this does not comply with the 
standard set out in S13.1, at present, the first and second floor flats of Osram Court -
Block A look out on to the northern face flank wall and windows of 184 Shepherd’s Bush 
Road at a distance of approximately 8m. The proposals would not affect this outlook as 
the existing building is being retained. There is therefore, a minimal impact on these 
flats. 
 
3.62 The distance between the top floor flat of Osram Court - Block A facing onto the 
flat roof of the existing building and the proposed curved roof extension is approximately 
12 metres due to the set back and curvature of the proposed extension. The supporting 
planning statement sets out that the proposal would not obstruct an angle of 21 degrees 
from these windows. While these flats are therefore impacted to some extent due to the 
existing gap between the building in terms of outlook, the separation distance between 
these flats and the proposed roof extension would be greater than the existing 
relationship of the first and second floors and the existing building. 
 
3.63 The flats in Osram Court - Block A have a dual aspect and are also orientated 
westwards with one window in the living rooms and to the kitchens/projecting balconies 
facing away from the application site. It should noted that the proposals are for office 
use and therefore this is unlikely to impinge significantly on privacy during the main 
times that bedrooms are used, i.e. evenings, night and weekends. 
 

Page 268



 

3.64 To ensure that the proposals have as little impact on privacy as possible on the 
occupiers of Osram Court, a large proportion of the triangular panels contained in the 
curved roof form facing Osram Court windows are proposed to be solid or obscure 
glazed, as opposed to transparent glazing. The applicant is happy to work with the 
Council, Peabody and existing tenants to ensure that satisfactory protection from 
overlooking in the form of solid panels is provided. The final arrangement of solid and 
transparent panels would be secured by condition (Condition 35). Similarly small areas 
of flat roof arising from the set back of the roof extension are not intended to be used as 
a terrace and the applicant is willing to accept a condition to this effect (Condition 20). 
 
Phoenix Lodge Mansions and Brook Green: 
3.65 The proposed extension would be 46 metres away from Phoenix Lodge Mansions, 
which complies with Standard S13.1 (outlook) and exceeds the minimum distance of 
18m between windows as set out in Standard S13.2 (privacy). The extension is 
designed with a curved roof form which ensures the extension does not dominate the 
building when viewed from Phoenix Lodge Mansions or Brook Green generally. 
 
Lena Gardens: 
3.66 Two residents have expressed concerns over the proximity of Lena Gardens with 
the proposed development in terms of overshadowing. The proposals are, however, 
sufficiently far from Lena Gardens (approximately 110m) to satisfy S13.1 and S13.2 and 
it is considered that they will have minimal impact in terms of outlook and privacy. 
 
Hammersmith Grove: 
3.67 Hammersmith Grove boundaries are over 100m from the application site and have 
rear gardens some 20-25 metres in length. Furthermore these properties do not adjoin 
the site boundary as the underground lines and associated buildings are located in 
between. Whilst the roof extension would be visible from the rear of Hammersmith 
Grove properties in terms of long distance views, the development complies with 
standards S13.1 and S13.2 and would no impact in terms of outlook and privacy and as 
such would not harm the amenities of the residents of Hammersmith Grove. 
 
3.68 Overall it is considered that the impact of the proposed development in terms of 
daylight, sunlight, overshadowing, outlook and privacy to existing properties would on 
the whole be acceptable. There are two properties in Osram Court that will experience a 
material impact however given very small area of non compliance with the BRE 
guidelines which should be applied flexibly; it is considered that on balance the 
proposed development is acceptable in this respect. 
 
Noise: 
3.69 London Plan policy 7.15 and Core Strategy policy CC4 advises and seeks to 
minimise the impact of development. UDP Policy EN20B and Policy EN21 of the UDP 
deals with environmental nuisance and requires all developments to ensure that there is 
no undue detriment to the general amenities at present enjoyed by existing surrounding 
occupiers of their properties particularly where commercial and service activities are 
close to residential properties. Saved UDP Policy EN20B and Policy H9 and H11 of the 
emerging Development Management Local Plan set out that new development should 
not materially increase noise for sensitive uses such as residential and to implement 
noise (including vibration) mitigation measures when necessary. 
  
3.70 The application site is surrounded by a mix of commercial and residential 
buildings, with residential occupiers immediately affected. The closest residential 

Page 269



 

occupiers  are Osram Court, located adjacent to the site approximately 8m away and 
Phoenix Lodge Mansion at 46m from the site. Within the immediate surroundings, the 
ambient noise levels are high due to the proximity of Shepherd’s Bush Road with its 
high levels of traffic noise and from the underground tracks immediately to the east. The 
Environmental Noise Survey accompanying the application found this to be the main 
noise source for this area. It is considered that the site would not generate noise 
significantly in excess of these levels. Furthermore, the existing storage use is 
unrestricted however unlike other similar facilities does not currently operate on a 24 
basis. The proposal would operate office hours, whereas the existing storage facility can 
operate any hours. There is also likely to be a reduction in noise after office hours 
associated from noisy delivery activities which are understood to currently take place. 
 
3.71 The Environmental Noise Survey report accompanying the application proposes 
external plant noise emission limits. In addition, the noise survey sets out that 
secondary glazing can be used to ensure that the noise levels are suitable. This would 
be controlled by condition . Once plant equipment has been chosen, a detailed noise 
assessment will be required, under condition (Condition 23). 
 
3.72 Planning conditions would seek to control the external noise from machinery 
(Condition 23), extract/ ventilation ducting, and will require anti- vibration mounts and 
silencing of machinery (Condition 24). Further conditions will require provision of a 
Servicing Management Plan including times of deliveries and collections/ silent 
reversing methods/ location of loading bays and vehicle movements (Condition 30). 
Officers consider that subject to these conditions, the proposals will accord with UDP 
Policies EN20B and EN21. 
 
Light: 
3.73 The roof extension would not be wholly glazed. There would need to be a 
proportion of solid panels above all along the northern elevation facing Osram Court 
included in the design, in order to address the privacy and overlooking issues address 
above but also to deal with issues of solar glare. While the glazed design of the 
proposed extension would make some light spillage inevitable, to prevent undue light 
spillage to adjoining neighbours, a planning condition (Condition 35) requires details of 
the arrangement and percentage of solid and transparent panels together with light 
sensitive timing devices to ensure that lights in the building go off at a certain time 
(Condition 40). It is considered that subject to these conditions the proposal would 
accords with the aims of UDP Policies EN20C and EN21 and Policy H10 of the 
emerging Development Management local plan. 
 
3.74 In this case it is not considered that the proposed extension or the change of use 
to offices would be likely to have an unacceptable impact on neighbouring occupiers in 
terms of noise and disturbance. The effect of vehicular activity both for parking and 
servicing would be concentrated to the rear and would make use of existing access and 
servicing arrangements and officers consider that activity on the site will be limited to 
office hours, unlike the existing use of the building. The impact of the development on 
residential amenity is considered to be acceptable. In addition, as mentioned earlier 
details of the demolition and construction phases would be secured by a S106 
Agreement. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE 
3.75 The NPPF requires development to mitigate and adapt to climate change including 
moving to a low carbon economy. The London Plan climate change policies are set out 

Page 270



 

in Chapter 5; now collectively require developments to make the fullest contribution to 
tackling climate change by minimising carbon dioxide emissions, adopting sustainable 
design and construction measures, prioritising decentralised energy supply, and 
incorporating renewable energy. These policies set out ways in which developers must 
address mitigation of, and adaption to, the effects of climate change. London Plan 
Policy 5.1 states the target to achieve a 60% reduction in London's CO2 emissions by 
2025. Policy 5.2 advises that the Policy 5.1 target should be achieved through planning 
decisions by using less energy, supplying energy efficiently and using renewable energy 
(lean, clean, green), and specifies CO2 reduction targets for non residential 
developments is 2019). For the period 2010-2013 the target is 25% carbon reductions 
over and above 2010 building regulations. Policy 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8 and 5.9 requires the 
highest standards of sustainable design and construction and supports the use of 
innovative alternative energy technologies to reduce the use of fossil fuels and CO2 
emissions. Compliance with these policies will however need to be weighed up against 
the need to consider the heritage and design policies which apply in the case of 
extensions and alterations to the listed building. 
 
3.76 Core Strategy Policy CC1 states that the Council will reduce emissions and tackle 
climate change through ensuring that new development minimises energy use, uses 
energy from efficient sources and uses renewable energy where feasible, and through 
meeting London Plan reduction targets. 
 
Energy: 
3.77 An Energy Assessment and Strategy has been submitted with the application as 
required by London Plan policy 5.2, to show how energy efficiency measures would be 
integrated into the listed building to help reduce CO2 emissions. The statement follows 
the Mayor of London energy strategy of being “Lean, Clean and Green”. Policy CC1 of 
the Core Strategy sets out requirements to reduce carbon emissions and resource use 
and requires development to fully contribute to the mitigation of and adaption to climate 
change. Policies H1 and H2 of the emerging Development Management Local Plan 
require energy assessments, the implementation of energy conservation measures 
through sustainable design and construction measures.   
 
3.78 The assessment shows that if the building was designed and converted to comply 
with the 2010 Building Regulations requirements in terms of energy then it would 
produce 476.5 tonnes of CO2 a year.  
 
3.79 The planned energy efficiency measures are expected to reduce emissions by 
21.5%. The existing windows on the ground, 1st and 2nd floors would be retained (listed 
façade) but would be refurbished and have secondary glazing fitted to improve heat loss 
performance. The new glazing for the rooftop extension in the form of glazed and solid 
panels would easily meet the minimum performance requirements set in the Building 
Regulations. Heating and ventilation systems that are energy efficient would be 
installed, including heat recovery and low energy lighting. These would be used in the 
new and existing floors. High efficiency gas condensing boilers would be used to 
provide heating and hot water as the development is not viable for a Combine Heat and 
Power (CHP) system due to the heat demand not being sufficient for this to be an 
efficient option. Renewable energy options have been assessed. Although some are 
regarded as technically feasible, site limitations, including the design of the new roof 
system would result in none of these technologies being included.  
  

Page 271



 

3. 80 Calculations show that the London Plan’s 25% CO2 reduction target requires an 
improvement of 117 tonnes from a baseline of 476.5, but the current design offsets 101 
tonnes. As the CO2 reduction performance cannot be increased (e.g. by improving 
energy efficiency levels or by reconsidering the integration of renewables), officers have 
required this shortfall be offset by a payment in lieu, as outlined in London Plan policy 
5.2. A S106 payment of £22,080 to the Council at a rate of £1,380 per tonne is required 
would enable CO2 reduction measures to be implemented elsewhere in the borough to 
provide CO2 savings of 16 tonnes a year. 
 
Sustainable Design & Construction: 
3.81 London Plan policy 5.3 states that sustainable design should be integral to 
development proposals, including at construction phase. Policy H 2 of the emerging 
Development Management Local Plan seeks to promote sustainable design and 
construction, and requires a sustainability statement to be submitted with all new 
development. A BREEAM assessment report has been submitted with the application to 
outline the expected sustainable design and construction measures that would be 
implemented in the new development.  
 
3.82 This statement shows that the refurbishment of the existing building and the 
creation of the additional floors are capable of meeting a ‘very good’ rating against the 
BREEAM 2011 new construction requirements. This would be achieved by integrating 
the energy efficiency measures outlined above, including water efficient equipment, 
using building materials with low environmental impacts and reducing pollution impacts 
e.g. by including low NOx boilers with promoting green transport including a reduction of 
car parking spaces, cycle parking facilities and the development of a travel plan. 
 
3.83 The expected sustainability performance is considered to be in line with the 
requirements of the London Plan policy 5.13 on Sustainable Design and Construction. 
Further details on the actual measures to be implemented would however be ensured 
via condition (32).  
 
Air Quality: 
3.84 London plan policy 7.14 is concerned with improving air quality. Policy CC4 of the 
Core Strategy, EN20A of the Unitary Development Plan and policy H8 of the emerging 
Development Management Local Plan seek to protect and improve air quality. LBHF 
was designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2000 for two pollutants 
– Nitrogen Dioxide and particulate matter. The main local sources of these pollutants 
are road traffic and buildings (gas boiler emissions).   
 
3.85 An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted with the application. The proposals 
relate to the conversion of the building to office use, which is not considered to be a 
sensitive use in terms of air quality in comparison to a residential use. 
 
3.86 In relation to the potential impacts on local air quality, the proposals include a 
reduction in parking spaces and the change of use is predicted to reduce the number of 
associated vehicle trips, particularly goods vehicle movements. The new use as office 
space would require more space and water heating than the current use, so emissions 
from on-site gas boilers could increase slightly but these emissions would be dispersed 
at a height which not impact significantly on ground level concentrations. The new 
boilers are recommended to be low emission models which would help reduce air 
quality impacts.   
 

Page 272



 

3.87 The Air Quality screening assessment of potential changes in emissions from 
changes in traffic flows etc show that the proposals do not raise concerns in relation to 
causing significant impacts once the development is operational. However, the 
construction phase could cause temporary air quality impacts (dust/PM10) in close 
vicinity to the site and potentially impact on sensitive receptors. Therefore, a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan would need to be developed with 
reference to the GLA’s Best Practice Guidance on Controlling Dust and Emissions from 
Construction and Demolition. Mitigation measures to be implemented are outlined in the 
assessment. The condition would to ensure the use of these measures during the 
construction phase (condition 3). Overall in terms of air quality, officers consider that 
subject to an appropriate condition the proposal meets with policy requirements. 
 
Flood Risk and Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS): 
3.88 The NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should 
be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where 
development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere. 
London Plan Policy 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 requires new development to 
comply with the flood risk assessment.  
 
3.89 Core Strategy policy CC1 requires that new development is designed to take 
account of increasing risks of flooding. Policy CC2 states that new development would 
be expected to minimise current and future flood risk and that sustainable urban 
drainage would be expected to be incorporated into new development to reduce the risk 
of flooding from surface water and foul water. Policy H3 of the emerging Development 
Management Local Plan requires a Flood Risk Assessment to be submitted for new 
development, and for SUDS to be incorporated into all developments.  
 
3.90 As required, a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the 
application. The site is in the Environment Agency’s (EA’s) Flood Zone 3a which 
indicates a high risk of flooding, although this does not take into account the high level 
of flood protection provided to the borough by the Thames Barrier and local river wall 
defences. As commented on by the Environment Agency, the River Thames flood 
defences in this area defend the site to a 1 in 1000 year annual probability of river 
flooding in any year (<0.1%). Although areas of residual flood risk can occur due to 
failure of the flood defences or a design flood event greater than that mentioned above, 
the site is 1.1 km north of the River Thames and outside the area at risk of flooding in 
the event of a breach or failure of the River Thames tidal flood defences. 
 
3.91 The application relates to the change of use of the existing warehouse to office 
use and the construction of new office space at roof level. This does not constitute a 
change to a more vulnerable use such as residential. The Environment Agency has 
raised no objection to the proposals. 
 
3.92 Given the problems with surface water and sewer flooding in the borough, officers 
consider that this is an opportunity to consider how surface water run-off could be 
reduced from the site by assessing Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) for 
their suitability. The FRA does not include information on sustainable drainage, but the 
BREEAM Assessment states that the credits available for the management of surface 
water run-off should be achieved if sustainable drainage systems (SUDS measures) are 
installed. However, no information on SUDS measures has been included at this stage. 
Officers therefore require information on the SUDS measures to be submitted (condition 
33). 

Page 273



 

 
3.93 Overall in terms of flood risk and SUD’s, subject to conditions, officers consider 
that the proposal will comply with policy. 
 
Contamination: 
3.94 Policy 5.21 of the London Plan and Policy CC4 of the Core Strategy states that the 
Council would support the remediation of contaminated land and that it will take 
measures to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites and ensure that 
mitigation measures are put in place. This is supported by UDP Policies EN20A and 
EN21 and Policy H7 of the emerging Development Management Local Plan.  
 
3.95 There are potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to 
occur at, or near to, this site. In order to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused 
to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the 
development works, conditions will be attached to any planning permission requiring the 
assessment of contaminated land to be carried out and remediation measures to be 
carried out if necessary (conditions 5-10) 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (CIL)/Planning Obligations: 
3.96 Mayoral CIL came into effect in April 2012 and is a material consideration to which 
regard must be had when determining this planning application. The development would 
be liable for CIL and the levy for office uses is set at £50 per square metre. 
 
3.97 The CIL Regulations (2010) state that in dealing with planning applications, local 
planning authorities consider each on its merits and reach a decision based on whether 
the application accords with the relevant development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Where applications do not meet these requirements, 
they may be refused. However, in some instances, it may be possible to make 
acceptable development proposals which might otherwise be unacceptable, through the 
use of planning conditions or, where this is not possible, through planning obligations. 
London Plan policy 8.2 recognises the role of planning obligations in mitigating the 
effects of development and provides guidance of the priorities for obligations in the 
context of overall scheme viability. Core Strategy policy CF1 requires that new 
development makes contributions towards or provides for the resulting increased 
demand for community facilities. 
 
3.98 In accordance with Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (As 
Amended) the applicant has agreed to enter into a legal agreement. The following 
matters would also be heads of terms of the legal agreement and include commuted 
sum payments agreed by the applicant: 
 
(1) Developer to pay for highway/environmental improvement works (subject to 
detailed estimates for the various works) to improve the site's vehicular and pedestrian 
accessibility - including improvements to the footway on site boundary 
All works to the highway would be required to be undertaken by the Council at the 
developer's expense and would be required to be in accordance with the Council’s 
Street smart guide. 
(2) Provision of a Travel Plan, including delivery and servicing measures for 
the proposed use, in accordance with TFL guidance. And securing of £6,000 funding for 
monitoring the Travel Plan for five years (one, three and five year reviews). 
(3) Developer to pay a £200,000 contribution towards improvement works to Little Brook 
Green and Brook Green. 

Page 274



 

(4) Developer to pay a £200,000 contribution, in connection with the Mayor’s Cycle Hire 
Scheme, in order to support sustainable transport routes to and from the borough. 
(5) Developer to pay a £22,080 to offset the CO2 impact and enable reduction 
measures to be implemented elsewhere in the borough.  
(6) Developer to carry out a Pedestrian Environment Review System (PERS) to look at 
the quality of the walking route between Hammersmith Town Centre and the application 
site. 
 
4.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 It is not considered that the proposed change of use and extension/alterations to 
the host Grade II listed building would cause demonstrable harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring residents, and the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of 
preserving and enhancing the character and appearance of the conservation area and 
enhancing the character and appearance of the listed building. The development would 
not impact significantly on the highway network and local parking conditions. The 
principle of the land use and the nature of the proposal are considered to be acceptable. 
In conclusion, the proposed development is considered to be in accordance with the 
relevant national and regional planning policy guidance, the Council’s Core Strategy 
and saved UDP policies and emerging policy in the form of the emerging Development 
Management Local Plan.   
 
4.2 In view of the above it is therefore recommended that members resolve to grant 
planning permission subject to the completion of a legal agreement as stated above, 
under Section 106 of the 1990 Act and Section 278 Agreement (and other appropriate 
powers), and subject to the conditions outlined above.  

Page 275



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Avonmore And Brook Green 
 
Site Address: 
184 Shepherd's Bush Road  London  W6 7NL     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2013/00455/LBC 
 
Date Valid: 
08.02.2013 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
John Sanchez 
 
Conservation Area: 
Brook Green Conservation Area - Number 3 

 

Page 276



 

 
Applicant: 
Access Self Storage Ltd 
C/o Precis Holdings Ltd 93 Park Lane London W1K 7TB 
 
 
Description: 
Listed Building Consent for the erection of three additional floors on the roof of the 
existing building together with; erection of a single storey glazed extension to rear 
elevation; the  erection of freestanding refuse/cycle storage building in the rear yard; 
associated plant equipment at roof level; along with external alterations to the existing 
listed building, involving the demolition of the front boundary wall; and associated 
landscaping; in connection with the change of use from Class B8 (self-storage) to Class 
B1 (offices). 
Drg Nos: 10036/ E(0)100; E(1)1B1; E(1)100; E(1)100M;E(1)101;E(1)102; E(1)103; 
E(2)101;E(2)102; E(3)100; E(3)101;E(3)102; E(3)103;D(1)1B1; D(1)100; 
D(1)100M;D(1)101;D(1)102; D(1)103; D(2)101; D(2)102;D(3)100; D(3)101; D(3)102; 
D(3)103;P(0)100; P(1)B1; P(1)100 Rev. B; P(1)101;P(1)102; P(1)103; P(1)104; 
P(1)105;P(1)106; P(2)101;P(2)102; P(2)103; P(3)100;P(3)101; P(3)102; P(3)103 Rev 
B;P(4)112; P(4)113; P(4)114; P(4)115; P(4)116; 
 
 
Application Type: 
Listed Building Consent 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the application be approved subject to the condition(s) set out below: 
 
 
 1) The works hereby granted consent shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date upon which this consent is granted. 
     
 Reason: Condition required to be imposed by Section 18 (1) (a) of the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended by section 91 of 
the Planning and Compensation Act 2004). 

 
 
 2) The works hereby approved are only those specifically stated in the written 

description and indicated on the approved drawing numbers outlined above. 
     
 Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the 

building, in accordance with Policy EN3 of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 

 
 
 3) All new work and work of making good shall match the existing in every respect. 
          
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and safeguarding the 

architectural and historic interest of the building, and the setting of the 
conservation area, in accordance with Policy EN2, EN3 and EN8B of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 

Page 277



 

2007 and 2011) and Policy BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Core Strategy (2011). 

 
 
 4) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until detailed drawings at 

1:20 in plan, section and elevation of secondary glazing are submitted to and 
approved in writing. The development shall be carried out in accordance with such 
details as have been approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 

     
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies 

EN2, EN3 and EN8B of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan (as amended in 2007 and 2011) and policy BE1 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011). 

  
 
 
 5) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until detailed drawings at 

1:20 in plan, section and elevation showing the extent of any window 
refurbishment, repairs and/or replacement and the method of window repair or 
refurbishment. The development shall be carried out in accordance with such 
details as have been approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 

     
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies 

EN2, EN3 and EN8B of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan (as amended in 2007 and 2011) and policy BE1 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011).  

 
 
 6) Prior to commencement of development hereby a sample of the secondary 

glazing, for the existing windows, shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Council. Thereafter the windows shall be permanently retained in the form 
approved. 

  
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building, in 

accordance with Policy EN3 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011) and Policy BE1of the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011). 

 
 
 7) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until detailed drawings at 

1:20 in plan, section and elevation of the interior fit out including method of 
protection, salvage and reuse of architectural and historic features within the 
building. The development shall be carried out in accordance with such details as 
have been approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 

     
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies 

EN2, EN3 and EN8B of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan (as amended in 2007 and 2011) and policy BE1 of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011). 

 
 

Page 278



 

 8) No development shall take place until a photographic record of the interior and 
exterior of the buildings including the front boundary wall with locations marked on 
a plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, and a copy 
of the approved photographic record shall be lodged with the Borough Archive. 

    
 Reason: To ensure that a proper record is made of the special architectural and 

historic interest of the building prior to works commencing, and that the information 
is made available to the appropriate statutory bodies, in accordance with Policy 
EN3 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development 
Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 

 
 
 9) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Council, the development hereby 

permitted shall not be undertaken before: 
  
 (i) a building contract for the development of the site in accordance with 

planning permission reference 2013/00454/FUL  has been entered into, and; 
 (ii) notice of demolition in writing and a copy of the building contract has been 

submitted to the Council. 
  
 Reason: To ensure that the demolition/alteration works does not take place 

prematurely to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building 
and to safeguard the character and appearance of the conservation area, in 
accordance with policy EN2 and EN3 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 

 
 
10) The window glass in the development shall not be mirrored, painted or otherwise 

obscured unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Council. 
   
 Reason To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 

street scene, in accordance with Policy EN8 of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 
2011). 

  
 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 1) The proposal would preserve the architectural and historic character and 

appearance of the Listed Building. In this respect the proposal complies with 
Policy EN3 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Unitary 
Development Plan (as amended 2007 and 2011). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 279



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Michael Merrington (Ext:  3453): 
 
Application form received: 7th February 2013 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011 

Unitary Development Plan as amended 2007 and 2011 
Core Strategy 2011 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: 
           
English Heritage London Region 
    
English Heritage London Region 
 

Dated: 
           
25.02.13 
    
01.03.13 
 

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
 
 
For report see 2013/00454/FUL. 
 

Page 280



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Sands End 
 
Site Address: 
Carnwath Road Industrial Estate  Carnwath Road  London     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2012/02048/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
19.06.2012 
 
Committee Date: 
08.01.2013 

Case Officer: 
Brett Henderson 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Sands End Conservation Area - Number 41 

 

Page 281



 

 
Applicant: 
Nortrust Nominees Limited 
C/o Agent    
 
Description: 
 
Variation to the affordable housing tenure of the planning application 2012/02048/FUL.  
 
 Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve to approve the change of the affordable housing mix to be 
secured by the section 106 agreement from 22 Discount Market Sale units and the 
reprovision of 8 existing social rent units to 17 Discount Market Sale units, 5 affordable 
rent units, and the reprovision of 8 existing social rent units  
 
 
OFFICER REPORT 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Planning Applications Committee considered the planning application at its 
meeting on 8 January 2013 for the redevelopment of the site to provide a mixed use 
scheme consisting of the erection of 1 x 5 storey building graduating in height towards 
the River Thames between 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 11 and 12 storeys; and the erection of 1 x part 
5, part 6, part 9, part 10 storey building, plus basement car park; providing 257 
dwellings (use class C3) including the reprovision of 8 existing flats that lay adjacent to 
Carnwath Road Industrial Estate; together with 915 square metres of retail floorspace 
(use class A1), 653 square metres of restaurant / café floorspace (use class A3); 
associated hard and soft landscaping, public and private open space, new public realm, 
pedestrian and cycle routes, vehicular access and servicing facilities, basement car 
parking (153 spaces) and cycle parking (335 spaces). 
 
1.2 The Committee resolved that subject to there being no contrary direction from the 
Mayor for London; that the Committee resolve that the Executive Director of Transport 
and Technical Services be authorised to determine the application and grant permission 
upon the completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and following specific 
authorisation from the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) pursuant to his Safeguarding Direction dated 24th April 2012 and subject to the 
conditions set out in the report and Addendum. 
 
1.3 The planning  application is being brought back to Committee for the consideration 
of a variation to the affordable housing mix.  The change to the affordable house mix will 
not affect the percentage of units which are affordable which will remain at 12%.  There 
will be no change to the total number of affordable units which will remain at 30.  
 
1.4 The 8 January 2013 Committee Report states at paragraph 3.78, 3.89 and 3.396 
that Carnwath Road Industrial Estate shall have 22 DMS units and the 8 existing social 
rent units are to be re-provided at 12% of the total proposed dwellings: 

Page 282



 

 
Number of 
Bedrooms 

Number 
of Private 
Dwellings 

Number of 
Affordable 
DMS 
Dwellings 

Number of 
Social 
Rent 
Dwellings 

Percentage 
of Total 

Manhattan 14   5% 
One 70 5 1 30% 
Two 104 9 7 47% 
Three 35 8  17% 
Four 4   1% 
Total 227 22 8 100% 

 
The 8 January 2013 Committee Report also outlined that the DMS units will be broken 
down into the following tiers of affordability: 
 
 

 
1.5 The proposed new affordable housing mix and DMS affordability tiers will be as 
follows: 
 

Number of 
Bedrooms 

Number of 
Private 
Dwellings 

Number of 
Affordable 
DMS 
Dwellings 

Number 
of 
Affordable 
Rent 
Dwellings 

Number 
of Social 
Rent 
Dwellings 

Percentage 
of Total 

Manhattan 14    5% 
One 70 5  1 30% 
Two 104 7 2 7 47% 
Three 35 5 3  17% 
Four 4    1% 
Total 227 22  8 100% 

 

Tiers Unit Type Unit No Income Value 
One Bed 2 
Two Bed 3 

Tier 1 (One 
third) 

Three Bed 3 
£30,000 £105,000 

One Bed 1 
Two Bed 3 

Tier 2 (One 
third) 

Three Bed 3 
£40,000 £140,000 

One Bed 2 
Two Bed 3 

£64,000 £224,000 Tier 3 (One 
third) 

Three Bed 2 £74,000 £259,000 

Page 283



 

 

 
1.6 The applicant has confirmed that no other change to the application is proposed 
and that all documents submitted as part of the planning application remain valid and 
unchanged from the 8 January 2013 Committee Report. 
 
1.7 This application was one of three adjoining applications considered by Committee 
on 8 January 2013.  The other two sites were Hurlingham Wharf and Whiffin Wharf  
 
1.8 Officers consider that the resolution of the Committee on 8 January 2012 does 
not provide officer with sufficient discretion to vary the proposed affordable housing mix, 
which even though it does not change the numbers of affordable housing units.  Officers 
have therefore decided to bring a report for Committee’s consideration and approval 
 
2.0 ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION 
 
2.1 Due to the scale, size, form and location of the proposal the application required 
the submission of an accompanying Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA); including 
an Environmental Statement (ES) .An ES was submitted in support of the application.  
The applicant’s EIA consultants have confirmed and officers agree that the change of 
the affordable housing mix will not give rise to any new environmental issues requiring 
the submission of a new ES 
 
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1  The Committee is being asked to consider the alteration to the affordable housing 
mix.  The original affordable housing mix consisted of  22 Discount Market Sale units 
and the 8 social rent units which were to be reprovided on the Site ( which equated to 
12% of the dwellings) and was deemed acceptable.  The proposed new affordable 
housing mix will consist of  17 Discount Market Sale units, 5 affordable rent units and 8 
social rent units (to be reprovided on the site).  The proposed change will not result in 
any change to the total number of affordable units provided as part of the development 
or the percentage of the affordable housing units. 
 
3.2 Officers have considered the proposed change and whether it still accords with the 
relevant development plan policies, principally 3.13 of the London Plan, and H1 and H2 
of the Core Strategy.  Officers are of the opinion that the resulting proposal does accord 
with these policies.  In addition to the considerations set out above, officers have 
considered the viability report and how viability was assessed.  Officers form the view 
that paragraphs 3.85 to 4.88 of the 8 January 2013 Committee Report remain valid and 
do not require any change.  This is because the viability report considered the viability 
of providing the same number of affordable housing units.  GVA have also scrutinised 
the change from DMS to affordable rent.  Their conclusion was that the change does 

Tiers Unit Type Unit No Income Value 
One Bed 2 
Two Bed 3 

Tier 1 (One 
third) 

Three Bed 2 
£30,000 £105,000 

One Bed 1 
Two Bed 2 

Tier 2 (One 
third) 

Three Bed 2 
£40,000 £140,000 

One Bed 2 
Two Bed 2 

£64,000 £224,000 Tier 3 (One 
third) 

Three Bed 1 £74,000 £259,000 

Page 284



 

not materially impact the results of their previous viability assessment, and the 
maximum level of affordable housing that the proposed scheme can accommodate 
remains at 12 
 
3.3 Paragraphs 3.65 to 3.73 of the 8 January 2013 Committee report continue to be 
relevant in setting out the policy context.  For ease of reference see appendix. 
 
3.4 The South Fulham Riverside SPD was adopted in January 2013 and outlines that 
affordable housing should be provided, subject to viability, in accordance with Core 
Strategy policy H2. 
 
3.5 The consequences of switching 5 DMS homes to 5 affordable rent homes needs 
to be considered.  The number of affordable homes and their bedroom mix provided site 
wide does not change.  Likewise the affordable housing percentage remains unchanged 
at 12%.  Officers therefore consider that the minor change proposed leads to no 
material change in the proposed scheme.   
 
3.6 Officers have also considered whether the proposed change in tenure from DMS 
to affordable rent causes any different or material impacts to the surrounding area or 
within the development.  A change in tenure is not considered to have any impact in 
terms of visual amenity and impacts on surrounding conservation areas or River 
Thames.  The design of residential units will be tenure blind so there should be no 
material difference between market and affordable homes or for that matter between 
DMS, affordable rent and social rent units. 
 
3.7 Officers have considered the social and economic impacts of the change in tenure.  
Given that there is no loss of housing or change to the scale and nature of the 
development, officers do not consider that there is any need or justification to change 
the social infrastructure contribution which is to be secured through the Section 106 
agreement.  The proposed affordable homes will continue to be subject to the same 
principles proposed and secured by way of condition and s106 in terms of the range of 
unit sizes, the affordability and the spread across the site. 
 
3.8 The GLA Housing SPG is also a material consideration, of relevance to the 
quantum of affordable housing.  The SPG advises that viability is an essential 
consideration to delivery of housing.  On this basis, the proposal is considered to accord 
with the Housing SPG.  There are no other material considerations which indicate that 
planning permission should not be granted. 
 
3.9 Officers consider that the equality impact of the development will remain the same 
as that assessed in the previous committee report and Equality Impact Assessment. 
 
3.10 As previously set out in paragraph 3.95 of the 8 January 2013 Committee Report, 
on balance, officers have reached the conclusion that the proposed quantum of 
affordable housing represents the maximum reasonable amount that can be viably 
delivered in accordance with policies 3.8, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 3.13 of the London Plan, and 
policies H2, SFR and H4 of the Core Strategy and the South Fulham Riverside SPD. 
 
3.11 Officers have also had regard to the application as a whole and their overall 
assessment of it as set out in the 8 January 2013 Committee Report when reaching 
their conclusions.  
 

Page 285



 

3.12 In light of all of the above, officers are neither recommending any change to the 
resolution made by Committee on 8 January 2013 nor the housing related summary 
reason for the decision, set out below.   
 
“1.  Land use:  The proposed development is in accordance with the Council’s 
aspirations for the area and the principle of residential redevelopment will make 
effective use of previously under-utilised land.  Adequate justification has been 
presented that the proposed development won’t prejudice the potential operation of a 
working wharf at Hurlingham Wharf.  Given the proposal’s financial viability appraisal 
along with the Council’s current housing stock and local and regional housing policy 
targets, the dwelling mix, tenure split and level of affordable housing is considered 
acceptable in accordance with London Plan (2011) policies 2.18, 3.3, 3.4, 3.7, 3.10, 
3.11, 3.12, 3.13, 3.16, 7.26, 7.27 and 7.28 and policies HO6, EN32, EN34A and EN35 
of the adopted UDP (as amended in September 2007 and October 2011) and policies 
H1, H2, H3, C, CF1, CS8, LE1, B, SFR and RTC1 of the Core Strategy.” 
 
Appendix 
Paragraphs 
3.65 London Plan policy 3.10 (Definition of Affordable Housing) defines affordable 
housing as including social rented and intermediate housing provided to specified 
eligible households whose needs are not met by the market and goes on to specify that 
affordable housing should also a) meet the needs of eligible households, b) include 
provisions for the unit to remain at an affordable price for future generations, and c) if 
these restrictions are lifted, for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable 
housing provision.   
 
3.66 The supporting justification to policy 3.10 defines the affordability requirements for 
intermediate housing and advises that these will be updated annually.  Affordability is 
currently set at an upper annual household income of £77,200 (as updated by the 
London Plan 2011), which translates to a maximum sale value of £270,200 (using a 
3.5x income multiplier).   
 
3.67 Policy 3.11 (Affordable Housing Targets) of the London Plan sets a London wide 
affordable housing target of at least 13,200 more affordable homes per year.  The policy 
advises that 60% of new affordable housing should be provided for social rent and 40% 
for intermediate rent or sale, with priority accorded to the provision of affordable family 
housing.  The Mayor has published an early minor alteration to the London Plan to 
address the introduction of affordable rent, with further guidance set out in the Housing 
SPG.  With regard to tenure split the Mayor’s position is that both social rent and 
affordable rent should be included within the 60%.  The second part of policy 3.11 
relates to the establishment of Borough level affordable housing targets through LDF 
preparation that take account of a range of considerations that include the strategic 
target and local circumstances.   
 
3.68 Policy 3.12 (Negotiating Affordable Housing on Individual Private Residential and 
Mixed Use Schemes) of the London Plan seeks negotiation to secure the maximum 
reasonable amount of affordable housing within new development taking account of the 
individual circumstances including development viability.   
 
3.69 Importantly, part B of policy 3.12 advises that ‘negotiations on sites should take 
account of their individual circumstances including development viability, the availability 
of public subsidy, the implications of phased development including provisions for 

Page 286



 

reappraising the viability of schemes prior to implementation (‘contingent obligation’), 
and other scheme requirements’. 
 
3.70 London Plan policy 3.13 (Affordable Housing Thresholds) outlines that affordable 
housing will normally be required on a site which has the capacity to provide 10 or more 
homes and that negotiations should take account of development viability. 
 
3.71 The Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) good practice note 'Investment and 
Planning Obligations Responding to the Downturn' (August 2009) seeks the delivery of 
new affordable housing and importantly outlines that where previously achievable 
affordable housing obligations in years past can not be viably supported in today’s 
market, a flexible approach to affordable housing delivery will be needed.   
 
3.72 Core Strategy policy H2 (Affordability) sets a Borough wide target that 40% of all 
additional dwellings should be affordable.  LBHF recognises that there is an imbalance 
of tenures in the borough with a high proportion of both social (32 per cent) and private 
(23.4 per cent) rented accommodation (Borough Profile, 2010).  The Core Strategy 
outlines that even if all the 40% affordable housing target (almost 3000 dwellings by 
2021/22) is intermediate housing, this will still only increase the intermediate housing 
stock to about 4,800 dwellings or about 5.5% of the total dwelling stock.  In recognition 
of this concentration of social rented properties in the Borough, policy H2 states a 
preference for the provision of intermediate and affordable rented housing over social 
rented housing.  In relation to the negotiation of affordable housing provision on 
individual sites, the policy identifies a range of relevant considerations, including 
scheme financial viability.   
 
3.73 Core Strategy strategic policy SFR states that 40% of new housing should be 
affordable with an emphasis on forms of intermediate housing in accordance with 
strategic policy H2. 
 
 
 
 

Page 287



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  North End 
 
Site Address: 
Earls Court 2 Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge Rail Depot, West 
Kensington And Gibbs Green Housing Estates And Adjoining 
Land         
 

 
 

 
© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2011/02001/OUT 
 
Date Valid: 
11.08.2011 
 
Committee Date: 
08.05.2013 

Case Officer: 
John Finlayson 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Baron's Court Conservation Area - Number 27: 
Gunter Estate Conservation Area - Number 34: 
Olympia And Avonmore Conservation Area - 
Number 23 

Page 288



 

 
Applicant: 
EC Properties 
C/o Agent    
 
Description: 
Demolition and alteration of existing buildings and structures and the comprehensive 
redevelopment of the site including new open space, vehicular and pedestrian accesses 
and routes and a mixed use development comprising buildings to accommodate 
residential use (Class C3); office (Class B1); retail (Classes A1- 5); hotel and serviced 
apartments (Class C1); leisure (Class D2), private hospital (Class C2); 
Education/Health/Community/Culture (Class D1); below ground ancillary space 
(parking/plant/servicing etc). Replacement of the existing London Underground depot at 
Lillie Bridge with new depot, vehicle parking and associated highways alterations, 
structures for decking over existing rail lines and tunnels, waste and utilities, enabling 
works including related temporary works and structures and other works incidental to 
the development. 
 
 
 
 
Application Type: 
Outline Application 
 
 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
a)That the Committee resolve to approve the change in the number of additional 
affordable housing units to be secured by the section 106 agreement on the Application 
2 site from 740 units to 676 units (the 64 units now to be secured by the section 106 
agreement on the Application 1 site), resulting in the change to head of term (7) so it is 
as follows: 
 

 (7) The delivery of additional affordable housing units to be secured in  the form 
of 676 housing units (up to 53,319 sq m GIA) of an appropriate mix of 1, 2, 3 and 4 bed 
units, constructed and made available for use as intermediate affordable housing within 
the Application 2 boundary. 
 
b)That the Committee note the Section 106 obligations securing the phased 
comprehensive redevelopment of the Earl’s Court site including the regeneration of the 
West Kensington and Gibbs Green Estates. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 289



 

 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
All background papers held by Michael Merrington 
 
Letter of 25 February 2013 
Addendum to Housing Statement 
Letter of 23 April 2013 (EIA) 
 
PAC report dated 12th February 2012 
Application form received: 28 June 2011 
 
Policy Documents: London Plan 2011 
   LBHF UDP as amended 2007 and 2011 
   LBHF Core Strategy 2011 
   RBKC Core Strategy 2010 and saved policies from the  
   Unitary Development Plan 

Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area Joint SPD 2012 
 
Consultations: no replies received 
 
 
OFFICER REPORT 
 
INTRODUCTION 
This report is seeking the Committee’s approval to a change in one of the proposed 
terms of the Section 106 Agreement dealing with the provision affordable housing and 
the report also updates the Committee on the proposed provisions in the agreement 
which relate to the comprehensive development of the whole site.  
 
BACKGROUND 
1.1 The Committee considered the planning application at its meeting on 12 
September 2012 and resolved that :  
 

(1) subject to there being no contrary direction from the Mayor for London, that 
the Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to 
determine the application and grant outline planning permission upon the 
completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to conditions; 

 
(2) to authorise the Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services 
(DTTS) in consultation with the Director Legal and Democratic Service DLDS and 
the chair of PAC to make any minor modifications to the proposed conditions or 
heads of terms or any subsequent minor changes arising out of detailed 
negotiations with the applicant which may necessitate the modification, which 
may include the variation, addition or deletion of the conditions and heads as 
drafted to ensure consistency between the two sets of provisions. 
 

Page 290



 

1.2 The RBKC Major Planning Development Committee considered Application 1 on 
20 November and resolved to grant planning approval subject to the satisfactory 
completion of a legal agreement. 
 
1.3 In the exercise of his powers under Article 25 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order the Secretary of State has directed the 
Council not to grant permission on the application without specific authorisation. The 
direction was issued to enable the Secretary of State to consider whether he should 
direct under Section 77 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 that the application 
should be referred to him for determination. The Council is required to send full details 
of the proposed application to the Department of Communities and Local Government 
as soon as possible after the Council receives the Mayor of London’s response to the 
Stage II referral. 
  
AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 
1.4. The supporting Housing Statement (June 2011) indicated that all 740 of the 
proposed additional intermediate affordable homes would be provided within the 
Application 2 boundary (i.e. the present application, as distinct from Application 1 which 
relates to land within RBKC).   
 
1.4 The 12 September 2012 Committee Report states at paragraph 4.93: 
‘The application proposes 740 new affordable homes to be provided as intermediate 
tenures within the red line boundary of Application 2. A small proportion of nomination 
rights will be afforded to RBKC. As discussed elsewhere, RBKC has transferred 
jurisdiction to the council to determine the application so far as it affects some parcels of 
land which lie within RBKC. This land within RBKC’s area could otherwise be used in 
part for the supply of affordable housing in that borough. However, the exact location of 
affordable housing within the proposal is not yet known as this is an outline application. 
Officers consider this to be appropriate given that there is a site wide proposal for 
comprehensive redevelopment which will also ensure that a proportionate amount of the 
affordable units provided across the scheme can be made available to those in housing 
need in RBKC.’ 
 
1.5. Following the Committee’s resolution and prior to the RBKC Major Planning 
Development Committee considering Application 1 (that part of the site wide proposal 
falling in RBKC land), at the request of RBKC, the applicant submitted to RBKC an 
Addendum to the Housing Statement to the effect that 64 of the units proposed to be in 
Application 1 would be affordable rather than market housing. As a result RBKC would 
no longer require nomination rights over any of the affordable housing units within the 
Application 2 site and the applicant proposed that the tenure of 64 units in Application 2 
would change from affordable to market. The RBKC Committee considered Application 
1 on 20th November and resolved to grant planning approval . 
 
1.6  The applicant has now submitted an Addendum to the Housing Statement for 
consideration by the Council which brings Application 2 in line with the overall proposal 
as a result of the changes to Application 1. It states that the proposed number of 
additional affordable homes will be reduced from 740 to 676. However the total number 
of additional affordable homes will remain as originally proposed across the wider Earl’s 
Court site. The residential tenure now proposed for Application 2 is, as follows: 
 
  

Page 291



 

Market housing units    4,409 units 
 Additional affordable homes  676 units 
 Replacement Affordable homes  760 units 
 Total       5,845 units 
 
1.7 The applicant has confirmed that no other change to Application 2 is proposed and 
the description of the proposed development and all other documents for approval and 
supporting documents remain valid and unchanged. 
 
ENVIROMENTAL INFORMATION 
2.1 The applicant has submitted a letter from its EIA consultants. It states 
“‘ the amendments are not considered to have any impact on the results and 
conclusions of the assessment work previously submitted in support of planning 
applications 1 and 2”. 
 
DELEGATION TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF TRANSPORT AND TECHNICAL 
SERVICES 
3.1 Whilst this proposal does not change the numbers of additional affordable housing 
units across the scheme as a whole it is a reduction in the number of affordable housing 
units in LBHF and accordingly officers consider that it is not a minor change that could 
have properly been considered by the Executive Director of TTS under the authorisation 
given to him by the Committee’s resolution of 12 September 2012.  
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
4.1 The matter that the Committee is being asked to consider is the change to the 
number of additional affordable housing units to be secured on  the Application 2 site.  
 
4.2 Officers have considered whether the proposed change in the number of 
affordable housing units to be secured by the Section 106 Agreement results in the 
application being in accordance with the London Plan and the Boroughs’ (both LBHF 
and RBKC where that part of the Application 1 falls within the administrative boundary 
of RBKC) affordable housing objectives set out in their respective Core Strategies.   
 
4.3 Paragraphs 4.75 to 4.85 of the 12 September 2012 Committee report continue to 
be relevant in setting out the policy context. For ease of reference see Appendix. The 
12 September 2012 Committee Report needs to be updated. The position is now that a 
reduced number of additional affordable homes is proposed in Application 2, a reduction 
in 64 units from 740 units. Those 64 now form part of the market housing proposed for 
Application 2. There will be no nomination rights given to RBKC for the remaining 676.   
 
4.4  The consequences of switching 64 affordable homes from Application 2 to 
Application 1 need to be considered. The number of affordable homes provided site 
wide across both application sites does not change. Whilst 64 affordable homes have 
been lost from within Application 2, it had already been explicitly intended that RBKC 
would have had nomination rights in connection with this number of units because no on 
site affordable housing had been proposed for the Application 1 site. Officers therefore 
consider that, whilst the number of affordable units in LBHF would be reduced, when 
the whole Earl’s Court site is considered the change leads to no material change in the 
proposed scheme. 
 
4.5 Officers have also considered whether the proposed change in tenure causes any 
different or material impacts to the surrounding area or within the development area. A 

Page 292



 

change in tenure is not considered to have any impact in terms of visual amenity and 
impacts on surrounding conservation areas or listed buildings. The design of residential 
units will be tenure blind so there should be no material difference in appearance 
between market and affordable homes.  
 
4.6 Officers have considered the social and economic impacts of the change in tenure. 
While officers acknowledge that given the accepted formulas for child yield and 
demands for public services there might be a lesser need for primary and secondary 
education and a greater need for health and other social infrastructure in LBHF in 
isolation, given that there is no loss of housing and the scale and nature of the 
development with a corresponding effect in RBKC, officers do not consider that there is 
any need or justification to change the social infrastructure secured through the Section 
106 Agreement.. 
 
4.7 Officers have considered the environmental impacts of the change in tenure. In 
this regard, they have received a letter from the applicant’s environmental consultant 
confirming that in their view, there are no likely significant environmental impacts as a 
result of the change. This accords with the officers’ view.   
 
4.8 Officers note that the change has meant a reduction of affordable housing units for 
the Council’s own affordable housing targets and a corresponding increase for RBKC. 
The London Plan seeks to ensure than an average of 13,200 new affordable homes are 
built each year across London, which equates to 40% of the total number of units 
required under housing targets. This allows local planning authorities greater flexibility in 
how they secure affordable housing units. Excluding the 760 replacement homes the 
740 affordable housing units was equivalent to 14.5% of the total number of new units 
within LBHF. The switch of 64 units results in a new percentage of 13.2%. However 
across the whole of the Earl’s Court site the percentage of additional affordable housing 
remains the same at 12.3%. 
 
4.9 Officers are mindful of the fact that the supporting documents to the application 
explain and the Section 106 Agreement will secure that Application 2 will not come 
forward without Application 1 first being implemented. Similarly, officers have through 
the Section 106 Agreement sought to secure obligations to ensure a comprehensive 
site wide (Application 1 and Application 2) development takes place in accordance with 
its strategic objectives. Furthermore, the two applications together form the site wide 
development scenario upon which a number of assessments were made. Officers note 
that the both applications are in outline only and that the exact location of the affordable 
housing is yet to be determined. Officers consider that in view of the site wide scheme, 
which crosses administrative boundaries of LBHF and RBKC, it is reasonable and 
acceptable in planning terms for affordable housing to be provided across both 
boroughs and within both applications.   
 
4.10 Officers have considered the proposed change and whether it still accords with the 
relevant development plan policies, principally 3.13 of the London Plan and FRA1 and 
H2 of LBHF CS and CH1 and CH2 of RBKC CS.  Officers are of the opinion that the 
resulting proposal does accord with these policies. In addition officers have considered 
the viability report and how viability was assessed. Officers form the view that 
assessment in the 12 September 2012 Committee Report remains valid and does not 
require any change. This is because the viability report considered the viability across 
both sites. For ease of reference see Appendix. 
 

Page 293



 

4.11 Officers have considered the reasons in the RBKC committee report  which states 
‘the type and mix of affordable housing accords with the identified Housing Needs and 
is in compliance with Policy CH2. The level of affordable housing that is being provided 
by the proposal has been demonstrated to be the maximum reasonable amount in 
accordance with London Plan Policy 3.10 and Core Strategy Policy CH2’. This is 
considered to represent a balanced view of the scheme as a whole in terms of 
additional affordable housing and one which supports their own view that this proposed 
change to Application 1 does not materially change the proposed scheme and that 
subject to conditions and planning obligations the scheme remains entirely in 
accordance with the development plan.   
 
4.12  As previously set out in the 12 September 2012 Committee Report, on balance, 
officers have reached the conclusion that the proposed quantum of affordable housing 
represents the maximum reasonable amount that can be viably delivered in accordance 
with London Plan Policy 3.12 LBHF Core Strategy policy FRA1 and H2 and (where 
relevant to the scheme) RBKC Core Strategy policies CH1 and CH2 by providing a 
significant number of affordable housing which will contribute to the Councils’ borough 
wide targets. 
 
4.13 Officers have also had regard to the application as a whole and their overall 
assessment of it as set out in the 12 September 2012 Committee Report when reaching 
their conclusions.  
 
4.14 The GLA has a draft Housing SPG. This has been subject to consultation but 
since its publication the Government has published the NPPF and replaced a number of 
its Planning Policy Statements referred to in the draft SPG. Accordingly, officers have 
given it little weight. Of relevance to the quantum of affordable housing the SPG advises 
that viability is an essential consideration to delivery of housing. On this basis, the 
proposal is considered to accord with the Housing SPG and that there are no other 
material considerations which indicate that planning permission should not be granted. 
 
4.15 Officers have gone on to consider any relevant provision of the Earl’s Court and 
West Kensington Opportunity Area Joint SPD. Key Principle H06 says that in LBHF 
40% of all new housing in the Opportunity Area should be affordable, subject to viability. 
Key principle H07 states that in RBKC 50% of the gross external residential floorspace 
above 800sqm must be affordable and provided on site, subject to viability. Viability has 
been considered and concluded to be the maximum reasonable, which the SPD 
accepts is a reason for a lesser provision of affordable housing. On this basis, officers 
consider that this part of the proposal accords with this part of the SPD and are of the 
opinion that there are no reasons to withhold permission whether the SPD is taken into 
account or not taken into account. 
 
4.16 In light of all of the above, officers are of the view that the proposed change to the 
number of additional affordable housing units to be secured on the Application 2  site 
would not change the recommendation to Committee on 12 September 2012 to approve 
the grant of planning permission. Nor is there a need to change the relevant summary 
reason for that decision, set out below.   
 
‘2) Housing: The proposed development would contribute towards providing much 
needed additional housing in accordance with London Plan Policies 3.3B, 3.3D and 
3.3E which seek to increase housing supply and would help the borough meet its 
housing targets in accordance with Table 3.1 of the London Plan. It is considered that 

Page 294



 

the development would contribute towards the indicative housing targets set out in 
strategic policy H1 of the LBHF Core Strategy which promotes the development of new 
housing within the Strategic Sites, policies FRA and FRA1 of the LBHF Core Strategy 
for developments within the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area which 
set an indicative housing target of 4,000 homes in LBHF and RBKC (excluding any 
increase on estate lands) across the plan period and policies CA7, and CH3 of the 
RBKC Core Strategy requiring the wider regeneration of the Earl’s Court area and 
seeking to ensure an increase in residential accommodation. The principle and density 
of residential development proposed is considered acceptable in accordance with 
policies 3.3 and 3.4 of the London Plan which requires developments to optimise 
housing potential, policies H1, H3 which requires high quality housing at an acceptable 
housing density and FRA1 of the LBHF Core Strategy requiring a comprehensive mixed 
use residential development and policy CL1 of the RBKC Core Strategy requiring 
density of development to be optimised relative to context. The proposed development 
is assessed as comprising an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and is therefore 
considered in accordance with policy 3.8 of the London Plan requiring developments to 
offer a range of housing choice, policy H4 of the LBHF Core Strategy requiring high 
quality residential development that meets local residents’ needs and policy CH2 of the 
RBKC Core Strategy requiring housing diversity. In the context of these policies and 
having regard to the Viability Assessment, the individual circumstances of the site and 
the planning and regeneration benefits arising it is considered that the provision of  
affordable housing is acceptable in accordance with policies 3.8, 3.10, 3.11 and 3.12 of 
the London Plan requiring a range of housing choice and seeking to maximise 
affordable housing provision, policies H1 and H2 of the LBHF Core Strategy requiring 
high quality housing and affordable housing and policy CH1 of the RBKC Core Strategy 
which requires the provision of affordable housing.’ 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that Committee agree the change in the number of additional 
affordable housing units in Application 2 to be secured by the Section 106 Agreement 
from 740 to 676. 
 
UPDATE FOR INFORMATION 
 
COMPREHENSIVE REDEVELOPMENT 
5.1 The Committee is invited to note the following matters in respect of the progress of 
the Section 106 Agreement so far as it seeks to secure comprehensive development of 
Earl’s Court. In order to secure the necessary infrastructure to mitigate the impact of the 
proposed development and ensure the proposal is in accordance with the statutory 
development plan, section 8 of the 12 September 2012 Committee report set out in 
some detail the Heads of Terms agreed with the applicant specific to Application 2. 
These formed the basis of progressing with the preparation of the Section 106 
Agreement.    
 
5.2 The Section 106 Agreement will secure a combination of in kind on-site delivery of 
infrastructure as well as financial contributions. In summary: 
 

• Regeneration of the West Kensington and Gibbs Green housing estates. 
• New affordable housing.  
• Improvements to local highways. 
• Improvements to public transport. 
• Improvements to cycle facilities. 

Page 295



 

• New education, health, community, leisure and cultural facilities. 
• Improvements to local streetscape / public realm. 
• Employment and training initiatives. 

 
5.3 In accordance with the Heads of Terms and delegated authority, the Section 106 
Agreement requires the delivery of/contributions towards necessary social 
infrastructure, public transport and environmental improvements to coincide with 
development/occupation. This ensures that necessary infrastructure is delivered in a 
timely fashion so that it mitigates against the impacts arising from the development.  
 
5.4 The application proposes the redevelopment of the West Kensington and Gibbs 
Green estate as part of a comprehensive residential led mixed use scheme phased over 
a twenty two year build period. Officers have therefore sought to agree with the 
applicant terms for inclusion within the Section 106 Agreement which mitigate the risk 
that the development might proceed in such a manner that the comprehensive 
development of the area was not secured and the regeneration of the housing estates 
was excluded, given that the phasing plan is only indicative, land ownership could 
transfer and fragment, and the precise location of replacement housing is as yet 
undecided.  
 
5.5 The approach has been to seek to limit the progress which may be made on 
development on the Application 1 site and on land outside the existing housing estates 
to the progress of development on the estates land, but in ways which would not 
impede the developers’ (or parties acquiring development rights from the current 
owners) ability to raise the funds for development due to their having no control over the 
transfer of Council estate land by the Council and the steps the Council must take to 
secure vacant possession of estates land. 
 
5.6 The obligations relating to this matter have properly been considered by the 
Executive Director TTS under the authorisation given to him by the Committee’s 
resolution of 12 September 2012. However, given that the application is being brought 
back to the Committee in respect of affordable housing and in the interests of openness 
and transparency, officers ask that the Committee note this particular Section 106 
matter. Officers consider that the current position in respect of the Section 106 
Agreement is consistent with the proposal as presented to the Committee in September 
2012. Paragraphs 4.40 to 4.44 of the 12 September Committee Report  continue to be 
relevant. For ease of reference see Appendix. 
 
5.7 The table below sets out the relevant Section 106 obligations that have been 
agreed with the applicant to link progress with development on Application 1 (in RBKC) 
with development in Application 2 (in LBHF) and to link progress with development on 
estates land and progress of development outside the estates land. Officers believe 
these obligations will secure the regeneration of the West Kensington and Gibbs Green 
estates as part of the phased comprehensive redevelopment of the Earl’s Court site. 
The obligations have been agreed with officers from RBKC. The obligations are in 
accordance with the Heads of Terms approved by the Committee’s resolution of 12 
September requiring linkages between the two applications. 
 
Summary of obligations: 
The occupation of no more than 600 of the market units in the 
Application 1 Site until 200 residential units on the Application 2 Site 
have been practically completed. 

Page 296



 

The occupation of no more than 760 of the market units in the Application 2 
Site until 200 replacement housing units have been practically completed on 
either the Application 2 Site, Seagrave Road and/or Farm Lane.  
In addition to the above, the restriction of occupation of market units in 
Application 2 at various triggers against the delivery of both replacement 
housing units and net additional affordable housing units.  
 
The occupation of no more than 2,500 residential units in Application 2 
until the delivery of the initial 1 form entry element of 2 form entry 
primary school on identified Development Plots on Council owned estate 
land.  
The restriction of occupation of residential units in Application 1 and 
Application 2 relative to the phased delivery of the High Street (which 
passes through Council owned estate land).  
The restriction of occupation of residential units in Application 1 and 
Application 2 relative to the delivery of site highway accesses (including 
accesses on Council owned estate land). 

 
5.8 The effect of the obligations linking the delivery of replacement homes to the 
delivery of market units is that the development of the scheme at various stages is 
linked to the proportionate delivery of affordable housing/replacement homes which 
requires the estate land to be developed. The triggers mean that the 
affordable/replacement homes must be delivered in a coordinated manner and so it is in 
the developer’s interest to ensure that the estate land is redeveloped to ensure the 
proportion of replacement homes on the remainder of the Application 2 site does not 
increase disproportionately. 
 
5.9 The caps and triggers to be included in the Section 106 Agreement will secure the 
comprehensive redevelopment of the site. 
 
5.10 The Committee is asked note the proposed 106 obligations relating to  the phased 
comprehensive redevelopment of the Earl’s Court site including the regeneration of the 
West Kensington and Gibbs Green Estates. 
 
APPENDIX 
Paragraphs: 
4.75. The NPPF seeks to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen 
opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed 
communities. 
 
4.76. Policy 3.9 of the London Plan seeks to achieve mixed and balanced 
communities, advising that a more balanced mix of tenures should be sought in all 
parts of London, particularly in some neighbourhoods where social renting 
predominates. 
 
4.77.Policy 3.11 of the London Plan requires boroughs to seek to ensure that 
60 per cent of the affordable housing provided is social housing and 40 per 
cent is intermediate housing. The second part of the policy 3.11 relates to the 
establishment of Borough level affordable housing targets through LDF preparation 
that takes account of a range of considerations that include strategic and local 
circumstances. 
 
4.78 The London Plan does not specifically prescribe a percentage target for 

Page 297



 

affordable housing on individual schemes, but rather seeks to 
Maximise affordable housing provision seeking an average of at least 13,200 
more affordable homes per year, with a London-wide objective of 60% social 
housing and 40% intermediate and a priority for family homes (Policy 3.12). 
 
4.79. This would equate to approximately 40% of the total number of units 
required under the housing targets set out in the London Plan. This essentially 
affords Local Authorities greater flexibility in how they secure affordable housing 
units. 
 
4.80. Policy 3.12 sets out the requirement for negotiating the maximum 
reasonable amount of affordable housing and part B advises that ‘negotiations 
on sites should take account of their individual circumstances including 
development viability, the availability of public subsidy, the implications of 
phased development including provisions for reappraising the viability of 
schemes prior to implementation (‘contingent obligation’), and other scheme 
requirements’. 
 
4.81 Part B of Policy 3.14 states Loss of housing, including affordable 
housing, should be resisted unless the housing is replaced at existing or 
higher densities with at least equivalent floorspace. 
 
4.82. Strategic Site Policy FRA1 is set out in full above. In terms of affordable 
housing, it states that 40% of all new housing in the opportunity Area (within 
H&F) should be affordable in accordance with Policy H2 – Affordability, It goes 
on to say that with any proposals to replace existing social rented housing, the 
existing quantity should not be reduced but it should be redistributed across 
the Opportunity Area. Borough-wide Policy H2 of the LBHF Core Strategy states 
Housing development should help achieve more mixed and balanced 
communities and reduce social and economic polarisation by improving the 
mix of affordable housing in the borough for those that cannot afford market 
housing 
 
4.83.The policy sets a target for 40% of additional dwellings to be affordable, 
with a preference for all additional affordable housing to be intermediate housing and 
affordable rented housing unless a small proportion of social rented housing is 
necessary for the regeneration of council or housing association estates. 
Consideration will be given to: 

• �site size and site constraints; 
• �financial viability, having regard to the individual circumstances of the site, the 

availability of public subsidy and the need to encourage rather than restrain 
residential development; and 

• the affordability and profile of local housing; the scope for achieving a more 
mixed and balanced community in the borough, or in an area where there are 
existing concentrations of social rented housing. 
 
4.84. Policy CH2 of the RBKC Core Strategy relates to affordable housing and 
policy CH1 relates to affordable housing targets. 
 
4.85. Housing developments should usually provide an element of affordable 
housing unless it can be demonstrated, taking into account the considerations 
outlined above that it would not be feasible to do so. 
 
Paragraphs: 
4.94. The planning application has been accompanied by a viability appraisal. As part of 
that appraisal, and for the purposes of determining the amount and type of affordable 
housing no grant funding has been assumed either in respect of the re-provision of the 

Page 298



 

existing estates or to assist with the delivery of new affordable housing. This reflects the 
recent guidance provided by the HCA for the funding period up to 2015. However, the 
application anticipates and the s.106 agreement secures provisions in respect of the 
future availability of grant funding which could be used to improve the affordability of the 
additional 740 intermediate units. Officers consider that this mechanism is the most 
appropriate use of any future grant funding because it would allow the council to target 
those households in the lower range of incomes. 
 
4.95. The appraisal has been independently reviewed on behalf of the council 
by the District Valuation Service (DVS). The DVS report covers the site wide 
proposals (Application 1 and 2 combined). Given that policy FRA1 anticipates site wide 
comprehensive regeneration and that Application 2 is contingent on Application 1 
coming forward, officers consider that this is an appropriate way to assess viability of 
the scheme in terms of affordable housing and the deliverability of the scheme as a 
whole. 
 
4.96. The DVS confirm that the applicants methodology included within the financial 
model on which the appraisal has been assessed is an acceptable reflection of the 
nature of the proposed development. The development period is envisaged to be circa 
22 years and therefore a growth development model approach (revenue growth and 
cost inflation) having regard to the Internal rate of Return (IRR) as a measurement of 
risk reward has been adopted. They add that the approach is an appropriate 
measurement of return for multi-phased schemes over the anticipated project 
programme. An IRR measurement using a benchmark value of 20% takes full account 
of the time value of money and is used as the measure of profitability having regard to 
the time the project takes to complete. 
 
4.97 In order to provide a robust assessment of the development proposals, the DVS 
report and assessment of the financial model includes a number of sensitivities which 
could occur during the programme. These include returns on the intermediate housing, 
the retail rents and earlier residential sales than anticipated (e.g. more during 
construction than post completion). On the whole, the DVS has confirmed that the 
assumptions and conclusions of the financial model are reasonable 
 
4.98. The DVS report includes the anticipated IRR in the event of any variation in the 
above mentioned sensitivities 
 
4.99. The DVS concludes that when considered with the re-provision of the social 
rented housing and the total value of the section 106 obligations, the proposal 
represents the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing in accordance with 
London Plan policy and LBHF/RBKC policy. 
 
Merits of review mechanism 
4.100. The DVS report states that the project has a programme of circa 22 years and 
the model relies upon forecast revenue growth and cost inflation. It states that these 
factors coupled with the stage of design development of the scheme highlight the 
opportunity for the scheme as a whole to either outperform or underperform the current 
assumptions. The DVS therefore recommends that the scheme should be reassessed 
by way of a mechanism to test viability of a phase/plot closer to the point of 
implementation to accurately assess viability having regard to more detailed design 
information to inform construction costs, revenue and assumptions as the scheme is 
refined. 

Page 299



 

 
4.101. London Plan policy 3.12B is relevant here. The policy states that in negotiating 
affordable housing, regard should be given to, ‘the need to encourage rather than 
restrain residential development’ and ‘the specific circumstances of individual sites. 
Paragraph 3.75 of the justification to the policy says that boroughs should consider 
whether it is appropriate to put in place provisions for re-appraising the viability of 
schemes prior to implementation. In addition, Core Strategy Objective and Policies are 
relevant. Objective 3 seeks to ‘encourage regeneration of key council housing estates.’ 
Policy H2 of the adopted Cores Strategy is relevant. Paragraph 8.27 states that the 
amount and mix of affordable housing that can be achieved in any scheme will depend 
on the financial viability of that scheme. It will therefore have regard to a number of 
factors including site specific circumstances, the availability of public subsidy and the 
need to encourage rather than restrain residential development. 
 
4.102. With regard to the above, Officers have considered the benefits and risks of 
introducing a review mechanism into the s.106 agreement. On balance, officers have 
concluded that it is not appropriate in the circumstances of the case. In forming this 
judgement, officers note that the submitted developer’s viability appraisal adopts a 
growth model approach to establish that the developer can make an acceptable IRR 
over the passage of time. Because of this, the council has been able to secure planning 
obligations which it considers to be necessary and proportionate to the development to 
ameliorate any adverse impacts and to make the development acceptable in 
development terms the majority of which are provided on site and the full cost is borne 
by the developer. A review mechanism would be a review of the quantum of affordable 
housing, which would be deliverable. Officers take the view that it is not appropriate 
given the site specifics and the principal objectives of the development plan and the 
need to provide a degree of certainty to the developer. 
 
4.103. The NPPF emphasizes deliverability and the provision of competitive returns to 
willing land owners and developers to enable sustainable development to come forward. 
It is within this context that the policies of the London Plan and RBKC and LBHF’s core 
strategies should be considered. 
 
4.104. Officers have taken into account the need to encourage rather than restrain 
residential development, the individual circumstances of the development site and other 
development requirements and the need to balance the need for affordable housing 
with development viability and the delivery of regeneration and area improvements. 
 
Paragraphs: 
4.40.The proposed residential led mixed use redevelopment of the application site is 
supported at all levels of planning policy and is considered to be in accordance with 
national policy, London Plan policy and relevant Core Strategy policies.  To ensure the 
delivery of an acceptable mixed use scheme through the reserved matters applications, 
a s.106 agreement will required the submission and approval of a land use plan. 
 
4.41.It is also considered that the proposed comprehensive approach is an important 
benefit of the proposed development.  Wider overall benefits are more likely to be 
achieved than through smaller piecemeal interventions.  The development will 
regenerate a key brownfield site and in doing so it will result in the physical renewal of 
the application site and it will facilitate economic growth.  In particular, the development 
will comprehensively regenerate the West Kensington and Gibbs Green housing 
estates.  The application is considered an important step in bringing forward the 

Page 300



 

regeneration of this part of West London.  There is strong development plan policy 
support in land use terms and for the comprehensive regeneration of this site. 
 
4.42.The overarching policy objective contained in Annex 1 of the London Plan (2011) 
regarding the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area states that (inter alia) 
‘a comprehensive approach should be taken to planning the future of the exhibition 
complex, the Transport for London Lillie Bridge Depot, the local authority housing 
estates and other sites in the vicinity’. As the overarching policy expressed in the 
London Plan is requiring a comprehensive approach to the redevelopment of the 
Opportunity Area, it is clear that this cannot be delivered by Application 2 in isolation, 
Therefore, it is considered that Application 1 which has been submitted concurrently to 
RBKC for determination is a material consideration as, together with Application 2 would 
deliver the comprehensive redevelopment of the Opportunity Area which is supported 
by development plan policy. In particular, if Application 1 were to be completed in 
isolation, this may compromise the potential of Application 2 to be delivered at a later 
stage which could result in a delay in bringing forward the regeneration of the housing 
estates together with the overall comprehensive redevelopment of the main part of the 
Opportunity Area.  
 
4.43.Officers have given considerable weight to the strong development plan policy 
support for the comprehensive redevelopment of the Opportunity Area and the 
regeneration of the housing estates and consider that to ensure that the development 
plan policy objectives are secured, it is necessary to ensure that there are sufficient 
safeguards included within the s106 agreement in order that Application 1 is not fully 
completed without development having being commenced and (in part) completed 
within Application 2.  Therefore, a clause will be inserted in the s.106 agreement. It 
should be noted that this principle has been agreed with the Applicant and Officers at 
RBKC who will also include the appropriate s106 Heads of Terms in the determination 
of Application 1 to secure the necessary ‘linkage’ between the two planning 
applications. In terms of what the appropriate restriction should be, officers consider that 
it should mirror the phasing plan where overlap between Application 1 and 2 is 
expected.  This is reflected in the heads of terms for the proposed s 106 agreement, 
which will be entered into by the developer and both the council and RBKC.  Subject to 
this proposed planning obligation being completed, officers consider that the application 
accords with the relevant statutory development plan provisions and that there are no 
material considerations which indicate that permission should be withheld. 
 
4.44..Officers also have considered the proposal against the relevant provisions of the 
SPD.  The ‘Vision’ of the Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area Joint 
Supplementary Planning Document at paragraph 3.2, is of a “residential led 
regeneration of the opportunity area [that] will result in a world class, environmentally 
sustainable new urban quarter that people will want to live in work in and visit”.  The 
SPD also contains within it Key Principles that seek a comprehensive approach to the 
redevelopment of the Opportunity Area.  Key Principle HO1 sets out that the authorities 
will require a comprehensive approach to the redevelopment of the Opportunity Area 
and LBHF will expect comprehensive redevelopment to deliver estate regeneration.  
Having regard to these parts of the  SPD, subject to the condition outlined above, the 
application is considered to be in accordance with this guidance and officers are of the 
opinion that there are no relevant reasons to withhold permission on this issue whether 
the SPD is taken into account or not taken into account.’ 
 

Page 301



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Palace Riverside 
 
Site Address: 
Fulham Football Club  Stevenage Road  London  SW6 6HH   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2012). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2012/00038/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
11.01.2012 
 
Committee Date: 
26.07.2012 

Case Officer: 
Sian Brown 
 
Conservation Area: 
: Bishops Park Conservation Area - Number 5: 
Fulham Reach Conservation Area - Number 39 

 

Page 302



 

 
Applicant: 
Fulham Stadium Ltd 
C/o Agent    
 
Description: 
 
Partial demolition of the Riverside stand and the western ends of the Putney and 
Hammersmith stands, and the removal of two floodlight masts; and the expansion of the 
riverside stand and development of a new upper tier to provide additional seats with 
new accommodation including lounges, suites, concession units, toilets and circulation, 
and minor works to the riverside ends of the Hammersmith and Putney stands including 
the installation of new seats to create a 30,000 seat capacity stadium; a new extended 
section of riverside walkway; leisure/retail provision including up to 1,000sqm use 
classes A1, A3 and A4 (A1 not to exceed 100sqm) and use for up to 30 days per 
calendar year of 525sqm of the lower concourse for use class A1, A3, A5, D1; four 
residential units; a new roof; a new river wall; a temporary construction platform, and 
associated landscaping, lighting (including floodlights) and ground works. 
 
Application Type: Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve to agree the amendment of the 26th July 2012 Planning 
Applications Committee Report by the removal of paragraph 3.26, and the amendment 
of subsequent paragraph 4.4 with reference to head of terms (2), (3), (4) and (5), and 
the amendment to justification point 2 of the said report. 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
All background papers held by Michael Merrington 
 
PAC report dated 26th July 2012 
Application form received: 10th January 2012 
 
Policy Documents: London Plan 2011 
   LBHF UDP as amended 2007 and 2011 
   LBHF Core Strategy 2011 

    
Consultations: none 
 
OFFICER REPORT 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report is seeking the Committee’s approval to amend the 26th July 2012 
Planning Applications Committee Report by the removal of paragraph 3.26, and the 
amendment of subsequent paragraph 4.4 with reference to head of terms (2), (3), (4) 
and (5), and the amendment to justification point 2 of the said report. 
 
For ease of reference relevant parts of that committee report are provided below: 

Page 303



 

 
Paragraph 3.25   
 
Officers accept that whilst individual applications for incremental development at the 
application site may not individually have a significant effect on sailing, the cumulative 
impact of such developments makes consistency in wind flows less predictable and thus 
increasingly presents more of a "lottery" situation for yacht races along this stretch of 
the Thames, which has an effect on the Ranelagh Sailing Club in particular. The Sailing 
Microclimate Assessment Wind Tunnel Study prepared by the applicant concludes that 
when comparing the wind speeds above the River in the presence of the new stands 
with those of the baseline there are areas where wind speeds increase relative to the 
baseline (beneficial effect), areas where wind speeds decrease (adverse effect) and 
areas where the wind speed stays the same (negligible effect). The Ranelagh Sailing 
Club's own report confirms that following development 42% of races would be 
impossible, whilst 58% of races would be able to occur, albeit with 41% being a 
frustrating lottery. The PLA have confirmed that the methodology used in the Study 
prepared by the applicant is appropriate. In this respect Officers conclude that whilst 
sailing would be affected, on the basis of the evidence available, the development 
proposals would not result in conditions that would preclude the continuation of sailing 
activity on the river. 
 
Paragraph 3.26   
 
Notwithstanding this, in response to discussions held at the abovementioned meeting 
with the Sailing Clubs and further negotiations with the PLA, Fulham Football Club have 
agreed on a number of mitigation measures. In terms of land based mitigation the PLA 
is satisfied that the design of the stand minimises the massing of the building as much 
as possible whilst achieving the football clubs desire to increase the overall capacity to 
30,000. As such the proposed mitigation measures would occur off site. The proposed 
mitigation for Ranelagh Sailing Club would be their use of South Bank's sailing course 
on `wind affected days'. The use of South Bank's sailing course may also result in 
Ranelagh Sailing Club needing access to South Bank's race related facilities and for 
Ranelagh to have a suitable means to transport their boats from their club house to the 
South Bank start/finish line. In response FFC have agreed to make a financial 
contribution to the South Bank Sailing Club, which will assist the sailing club in their 
plans to amend/enhance their existing facilities and alter their sailing course to a 
splayed start/finish line on `wind affected days.' In addition FFC will pay for the cost of a 
motor boat which could tow Ranelagh's boats between their club house and the South 
Bank's start/finish line. FFC have also agreed to make a financial contribution to the 
thinning of the trees/shrubs between Beverly Brook and South Bank's club house. The 
above mitigation measures will be secured by the S106 Agreement. In this respect it is 
not considered the harm caused would justify refusing planning permission.  
 
Paragraph 4.4. Heads of Terms 
 
(2) Developer to provide written agreement between the Ranelagh Sailing Club and 
Southbank Sailing Club regarding the use of the Southbank Sailing Club's course by the 
Ranelagh Sailing Club on `wind affected days'. 
 
(3) Developer to pay a contribution of £25,000, and £5,000 per year for a further 5 
years to the Southbank Sailing Club towards improvements to the race related facilities 

Page 304



 

of the Clubhouse, and to alter the sailing course to a splayed start/finish line for use by 
the Ranelagh Sailing Club on `wind affected days'.  
 
(4) Developer to pay a financial contribution towards the provision of suitable means 
to enable the Ranelagh Sailing Club to transport their boats from their club house to the 
South Bank Club's sailing start/finish line. 
 
(5) Developer to make a financial contribution to the thinning of the trees/shrubs 
between Beverly Brook and South Bank's club house, on the basis of further 
investigation by the PLA and subject to any relevant consents. 
 
Summary reason (2) 
 
Microclimate: A Sailing Microclimate Assessment Wind Tunnel Study has been 
submitted and extensive discussions have taken place between the applicant, the local 
sailing clubs and the PLA. Whilst it is accepted that sailing on this part of the river would 
be affected, on the basis of the evidence available, the development proposals would 
not result in conditions that would preclude the continuation of sailing activity on the 
river. Notwithstanding this a number of mitigation measures are proposed which will be 
secured by a S106 Agreement. In addition the navigational safety of the structure for 
river users including the safety of recreational vessels has been considered through the 
use of fenders. In this respect the proposal accords with Policy 7.7 of the London Plan 
(2011) and UDP Policy EN32 (2011). 
 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Planning Applications Committee considered the planning application at its 
meeting on 26th July 2012 and resolved that:  
 
(1) subject to there being no contrary direction from the Mayor for London; that the 
Committee resolve that the Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services  be 
authorised to determine the application and grant permission upon the completion of a 
satisfactory legal agreement and subject to conditions. 
 
3.0 FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
MICROCLIMATE 
 
3.1 Following the Committee’s resolution, and prior to the referral of the application to 
the London Mayor, officers have considered further the wording of the officers’ report 
and heads of terms of the Section 106 Agreement. Whilst there are no new material 
considerations which lead to any other conclusion from that of the officers’ 
recommendation and the committee’s resolution, officers consider it is expedient and 
appropriate to clarify aspects of the report for the proper determination of the 
application. To this end officers propose the amendment of their report and the removal 
of paragraph 3.26 and clarification of the matters covered within.  
 
3.2 For the purposes of clarification and for the avoidance of any doubt, Officers did 
not regard the mitigation measures outlined in paragraph 3.26 to have been necessary 
for the planning application to be acceptable and in order to make the recommendation 
to grant planning permission. The removal of paragraph 3.26 will clarify what might have 

Page 305



 

otherwise been interpreted as mitigation considered necessary for this application to be 
considered acceptable. 
 
3.3 For the avoidance of doubt should any additional measures be offered by Fulham 
Football Cub to help enhance the overall prospect of sailing on this part of the river, they 
would be subject to arrangements between the Club and the sailing clubs which would 
be arrived at separately to the planning decision. In addition any measures required in 
respect of the River Works Licence would be subject to agreements between Fulham 
Football Club and the PLA, also a separate process to the planning decision. 
 
3.4 Accordingly, the additional measures which have been referred to under 
paragraph 3.26 are not to be treated as planning obligations nor shall they be reasons 
to grant planning permission for the purposes of regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations. As such it is recommended that paragraph 3.26 of the 26th 
July 2012 Planning Applications Committee Report is removed. 
 
3.5 In light of the above there is a need to amend paragraph 4.4 of the Report to 
remove the head of terms that had been outlined in relation to these matters (Heads of 
Terms 2, 3, 4 and 5). 
 
3.6 Furthermore there is a need to amend to the relevant summary reason for that 
decision, provided below for ease of reference: 
 
(2) Microclimate: A Sailing Microclimate Assessment Wind Tunnel Study has been 
submitted and extensive discussions have taken place between the applicant, the local 
sailing clubs and the PLA. Whilst it is accepted that sailing on this part of the river would 
be affected, on the basis of the evidence available, the development proposals would 
not result in conditions that would preclude the continuation of sailing activity on the 
river. Notwithstanding this a number of mitigation measures are proposed which will be 
secured by a S106 Agreement. In addition the navigational safety of the structure for 
river users including the safety of recreational vessels has been considered through the 
use of fenders. In this respect the proposal accords with Policy 7.7 of the London Plan 
(2011) and UDP Policy EN32 (2011). 
 
The justification shall be amended for clarification purposes and for the avoidance of 
any doubt to read as follows: 
 
(2) Microclimate: A Sailing Microclimate Assessment Wind Tunnel Study has been 
submitted and extensive discussions have taken place between the applicant, the local 
sailing clubs and the PLA. Whilst it is accepted that sailing on this part of the river would 
be affected, on the basis of the evidence available, the development proposals would 
not result in conditions that would preclude the continuation of sailing activity on the 
river. In addition the navigational safety of the structure for river users including the 
safety of recreational vessels has been considered through the use of fenders. In this 
respect the proposal accords with Policy 7.7 of the London Plan (2011) and UDP Policy 
EN32 (2011). 
 
4.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 It is recommended that Committee agree to the amendment of the 26th July 2012 
Planning Applications Committee Report by the removal of paragraph 3.26, and the 

Page 306



 

amendment of subsequent paragraph 4.4 with reference to head of terms (2), (3), (4) 
and (5), and the amendment to justification point 2 of the said report. 
 
 

Page 307


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Planning Applications

